
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
16 SEPTEMBER 2016

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 16 September 2016
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths
Would members please sign the declaration of interest sheet. 

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 14) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting.  

4.  Grant Thornton Audit Findings Gloucestershire County 
Council Report (Pages 15 - 56)

Terry Tobin

The committee is asked to note the report. 

5.  Grant Thornton Audit Findings Pension Fund Report 
(Pages 57 - 82)

Terry Tobin

The committee is asked to note the report.

6.  Annual Statement of Accounts (Pages 83 - 232) John Kear
The committee is asked to approve the Statement of Accounts for 
the year ended 31st March 2016, including Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund Accounts 2015/16.

7.  Annual Governance Statement and The Local Code of 
Corporate Governance 2015/16 (Pages 233 - 328)

Theresa Mortimer

The committee is asked to review and approve the Annual 
Governance Statement and the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance.

8.  Appointment of External Auditors for the Statement of 
Accounts 2018/19 (Pages 329 - 334)

Paul Blacker

The committee is asked to endorse Option 3 for the appointment 
of external auditors and recommends to Council to opt-in to the 
Public Sector Audit Appointment Ltd (PSAA) as the Sector-Led 
Body for the appointment of the Council’s external auditors from 



2018/19.
9.  Treasury Management Update Report (Pages 335 - 350) Paul Blacker

The committee is asked to note the report.

10.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report (Pages 351 - 398) Theresa Mortimer
To inform members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in 
relation to the 2016/17 Internal Audit Programme. 

11.  Internal Audit limited Assurance Reports (Pages 399 - 406) Theresa Mortimer
 An update on actions taken in relation to the key 
recommendations:   

 Client Contributions

12.  Members Code of Conduct Review (Pages 407 - 410) Jane Burns
The committee is asked to note the report and to indicate any 
areas for development.  

13.  Annual Report from the Local Government Ombudsman 
(Pages 411 - 418)

Jane Burns

The committee is asked to note the Local Government 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2015/16.

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Guyton, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Tony Hicks, 
Cllr Barry Kirby, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Nigel Robbins, Cllr Mike Sztymiak, 
Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Roger Wilson

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 24 
June 2016 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay 
Cllr Tony Hicks
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Cllr Nigel Robbins (Chairman)
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Roger Wilson

Substitutes: Cllr Alan Preest 

Apologies:

Officers: 

Cllr Colin Guyton, Cllr Barry Kirby and Cllr Mike Sztymiak

Jo Walker, Jane Burns, Theresa Mortimer, Paul Blacker, John Kear, 
Nigel Gabb, Mark Branton, David Dale, Sarah Scott, John Deane & 
Andrea Griffiths.

27. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.  

28. MINUTES 

In light of the Referendum result to leave the European Union, it was suggested 
that the outcome be noted in the minutes of the meeting and made reference to at 
Full Council.   

The Director of Finance explained there could be volatility in the financial markets, 
including exchange rates and interest rates, as a result of the decision.  The 
Pension Fund relies on a long term funding strategy and is well diversified to 
mitigate any market volatility risk, whilst the Council’s cash investments are 
predominantly exposed to interest rates. She went on to assure the Committee that 
both the Pension Fund performance and the Council’s Treasury Management 
investments would be kept under close scrutiny and advice taken from the relevant 
advisers.  

The Chief Internal Auditor also assured the Committee that the Chief Officer 
Management Team (COMT) had already identified the EU Referendum as a risk on 
the Strategic Risk Register with mitigations.  It was noted that COMT had reviewed 
the register for 2016/17 at one of their recent meetings.  

Resolved 

That the referendum result to leave the European Union be made reference to 
at Full Council.   

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The minutes of the previous meeting held on the 15th April 2016 were agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

29. GRANT THORNTON COMMITTEE UPDATE 

Terry Tobin presented the report.  The report detailed the progress Grant Thornton 
had made in delivering their responsibilities as the external auditors.  

It was noted that Grant Thornton had devised the plan in association with the 
Authority.  Accounting, audit issues and emerging issues would be flagged up as 
part of the regular report.  

It was noted that Grant Thornton were hosting an Audit Effectiveness Seminar on 
the 7th July 2016 for the Audit & Governance Committee, in addition the invitation 
had also been extended to the District Councils.  

During the discussion it was noted that good progress had been made on bringing 
the pilot closure of accounts forward.  It was noted that the any issues which 
emerged were being dealt with to avoid any snagging in the formal adoption of the 
process in 2018.    

Members referred to the term ‘cautious’ in relation to Joint Ventures  between public 
and private bodies and the mixed success in achieving outcomes for councils.  A 
copy of Grant Thornton’s ‘Better Together’ Report would be circulated via email to 
members, it could also be downloaded from:  
www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-succesful-joint-venture-company    

RESOLVED
 
That the website link for the Grant Thornton ‘Better Together’ publication be 
circulated to members.

That the report be noted

30. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FEE LETTER 

Terry Tobin presented the report, which informed the Committee of the audit work 
to be undertaken for the 2016/17 financial year for Gloucestershire County Council 
and the fee involved. It was noted that the Council’s scale fee for 2016/17 was 
£98,010.   

Members questioned the audit fee constraints and asked if the reduced cost in 
comparison to previous year’s fees would result in a reduced audit service.  The 
committee were assured that it would not result in a reduced service function.  
Officers explained that the local audit function was governed by a code of practice 
and had been procured nationally.
  

Page 2

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-succesful-joint-venture-company


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Grant Thornton explained that the fee was sufficient to cover the value for money 
conclusion and if any risks were highlighted, they would be discussed with the 
Director of Finance.  In response to a question, members were informed that the 
Internal Audit team worked in a collaborative manner with external audit to minimise 
duplication. 

The Director of Finance informed members that officers were looking at the next 
process in terms of appointing external auditors.  This includes investigating the 
possibility of a joint collaboration with other local authorities via the Local 
Government Association (LGA) in order to retain value for money and maintain 
quality, when the contract with Grant Thornton expired.    The committee welcomed 
this opportunity, which would allow a discussion around specifying the audit 
requirement, whilst recognising that there may be an impact on the fees.      

Resolved

That the report be noted and an update on the process for procuring external 
auditors be brought to a future meeting. 

31. ANNUAL REPORT ON TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management, explained that each year the council 
produced an Annual Report covering its Treasury Management activities for the 
financial year ending 31st March.  The annual report for 2015/16 was submitted to 
the Audit and Governance Committee to allow greater scrutiny under the Treasury 
Management Code.  The committee were advised that the Treasury Management 
Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy were agreed by full Council as part of 
the annual budget setting process.  The committee discussed the report in great 
detail.  

It was explained that due to the significant amounts of money involved, the 
management of risk lay at the heart of the Council’s Treasury Management activity, 
however this needed to be balanced against the need to optimise the rate of return 
on investments and to minimise the Authority’s financing costs on borrowing. The 
committee noted that at 31st March 2016 the Council had £320m worth of loans and 
other long term liabilities, with the average cash balances being reported at £288m 
during the year.

Officers explained the Council had a fully funded capital programme in 2015/16, 
therefore no new long term borrowing was required.  The Council’s capital financing 
requirement at 31st March 2016 was £317.6m (including PFI liability), which was a 
reduction of £8.7m compared to 31st March 2015.  Following the successful 
repayment of debt over the past few years the Council had now paid down all 
internal borrowing.   It was explained that the negative internal borrowing, as shown 
on page 32 of the report, existed because the MRP paid in year exceeds the 
external debt maturing.  However, future external debt maturities would bring the 
debt back into balance.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In response to a question, members were informed that the £8.7m MRP applied, 
reduced the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and repaid £4.9m of external 
debt that matured during the year. Members were informed that the premiums 
imposed by Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) for early repayment meant that 
early debt redemption was currently not cost effective.  

Consequently £0.54m had been allocated to repay debt.  The remaining £1.3m of 
internal debt was repaid, which resulted in a £2m over borrowed position.  Officers 
explained that this was a timing difference on the maturity profile, and could only be 
used for debt redemption in future years.  It was noted that this would happen 
automatically as the debt matured.  It was noted that average cost of borrowing was 
5.14%.  Members requested that this explanation of debt redemption be included in 
the glossary.  

During the discussion, it was requested that the loan maturity profile graph on page 
40 of the report, be amended to include the interest rates.   

Members requested information on how the authority benchmarked itself in 
comparison to other local authorities and required an explanation of the upward 
trend as depicted on page 45 of the report, in relation to the ratio of financing costs 
to net revenue stream.  Members also requested to know how GCC compared to 
other authorities in terms of the level of borrowing and further detail on the 
comparison between borrowing levels and authorised borrowing limits approved 
within the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.  

Officers explained that the council participated in CIPFA benchmarking, however 
the information was not to hand and officers would need to go and compare the 
data.  The Strategic Finance Director added that this data would not necessarily 
allow a true comparison between different authorities because each authority 
adopted different borrowing and investments strategies, borrowing at different times 
and therefore with different interest rates.    

In relation to capital financing costs, members recalled that the basis of calculating 
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was approved by Council in February 
2016, which resulted in a £4m annual revenue saving.  It was explained that the 
MRP was the amount that must be charged to the revenue account and set aside 
for capital purposes. The basis of calculation was compliant with DCLG guidance.

It was reported that the number of investments made in 2015/16 was 222, totalling 
£916m, which was also a significant level of investment activity.  Members were 
reminded that the overarching policy objectives were security, avoiding risk of 
default and maintaining liquidity whilst still optimising the rate of return.   

The Head of Financial Management explained the Council received regular advice 
from Arlingclose, the council’s Treasury Management advisors.  The key advice 
received was to only invest in counterparties with a good credit rating and to have a 
good mix of investments both in terms of a variety of counterparties and a variety of 
deposit terms.  The boundaries in which the investment activities were carried out 
was laid out in the Annual Investment Strategy 2015/16.  During the discussion, the 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

committee requested that an explanation of the credit ratings used be included in 
the report content.   

It was noted that during 2015/16 interest of £3.31m was generated, this 
represented a rate of return of 1.2%.  Opportunities to improve this rate of return will 
be considered during 2016/17 in light of the UK base rate remaining low throughout 
the year, however this needs to be balanced with the requirement for security and 
maintaining liquidity.

Members were informed that the Council had complied with all the Prudential 
Indicators laid out in the Council’s Treasury Management Policy.

The committee discussed the Audit & Governance training programme scheduled 
to date, in addition it was agreed that a training session also be arranged in 
December 2016 and in May 2017 after the elections.  

RESOLVED

That a briefing be prepared for members, to include: 
- An explanation of debt redemption, in addition the explanation would 

be included in the report glossary.
- The loan maturity profile graph on page 40 of the report be revised to 

include the interest rates.
- An explanation as to how the authority’s borrowing compared with 

other local authorities
- An explanation of the upward trend, in relation to the ratio of financing 

costs to net revenue stream.  Confirming the comparison between 
borrowing levels and authorised borrowing limits approved within the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.  

- An explanation of the credit ratings and their use be included in the 
report content.

That Audit & Governance training be scheduled in December 2016 and 
following the May 2017 elections.  

That the Committee considered the Treasury Management Annual Report for 
2015/16.

32. ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY 2015/2016 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report in detail.  The 
report provided the committee with the details of the Risk Management activities 
undertaken during 2015/2016.  

It was noted that GCC’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy was reviewed and 
revised accordingly in 2015/16. The revised Policy and Strategy was approved by 
Audit and Governance Committee and CoMT in January 2016 and by Council in 
February 2016. The framework was in line with good practice governance principles 
and guidance and international standards (ISO31000 Risk Management – 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Principles and Guidelines).  Members were informed that the strategy had been 
disseminated to members and officers via relevant newsletter publications.

In response to a question, the CIA highlighted a key tangible positive outcome 
where the Council’s risk management arrangements were externally recognised as 
part of the Liability Insurance Tender process, which resulted in a 14% reduction in 
annual premiums (£29k per year / £87k over the three-year contract period).  
Members were informed that the report provided further information on how risk 
management linked to insurance and how the insurance claims statistics played a 
valuable role in the risk management framework.  

It was explained that strategic ownership of risk management within GCC was 
evident, in so far as the Director of Finance is the Lead Officer and the Lead 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Change as having responsibility to ensure 
effective risk management arrangements were in place. As such regular updates 
were provided to these key personnel throughout the year. In addition, directors and 
heads of service were required to provide assurance via the Annual Governance 
Statement assurance gathering process, that risks were being managed within their 
service areas.

Some members felt there was an ongoing risk with adult social care, in terms of the 
continuous risk of overspend.  The Director of Finance explained that the risk of 
overspending in this area is fully recognised and as a result the adult social care 
budgets are being closely monitored. It is currently forecast that additional funding 
made available through the adult social levy will support the service’s aims to 
balance in 2016/17. 

Members were informed that Risk Management continued to be fully integrated into 
key business systems and processes such as performance, option appraisals, 
business planning, financial planning and decision making processes.  Risk 
Management continued to be one of the key mandatory standards within the 
Council’s corporate programme and project management governance 
arrangements, which included Meeting the Challenge projects.

The CIA explained that a risk appetite model was used as part of the risk and 
opportunity decision making processes to help the Council be less risk averse and 
enabled the Council to understand which risks it was willing to accept.  In response 
to a question, it was noted that the leadership behaviours also encouraged 
calculated risk taking.

It was demonstrated that CoMT continued to take ownership of the strategic risk 
register, with each of the strategic risks being owned by a CoMT member. The 
Strategic Risk Register was dynamic with quarterly strategic risk management 
reports provided to CoMT, Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and 
Cabinet, to enable them to gain ongoing assurance that the Council’s strategic risks 
were being effectively managed. 

Officers reported that emerging risks were identified as part of this process with five 
new risks added during 2015/2016 relating to the (1) failure to protect the Council’s 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

key information and data as a result of exploited technological vulnerabilities 
facilitated through malicious attack (internal or external), (2) failure of technology 
managed by the ICT Service impairing the Council’s ability to communicate, (3) 
failure to commission services resulting in the Council effectively being unable to 
deliver its strategic objectives, (4) failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent 
Strategy impacting on the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire and (5) 
failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting on the Council’s 
reputation due to exposure in national media..  Officers explained that there were 
strong links between Risk Management and Internal Audit.

Members were reminded that Internal Audit undertook Risk Based Internal Auditing 
where Internal Audit focussed their control assurance work on the key risks of the 
organisation and provided an opinion as to the effectiveness of those 
arrangements. In addition, Internal Audit would provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements operating within the area under 
review. 

The committee were informed that during 2015/16,  97% of the audited areas rated 
the effectiveness of risk management arrangements as substantial (40%) or 
satisfactory (57%).

In response to a question concerning the strategic risk register, it was explained 
that there was an element of judgement when risks were rated however good 
governance arrangements were in place to review the register.    Members 
requested a copy of the risk matrix (likelihood and impact model), in order to 
develop their understanding of the process.  The CIA reassured the committee that 
a risk management framework is in place to enable effective risk identification and 
assessment processes. It is a requirement that the principles of risk management 
were embedded into day to day management processes including options 
appraisals, policy and decision making.  

Members noted that risk was incorporated into performance management and 
business planning, which in turn was monitored on a quarterly basis by corporate 
management.  In addition, the strategic risk register was presented to and 
monitored by Cabinet.  The Monitoring Officer informed the committee that the 
strategic risk register was also reported to OSMC and the appropriate scrutiny 
committee, which involved a great deal of member oversight.  

It was noted that with effect from the 1st April 2016 GCC delivered an Internal Audit 
and Risk Management shared service with Stroud District Council and Gloucester 
City Council.  The CIA explained that due to the risks and uncertainly around 
contracting and collaborative working the Corporate Risk team would continue to 
support management in the application of Risk Management principles within 
contracting and when working within alternative service delivery models.

During the discussion, members raised a question in relation to devolution.  The 
Monitoring Officer explained that the devolution deals agreed so far required an 
elected mayor, to receive the additional funding.  However, it was noted that officer 
working groups were closely studying the potential opportunities.  In terms of risk 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

management, devolution could present all types of inherent risks. Officer’s 
explained that risk management would be an integral part of the decision making 
processes.   

The CIA concluded that arrangements for managing risk within the Council were 
sound.  

Resolved 

(i)       That the Committee noted the Annual Report on the Corporate Risk 
Management arrangements in place during 2015/16. 

(ii)      That the committee endorsed the proposals for future improvement and 
development as set out in section 6 of the report.  

(iv)     That the committee concluded that arrangements for managing risk 
within the council were sound

33. ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 2015/2016 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report in great detail.  
The committee were provided with an annual report on Internal Audit activity, which 
met the CIA annual reporting requirements as set out in Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS).  

The report provided an annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Council’s Internal Control environment comprising risk management, control 
and governance, this opinion supported the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement. It was explained that a satisfactory opinion was provided.   

Members were referred to page 79 of the report which described the meaning of 
opinions given and page 80 provided the committee with a pie chart summary of the 
overall opinions provided during 2015/2016.  The CIA demonstrated that 72% of 
audited activity received a substantial or satisfactory opinion on control and 97% 
received on risk.  The committee’s attention was drawn to the spreadsheet which 
provided a summary of the activity undertaken from which the CIA’s opinion was 
derived. 

It was noted that the report (pages 80/81) contained a summary of the 10 limited 
assurance opinions on control provided during the year; and a summary of the 1 
limited assurance opinion on risk.  The CIA confirmed all had been reported to the 
committee.  In response to a question, it was explained that whilst 28% of the 
opinions on control are limited, this may be related to transformational change, 
continuing to focus internal audit activity on the key risks of the Council and specific 
requests from Directors, who are asking for areas to be reviewed where issues 
have arisen and/or where independent assurance is required. 

The committee was interested to learn that the report contained a summary of 
irregularity work which had been undertaken during the year, which in some cases 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

had resulted in disciplinary action, resignations, monies recovered or loss 
avoidance.

Members discussed the terminology of fraud and referred to the chart on page 77 of 
the report.  Members questioned why the percentage of planned days to be spent 
on fraud had increased, with a percentage increase from 4.8% to 31.3%.  The CIA 
explained that due to the increased number of irregularities referred to internal 
audit, more investigative time was required.   During the discussion, it was 
suggested that in the future the graph should be retitled 
“investigations”, as the term fraud conjured up a different view to many people and 
could be misinterpreted.  

With reference to counter fraud activity, the Director of Finance advised that the 
Shared Audit Service had participated in a countywide local authority bid for funding  
for “Gloucestershire Fraud Hub” and that a briefing would be beneficial for the 
committee to explain this further.  

In terms of Internal Audit Effectiveness, the Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards (PSIAS) also required the CIA to annually report on compliance with the 
PSIAS, reporting any non conformance; and summarising the performance of the 
Internal Audit function.  The committee recalled that an external quality assessment 
had been undertaken by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) (national 
standard setters) in 2015, where the CIA received 100% conformance.

Members’ attention was drawn to the summary of the internal audit activity 
undertaken to that planned.  It was evident that the net effect of changes to the plan 
based on in year demand had resulted in Internal Audit achieving 86% of the 
overall revised plan. This reflected that resources were redirected as a result of the 
increase in special investigations and irregularity work.   It was noted that during 
this period 210 recommendations were made to improve the control environment, 
all of which were accepted by management.

The CIA explained that at the end of each audit review, Internal Audit requested 
customer feedback.  Officers were pleased to report that 93.3% of customers rated 
the service as good or better, this exceeded Internal Audit’s target of 80%. 

Members were informed that there were always lessons to be learnt and customer 
feedback was used to ensure that Internal Audit fully considered where 
improvements could be made. It was explained that individual staff targets had 
been set to assist with achieving these outcomes.  In essence, improvements made 
included shorter more focused audit reports, enhanced opening meetings to provide 
more information on the role of Internal Audit the audit process and approach. This 
ensured officers fully considered the risk and proportionality of the recommended 
controls to manage them, provide where possible more indication of when audit 
reviews will take place and a timelier turnaround of audit reviews.  

The committee’s attention was drawn to pages 89 - 91 of the report which related to 
a limited assurance opinion provided on control relating to the Adult Services Client 
Contributions.  It was noted that management accepted the recommendations 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

made and Internal Audit would continue to monitor their implementation.  However, 
it was recommended that the relevant senior management attend the next meeting 
of the Committee to provide an update on the action taken in relation to each 
recommendation made within this audit review. 

Members were referred to the fraud and irregularity annual reporting requirements 
under the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.   It was explained that this 
information would continue to be reported annually via the Annual Report on 
Internal Audit Activity in June each year.

Resolved 

That a briefing note on the “Gloucestershire Fraud Hub” be circulated to 
members.  

That the committee assessed, from the findings set out in the report that it 
could take reasonable assurance that the internal control environment, 
comprising of risk management, control and governance was operating 
effectively.

That senior management attend the next meeting of the committee to provide 
an update on the actions taken in relation to the recommendations made in 
the limited assurance Client Contributions audit report

34. INTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

Financial Assessments and Benefits Team – Mark Branton, Assistant Director 
Adult Social Care Commissioning, presented the report in detail. 

Members noted that the service was currently in the process of making 
amendments to the ERIC system in an attempt to be able to use that as an interim 
measure until the implementation of ContrOCC which was planned for October 
2016 which would hold a full case management system.  In response to a question, 
members were informed that the number of referrals outstanding were now down to 
97.  

It was noted that there were systematic errors with ERIC, as it was never initially 
designed to be a management system.  Officers explained that the new ContrOCC 
system would be Care Act compliant.  It was noted that this issue would provide a 
limited assurance opinion until the new system fully replaced ERIC.  Some 
members noted that this area was not on the strategic risk register and suggested 
that it should be given the residual risk was deemed as high.  Officers were 
requested to update the strategic risk register accordingly.  

Resolved 

That the interim system be placed on the strategic risk register, until such 
time the management system was replaced by ContrOCC.

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

That the report be noted.  

Active Together – Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health presented the report in 
detail.  

In response to a question, it was noted that to date 17 visits had been completed 
and the equipment initially bid for was in place.  Members suggested that feedback 
should be requested from members to check that all equipment bid for was actually 
in place and completed.   The Director of Public Health noted the issues raised and 
agreed to check the status of the visits.  

Resolved 

That the number of visits to date be checked on the audit report.  

That the report be noted 

Capital Virements – John Kear, Financial Accounting Manager presented the 
report in detail.  

In response to a question, members were informed that governance arrangements 
needed to be as robust as possible and so improvements had been made since the 
audit.  During the discussion it was confirmed that staffnet would be used for the 
dissemination of information relating to the scheme of delegation.  

Members questioned the funding of the capital schemes.  It was explained that 
funding is delegated to the Director of Finance per the constitution, who will liaise 
with the finance team and maximise value for money for the council during the 
closure of accounts.  Officers also informed members that the capital programme 
was monitored in year via the budget monitoring reports to Cabinet, therefore any 
change in circumstances would be discussed with the appropriate portfolio holder.  

It was noted that in terms of governance arrangements with the various boards, 
audit trails needed to be robust.  The CIA explained that in 2017/18, the delegated 
decisions process would be tested.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

35. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 37 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

36. EXEMPT INTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT 

The committee received and discussed the report in detail. 

  Resolved 
 
 That the report be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.25 pm

Page 12



Audit & Governance Committee – 15th April 2016

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 MINUTES That the referendum result to leave the 

European Union be made reference to at Full 
Council.   

Chairman of 
Council 

Completed

2 GRANT THORNTON 
COMMITTEE UPDATE

That the website link for the Grant Thornton 
‘Better Together’ publication be circulated to 
members.

Andrea Griffiths Completed

316. GRANT THORNTON 
AUDIT FEE LETTER

An update on the process for procuring external 
auditors be brought to a future meeting.

John Kear Report to the September 
Committee meeting  

417. ANNUAL REPORT ON 
TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT 

That a briefing be prepared for members, to 
include: 

- An explanation of debt redemption, in addition the 
explanation would be included in the report glossary.

- The loan maturity profile graph on page 40 of the 
report be revised to include the interest rates.

-  An explanation as to how the authority’s borrowing 
compared with other local authorities

- An explanation of the upward trend, in relation to 
the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream.  
Confirming the comparison between borrowing 
levels and authorised borrowing limits approved 
within the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.  

- An explanation of the credit ratings and their use be 
included in the report content.

That Audit & Governance training be scheduled 
in December 2016 and following the May 2017 
elections.  

John Kear

John Kear/Andrea 
Griffiths  

Completed – circulated via email 
19/7/16

Training events arranged for: 
Thursday 8th December 2016, 1pm 
(Members Room).
Friday 30th June 2017, 1pm
(Meeting Room 1).

P
age 13



518. ANNUAL REPORT ON 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
ACTIVITY 2015/2016

That a briefing note on the “Gloucestershire 
Fraud Hub” be circulated to members.  

That senior management attend the next 
meeting of the committee to provide an update 
on the actions taken in relation to the 
recommendations made in the limited assurance 
Client Contributions audit report

Theresa Mortimer 

Theresa Mortimer 

Briefing note included within the 
Internal Audit Activity Progress 
Report presented to Members 16th 
September 2016

Report to the September 
Committee meeting.   

619. INTERNAL AUDIT 
LIMITED ASSURANCE 
REPORTS

Financial Assessments and Benefits Team - 
That the interim system be placed on the 
strategic risk register, until such time the 
management system was replaced by 
ContrOCC.  

Active Together - That the number of visits to 
date be checked on the audit report.  

Mark Branton 

Sarah Scott 

Circulated via email (4/8/16): 
The issue has been considered by 
the Adult Social Care Management 
Team and as a result of the 
mitigating actions being taken 
within the service and by the IT 
provider then the resultant risk is 
not such as to be included on the 
strategic risk register but this will 
continue to be assessed until a new 
system is in place. 

Circulated via email (4/8/16): 
As of 26th July 2016 the team had 
conducted 27 visits.  During the 
committee meeting there was 
discussion regarding involving the 
Member in the site visit.  The 
process is that when the visits are 
arranged the sponsoring Member is 
invited to attend as well.  To date 
two have done this.  The monitoring 
report that is written as a result of 
this visit is then also sent to the 
sponsoring Member for information.

P
age 14



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

The Audit Findings 

for  Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Year ended 31 March 2016 

Elisabeth Cave 

Director 

T 0117 305 7785 

E  liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com 

 

Terry Tobin 

Senior Manager 

T 0121 232 5276 

E  terry.p.tobin@uk.gt.com 

 

Megan Gibson 

In Charge Auditor 

T 0117 3 057 681 

E  megan.gibson@uk.gt.com 

 

August 2016 

Cover page 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council |  2015/16  2 

Private and Confidential 

Chartered Accountants 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.  

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and 

its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one Gloucestershire County and are not liable for one Gloucestershire County’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further 

details.. 

Private and Confidential 

This Audit Findings report highlights the key findings arising from the audit for the benefit of those charged with governance (in the case of Gloucestershire County 

Council, the Audit and Governance Committee Committee), as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with officers.  

As auditors we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and 

expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial 

statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.  

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and giving a value for money conclusion. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all 

areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be 

relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might 

identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this 

report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Elisabeth Cave 

Director 

Grant Thornton UK LLP  

The Canterbury Business Centre 

18 Ashchurch Road 

Tewkesbury 

GL20 8BT 

 

T +44 (0)28 9587 1050 

www.grant-thornton.co.uk  

 August 2016 

Dear Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 

Audit Findings for Gloucestershire County Council for the year ending 31 March 2016 

Gloucestershire County Council  

Shire Hall 

Westgate Street 

Gloucester 

GL1 2TG 

Letter 

P
age 16



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  3 

Contents 

Section Page 

1. Executive summary 4 

2. Audit findings 8 

3. Value for Money  25 

4. Fees, non-audit services and independence 32 

5. Communication of audit matters 34 

Appendices 

A  Action plan 

B  Audit opinion 

Contents 

P
age 17



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

Section 1: Executive summary 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Value for Money 

05. Communication of audit matters 

04. Fees, non audit services and independence 

P
age 18



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  5 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Purpose of this report 

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Gloucestershire 

County Council ('the Council') and the preparation of the Council's financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2016. It is also used to report our audit 

findings to management and those charged with governance in accordance with 

the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260,  and 

the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').   

 

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial statements 

give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and its income 

and expenditure for the year and whether they have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. .  

 

We are also required to consider other information published together with the 

audited financial statements, whether it is consistent with the financial statements 

and in line with required guidance. 

 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves on whether the 

Council has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion').  

 

Auditor Guidance Note 7 (AGN07) clarifies our reporting requirements in the 

Code and the Act. We are required to provide a conclusion whether in all 

significant respects, the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure 

value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for 

the relevant period. 

 

The Act also details the following additional powers and duties for  local 

government auditors, which we are required to report to you if applied: 

• a public interest report if we identify any matter that comes to our attention in 

the course of the audit that in our opinion should be considered by the Council 

or brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act);  

• written recommendations which should be considered by the Council and 

responded to publicly (section 24 of the Act); 

• application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law (section 28 of the Act);   

• issue of an advisory notice (section 29 of the Act); and 

• application for judicial review (section 31 of the Act)   

 

We are also required to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about 

the accounts and consider and decide upon objections received in relation to 

the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Act.  

 

Introduction 

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit 

approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated April 2016.   

 

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in 

the following areas:  

• review of the final version of the financial statements 

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation 

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion 

• Whole of Government Accounts 

  

This year the Council committed to producing its statement of accounts earlier 

than previous years. We received draft financial statements and accompanying 

working papers on the 6th June in accordance with the agreed timetable. A 

signed version of the accounts was provided on the 30th June, which contained 

only minor changes to the notes to the accounts. We would like to acknowledge 

the positive changes to the year-end closedown procedures to meet the earlier 

closedown deadlines. This allowed the audit to be completed significantly earlier 

than in previous years. This puts the Council in a good position for when the 

deadline for audited accounts moves forwards in 2017/18. 

 

 

P
age 19



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  6 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Key audit and financial reporting issues 

Financial statements opinion 

We have identified no adjustments affecting the Council's reported financial 

position. The audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 

recorded net expenditure of £180,662k . We have recommended a number of 

adjustments to improve the presentation of the financial statements which are set 

out on page 24. 

 

The key messages arising from our audit of the Council's financial statements are: 

• the volume and significance of the issues raised during the audit has decreased 

from the prior year, and mirrors an improvement in the final accounts 

production process. Naturally in a large process such as this, there remain areas 

where further improvements could be made and these have been discussed 

with officers 

• the narrative report, a new requirement for the 2015-16 financial statements 

was comprehensive and met the requirement of the Code. This report was clear 

and informative. 

• A significant prior period adjustment was identified and processed in the year 

which resulted in a £29.7m adjustment to both the revaluation reserve and 

capital adjustment account. We conducted specific audit work on the reason 

for, and calculation of the adjustment and were able to verify the 

reasonableness of this adjustment within a trivial  difference. 

 

Further details are set out in section two of this report. 

 

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix B). 

 

 

Other financial statement responsibilities 

As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are required to give an 

opinion on whether other information published together with the audited 

financial statements is consistent with the financial statements. This includes if 

the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements 

set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is misleading or inconsistent with 

the information of which we are aware from our audit. There were no such 

issues to report. 

 

Controls 

Roles and responsibilities 

The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 

monitoring the system of internal control. 

 

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of 

control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 

control weaknesses, we report these to the Council.  

 

Findings 

 

We draw your attention in particular to control issues identified in relation to 

the general IT control environment although some improvements have been 

noted in this area since 2014/15.. Our work has not identified any material 

weaknesses which are likely to adversely impact on the Council's financial 

statements, however some deficiencies have been identified. 

  

Further details are provided within section two of this report. 

P
age 20



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  7 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Value for Money 

Based on our review, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the Council 

had proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources. 

 

Further details of our work on Value for Money are set out in section three of this 

report. 

 

Other statutory powers and duties 

We have not identified any issues that have required us to apply our statutory 

powers and duties under the Act 

 

 

 

 

The way forward 

Matters arising from the financial statements audit and our review of the 

Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources have been discussed with the Strategic Finance 

Director 

 

We have made a number of recommendations, which are set out in the 

action plan at Appendix A. Recommendations have been discussed and 

agreed with the Strategic Finance Director and her finance team. 

 

Acknowledgement 

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

excellent assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during 

our audit. Specifically we would like to acknowledge the considerable 

effort that has been made in redesigning the year-end closedown timetable 

in order to accommodate an earlier accounts production and audit date 
 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

August 2016 

P
age 21



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

Section 2: Audit findings 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Value for Money 

04. Fees, non audit services and independence 

05. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 22



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  9 

Audit findings 

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (ISA) 320: Materiality in 

planning and performing an audit. The standard states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'.  

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £15,000k (being approximately 1.8% of gross revenue expenditure). We have considered whether 

this level remained appropriate during the course of the audit and have made no changes to our overall materiality. 

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £750k. This remains the same as reported in our audit plan. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate. These remain the same as reported in 

our audit plan. 

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level 

Disclosures of officers' remuneration, salary 

bandings and exit packages in notes to the 

statements 

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made. 

Within the correct salary banding 

Disclosure of auditors' remuneration in notes to the 

statements 

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made. 

£1k 

Materiality 

P
age 23



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  10 

Audit findings against significant risks 

  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

1.  The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions 

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue.  

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 

concludes that there is no risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition. 

 

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the 

nature of the revenue streams at  Gloucestershire County 

Council, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising 

from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because: 

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition 

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very 

limited; and 

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, 

including Gloucestershire County Council, mean that all 

forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable. 

Our audit work has not identified any issues in 

respect of revenue recognition. 

2.  Management over-ride of controls 

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities. 

 

Work performed; 

• review of entity controls  

• testing of journal entries 

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions 

made by management 

• review of unusual significant transactions 

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of 

management over-ride of controls. However the 

findings of our review of journal entries 

demonstrated that journal procedures notes 

covering authorisation needed to be updated to 

keep in line with recently amended practices at 

year-end. 

We set out later in this section of the report our 

work and findings on key accounting estimates 

and judgements.  

 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size 

or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement 

uncertainty" (ISA (UK&I) 315).  

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards. 

P
age 24



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  11 

Audit findings against significant risks continued 

  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

3.  Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

The Council previously re-valued its assets on 

a rolling basis over a five year period . In 

recent years the move has been toward a 

three-year rolling basis with the aim of moving 

to two years. The Code requires that the 

Council ensures that  the carrying value at the 

balance sheet date is not materially different 

from the current value. This represents a 

significant estimate by management in the 

financial statements. 

 

 Review of management's processes and assumptions for the 

calculation of the estimate. 

 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any 

management experts used. 

 Review of the instructions issued to valuation experts and the 

scope of their work 

 Discussions with the Council's valuer about the basis on which 

the valuation was carried out, challenging the key assumptions. 

 Review and challenge of the information used by the valuer to 

ensure it was robust and consistent with our understanding. 

 Testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they 

were input correctly into the Council's asset register 

 Evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those 

assets not revalued during the year and how management 

satisfied themselves that these  were not materially different to 

current value. 

 

Based on the evidence made available to us and 

the application of the principles in the Code and 

other accounting guidance we can confirm that we 

agree with management's exercise of judgement. 

 

4. Better Care Fund 

The Council has entered into a s75 pooled 

budget arrangement as of 1 April 2015 with 

Gloucestershire CCG. The accounting 

arrangements for this are complex and there is 

a risk of material misstatement and the 

potential for irregular expenditure. 

 

 

 

 We have obtained the signed s75 agreement governing the 

pooled budget and gain an understanding of the Council's 

assessment of where control lies and the expected accounting 

entries to be made. 

 We have documented and reviewed the operating effectiveness 

of the Council's controls over the BCF pooled budget. 

 We have tested the accounting entries made in respect of the 

BCF pooled budget to check they are consistent with our 

understanding of the arrangement and that transactions and 

balances recorded are consistent with those recorded by 

counterparty organisations. 

Our work has identified that the majority of 

Council's budgets in respect of joint commissioning 

are aligned budgets rather than pooled budgets. 

Based on our review we agree that the accounting 

treatment is appropriate given the nature of the 

financial relationships.  

We have relied on audit work that we carried out at 

Gloucestershire CCG (GCCG). This showed that 

the administration of partnership budgets has been 

developing during the year and consequently has 

been over complicated. Some simplification has 

now taken place, however, there is scope to further 

simplify the arrangements. 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to 

address these risks. 

P
age 25



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  12 

Audit findings against significant risks continued 
  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

 
Most of the CCG contributions to the 'pooled 

budget'  for the BCF are payments made to 

Gloucestershire County Council and other 

providers under 'block contracts'.  As these 

block contract payments are fixed, amounts for 

a given service there is no actual pooling of 

funds, therefore the budgets are merely 

aligned. We found that only two out of the 37 

projects within the BCF were shared 

arrangements requiring contribution from both 

GCCG and GCC. Of these only one project met 

the definition of joint control.  

Officers have agreed  to include a further 

disclosure note in the critical judgements 

section of the accounting policies . The notes 

also to make it clear whether budgets are 

pooled or aligned (integrated)  

No issues were identified from our substantive 

testing. 

 

5. Valuation of pension fund net liability 

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as 

reflected in its balance sheet represent significant 

estimates in the financial statements. 

 Documentation of the key controls that were put in place by 

management to ensure that the pension fund liability was not 

materially misstated.  

 Walkthrough of the key controls to assess whether they were 

implemented as expected and mitigate the risk of material 

misstatement in the financial statements. 

 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of the 

actuary who carried out the Council's pension fund valuation.  

 Gaining an understanding of the basis on which the IAS 19 

valuation was carried out, undertaking procedures to confirm the 

reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made.  

 Review of the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability 

and disclosures in notes to the financial statements with the 

actuarial report from your actuary. 

Our audit work has not identified any issues in 

respect of the pension fund net liability 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

P
age 26



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  13 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Employee 

remuneration 

Employee remuneration and 

benefit obligations and 

expenses understated. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this 

risk: 

• documented our understanding of processes and key 

controls over the transaction cycle, 

• undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess 

the whether those controls were in line with our 

documented understanding, 

• reviewed the reconciliation of the payroll system to the 

general ledger, including proof in total of the monthly 

payroll to the general ledger, 

• completed a trend analysis of monthly payroll data, and  

• Tested amount paid to individual employees on a 

sample basis. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified. 

Operating expenses Creditors related to core 

activities (e.g. supplies) 

understated or not recorded in 

the correct period. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this 

risk: 

• documented our understanding of processes and key 

controls over the transaction cycle, 

• undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess 

the whether those controls were in line with our 

documented understanding, 

• searched for unrecorded liabilities by reviewing 

payments after the year end, and 

• reviewed the Council's accrual policy and tested 

accrued balances and goods receipted. 

Our work on cut-off around year end raised a number of 

queries as to whether appropriate arrangements were in 

place to ensure that accruals were made for invoices not 

received at year end, but for which goods had been 

received/ services performed. We were required to 

perform additional audit work in this area to gather 

sufficient, appropriate audit evidence that the un-accrued 

items were not materially understated. 

Various errors were identified in our testing of the cut off 

of expenditure.  These related to invoices received in 

April relating to £111k which had not been accrued for in 

line with the Council's agreed accounting policies.  The 

extrapolated value of the error if applied to the whole 

creditors  balance would have been £3.2m which is below 

22% of our materiality level.. However, as this falls below 

materiality no further action is required in relation to the 

error identified. 

Audit findings against other risks 
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of  material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  

P
age 27



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  14 

Significant matters discussed with management  

  Significant matter Commentary 

1. Notice of audit The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 introduced a number of changes for councils in relation to the exercise of 

public rights. One of the key changes is that the auditor no longer sets the period for public inspection - instead the 

period is triggered by the Strategic Finance Director publishing the unaudited statements.  Unlike in previous years, the 

period of inspection is for 30 working days and for 2015/16 financial year needs to include the 1st-14th July. In addition 

members of the public can now only raise questions with the auditor within that 30 working day period.  

2. Service Concession Arrangements  During 2015-16 a contract was signed with an operator to design, build, finance and operate an energy from waste 

facility of behalf of the Council. 

We reviewed the accounting treatment for the project and concluded that management's classification of the project as 

a Service Concession is appropriate. We also confirmed the disclosures per the notes to the financial statements were 

consistent with the contractual agreement. 

An amendment was processed  on the Balance Sheet to change the classification of the £8.9m 2015/16 contribution 

from a short term prepayment to a long term prepayment. This was due to the agreed accounting treatment that the 

contributions would be treated  as prepayments until the asset  is brought onto the Balance sheet in 2019-20. 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

- significant 

matters discussed 

with management 

P
age 28



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  15 

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements 

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment 

Revenue recognition The Council's policy on revenue recognition is 

included in note 31 of the Statement of 

Accounts. 

• The Council's policy is appropriate and consistent with the relevant 

accounting framework, all material income streams are reflected in 

the policy. 

• Minimal judgement is involved. 

• The accounting policy is properly disclosed. 

 

Judgements and estimates Key estimates and judgements include: 

• Useful life of capital equipment 

• Revaluations 

• Impairments 

• PPE valuations 

• Provisions, and 

• PFI 

The Council's policy is appropriate and consistent with the Local 

Government code of Accounting Practice. 

• Reliance on experts is taken where appropriate 

• Accounting policies are properly disclosed 

• We have reviewed the accounting models the Council used to 

calculate the entries required in the accounts for the three current 

PFI schemes in operation.  We have compared these to our 

standard accounting model to provide some independent evidence 

over the accuracy of the estimate used.  In all three cases there 

are differences, however these are below our level of materiality 

and therefore we consider that no further action is required. 

 

Assessment 

  Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators   Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure   Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

– accounting 

policies# 

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Council's financial statements.   

P
age 29



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  16 

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements continued 

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment 

Going concern The Strategic Finance Director, as Section 

151 officer has a reasonable expectation that 

the services provided by the Council will 

continue for the foreseeable future.  Members 

concur with this view. For this reason, the 

Council  continue to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing the financial statements. 

We have reviewed the Council's assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the going concern basis is 

appropriate for the 2015/16 financial statements.  

 

 

PPE Revaluation Revaluation of all the County Council’s PPE 

is undertaken using a three-year rolling 

programme, aiming to move to two years. 

We have noted that the Council have made 

progress in moving forward their revaluation 

programme in order to ensure that carrying 

value is not materially different from fair 

value. 

 

For assets  not  valued in the year, assurance has been gained from 

the Council's in-house valuer, external valuer and the finance team 

that the value of Property, Plant and Equipment  held in the 

accounts remain materially correct. 

The evidence provided to support the valuation of assets not valued 

in the year to demonstrate that the carrying values in the accounts 

were materially correct was robust . 

 

 

 

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Council's policies against the requirements of 

the CIPFA Code of Practice. The Council's accounting policies are 

appropriate and consistent with previous years. 

 

 

Assessment 

  Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators   Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure   Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

– accounting 

policies# 

.   

P
age 30



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  17 

Other communication requirements 

  Issue Commentary 

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Governance Committee, we have not been made aware of any 

significant incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures. 

2. Matters in relation to related 

parties 

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed. 

3. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations 

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work. 

4. Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Council. 

5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties  

 We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to all institutions where the Council  holds cash or 

investment balances and those who lend the Council money. This permission was granted and the requests were sent. Of these 

requests a small portion were not returned and we undertook alternative confirmation procedures 

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements, however we have highlighted some areas where improvements 

could be made in the future.  These are contained within the table on page 25 below. 

7. Matters on which we report by 

exception 

We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas: 

 If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 

misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit 

 The information in the Narrative Report is materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements or our 

knowledge of the Group/Council acquired in the course of performing our audit, or otherwise misleading. 

We have not identified  any issues we would be required to report  

8. Specified procedures for 

Whole of Government 

Accounts  

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation 

pack under WGA group audit instructions.  

As the Council exceeds the specified group reporting threshold we are required  to examine and report on the consistency of the WGA 

consolidation pack with the Council's audited financial statements. 

This work is not yet completed and the planned timescale for the work has been agreed with officers for the start of September.  We have 

explored the possibilities for including this work as part of the audit fieldwork, however guidance from the Treasury has not been 

available to enable this work to be completed earlier than the agreed timescale. 

Audit findings 

Other 

communication 

requirements# 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance. 

P
age 31



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  18 

Internal controls 
The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. We considered and walked through the internal controls 

for Employee Remuneration and Operating Expenses as set out on page 13 above.  

The matters that we identified during the course of our audit  are set out in the table below. These and other recommendations, together with management responses, 

are included in the action plan attached at Appendix A. 

  Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations 

1. 
 

 

SAP support team have excessive access rights within the system 

'Transaction codes' in SAP enable users to perform functions within the system. A collection 

of transaction codes is known as a 'role'.  Roles should be designed to meet the requirements 

of the job that a user performs and only grant access to those functions that are strictly 

required.  This model of aligning user access rights to duties performed is referred to as 'role 

based access control' and ensures that users are only granted access to the functionality that 

they require to perform their duties. 

SAP administration staff have been allocated roles that enable access to several sensitive 

transaction codes.  These roles potentially create segregation of duties conflicts, particularly 

between developing SAP changes and applying them to the live environment. Management 

have made us aware that several development projects have required support staff to be 

allocated functions over the last year and have been allocated a number of SAP user roles.  

Several of these roles have been assigned to users for long periods of time whilst others were 

terminated following the completion of the project. 

The risk of allocating wide ranging and sensitive roles to a relatively large number of support 

users increases the risk that unintended or inappropriate actions may occur.  We note that 

previous improvements in restricting sensitive transaction codes are undermined by this 

condition.  The list of sensitive transaction codes are provided in a separate document. 

We recommend that management review the 

SAP support environment to define 'role based 

access controls'. Role based access controls use 

roles that are based on specific task areas that 

users are authorised to perform. Where 

authorisation is given to perform a specific task, 

management should consider whether the tasks 

should be carried out by the same person or 

whether segregation is required. 

 

Audit findings 

Assessment  

 Significant deficiency – risk of significant misstatement 

 Deficiency – risk of inconsequential misstatement 

Internal controls 

P
age 32



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  19 

Internal controls continued. 

  Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations 

2. 
 

 

Management have not implemented a process to review SAP and network user access rights 

 

A fundamental IT general control applicable is to periodically review the access rights that are 

assigned to users.  This helps to ensure that users only have the minimum level of access rights that 

they require to perform their duties, which in turn reduces the risk of fraud, error or unauthorised 

access to information. 

There is no process in place for reviewing the access rights that network users have, such as access 

to shared folders or drives.  There is also no formal process to review SAP user access rights and 

identify excessive access or segregation of duties conflicts. We understand that a project is in 

progress to review user access levels within the financial modules of SAP. This was also identified as 

a finding in our prior year's audit and remains outstanding. 

We performed a review of segregation of duties conflicts within SAP for users who have access to 

the full SAP environment. This analysis identified users with segregation of duties conflicts in both 

the accounts payable and general ledger accounting cycle. The absence of a process for regularly 

reviewing user access rights is a potential contributory factor to this.  

Without regular user access rights reviews, the likelihood increases that users who have access rights 

they do not require for their job, or who have conflicting duties, will not be identified. Excessive 

access rights and segregation of duties conflicts increase the risk of internal controls being bypassed 

or overridden, potentially creating a risk of fraud or error. 

The segregation of duties conflicts are listed in a separate document. 

We recommend that management adopt role 

based access controls that can be implement 

whilst minimising segregation of duties 

conflicts. 

 

A supporting process should be introduced 

to ensure that user access rights for both 

SAP and the network are periodically 

reviewed.  This process should involve 

ensuring that all user access rights are 

commensurate with the user's job role and 

that the user is still required to have a live 

account on the system. 

 

The outputs of this review, including details 

of any access rights revoked, should be 

formally documented such a third-party 

could re-perform the review if required. 

 

Audit findings 

Internal controls 

P
age 33



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  20 

Internal controls continued. 

  Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations 

3 
 Various errors were identified in our testing of the cut off of expenditure as described previously.  

These related to invoices received in April relating to £111k which had not been accrued for in line 

with the Council's agreed accounting policies.  Controls around cut-off at year end need to be 

reviewed. 

Review controls around cut-off of 

expenditure 

Audit findings 

Internal controls 

The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient 

importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards. 

P
age 34



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council |  2015/16  21 

Internal controls – review of  issues raised in prior year 
  

   Assessment Issue and risk previously communicated Update on actions taken to address the issue 

1.  

 
 We have identified  in the 2014/15 audit an unexplained 

difference of £1.5 million between the Fixed Asset Register 

and Property Plant and Equipment note within the financial 

statements.  

 The difference in the 2015-16 Fixed Asset Register (FAR) Reconciliation was below 

the triviality threshold of £750k.  

 Management have been working on the PPE system to cleanse data and ensure data 

contained in the FAR is appropriate. 

2.  

 X 
 The organisation lacks adequate controls to prevent 

segregation of duties conflicts from occurring within the 

SAP role structure. We note that several medium to high-

risk conflicts were present in user accounts. Our analysis 

focused on two business cycles, purchase to pay and 

record to report. We have identified sufficient 

compensating controls to prevent the risk of significant 

misstatement.  

 Without adequate identification and management of 

segregation of duties conflicts there is a risk that 

compensating controls will not be sufficient to detect 

inappropriate postings in the system leading to material 

misstatements or financial fraud. 

 

 A review of user access is currently in progress. 

 Management have provided us with commentary where they consider mitigating 

controls to be in place which reduce risks identified. 

 Further details have been discussed and agreed with management.  

3. 
X 

 

• Our review of IT controls identified an excessive number of 

users with access to privileged transactions.  

• Further details have been shared in our report to 

management.  

 A review of user access is currently in  progress. 

 Management have provided us with commentary where they consider mitigating 

controls to be in place which reduce risks identified. 

 Further details have been discussed and agreed with management.  

Audit findings 

Assessment 

  Action completed 

X Not yet addressed 

Internal controls - 

review of issues 

raised in prior year 

P
age 35



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  22 

Adjusted misstatements 

Audit findings 

Adjusted 

misstatements 

Detail Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure 

Statement 

£'000 

Balance Sheet 

£'000 

Impact on total net 

expenditure 

£000 

1 Service Concession Prepayment – reclassification from short 

term to long term prepayments 

-£8.9  short term 

debtors 

£8.9m long term 

debtors 

2 Financial Liabilities Note – adjustments made to Long Term 

Loans from PWLB (£35k) , Long Term LOBO Loans (£9k), 

total adjustment £44k to financial liabilities to ensure 

consistency with Balance Sheet and General ledger.   

N/A- Figure per 

Balance Sheet 

accurate, amendment 

made to Note. 

Overall impact £0 £0 £0 

A number of adjustments to the draft accounts have been identified during the audit process. We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged 

with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. The table below summarises the adjustments arising from the audit which have 

been processed by management. 
 

Impact of adjusted misstatements 

All adjusted misstatements are set out in detail below along with the impact on the key statements and the reported net expenditure for the year.   

P
age 36



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  23 

Unadjusted misstatements 

Audit findings 

Adjusted 

misstatements 

There were no unadjusted misstatements to report to Those Charged with Governance. 

P
age 37



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  24 

Misclassifications and disclosure changes 

Audit findings 

Adjusted 

misstatements 

Adjustment type Value 

£'000 

Account balance Impact on the financial statements 

1 Disclosure N/A Schools To add group' disclosures in line with Code paragraphs 9.1.4.10 a) i) and b) and 9.1.4.13 as per 

Appendix E1.4 of the Code. These cover understanding the composition of the group in relation 

to schools i.e.. the number of schools the authority has in each category of maintained school  

2 Disclosure 15 Audit Fee Audit Fee disclosure – the amount included in the notes to the accounts excluded our advisory 

work on the Fire PFI 

3 Disclosure 

 

N/A PPE Revaluations To add further disclosure notes to define the class of assets and which assets have been valued in 

year. 

4 Disclosure N/A 

 

Officer's Remuneration To ensure accrued exit packages as at year end are included in the calculation. 

5 Disclosures N/A Throughout Our review of the accounts highlighted some improvements that were required to be made to the 

accounts.  None of these were individually significant and they have been made to improve the 

final presentation and aid clarity for the reader.  

Examples include a range of typographical errors, note references that have not been updated, and 

amounts disclosed within tables not reflecting the most up to date position.  In addition we have 

noted some areas where additional clarity has been needed within the narrative disclosure to 

ensure compliance with the code. 

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.  

 

P
age 38



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

Section 3: Value for Money 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Value for Money 

04. Fees, non-audit services and independence 

05. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 39



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  26 

Value for Money 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

 

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving 
our report, and have not identified any further significant risks where we need 
to perform further work. 

Significant qualitative aspects 

AGN03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the 

Council's arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

We have focused our work on the four significant risks that we identified in the 

Council's arrangements. In arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations 

were: 

• the Council's decision making process for the revised project plan for the 

energy from waste plant 

• the robustness of the Council's 2016/17 savings plans to support its future 

financial sustainability 

• the Council's arrangements for managing the overspend in children's social 

care and its plans to ensure that this service is sustainable 

• the Council's arrangements for managing the overspend in adults social care 

and its plans to ensure that this service is sustainable. 

We have set out more detail on the risks we identified, the results of the work 

we performed and the conclusions we drew from this work later in this section. 

Overall conclusion 

Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we concluded 

that: 

• the Council had proper arrangements in all significant respects to ensure it 

delivered value for money in its use of resources. The text of our report, 

which confirms this can be found at Appendix B. 

 

 

Background 

We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
('the Act') and the NAO Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to satisfy 
ourselves that the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion.  

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper 
arrangements are in place at the Council. The Act and NAO guidance state 
that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on 
whether the Council has put proper arrangements in place.  

In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's Auditor 
Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2015. AGN 03 identifies 
one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:  

In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people.  

AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements against three sub-criteria 
but specifically states that these are not separate criteria for assessment 
purposes and that auditors are not required to reach a distinct judgement 
against each of these.  

Risk assessment  

We carried out an initial risk assessment in February 2016 and identified four 
significant risks, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 
March 2016.  

We identified risks in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using 
the guidance contained in AGN03. 

 

 

 

P
age 40



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  27 

Key findings 

We set out below our key findings against the four significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment.  

 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions 

Energy from waste plant 

The Council entered into a  Deed of 

Variation and Restatement with Urbaser 

Balfour Beatty Ltd in respect of the Residual 

Waste contract originally signed on 22nd 

February 2013. This effectively brought the 

contract up to date following planning 

delays and enacts the changes arising out 

the Revised Project Plan process. It is 

important  to ensure that this important 

decision is properly justified. 

 

 

We reviewed the Council's governance 

arrangements around making this important 

decision. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for the Deed of Variation and Restatement 

with Urbaser Balfour Beatty Ltd in respect of the Residual Waste contract originally 

signed on 22nd February 2013. 

 

On 22 July 2015 Cabinet approved the continued costs of the revised project plan of 

between £5-6m to December 2015 funded from reserves, the increased costs were 

as a result of the delays caused by the planning appeal. 

 

On 11 November 2015 Cabinet approved a further £17m one-off financial 

contribution to the residual waste project, funded from revenue reserves to mitigate 

the cost of delay in the annual revenue budget for the project over 25 years. The 

Cabinet also authorised the Director of Communities and Infrastructure to agree and 

sign the deed of variation restatement of the residual waste contract. The contract is 

forecast to show savings of £153m over its life and is affordable within the first five 

years of operation. 

 

The Council's Waste Board met on 22 December 2015 to finalise some of the 

outstanding deed of variation issues  and financial close was completed on 21 

January 2016 following an in depth analysis of the value for money/affordability of 

the residual waste contract . 

 

The contract will be in service from summer 2019 (25 years with a 5 year extension 

option) and the asset will revert back to the Council at the end of the contract, with 

the potential for a further 25 years of life. 

 

We found that the Council's overarching governance arrangements for the residual 

waste project were appropriate with clear reporting via the Waste Board to the 

Cabinet a key part of the decision making process. Furthermore, the Council's 

approach to the VfM of the residual waste project was robust. The Council 

employed consultants to undertake a comprehensive VfM review and the outcomes 

of this process clearly demonstrated that the Council's decision represented value 

for money and that the decision making process was well informed  

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to support informed decision 

making. 

Value for Money 

P
age 41



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  28 

Key findings 

We set out below our key findings against the four significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment.  

 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions 

Future financial sustainability 

The Council identified savings of £32.3m as 

part of the 2016/17 budget setting process. 

A contingency has been set aside in case 

this is not fully delivered. Delivery of this 

level of savings will be challenging for the 

Council. Savings plans for 2017/18 are still 

being developed. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

identifying and agreeing savings plans, and 

communicating key findings to the Council and 

key decision making committees. 

The Council has a strong track record of delivering challenging savings plan targets. 

In 2015/16 the Council delivered £21.5m against a target of £26m. The most 

significant shortfall was against the savings target for adults social care services, 

which was as a consequence of increases in demand. This resulted in savings of 

£5.7m being achieved against a stretch target of £9.1m for adults social care 

services in 2015/16. 

 

The Council is in the process of updating its medium term financial strategy and the 

Cabinet approved the proposed approach for reviewing and developing the 

Council's Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2017/18 to 

2019/20 (MTC2) in July 2016. This includes a summary of funding forecast for the 

period, an analysis of spending pressures and a high level summary of potential 

savings targets. 

 

The Council set an initial savings target for 2016/17 of £32.3m but this was revised 

to £28.3m. 

  

All of the individual savings schemes have detailed project plans, key milestones, 

clearly identified project leads and are routinely monitored by the Council using 

Verto, which is its project management software system. It is too early to determine 

the outcomes of the Council's savings plan target (£28.3m) for 2016/17, but the 

arrangements in place for the individual schemes are robust and the monitoring 

arrangements are strong. 

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions and to support informed decision 

making. 

 

Value for Money 

P
age 42



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  29 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions 

Children's social care 

As at October 2015 the forecast overspend 

in Children's and Families was projected to 

be £2.36m after the application of £1.65m 

from the vulnerable children's reserve. 

There has been sustained pressure from 

children coming into care, which has 

principally affected the external placements 

and safeguarding budgets. There are high 

agency costs due to difficulties in attracting 

permanent social workers. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

managing the overspend, and the plans in 

place to ensure that this service is sustainable. 

The outturn revenue position for children's social care services for 2015/16 was an 

overspend of £0.7m (0.7% of the net budget). This figure took into account the 

allocation of £2m of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy change savings, 

but ensured that the previously reported forecast draw down of £1.65m from the 

vulnerable children's reserve was not required, which provides additional resilience 

for 2016/17. The improvement in the outturn revenue position was also due to 

increased underspends within children with disabilities, supporting people and home 

to school transport and a reduction in the external placement overspend. 

 

The current forecast of the 2016/17 year end revenue position as at June 2016 for 

children's social care services is an overspend of £2.79m (2.77% of budget), which 

reduces to £1.14m after the vulnerable children's reserve has been applied.  

 

The significant rise in children coming into care (600 cases in May 2016 compared 

to 479 cases in April 2014) is continuing to cause considerable pressures on 

children's services and, in particular, against the external agency placement and 

fostering allowances budgets resulting in the overspend. Robust scrutiny by senior 

managers of high cost placements continues to ensure appropriate provision is in 

place and placement drift is avoided but the underlying issue is the volume of 

placements required. The financial recovery plan continues to be reviewed and 

updated to mitigate against the volume increases wherever possible.  

 

At present, it is too early to determine the outcomes of this year's children's social 

services savings plan schemes (£1.252m), but the schemes are actively managed 

through the Council's use of Verto. In addition, we note that the Council is focused 

on delivering its financial recovery plan.  

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions. 

Value for Money 

P
age 43



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  30 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions 

Adults social care 

The forecast overspend in adults social care 

services was projected to be £3.9m after 

the drawdown of £1.2m adults earmarked 

reserve. Virtually all of this was attributed to 

Older Peoples and Physical Disabilities 

where there was a £7.2m (12.1%) 

overspend. This area of expenditure 

continues to cause significant financial 

pressures on the overall budget. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

managing the overspend, and the plans in 

place to ensure that this service is sustainable. 

The outturn revenue position for adults social care services for 2015/16 was an 

overspend of £3.1m (2.1% of budget). The allocation of £2m of the MRP policy 

change savings reduced the overspend from £5.1m. Anticipating and managing the 

situation ensured the previously reported forecast draw down of £1.2m from the 

adults earmarked reserve was not required, which provides additional resilience for 

2016/17. 

 

The current forecast of the 2016/17 year end revenue position as at June 2016 for 

adults social care services is breakeven, based on the underlying overspend being 

offset by a combination of temporary and permanent funding available adults in this 

financial year. The underlying overspend of £3.85m includes learning disabilities 

(£2m), older people/physical disabilities (£1.5m), mental health (£0.14m) and 

community equipment and telecare (£0.21m) is offset by care act reserve (£1.31m 

temporary) and social care levy (£2.54m permanent). 

 

Meetings with key officers and review of the Council's adults social care savings 

plan for 2016/17 have established that the Council is in the process of introducing a 

series of new measures to tackle the demand and financial pressures on adults 

social care services. 

 

At present, it is too early to determine the outcomes of this year's adults social 

services savings plan schemes (£3.760m), but the schemes are actively managed 

through the Council's use of Verto. In addition, we note that the Council is focused 

on delivering its financial recovery plan.  

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions. 

 

Value for Money 

P
age 44



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  31 

Value for money 

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work 

We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your 

arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention. 

Significant matters discussed with management 

There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 

significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 

management or those charged with governance.  

Any other matters 

There were no other matters from our work which were significant to our 

consideration of your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of 

resources. 

P
age 45



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

Section 4: Fees, non-audit services and independence 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Value for Money 

04. Fees, non audit services and independence 

05. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 46



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  33 

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services. 

Independence and ethics 

 

Ethical standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260 require us to give 

you full and fair disclosure of matters relating to our independence. In this context, we 

disclose the following to you:  

The firm is the advisor to Balfour Beatty who are now the Council’s PFI partners 

following financial close of the waste disposal contract in February 2013. We have 

considered whether the issue is a threat to our independence and have concluded it is not, 

as the project has reached financial close. 

We confirm that there are no other significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have 

complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and therefore we confirm 

that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements.  

Full details of all fees charged for audit and non-audit services will be included in our 

Audit Findings Report at the conclusion of the audit.  

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements 

of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards 

 

Fees for other services 

Service Fees £ 

Audit related services: 

• Teachers' Pension return certification 

 

4,200 

Non-audit services 

• Fire Services PFI advisory work 

 

 

14,000 

 

Fees, non audit services and independence 

Fees 

Proposed fee  

£ 

Final fee   

£ 

Council audit 98,010 98,010 

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 98,010 98,010 

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) . 

P
age 47



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

Section 5: Communication of  audit matters 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Value for Money 

04. Fees, non audit services and independence 

05. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 48



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  35 

Communication to those charged with governance 

Our communication plan 

Audit 

Plan 

Audit 

Findings 

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance 

 

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications 

 

Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought 

 

Confirmation of independence and objectivity   

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence.  

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged  

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence 

 

 

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit  

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements 

 

Non compliance with laws and regulations  

Expected modifications to auditor's report   

Uncorrected misstatements  

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties  

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

International Standards on Auditing ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe 

matters which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, 

and which we set out in the table opposite.   

The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this 

Audit Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the 

audit, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities 

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/) 

We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters.  

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code.  

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place 

for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these 

responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 

Communication of audit matters 

P
age 49

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  36 

Appendices 

Appendices 

P
age 50



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  37 

Appendix A: Action plan 

Priority 
High - Significant effect on control system 
Medium - Effect on control system 
Low - Best practice 

Rec 

No. Recommendation Priority Management response 

Implementation date 

& responsibility 

1 We recommend that management review the SAP support environment to 

define 'role based access controls'. Role based access controls use roles that 

are based on specific task areas that users are authorise to perform. Where 

authorisation is given to perform a specific task, management should 

consider whether the tasks should be carried out the same person or 

whether segregation is required. 

 

Medium An access and role review has been 

commissioned and an interim report is 

currently being reviewed.   

Once the full scope of any work needed is 

identified a detailed report and 

recommendations will be presented to the 

BSC Governance Board to agree a 

programme for implementing change.  

Priority will be given to the high risk areas 

of BASIS, SAP Support & Finance, and 

Procure to Pay.      

By 31st March 2017  

Cheryl Chambers,  

Head of Business 

Service Centre  

2 We recommend that management adopt role based access controls that can 

be implemented  whilst minimising segregation of duties conflicts. 

 

A supporting process should be introduced to ensure that user access rights 

for both SAP and the network are periodically reviewed.  This process should 

involve ensuring that all user access rights are commensurate with the user's 

job role and that the user is still required to have a live account on the system. 

 

The outputs of this review, including details of any access rights revoked, 

should be formally documented such a third-party could re-perform the 

review if required. 

Medium Joint reports from ICT Services and 

Information Management Services are 

being presented to CoMT in September 

and October recommending that 

management perform, at least, annual 

formal reviews of the user accounts and 

permissions within Active Directory.  

These reviews will evaluate both the 

necessity of existing user ID’s and the 

appropriateness of user- to-group 

assignments. 

By 31st December 

2016  

Andy Gilbert,  

Head of ICT  

 

Appendices 

P
age 51



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  38 

Appendix A: Action plan (continued) 

Priority 
High - Significant effect on control system 
Medium - Effect on control system 
Low - Best practice 

Rec 

No. Recommendation Priority Management response 

Implementation date 

& responsibility 

3 Review year end controls around cut-off of expenditure Medium The significantly earlier closure of 

accounts resulted in slightly higher error 

rates than normal.  It is accepted that 

we need to highlight the importance of 

the cut-off of expenditure for the 

2016/17 accounts.   

All documentation and review/training 

sessions for the 2016/17 accounts will 

be updated to emphasise the 

importance of the cut-off of 

expenditure and correctly accruing for 

transactions 

 

By 30th June 2017, 

production of 

2016/17 accounts.  

John Kear,  

Financial 

Accounting 

 

 

Appendices 

P
age 52



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  39 

Appendix B: Audit opinion 

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report  

Audit opinion – 

option 1  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

COUNTY COUNCIL 

  

  

We have audited the financial statements of Gloucestershire County Council (the "Authority") for the year 

ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial 

statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes and include the firefighters' 

pension fund financial statements comprising the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and the related 

notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

  

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act 

and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published 

by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 

to the members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

  

  

Respective responsibilities of the Strategic Finance Director and auditor 

  

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Strategic Finance Director’s Responsibilities, the Strategic 

Finance Director is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the 

financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 

on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16, which give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 

law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with 

the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

  

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 

to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the Authority’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the   

 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Strategic Finance Director; and the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information 

in the Narrative Report, and the Annual Governance Statement to identify material inconsistencies with the 

audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, 

or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 

become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 

our report. 

 

Opinion on financial statements 

  

In our opinion the financial statements: 

present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2016 and of its 

expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 and applicable law. 

  

Opinion on other matters 

  

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the 

Narrative Report, and the Annual Governance Statement is consistent with the audited financial statements. 

  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

  

We are required to report to you if: 

in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance included in ‘Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government: a Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007; or 

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Act; or 

we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act; or 

we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under the Act. 

  

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

  

 

Appendices 

P
age 53



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  40 

Audit opinion – 

option 1  

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements to secure value for money through economic, efficient 

and effective use of its resources 

  

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor 

  

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly 

the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 

  

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required 

to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

  

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements to secure value for money through economic, 

efficient and effective use of its resources 

  

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller 

and Auditor General as required by the Act (the "Code"), having regard to the guidance on the specified 

criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2015, as to whether the Authority had 

proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve 

planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

determined these criteria as those necessary for us to consider under the Code in satisfying ourselves whether 

the Authority put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money through the economic, efficient 

and effective use of its resources for the year ended 31 March 2016. 

  

We planned our work in accordance with the Code. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work 

as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant respects the Authority has put in 

place proper arrangements to secure value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its 

resources. 

  

Conclusion  

  

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller 

and Auditor General in November 2015, we are satisfied that in all significant respects the Authority has put in 

place proper arrangements to secure value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its 

resources for the year ended 31 March 2016. 

16 

  

Certificate 

  

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of the Authority in accordance with the 

requirements of the Act and the Code. 

  

  

 

Elisabeth Cave 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 

  

Hartwell House 

55-61 Victoria Street 

Bristol BS1 6FT 

 

  

September 2016 

Appendices 

P
age 54



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2015/16  

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served.  

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires.  

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one Gloucestershire County and are 
not liable for one Gloucestershire County's acts or omissions.  

grant-thornton.co.uk 

Back page 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

. 

The Audit Findings 

for Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

Year ended 31 March 2016 

 24 July 2016 

Cover page 

Elizabeth Cave 

Director 

T 0117 305 7885  

E  liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com 

Terry Tobin 

Senior Manager 

T 0121 232 5312 

E  Terry.p.Tobin@uk.gt.com 

Muhammad Z Shahid 

In-charge auditor 

T 0117 305 7696  

E  muhammad.z.shahid@uk.gt.com 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 5



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  2 

Private and Confidential 

Chartered Accountants 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.  

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and 

its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details.. 

Private and Confidential 

This Audit Findings report highlights the significant findings arising from the audit for the benefit of those charged with governance ((in the case of  Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund, the Audit and Governance Committee), as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with management.  

As auditors we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and 

expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial 

statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.  

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, 

where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or 

other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility 

for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, 

any other purpose. 

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Elizabeth Cave, Director 

Grant Thornton UK LLP  

Hartwell House 

55-61 Victoria Street 

Bristol 

 

 

www.grant-thornton.co.uk  24 July 2016 

 

Dear Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 

Audit Findings for Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2016 

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund 

Shire Hall 

Gloucester 

Gl1 2TG 

Letter 

P
age 58



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  3 

Contents 

Section Page 

1. Executive summary 4 

2. Audit findings 7 

3. Fees, non-audit services and independence 20 

4. Communication of audit matters 22 

Appendices 

A  Audit opinion 

Contents 

P
age 59



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

Section 1: Executive summary 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

04. Communication of audit matters 

03. Fees, non audit services and independence 

P
age 60



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  5 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Purpose of this report 

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund ('the Fund') and the preparation of the fund's financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2016. It is also used to report our audit findings to 

management and those charged with governance in accordance with the 

requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260,  and the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').   

 

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Fund's financial statements give  

a true and fair view of the financial position of the fund and its income and 

expenditure for the year and whether they have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.  

 

We are also required consider other information published together with the 

audited financial statements, whether it is consistent with the financial statements 

and in line with required guidance. This includes the Pension Fund Annual Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit 

approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 16 March 

2016 

 

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in 

the following areas:  

• completion of final specialist partner review, 

• obtaining and reviewing the final management letter of representation, 

• review of the final version of the financial statements and annual report and 

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion 

 

We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the 

commencement of our work, in accordance with the agreed timetable. 

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix B). 

 

P
age 61



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  6 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Key audit and financial reporting issues 

Financial statements opinion 

 

We anticipate providing an unqualified opinion in respect of the Fund's financial 

statements. 

 

The key messages arising from our audit of the Fund's financial statements are: 

• We have no adjusted or unadjusted misstatements to report,  

• The draft accounts were presented for audit in accordance with the agreed 

timetable.  

• Our work at year end demonstrated that access to documents and the quality 

of working papers was of a high standard. 

 

We have not identified any significant adjustments affecting the Fund's reported 

financial position. However, we have agreed with officers some minor 

adjustments to improve the presentation of the financial statements.  

 

Further details are set out in section two of this report. 

 

Controls 

Roles and responsibilities 

The Fund's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 

monitoring the system of internal control. 

 

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of 

control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 

control weaknesses, we report these to the Fund.  

 

Findings 

 

The only control weaknesses which we wish to bring to your attention are 

in relation to some general SAP general IT controls.  Further details are 

already provided within Section 2 of the County Council's Audit Findings 

Report which is being presented to the same meeting as this report and are 

therefore not replicated here. However they are not considered to have a 

significant impact on the statement of accounts. 

. 

 

 

The way forward 

Matters arising from the financial statements audit have been discussed 

with the Director of  Strategic Resources and the finance team 

 

 

Acknowledgement 

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit. 
 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

July 2016 

P
age 62



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

Section 2: Audit findings 

This section summarises the findings of  the audit, we report on 

the final level of  materiality used and the work undertaken 

against the risks we identified in our initial audit plan. We also 

conclude on the accounting policies, estimates and judgements 

used and highlight any weaknesses found as part of  the audit in 

internal controls.  As required by auditing standards we detail 

both adjusted and unadjusted misstatements to the accounts 

and their impact on the financial statements.  

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Fees, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 63



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  8 

Audit findings 

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (ISA) 320: Materiality in 

planning and performing an audit. The standard states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'.  

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £17,090,000 (being 1% of net assets). We have considered whether this level remained appropriate 

during the course of the audit and have made no changes to our overall materiality. 

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £828,000. This remains the same as reported in our audit plan. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate. These remain the same as reported in 

our audit plan. 

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level 

Management Expenses Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made. 

£100,000 

Related party transactions Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made. 

£100,000 

Materiality 

P
age 64



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  9 

Audit findings against significant risks 

  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

1.  The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions 

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk 

that revenue may be misstated due to the 

improper recognition of revenue.  

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 

concludes that there is no risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk 

 

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the 

nature of the revenue streams at  Gloucestershire Fund, we have 

determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition 

can be rebutted, because: 

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition 

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very 

limited; and 

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, 

including Gloucestershire County Council as the administering 

authority, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable. 

Our audit work has not identified any material 

issues in respect of revenue recognition. 

2.  Management over-ride of controls 

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the 

risk of  management  over-ride of controls is 

present in all entities. 

 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk 

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions 

made by management, 

• testing of journal entries, and 

• review of unusual significant transactions. 

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of 

management over-ride of controls. We noted that  

the local configuration of SAP ledger system 

permits the processing of journals without 

authorisation. We noted that all the journals we 

reviewed were authorised retrospectively but this 

relies on the discipline of current staff. 

We set out later in this section of the report our 

work and findings on key accounting estimates and 

judgements. 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size 

or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement 

uncertainty" (ISA (UK&I) 315).  

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards. 

P
age 65



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  10 

Audit findings against significant risks continued 

  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

3.  Level 3 Investments – Valuation is incorrect 

 

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to 

significant non-routine transactions and 

judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by 

their very nature require a significant degree of 

judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at 

year end. 

 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

• gained an understanding of the transactions via discussions 

with the pension fund team and reviewed supporting 

documentation. 

• carried out walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the 

cycle. 

• tested a sample of Level 3 investments by obtaining and 

reviewing the audited accounts at latest date for individual 

investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at 

that date.  Reconciliation of those values to the values at 31 

March 2016 with reference to known movements in the 

intervening period. 

• reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and 

considered what assurance management has over the year end 

valuations provided for these types of investments. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant 

issues in relation to the risk identified.  

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to 

address these risks. 

P
age 66



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  11 

Audit findings against other risks 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Investment Income Investment income not 

accurate. (Accuracy) 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 We documented our understanding of processes and key 

controls over the transaction cycle, 

 We have performed a walkthrough to gain assurance that the 

in-year controls were operating in accordance with our 

documented understanding. 

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by 

the fund managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own 

records and sought explanations for variances,  

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risks identified. 

 

Investment values – 

Level 2 investments 

Valuation is incorrect. 

(Valuation net) 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 We documented our understanding of processes and key 

controls over the transaction cycle, 

 We have performed a walkthrough to gain assurance that the 

in-year controls were operating in accordance with our 

documented understanding. 

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by 

the fund managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own 

records and sought explanations for variances,  

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

(continued) 

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  Recommendations, together with management 

responses are attached at appendix A.   

P
age 67



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  12 

Audit findings against other risks (continued) 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Contributions  Recorded contributions 

not correct (Occurrence) 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls 

over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the 

whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls over the contributions made to the fund, 

 tested a sample of contributions to source data to gain 

assurance over their accuracy and occurrence, and 

 analysed contributions received with reference to changes in 

member body payrolls and numbers of contributing pensioners 

and ensured that any unexpected trends were satisfactorily 

explained. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified. 

 

Benefits payable Benefits improperly 

computed/claims liability 

understated 

(Completeness, 

accuracy and 

occurrence) 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls 

over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the 

whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls for member to be enrolled on the scheme, 

 tested a sample of individual pensions in payment by reference 

to member files, and 

 rationalised pension paid with reference to changes in 

pensioner numbers and increases applied in the year to ensure 

that any unusual trends are satisfactorily explained. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified. 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

(continued) 

P
age 68



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  13 

Audit findings against other risks (continued) 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Member Data  Member data not 

correct. (Rights and 

Obligations) 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls 

over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the 

whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls over changes to the pension fund data set, 

and 

 tested a sample of changes to member data made during the 

year to source documentation. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in 

relation to the risk identified 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

(continued) 

P
age 69



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  14 

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements 

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment 

Revenue recognition There are two key policies in relation to revenue 

recognition: that for contribution income and that for 

investment income.  

Normal contributions are accounted for in the payroll 

month to which they relate.  

Investment income from equities is accounted for on the 

date stocks are quoted ex-dividend. Income from fixed 

interest and index-linked securities, cash and short term 

deposits is accounted for on an accruals basis, as is 

income from other investments.  

 The policies are considered  appropriate under the accounting 

framework in place. 

 

 
(Green) 

Judgements and estimates Because of the nature of the fund no significant 

accounting judgements have been made, with all 

judgements following the requirements set out in the 

Code.  

 

The fund has a material balance of investments with 

significant unobservable inputs.  The valuation of  these 

investments is subject to varying degrees of estimation 

uncertainty. The Fund discloses the differing methods of 

valuation for these funds within the accounting policies.  In 

each case the Fund choses to rely on the valuation 

provided by the fund manager. 

 The policies are considered appropriate under the accounting 

framework in place.    

 Sufficient assurance has been provided  by either the experts 

used for valuing the fund, or we have been able to agree 

valuations to third party evidence. . 

 
(Green) 

Assessment 

  Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators (Red)   Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure (Amber)   Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient (Green) 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

– accounting 

policies# 

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Fund's financial statements.   

P
age 70



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  15 

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements continued 

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment 

Going concern Officers have a reasonable expectation that the services 

provided by the Fund will continue for the foreseeable 

future.  For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

We have reviewed officer's assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the going concern basis is 

appropriate for the 2015/16 financial statements.  

 
(Green) 

 

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Fund's policies against the 

requirements of the CIPFA Code and accounting 

standards. 

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues 

which we wish to bring to your attention.    
 (Green) 

 

Assessment 

  Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators   Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure   Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient 

Audit findings 

Significant findings 

– accounting 

policies# 

.   

P
age 71



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  16 

Other communication requirements 

  Issue Commentary 

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Governance Committee. We have not been made aware of any  

incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit. 

2. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations 

 We are not aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations. 

3. Written representations  A letter of representation has been requested from the Fund. 

4. Disclosures  Our review found no non-trivial omissions in the financial statements. 

5. Matters in relation to related 

parties 

 We are not aware of any related party transactions which have not been disclosed. 

6. Confirmation requests from 

third parties  

 We obtained direct confirmations from all of the investment managers and the custodian of the fund.  Positive confirmation was 

received from all parties, and as a result no further procedures were considered necessary. 

7. Going concern  Our work has not identified any reason to challenge the Fund's decision to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

Audit findings 

Other 

communication 

requirements# 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance. 

P
age 72



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  17 

Internal controls 

The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. We considered and walked through the internal controls 

for Investment Income, Contributions, Benefits Payable, and Member Data as set out on page 9 above.  

The matters that we identified during the course of our audit  are set out in the table below. These and other recommendations, together with management responses, 

are included in the action plan attached at Appendix A. 

 

  Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations 

1. 
 As part of the examination of the IT control environment 

we have noted some deficiencies that have been reported 

as part of the main audit.  As this report is on the same 

agenda, the issues have not been repeated, but they are 

equally applicable to the pension fund as it shares the 

same control environment. 

Recommendations made on main county audit in relation to IT control 

environment to be actioned. 

Audit findings 

Assessment  

 Significant deficiency – risk of significant misstatement (Red) 

 Deficiency – risk of inconsequential misstatement (Amber) 

Internal controls 

P
age 73



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  18 

Unadjusted misstatements 

Audit findings 

Adjusted 

misstatements 

Detail Impact on accounts Reason for not 

adjusting 

1 None Nil 

Overall impact £Nil 

The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the audit which have not been made within the final set of financial statements.  

P
age 74



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  19 

Misclassifications and disclosure changes 

Audit findings 

Adjusted 

misstatements 

Adjustment type Account 

balance 

Impact on the financial statements 

1 Presentation and 

disclosure 

Various Our review of the accounts highlighted  some minor improvements that were required to be made to the accounts.  

None of these were individually significant and they have been made to improve the final presentation and aid clarity 

for the reader. The proposed minor adjustments were agreed with the Fund and changes have been made to the draft 

accounts submitted for audit. 

 

Examples include including a note on cash deposits with fund managers under investment movements summary. 

This is in addition to the need to tidy up formatting, spelling and some punctuation prior to publication. 

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.  

 

P
age 75



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

Section 3: Fees, non-audit services and independence 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Fees, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 76



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  21 

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit. 

Independence and ethics 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We 

have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and therefore 

we confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on 

the financial statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the 

requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards. 

Fees for other services 

Service Fees £ 

Audit related services: 

• None 

 

Nil 

Fees, non audit services and independence 

Fees 

Proposed fee per Audit Plan 

£ 

Actual fees 

£ 

Pension fund scale fee 23,799 23,799 

Proposed fee variation 1,190 1,190 

Total audit fees 24,989 24,989 

The proposed fee variation for IAS 19 above takes account of the work 

we are required to undertake for admitted bodies within the PSAA 

regime and is consistent with that requested in prior years. 

P
age 77



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

Section 4: Communication of  audit matters 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Fees, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

P
age 78



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  23 

Communication to those charged with governance 

Our communication plan 

Audit 

Plan 

Audit 

Findings 

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance 

 

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications 

 

Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought 

 

Confirmation of independence and objectivity   

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence.  

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged  

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence 

 

 

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit  

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements 

 

Non compliance with laws and regulations  

Expected modifications to auditor's report   

Uncorrected misstatements  

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties  

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

International Standards on Auditing ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe 

matters which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, 

and which we set out in the table opposite.   

The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this 

Audit Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the 

audit, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities 

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/) 

We have been appointed as the Fund's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters.  

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Fund's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code.  

It is the responsibility of the Fund to ensure that proper arrangements are in place 

for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Fund is fulfilling these responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 

Communication of audit matters 

P
age 79

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  24 

Appendices 

Appendices 

P
age 80



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  25 

Appendix A: Audit opinion 

We anticipate we will provide the Fund with an unmodified audit report on the Pension Fund 

Audit opinion – 

option 1  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

PENSION FUND 

  

  

We have audited the pension fund financial statements of Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the "Authority") 

for the year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The 

pension fund financial statements comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and the related 

notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

  

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act 

and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published 

by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 

to the members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

  

Respective responsibilities of the Director of Strategic Resources and auditor 

  

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Director of Strategic Resource's Responsibilities, the 

Director of Strategic Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, 

which includes the pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16, which 

give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the pension fund financial 

statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the pension fund financial statements 

  

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 

to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the pension fund’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Director of Strategic Resources; and the 

overall presentation of the pension fund financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-

financial information in the Authority's Statement of Accounts and the Annual Report to identify material 

inconsistencies with the audited pension fund financial statements and to identify any information that is 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the 

course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 

inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

  

Opinion on the pension fund financial statements 

  

In our opinion the pension fund financial statements: 

present a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year ended 31 March 

2016 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and liabilities as at 31 March 

2016and 

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 and applicable law. 

   

Opinion on other matters 

  

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited pension fund financial statements 

in the Authority's Statement of Accounts and the Annual Report is consistent with the audited pension fund 

financial statements.  

   

 

Elizabeth Cave 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 

  

Hartwell House 

55-61 Victoria Street 

Bristol B61 6FT 

  

September 2016 

  

Appendices 

P
age 81



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Gloucestershire Pension Fund |  2015/16  

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served.  

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires.  

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions.  

grant-thornton.co.uk 

Back page 

P
age 82



Agenda Item:
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
16

th
 September 2016 

Title of Report Statements of Accounts 2015/16 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

 
To present the Statement of Accounts for 2015/16, provide 
detail on the key findings set out in the Audit Findings reports 
for the Council and Gloucestershire Pension Fund and allow 
the Committee to formally approve the 2015/16 audited 
accounts. 
 

Recommendations 

 
That the Committee approves the:

 Attached Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st 
March 2016, including Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Accounts 2015/16.

 Strategic Finance Director and Chair of the Committee to 
sign the attached letter of representation, in Annex B, on 
behalf of the Council and Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Contact Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

John Kear, Financial Accounting Manager (01452) 328912
john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Graham Burrow, Head of Pension Fund (01452) 328944
graham.burrow@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 83

Agenda Item 6

mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Report 

Introduction

1 The Strategic Finance Director (the Chief Financial Officer) has approved the 
Statement of Accounts for 2015/16 as presenting a true and fair view of the Council’s 
financial position as at the 31st March 2016 and the income and expenditure for the 
year.  The Statement of Accounts, including Gloucestershire Pension Fund Accounts, 
is attached at Annex A for review and approval.

The External Auditor has provided separate commentaries and recommendations on 
the Statement of Accounts and Gloucestershire Pension Fund Accounts in their Audit 
Findings Reports, provided in separate agenda items.

Statement of Accounts

2 The Accounts & Audit Regulations require that the annual Statement of Accounts be 
produced and published by 30th September, and that they are approved, prior to this 
date, by a non-executive committee of the Council.

The Statement of Accounts need to be prepared in accordance with the Accounting 
Code of Practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA), which is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The 
Council is legally required to follow this Code of Practice.

The Code is a prescriptive document, determining both the accounting policies to 
follow and the form and content of the Statement of Accounts.  This is designed to 
promote consistency and allow comparison of service expenditure and income 
between authorities.

County Council Statement of Accounts 2015/16

3 Annex A presents the Council’s Statement of Accounts for 2015/16.  

Draft accounts were produced and presented for audit on 6th June 2016, earlier than 
in previous years, and signed by the Strategic Finance Director on 30th June 2016.  
In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which made changes 
in relation to the exercising of public rights, these draft accounts were available for 
public inspection for a 30 working day period, which for the 2015/16 financial year 
needed to include the 1st – 14th July.  Members of the public can now only raise 
questions with the auditor within this 30 working day period.  
 
The requirement to prepare the main ‘core’ financial statements is mandatory but 
the order of the Statements is discretionary.  The Council’s Statement of Accounts 
follows the order suggested by the Code of Practice.

The Narrative Report, at the beginning of the Statement of Accounts, replaces the 
Explanatory Foreword of previous years.  The Narrative Report provides information 
about Gloucestershire, including the key issues affecting the Council and its 
accounts.  It provides a summary of the financial position at 31st March 2016 

Page 84



followed by an explanation of the Financial Statements, including information on 
significant transactions during 2015/16.

The aim of the Narrative Report is to provide a wider overview of the financial 
position for the year ending 31st March 2016 and enable a greater understanding of 
key issues.  It does this by providing an analysis of the budgeted and actual net 
expenditure for 2015/16 based on the management accounts, and then provides a 
summary of the key financial statements included within the statutory final accounts.

The Statement of Accounts shows that the County Council has total usable reserves 
of over £220 million, long-term assets of over £1.20 billion, and current assets 
exceed current liabilities.  The Council therefore remains in sound financial health.

Included in the accounts was a prior period adjustment of £29.7 million to both the 
revaluation reserve and capital adjustment account.  The need for the adjustment 
was identified during 2015/16 revaluation reserve calculations when, for the first 
time, detailed depreciated accumulated revaluation figures by individual asset were 
available and allowed full reconciliation of assets.  

This reconciliation highlighted that the revaluation reserve balance quoted in the 
2014/15 accounts of £87.899 million as at 31st March 2015 was incorrect.  
Following further detailed work it was identified that movements in the reserve over 
the past three years could and had been fully accounted for by appropriate 
adjustments to the revaluation reserve.  It proved an impossible task to track 
through adjustments in earlier years and prove the correct accounting treatment.  

In order to address this historic misstatement, a prior period adjustment, to the 
2014/15 accounts only, has been actioned by restating the Revaluation Reserve 
and the Capital Adjustment Account with an adjustment of £29.7 million.  This 
adjustment did not impact on the outturn position, level of useable reserves, or 
indeed the financial well being of the Council.

As part of the audit, the reasons for the adjustment were discussed in detail with the 
auditors and specific audit work was completed on the reason, and the basis of 
calculation, for the adjustment.  The auditors were able to verify the reasonableness 
of this.

Since producing the signed accounts only a small number of minor amendments 
have been made, all designed to improve disclosure in the financial statements and 
address typographical errors.    

The Council’s outturn position remains that approved by Cabinet in June 2016.

 Audit Findings of the Council’s Statement of Accounts

4 The Audit Findings Report, under a separate agenda item, summaries the external 
auditor’s finding of the 2015/16 audit, and includes results of work undertaken by 
external auditors to assess the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money in 
the use of resources.

The auditor is anticipating issuing an unqualified opinion on the financial statements 

Page 85



and on the arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of resources.

The auditor did not identify the need for any adjustments affecting the Council’s 
reported position in the accounts.  There were two non trivial misstatements in the 
accounts, although they have a £nil overall financial impact on the accounts:

• Service concession prepayments relating to the Waste Project were 
classified as short-term rather than long term prepayments.

• The value of long term loans needed adjusting within the notes to the 
accounts to ensure consistency between the balance sheet and general 
ledger.   

There were also a small number of recommendations designed to improve 
disclosure in the financial statements.  All of the recommendations were accepted 
and the accounts amended accordingly.

The 2015/16 accounts presented for the Committee’s approval include the 
correction of these errors and associated adjustments.  The accounts also reflect 
the correction of a number of minor corrections and adjustments identified in the 
external auditor’s Audit Findings Report.  

None of the changes impact on the Council’s outturn position for the year or the 
useable reserves in the balance sheet.

Audit Findings of Gloucestershire Pension Fund Statement of Accounts

5 The external auditor has also completed the audit of the Pension Fund accounts 
and associated working papers. The Audit Findings Report for 2015/16 is provided 
under a separate agenda item.

It is pleasing to report that the key messages arising from the audit of the Fund's 
financial statements are:

• There were no adjusted or unadjusted misstatements to report.
• The draft accounts were presented for audit in accordance with the agreed 

timetable. 
• The auditors work at year end demonstrated that access to documents and 

the quality of working papers was of a high standard.
• The auditor is anticipating issuing an unqualified opinion on the Pension 

Fund Accounts.

Conclusion & Letter of Representation

6 By incorporating the changes identified above, and the results of external audit, the 
accounts are now presented to this Committee for approval.
 
The Chief Financial Officer has historically been asked to provide a letter of 
representation to the auditors as part of the closure of the annual accounts. This 
letter confirms that the Chief Financial Officer is not aware of any material errors or 

Page 86



other matters that may affect the accounts of the Council or the Pension Fund.

The joint letter covers the legality of contracts, the valuation of assets and a number 
of other points and reflects the accounts being presented to this Committee.

Part of the role of this Committee is to be responsible for the corporate governance 
of the Council.  Due to this it is felt to be good practice for the Audit & Governance 
Committee to agree that the letter of representation, in Annex B, be signed by the 
Strategic Finance Director and the Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee on 
behalf of the Council.

Jo Walker
Strategic Finance Director

Page 87



Annex B

Grant Thornton UK LLP
The Canterbury Business Centre
18 Ashchurch Road
Tewkesbury
Glos GL20 8BT

16th September 2016

Dear Sirs

Gloucestershire County Council & Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2016

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of 
Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the year ended 31st 
March 2016 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2015/16 and applicable law.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements
i We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 

with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 ("the Code"); which give a true and fair view in 
accordance therewith.

ii We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the Council, and the 
Pension Fund, and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial 
statements.

iii The Council and Pension Fund have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been no 
non-compliance with requirements of regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
control to prevent and detect fraud.

v Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 
value, are reasonable.

vi We are satisfied that the material judgements used by us in the preparation of the financial 
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code, and adequately disclosed in the financial 
statements. There are no further material judgements that need to be disclosed.

vii Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 

Page 88



a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Council or Pension Fund have been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring items 

requiring separate disclosure.

viii We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of pension 
scheme liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  We 
confirm that all settlements and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.  We 
also confirm that all significant post-employment retirement benefits have been identified and 
properly accounted for.

ix Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Code.

x All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Code requires 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.  

xi Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with 
the requirements of the Code.

xii The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xiii We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets 
and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.  

xiv We believe that the Council and Pension Fund’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more 
than adequate for the Council and Pension Fund’s needs. We believe that no further disclosures 
relating to the Council and Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in 
the financial statements.

Information Provided

xv We have provided you with:

a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; 
and

c. unrestricted access to persons within the Council and Pension Fund from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xvi We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is aware.

xvii All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements.

xviii We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may 
be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xix We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud affecting the 
Council and Pension Fund involving:

Page 89



d. management;

e. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

f. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xx We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Council and 
Pension Fund’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or 
others.

xxi We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with 
laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements.

xxii We have disclosed to you the entity of the Council and Pension Fund’s related parties and all the 
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiii We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement

xxiv We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the Council's risk 
assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any significant risks 
that are not disclosed within the AGS

Narrative Statement and Annual Report

xxv The disclosures within the Pension Fund’s Annual Report and Council’s Narrative Statement fairly 
reflect our understanding of the Council and Pension Fund’s financial and operating performance 
over the period covered by the financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council's Audit and Governance 
Committee at its meeting on 16th September 2016.

Yours faithfully,

Signed on behalf of the Authority

Name……………………………

Position………………………….

Date…………………………….

Name……………………………

Position………………………….

Date…………………………….

Page 90



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

2015-16

Page 91



Foreword to Narrative Report 
Contents 
These are times of unprecedented change for Gloucestershire County Council and our 
partners. We are facing considerable challenges at the same time as enormous 
opportunities. The challenges take the form of rising demand for the services we provide 
to the most vulnerable children, adults and families at the same time as facing continued 
reductions to our funding. The opportunities are about our relationships – with local 
people and communities, with our partners and with Central Government.  

We have been at the forefront of negotiations with Whitehall for a devolution package 
which, if agreed, will provide the tools and incentives to drive economic growth and join 
up public services with our partners to a degree that hasn’t been possible before. 

The County Council is in a great position to benefit from these changes. Having 
delivered £114m of savings from our budget since 2011, in 2015/16 we launched the 
next phase of our strategy Meeting the Challenge: Together We Can. 

We consulted extensively on this strategy and received overwhelming support for our 
proposed approach.  This strategy is helping us to change the way we think about, plan 
and deliver support for vulnerable people.  We are working with partners to provide 
people with information, advice and guidance that will help them live healthy lives and 
plan effectively for their future.  We are working alongside communities and local groups 
to help them support local people to live independently.  Where people need the 
Council’s support, our first focus is on short-term interventions that help people back to 
health, wellbeing and independence and where our long-term support is needed, we are 
working in ways that help people to stay connected to, and be supported by, their 
communities. 

Alongside this, we are working to ensure that Gloucestershire continues to be a great 
place to do business, by negotiating significant investment into the county, securing and 
delivering major infrastructure improvements and by helping local people develop the 
skills that will fuel our local economy. 

At the forefront of the work of the Council and involved in all aspects of its extensive 
range of activities and initiatives is high quality financial management.  This has resulted 
in the Council’s accounts for 2015/16 being prepared earlier than ever before, with the 
accounts available to our auditors on the 6th June 2016, thereby providing residents and 
other stakeholders with the reassurance that financial management and reporting is very 
important to us.  Our aim is to continue raising the standards of financial reporting and to 
ensure that the public are fully informed on how the funds we have received have been 
spent.  The financial standing of the Council, despite the challenges that we face, 
remains very secure and robustly financially managed. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne    Peter Bungard 
Leader        Chief Executive

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

1

Page 92



Director of Strategic Finance’s Narrative Report

Introduction 
Welcome to Gloucestershire County Council’s Statement of Accounts for 2015/16.  The 
Statement of Accounts reports the income and expenditure on service provision for the 
financial year and the value of the Council’s assets and liabilities at the end of the 
financial year.  This is done in accordance with proper accounting practices, as defined 
in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code), and reflects a change 
in legislation applicable for 2015/16 (the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015).  

Whilst new legislation still requires our 2015/16 audited Statement of Accounts to be 
submitted to the Council’s Audit & Governance Committee (our appropriate body) for 
approval by 30th September 2016, a new requirement is for all Local Authorities to have 
a common thirty day public inspection which must include the first ten working days in 
July.  There is no longer a requirement for our Audit & Governance Committee to review 
the draft accounts, instead I am required before the 30th June to certify that the draft 
Statement of Accounts give a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position at 31st 
March and its income and expenditure for the year.  For the 2017/18 accounts onwards, 
the statutory approval date moves forward to the 31st July of each year, with the 
requirement for me to certify that the draft Statement of Accounts give a true and fair 
view moving to 31st May each year.    

With future requirements in mind, our 2015/16 Statement of Accounts have been 
prepared earlier than ever before, with the Statement of Accounts being available to our 
auditors, Grant Thornton, on 6th June 2016. Achieving this earlier deadline, whilst 
continuing to produce a quality set of accounts,  has only been possible due to the hard 
work and dedication of staff in Strategic Finance and across the whole Council. 

As in previous years, the financial statements demonstrate the financial standing of the 
Council continues to be robust.  We have employed good financial management 
disciplines, processes and procedures during the year and we continue to strive for on-
going improvement and excellence. 

This Narrative Report, replacing the Explanatory Foreword of previous years, provides 
information about Gloucestershire, including the key issues affecting the Council and its 
accounts.  It provides a summary of the financial position at 31st March 2016 followed by 
an explanation of the Financial Statements, including information on significant 
transactions during 2015/16. 

To comply with the Code, the information contained in the accounts is, by necessity, 
technical and very complex, hence the length of the accounts.  The aim of this narrative 
report is to provide you with a wider overview of the financial position for the year ending 
31st March 2016 and enable you to understand the key issues.  It does this by providing 
an analysis of the budgeted and actual net expenditure for 2015/16 based on the 
management accounts, and then provides a summary of the key financial statements 
included within the statutory final accounts. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

2

Page 93



Our Plan 
For most people in Gloucestershire outcomes are good and, if you look at the county as 
a whole, we have high levels of educational attainment and employment, good health 
and a high quality of life. Nevertheless a significant number of people still rely on the 
County Council and our partners to help to meet their needs.   

The number of vulnerable people is growing, creating more demand on Council 
services.  This is because: 

• The population is growing and people are living longer – The number of people in
Gloucestershire aged over 85 whose day to day activities are limited a lot by long 
term illness and disability is predicted to rise by over a quarter by 2021. 

• Medical advances – Children who are born with a disability are more likely to survive
into adulthood and people can live much longer with a serious disability. 

• Changes to community and family life – Families are more likely to live further away
from each other than in previous generations. That makes it more difficult to care, for 
example, for an elderly parent who is beginning to struggle. 

• Changing public expectations – The growth of the internet and social media mean
that public services are much more visible to local people. The publicity surrounding a 
single incident somewhere in the country can increase demand for our services 
overnight. This is particularly true of those services that are concerned with keeping 
vulnerable children or adults safe. 

• Areas of deprivation – Despite its overall affluence, we still have areas of
Gloucestershire amongst the most deprived 10% in the country. 

While much of this change is positive, it does mean that our services, which were 
designed in a completely different era, needs to keep up with this changing picture.  If 
we carry on trying to respond in the same ways, those services will become 
overwhelmed, cost more than we can afford, and deliver increasingly poor results for the 
people that rely on them. 

Instead, we need a response that is suited to today’s opportunities and challenges – one 
that fits with the way people live their lives, builds on the strengths of our communities 
and focuses the Council’s resources where they can be most effective. 

Services for children and families and vulnerable adults together make up well over half 
of the Council’s 2015/16 spend.  For this reason, we cannot afford to exclude them from 
the need to make savings in the future. We do believe that, by focussing relentlessly on 
outcomes, we can improve the way we support the most vulnerable people as well as 
reducing spending in these areas. 

As a result of positive changes the Council is making the number of adults needing long-
term support from the Council has not increased however the cost of providing care to 
meet the needs of these individuals is increasing. This places additional pressure on all 
our services. 

In line with national trends, we are seeing higher demand for services for vulnerable 
children.  The past year has seen an increase in the number of referrals to safeguarding 
services, an increase in the number of children who need our support and ultimately an 
increase in the number of children coming into our care. 

There remains a commitment to keep Council Tax low and by unstintingly pursuing 
every opportunity to reduce costs, improving the efficiency of all of our services and 
focus on the things that make the most difference for local people. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

3

Page 94



Our overall approach has the following main areas: 

Active Individuals 

Everyone can take steps to reduce the chances that they will need to rely on 
council support in future. By making healthy lifestyle choices, keeping active 
and planning for the future, people are less likely to end up needing care and 
support from the state. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Upgraded our People’s Network PCs, making it easier for people to get
online who don’t have internet access at home.

 Introduced free Wi-Fi to all our libraries.
 Made improvements to make it easier to access Council services online. This

has included improving the process for van bookings for our Household
Recycling Centres, and making it easier to find out about Adult Education
courses.

 Launched a new mobile application to help people with a Learning Disability
into employment.

 Mapped the county to identify all those places where members of the public
can access the internet securely and safely and targeted training on those
areas of the county with the lowest levels of internet use.

Active Communities 

Despite the fact that it accounts for an increasing share of our budget, it is 
relatively unusual for people to need the council’s help in order to live 
independently. With the help of family, friends and neighbours, most manage 
without the council intervening. Thousands of people across the county 
provide formal or informal care and without that support, the council would 
be completely unable to meet the demand for its services. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Supported a huge variety of grassroots community activity by providing
over 300 Active Together Grants worth £1.6m.

 Provided 60 grants worth £90,000 for activities for children and young
people.

 Agreed an ‘Active Communities’ policy with partners to make sure that we

work together to harness the energy of local communities to help
themselves and provide support for people at risk of becoming lonely or
isolated.

 Agreed a new Integrated Risk Management Plan for our Fire and Rescue
service, focussed on working with communities to prevent emergencies
and keep vulnerable people safe.

 Launched a pilot scheme through the Fire and Rescue service where fire
safety volunteers can offer fire safety assessments in people’s homes.

 Carried out £0.56 million worth of repairs and improvements to local roads
through 181 Highways Local schemes, with more planned for completion
before the end of the financial year.

 Worked with local schools to make sure there are enough places for a
growing population of children and young people.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

4

Page 95



Getting People Back to Independence 

When people need our help following an accident, emergency hospital 
admission or other crisis in their lives, our focus will be on giving them 
support to help them back to independence. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Continued to work closely with local hospitals to make sure that people
are discharged as quickly as possible once their medical treatment is
finished and they are ready to return home or move into another care
setting, keeping delays amongst the lowest in the country.

 Begun the process of re-commissioning our Domiciliary Care services to
ensure that they focus on improving people’s outcomes and, whenever

possible, increasing their levels of independence.
 Implemented the Children & Families Act, replacing Statements of Special

Educational Need with new Education, Health and Care plans based on a
more rounded view of a child’s needs.

 Introduced a completely new approach to helping vulnerable children and
young people get to school, college or training to make sure that access
to education is considered as part of the wider needs of the young person
and their family and our support is targeted where it is most needed.

 Won an award from the Municipal Journal in recognition of the joint work
between service users and our Disability Team in reviewing the quality of
service provision.

• 

Being There When We’re Needed Most 

We want to be there for those who need us the most, even if that means 
making difficult decisions about what else we do and how much we spend 
doing it. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Maintained a focus on performance and quality in the face of increased
demand for both adult and children’s services, with compliments for both
areas increasing year on year and exceeding the number of complaints
received.

 Reduced high levels of admissions to residential and nursing care,
bringing us in line with similar areas.

 Developed workforce and caseload strategies to address issues with
recruitment and retention, ability to meet demand and quality of service.
We have successfully recruited an additional 50 children’s social workers,
laying the foundations for a more stable, experienced workforce in the
future.

 Secured £1.5m through the Department of Education’s Innovations

Programme to develop different ways of working with vulnerable young
people to improve their outcomes and reduce risk.

 Implemented a transformation plan for Children’s mental health with the

Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners and piloted a schools-
based approach to improving children’s mental health.

 Strengthened the line management of adult social care teams to ensure a
strong focus on achieving the best possible outcomes with our resources.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

5

Page 96



 Renegotiated some of biggest contracts with social care providers to
ensure that we continue to secure the best possible value for money for
our most vulnerable service users.

 Created a specialist brokerage team to purchase all placements to ensure
that the Council gets the best possible value for money.

 Rolled out Electronic Call Monitoring to all providers of Learning Disability
services to make sure that service users get the support they need, to
provide extra reassurance to families and improve the processing of
payments, reducing associated costs.

Providing the Infrastructure for a Thriving Economy 

Jobs, business and growth are crucial to the wellbeing of Gloucestershire 
people. As a council we will continue to work hard to support 
Gloucestershire businesses and employers. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Continued to roll out superfast fibre broadband to nearly 90% of local
homes and secured a further £2m of funding from Government for the
next phase, enabling greater access to online information and services
from home at a time that suits you.

 Won Large Project of the Year award at the Institute of Highway
Engineers West Mercia Awards for our work on improvements to the
‘Cheltenham and Gloucester’ and ‘Walls’ roundabouts.

 Continued to invest at least £2.1m a year in flood alleviation.
 Achieved full planning permission and agreed to project manage the

Cinderford Northern Quarter road, with work anticipated to start
imminently.

 Received full planning permission for the Elmbridge roundabout project
with work scheduled to begin on site in Spring 2016.

 Secured Government confirmation that a solution to the A417 ‘Missing

Link’ scheme will be brought forward and construction is due to start in

2020. 
 Attracted over £4m in Government funding and negotiated a deal with the

Police and Crime Commissioner that will unlock the regeneration of the
Blackfriars area of Gloucester City Centre and the refurbishment of Shire
Hall.

 Awarded a contract to Skanska to introduce LED street lighting across the
County, which will reduce the Council’s carbon footprint and save £22m

over the next 12 years.
•  

Getting our Own House in Order 

We will keep the Council’s running costs to a minimum. That means, as the 
Council’s overall budget decreases, so should the amount that is spent on 
activities that do not directly provide services to the public. 

Since launching our strategy in April 2015, we have: 

 Delivered over £20m in savings.
 Rolled out new ICT through the Worksmart programme to support flexible

working across the Council’s workforce and provide opportunities to

reduce the amount of office space needed.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

6

Page 97



 Continued to generate revenue savings through the sale of Council
property that is no longer needed.

 Established a new partnership with Gloucester City Council, including the
appointment of a shared Managing Director/Commissioning Director.

 Submitted a devolution bid to central government that, if agreed, will give
local partners the powers, tools and incentives to accelerate economic
growth, improve health and social care, and make communities safer.

Overall 

Our approach universally focuses on making a difference for local people.  We recognise 
that not only is this approach a significant change in the way the Council thinks and 
works, but also that it has implications for Council partners, local communities and 
service users. In particular, we are working jointly with the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) to ensure that our strategies align and a number of the 
objectives within this strategy are shared objectives that are also reflected in GCCG’s 
draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan. 

Following extensive engagement and consultation exercise involving over 2,700 local 
people, there was clear and consistent support for our proposed approach, and a 
willingness to work with us to make it happen.  All of the feedback received helped us to 
further develop our Council Strategy and to ensure that we are meeting our responsibility 
under the Public Sector Equality Duty to pay due regard to the needs of those groups 
whose characteristics are protected under the Equality Act . 

Council Strategy 

The Council’s vision, values, aims and medium term priorities identified above are 
brought together in a single Council Strategy.  The Council Strategy sets out the longer 
term aims and ambitions for Gloucestershire and outlines the priorities and programmes 
which underpin these aims.  A copy of the Strategy can be found on our website at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/councilstrategy.  

Environmental 
In September 2012,  a contract for the treatment of residual waste was awarded to 
Urbaser Balfour Beatty (UBB) to design, build, finance and operate an “energy from 
waste (EfW)” facility on behalf of the Council located at Javelin Park, near Gloucester. 
Following planning delays, the contract finally received planning permission in July 2015, 
and in January 2016 the existing contract with UBB was revised to take account of a 
revised project plan. 

The facility will take approximately three years to build and it is forecast to become 
operational in 2019 when it will be recognised on the Council’s Balance Sheet. The 
contract period is for 25 years starting from the operational date in 2019 with the option 
to extend by a further 5 years. 

Under the contract the authority is obliged to send all household residual waste 
produced within the county to the contractor, who has responsibility for treating the 
waste and managing the by products from the process, this includes  recovery of 
energy. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

7

Page 98

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


People 
 
The way in which the Council delivers its services continues to change and has led to 
the council becoming a smaller organisation and adopting different ways of working.  As 
a result we continue to evolve our approach to the way our employees deliver and 
commission services and to the way we work. 
 
Workforce Headcount  
 
On the 1 October 2015, 3,881 individuals were employed by Gloucestershire County 
Council.  In addition to those included in our headcount figures published on the 
transparency pages of our website, this number also includes employees from the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service on a permanent or fixed term basis and those 
engaged on a casual basis where a mutuality of obligation exists.  
 
Our ‘Meeting the Challenge Strategy’ 2011-2015 (and the current version of MTC2 
Together We Can 2015-2018) outlined the financial savings required by the authority, 
and has resulted in considerable workforce down-sizing and organisational change. We 
took positive steps to minimise reductions through redundancies, including:  
 

 Reducing senior management  
 Managing vacancies, only filling vacant posts that are essential and via the 

redeployment pool whenever possible  
 Offering flexible working arrangements which would reduce the overall pay costs. 

 
Consideration of the Equality Duty and Decision Making  
 
Our Due Regard Process ensures that we consider the three aims of the public sector 
equality duty when we plan and deliver our work and when making decisions.  
 
The general duty requires the council to have due regard to the need to:  
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation;  
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and people who do not share it;  
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

people who do not share it.  
 
Our process ensures that decision makers consider these aims as part of their day to 
day working practices.  
 
Benchmarking and sharing good practice  
 
We continue to lead the Countywide Equalities Workforce Network, working in 
partnership with other public and private sector organisations. This group meets to 
address issues relating to each protected characteristic. The terms of reference for this 
network are:  
 

 To act as a forum to share good practice with partner organisations in promoting 
equality and diversity in the workplace  

 Disseminating good practice and information about policies and procedures 
relating to equality and diversity  

 Encouraging collaborative working across members in relation to equality and 
diversity  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

8

Page 99

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42252&p=0


 Facilitate good communication on equality and diversity issues across the county 
and surrounding areas  

 Working in a complimentary manner with other forums and where appropriate 
develop synergies to help widen influence and consolidate equality outcomes.  

 
It is intended to further encourage more private, voluntary and private sector 
organisations to become members of the forum over the next year, and to continue to 
monitor the effectiveness of the group in promoting best practice in equalities across the 
county.   
The Council’s staffing profile is illustrated in the following graphs and is based on the 
data that is submitted by our workforce.  We continue to encourage people to report 
openly so that our policies are as fully informed by staff feedback as they can be  
 

 
 

 

 

Age Profile 

16-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56+

Disability 

Not Disabled Disabled
Prefer not to say Unstated

Gender 

Female Male

Sexual Orientation 

Bisexual Gay man

Heterosexual Lesbian

Prefer not to say Unstated

Race 

White British Unstated White Other Asian Black Mixed Other Prefer not to Say

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

9

Page 100



 
Further information from the Council’s 2015/16 Workforce Equalities Report can be 
found on the Council’s website at:  
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65348&p=0 
 
 
STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE  
 
The graph below shows progress against our strategic outcomes using the core dataset 
from our Council Strategy. We have set ourselves ambitious targets to ensure we 
maintain a focus on what really matters to people living in Gloucestershire. Overall, 
60.4% of the strategic indicators are on or ahead of target at the end of 2015/16.  
 

 
 
 
Despite the pressure of increased demand on key services and the need to achieve 
significant savings, the Council has kept within its budget for 2015/16.  We have saved 
around £21.5 million in 15/16 against a very challenging target of £26m.  The biggest 
shortfall is in the area of adult social care where, broadly speaking, we are managing to 
maintain demand at existing levels and achieve some reductions in cost, but not seeing 
demand reduce significantly as a result of our preventative work.  Plans for this, and 
other areas, are being reviewed and revised in order to ensure that we continue to 
address the anticipated shortfall and live within our means. 
 
Working closely with other public sector partners, we have continued to rationalise the 
Council’s estate and reduce the number of separate offices in use.  During the year, we 
have taken back into our management those areas of the Shire Hall complex previously 
occupied by the Police and embarked on an ambitious programme of renovation that will 
also enable the regeneration of this part of the City.  We have also updated the Council’s 
Information and Communication Technology to make it more resilient and suited to 
flexible, modern working arrangements. 
 
Although we missed our target for sickness/absence, overall levels are lower than for 
last year, and long-term absence remains the same. Absences resulting from stress 
have increased slightly and targeted interventions are in place for those teams where 
levels are high.  We will continue to monitor this closely over the coming year to make 
sure that these are working. 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

10

Page 101

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65348&p=0


Having seen a steady, long-term reduction in the amount of residual waste generated 
across the County, we are now struggling to bring it down further.  Waste arisings, 
recycling rates and the percentage of waste sent to landfill are all at similar levels to last 
year, though we do expect to see a step change reduction in waste sent to landfill once 
the Javelin Park Energy from Waste Facility comes online. 
 
Further information from the Council’s Performance Report can be found on the 
Council’s website at:   
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30344/Item%2013%20-
%20Performance%20Report%202015-16%20Quarter%204.pdf 
 
 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
•  

Economic climate  
 
Since 2011 Gloucestershire County Council has faced significant financial challenges 
due to reductions in funding from central government along with cost pressures within 
services and greater volatility in financing.  This process is on-going, will last until at 
least 2019/20, and will be continuously reviewed as the Council develops a stronger 
understanding of the financial challenges it faces.  In November 2015 the Autumn 
Statement set out the strategic direction for public expenditure.  This outlined a number 
of significant changes to the local government funding regime which will have a 
significant impact on the Council’s finances over time.  These include: 
•  

 Providing local authorities with the power to levy a 2% increase on 
Council Tax to fund social care. For Gloucestershire, this equates to an 
additional £4.7 million of revenue for 2016/17;  

 By the end of the Parliament local government will retain 100% of 
business rate revenues to fund local services.  In addition the Uniform 
Business Rate will be abolished and local areas will be able to cut 
business rates as at their discretion. The earliest these reforms are likely 
to be implemented is 2020;  

 Greater flexibility for local authorities to use capital receipts to fund the 
revenue costs of business transformation projects;  

 The government announced real-terms public health savings of 3.9% over 
the next 5 years and the Autumn Statement indicated that social care 
funds of £1.5bn would be made available by 2019/20 (beginning from 
2017/18) for local government, to be included in an improved Better Care 
Fund; and,  

 A National Funding Formula for Schools will be introduced in 2017/18.  
•  

 

Revenue Budget and Outturn Position 
 
The approved budget for 2015/16 was £420.03 million which represented a decrease in 
cash terms of £8.07 million, or 1.89%, compared with 2014/15.  Under this budget the 
level of Council Tax was again frozen for the fifth year running.  Due to the receipt of 
Local Services Support Grant (LSSG) during 2015/16, our revenue budget for 2015/16 
was subsequently increased by £0.40 million, giving a revised budget of £420.43 million.   
 
The 2015/16 budget was the first year of the three year MtC2 – Together We Can 
programme covering the financial years 2015/16 to 2017/18.  Over this period savings 
will be delivered to address year on year funding reductions and fund unavoidable cost 
increases. 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

11

Page 102

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30344/Item%2013%20-%20Performance%20Report%202015-16%20Quarter%204.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s30344/Item%2013%20-%20Performance%20Report%202015-16%20Quarter%204.pdf


The revenue budget strategy for 2015/16 was to continue to maximise the delivery of 
efficiencies as early as possible. The Council is committed to robustly controlling 
budgets, has increased debt repayment and is continuing to streamline back office 
services, all of which contribute to protecting front line services, whilst minimising 
compulsory redundancies. 
 
Following approved transfers to and from reserves, as set out in detail in note 2 to the 
accounts, the 2015/16 outturn position was a balanced budget position.  Net budget and 
expenditure by service area is shown in the chart below. 
 

 
 
Full details and explanations of the outturn position can be found in the detailed outturn 
report submitted to Cabinet in June 2016, item 12, which is available on the Council’s 
website at:  
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4 
 
The Council agreed to implement a change in Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
(MRP) in 2015/16, with the resultant impact of £4 million savings in 2015/16 and a base 
budget reduction being included within the 2016/17 revenue budget approved by 
Council.  
 
Cabinet agreed that the £4 million savings would be allocated equally between the 
Adults and Children and Families budgets to mitigate the over-spends in these areas 
whilst reducing the draw down from the Adults and Vulnerable Children’s earmarked 
reserves, and hence provide financial resilience in this area in 2016/17.  The 2015/16 
outturn positions reflect these allocations. 
 
The outturn position for 2015/16 provides a clear indication of the Council’s strong 
financial stewardship during the year, with net expenditure being contained within 
budget while delivering over £21.5 million of savings in 2015/16.  Net actual expenditure 
by service area is shown in the chart below, which is followed by a chart showing the 
funding of this net expenditure. 
 

 £-

 £20

 £40

 £60

 £80

 £100

 £120

 £140

 £160

 £180

Adults Public Health Children &
Families

Communitities
&

Infrastructure

Business
Support
Services

Technical &
Cross Cutting

Net Budget & Actual Revenue Expenditure 2015/16

Budget £M's

Outturn £M's

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

12

Page 103

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4


 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Usable Revenue Reserves 
 
Usable reserves are where money is set aside to fund future expenditure plans or 
reduce taxation. Full details of all usable reserve movements in 2015/16 are shown in 
note 2 on of the accounts, with the summary position outlined below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adults,  £154.7  Million, 
36.80%

Public Health,  
£24.9 Million , 5.92%

Children & Families,  
£101.1 Million , 24.05%

Communities & 
Infrastructure,

£88.4  Million, 21.03%

Business Support Services,  
£27.1 Million,  6.44%

Technical & Cross Cutting,  
£24.2 Million, 5.76%

Net Actual Revenue Expenditure 
2015/16 

Other General Grants,  
£25.50 Million , 6.1%

Public Health Grant,  
£24.9 Million , 5.9%

Revenue Support 
Grant,  £66.88 Million , 

15.9%

Rates Retention 
Scheme,  £68.01 
Million , 16.2%

Council Tax ,  £235.11 
Million , 55.9%

Financing of the 2015/16 Revenue Budget

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

13

Page 104



Type of Revenue Reserves Balance at 
1st April 2015 

£ Millions 

Balance at 
31st March 2016 

£ Millions 
 
Earmarked Revenue Reserves – Non 
Schools 
 

 
94.773 

 
106.866 

Earmarked Reserves – Schools 
 

28.091 31.112 

General Fund Balances 
 

19.848 19.848 

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES 
 

142.712 
 

157.826 

               
 
Overall total usable revenue reserves increased by £15.11 million during the year. 
 
 
Non-School Earmarked Reserves 
 
Non schools earmarked usable revenue reserves have increased by £12.09 million 
(12.8%) during the year, from £94.77 million at the start of the year to £106.87 million at 
the end of the year.   
 
Schools Earmarked Reserves 
 
Total earmarked reserves relating to Schools increased by £3.0 million during the 
year. 
 
 
The main reasons for this increase were: 
 

 An increase on School Balances of £3.6 million, largely due to higher 
revenue balances being held by schools within their delegated 
budgets and schools carrying forward unspent grants such as the 
pupil premium. 
 

 A net decrease of £0.5 million in the other school related reserves due 
mainly to there being a £0.5 million deficit on the schools supply 
mutual scheme that will be recovered from schools in 2016/17. 

 
General Reserves 
 
General Reserves totalled £19.85 million at the end of 2015/16, 4.7% of the net 
revenue budget for 2015/16, within the target range of between 4% and 6% of the net 
budget. This level of reserves equates to only six working days of average gross 
expenditure, or twelve working days based on net expenditure.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

14

Page 105



Capital Reserves 
 
In addition, usable capital reserves used to support the approved capital programme are 
as follows: 
 
Type of Capital Reserves Balance at 

1st April 2015 
£ Millions 

Balance at 
31st March 2016 

£ Millions 
Capital Grants & Contributions 
Unapplied Reserves  
 

 
51.823 

 
44.151 

Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve 
 

- 21.375 

   
TOTAL CAPITAL RESERVES 
 

51.823 
 

65.526 

 
   
The total capital reserves have increased by £13.7 million (26.4%) during the year, from 
£51.82 million at the start of the year to £65.53 million at the end of the year.  The 
increase is mainly due to a balance at 31st March 2016 of £21.38 million of unapplied 
capital receipts, all generated during 2015/16 and fully committed to funding the 
Council’s approved capital programme.    
 
Full details and explanations of all reserve movements can be found in the detailed 
outturn report submitted to Cabinet in June 2016, item 12, which is available on the 
Council’s website at:  
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4 
 
 
Capital Budget and Outturn Position 
 
The capital budget strategy reflected the Council’s priority of reducing long term debt 
utilising capital financing budgets, capital receipts, capital fund and revenue 
contributions to fund the capital programme for 2015/16, thereby avoiding the need for 
new borrowing. 
 
The capital budget for 2015/16 totalled £77.40 million. Actual expenditure during the 
year was £67.77 million, giving an in-year under-spend compared with planned spend of 
£9.63 million.  This is purely in-year slippage, which will mainly be spent in 2016/17 
rather than in 2015/16.  This has not changed the overall value of the capital 
programme, although it has necessitated a re-profiling of the approved budget between 
future years.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

15

Page 106

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4


Net actual expenditure by service area is shown in the following chart: 
 

 
* Other Services includes Libraries and Archives, Safety and expenditure on surplus assets prior to disposal. 

 
Full details and explanations of the capital outturn position can be found in the detailed 
outturn report submitted to Cabinet in June 2016, item 12, which is available on the 
Council’s website at:  
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4 
 
 
The Council’s 2015/16 capital expenditure was funded as follows: 

 
 

The Government financial regulations require local authorities to charge a Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) each year as a proxy for capital repayments.  For 2015/16 the 
MRP for the Council was £8.74 million.   
 
As part of the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council within the 2016/17 
MTFS in February 2016, a change in relation to the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
(MRP) was approved.  This change still allows for a prudent MRP provision, has no 
adverse impact on the Council’s debt maturity profile and avoids the potential for surplus 
MRP, following the successful redemption of all internal borrowing by the end of 
2015/16.   

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Childrens & Families Infrastructure Adults Business Support Other Services *

Net Budget & Actual Capital Expenditure 2015/16

Budget £m

Spend £m

Capital Fund and other 
Earmarked Reserves 

£6.568 Million, 9.32%
GCC Revenue 

Contribution £7.959 
Million, 11.3%

Capital Receipts £1.231 
Million, 1.75%

Grants 
£51.566 Million, 73.2%

External Contributions 
e.g. developers

£3.121 Million, 4.43%

Financing of the 2015/16 Capital Programme

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

16

Page 107

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8218&Ver=4


 
Debt redemption remains a priority of the Council.  At 31st March 2016 the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) was £317.59 million, a reduction of £8.74 million compared with the 
position at the end of 2014/15.  
 
 
Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of financial statements are to provide information about the Council’s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and to demonstrate 
accountability for the Council’s resources.  
 
The Council produces single entity financial statements, which also include the income, 
expenditure, assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows of the schools deemed to be 
under the control of the Council. 
 
A complete set of Financial Statements for the period comprise: 

 

 Statement of Accounting Policies on pages 22 to 37. 

 Movement in Reserves Statement on page 39. 

 Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement on page 41. 

 Balance Sheet position on page 42 setting out the Council’s financial 
position as at 31st March 2016. 

 Cash Flow Statement on page 43 summarising the inflows and outflows of 
cash. 

 Notes to the accounts, which summarise and provide further information on 
the financial activities of the Council on pages 44 to 96. 

 
 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Accounts are on pages 97 to 128, and 

although included in this publication, are separate from the accounts of the 
Council and are subject to a separate audit opinion. 

 The accounts of the Fire Pension Fund on page 129. 

 
The Strategic Finance Director, the statutory Chief Financial Officer, is required to certify 
that the accounts present a true and fair view. 
 
 
 
 
Primary Financial Statements 
 
The four primary financial statements are: 
 

 Movement in Reserves Statement,  
 the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement,  
 Balance Sheet,  
 Cash Flow Statement. 

 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

17

Page 108



In terms of these four primary statements the key points to highlight are: 
 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement - (page 39) shows the movement during the 
2015/16 financial year on the different reserves held by the council, analysed into 
useable reserves and other unusable reserves:  
 

 Usable reserves are where money is set aside to fund future 
expenditure plans or reduce taxation  
 

 Unusable reserves reflect the difference between the surplus or 
deficit made on the true economic cost of providing the council’s 
services and the statutory amounts required to be charged to the 
general fund balance for council tax setting purposes (i.e. 
adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations).  

 
The overall increase in the council’s reserves during 2015/16 is £180.66 million, an 
increase of £28.82 million in useable reserves and an increase of £151.84 million in 
unusable reserves.  The increase in unusable reserves is mainly due to the decrease of 
£123.97 million in long term liabilities for defined benefit pension schemes, explained in 
section 6 below, which is a liability that does not need to be met within the next year, but 
over the lifetime of scheme members.   
 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (CIES) - (page 41) shows the true 
economic accounting cost in year of providing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. The 
surplus on the provision of services for 2015/16 was £24.8 million, which is shown in the 
movement in reserves statement, compared to a deficit of £19.0 million in 2014/15.  The 
reason for this change is mainly due to a gain on the disposal of non current assets. 
   
The £24.8 million surplus on the provision of services for 2015/16 represents the 
accounting surplus on the provision of services in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
 
Following transfers to reserves of the in year under-spend of £3.855 million, the outturn 
break-even budget position for 2015/16 indicates that there has been no movement on 
the general fund balance during the year, which may be more relevant for the Council’s 
stakeholders than the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement, which takes a 
wider financial perspective on the Council’s performance.  The outturn position only 
records those expenses which statute allows to be charged against the Council’s annual 
budget.  The amounts included in the CIES for items such as depreciation, impairments, 
capital grants and pension charges are not charged in the General Fund expenditure 
analysis.  The movement in reserves statement, and supporting note 1, provides 
reconciliation between the two positions.      
 
 
Balance Sheet - (page 42) shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by 
the council as at 31st March 2016.  The balance sheet of the Council shows net assets of 
£381.7 million, which is matched by reserves (as set out in the movement in reserves 
statement).  This represents an increase of £180.7 million from the 2014/15 position. 
 
The increase in net assets is largely due to the reduction of £124.0 million in long term 
liabilities for defined benefit pension schemes, which is a liability that does not need to 
be met within the next year, but over the lifetime of scheme members.   
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

18

Page 109



 
 
 
Other significant movements on the balance sheet include an increase in investments 
held (including cash and cash equivalents, short and long term) of £33.9 million, and 
increase in the value of Property Plant & Equipment of £13.0 million, reflecting valuation 
changes.   
 
Cash Flow Statement - shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities: 
  

 Operating activities - the amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to 
which the operations of the Council are funded by way of 
taxation, grant income or from recipients of services 
provided by the Council.  
 

 Investing activities represent the extent to which cash 
outflows have been made for resources which are 
intended to contribute to the future service delivery (note 
15, page 62).  

 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash 
flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council (note 16, page 62).  During 
the year the cash and cash equivalent increased from £69.2 million at the beginning of 
the year to £110.2 million at the end of the year. This increase of £41.0 million in cash 
balances is largely due to more cash in call facilities and Money Market Funds at year 
end, providing same day access, as detailed in note 9, page 55.  The increase in these 
types of investments reflects improvements in the yield, making them more attractive 
than tying money up short term. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Detailed information on our strategic risks is provided in the Strategic Performance 
Report 2015/16 presented to Cabinet on 8th June 2016.  At the end of 2015/16, the 
following risks are rated as high: 
 

 The risk that changes to future funding make it impossible to set a 
robust and deliverable budget without impacting significantly on Core 
Services. This risk has reduced as a result of having received the 
2016/17 settlement and estimated tax base figures. However, there 
remains a risk in relation to the position for 2017/18 and beyond. 

 The risk of failure to protect the Council’s key information and data as a 
result of a malicious attack exploiting technological vulnerabilities. In 
light of the recent cyber attack on Lincolnshire County Council, we 
have reviewed our arrangements robustly. Whilst the precise 
circumstance of the Lincolnshire attack could not be replicated here, 
we need to remain vigilant to other attacks 

 The risk of ICT technology failure impairing the Council’s ability to 
communicate. The ‘next generation desktop’ roll out mitigates this risk, 
with further plans in place to complete the migration of email accounts. 

 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

19

Page 110



 The risk of failure to protect Children and Young People from abuse or 
neglect that could have been prevented or predicted and the risk of 
failure to meet service standards for children’s services resulting in 
poor inspection results, and in turn, reputational damage. We are 
focusing on strengthening the front door arrangements, and improving 
planning and interventions for children in need. However, continuing 
high demand for safeguarding services means that this risk remains 
high. 
 

 
 The risk of failure to deliver the ‘Prevent’ strategy (for preventing 

violent extremism) impacting on residents, businesses or the media. 
Plans for the implementation of the strategy are progressing, with 
partners actively exploring the option to employ a prevent co-ordinator. 

 The risk of failure to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability 
of information. The Council continues to monitor incidents and 
breaches closely. 

 
 
Pension Liabilities 
 
 
The liability shown in connection with the defined benefit pension schemes is calculated 
in accordance with the requirements of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 and 
has reduced by 16.6%, from £747.4million at the start of the year to £623.4 million at the 
year end. This is due to the changed financial assumptions, primarily an increased yield 
on corporate bonds compared to the previous year. The yield on corporate bonds 
determines the discount rate which is used to calculate the estimated present value of 
these pension liabilities and the discount rate this year has increased by 0.3% (from 
3.2% to 3.5%). The higher the discount rate used, the lower the estimated present value 
of pension liabilities. Further information can be found in note 32, page 84. 
 
 
Investment Activity & Borrowing  
 
 
During 2015/16 treasury management has been conducted according to the Policy 
Statement approved by the County Council in February 2015.  In accordance with this 
strategy 222 investments were made during the year, at a value of £916 million. Total 
interest earned on in house deposits was £3.5 million.  
 
As indicated earlier, the capital budget strategy avoids the need for new borrowing, with 
all capital expenditure being funded from capital grants, capital receipts and 
contributions. Debt redemption remains a priority of the Council.   At 31st March 2016 
the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) was £317.6 million, a reduction of £8.7 million compared 
with the position at the end of 2014/15. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

20

Page 111



The Future 
 
We are:  

 continuing to discuss and develop our Devolution proposals with central 
Government  

 working within the Council and with local schools to understand and prepare for 
the proposals set out in the Government’s education white paper  

 developing the five-year Sustainability and Transformation Plan for 
Gloucestershire with the Clinical Commissioning Group. The plan will show how 
we intend to make sure that local services are sustainable over the next 5 years.  

 

Conclusion  
 
The financial statements continue to reflect the Council’s careful management of 
resources and a reasonable level of reserves being maintained, leaving the Council in a 
sound financial position to cope with future challenges and able to meet our liabilities as 
they fall due.  
 
 
 
 
Additional Information 
 
Further information on the financial statements presented in this document can be 
obtained from John Kear, Financial Accounting Manager (01452 328912). 
john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
 
 

 
 
Jo Walker 
Strategic Finance Director & Section 151 Officer 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

21

Page 112

mailto:john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Statement of Accounting Policies 
 
Introduction 
 
Accounting policies are the principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by the 
Council.  They specify how the financial effects of transactions and other events are 
reflected in the financial statements through recognising, selecting measurement bases for, 
and presenting assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes in reserves. All of the 
accounting policies adopted, that are material in the context of the Council’s 2015/16 
financial statements, are described in the following Accounting Policies. 

 
General Principles 
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2015/16 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31st March 2016.  The accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2015/16 issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
(referred to as “the Code” in the following notes) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2011.  The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally 
historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and 
financial instruments.  These accounts are prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are 
made or received.  Such sums due or payable at year-end are included as debtors and 
creditors and are estimated where the exact amount is not known.   Exceptionally, in some 
cases actual payments are brought into account as they arise rather than being strictly 
apportioned between financial years e.g. electricity and gas charges.  The effect on the 
income and expenditure account is not material.  Non cheque book schools are accounted 
for on a cash basis. 
 
Basis for Redemption of Debt 
 
The Council has historic debt from financing a proportion of its capital investment through 
raising loans.  In accordance with the Local Authorities Capital Financing and Accounting 
Regulations 2003 as updated, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement has 
been charged with an amount that is sufficient to redeem a specified statutory percentage of 
outstanding debt.  The statutory figure is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  
The Council charge a fixed amount per annum following a review of the methodology, for the 
repayment of debt. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that are readily converted to known amounts of cash within a short timescale 
and are available to meet short term cash commitments.  Those investments that will mature 
within three months from the date of acquisition are treated as cash equivalents.   
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

22

Page 113



Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets  
 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to 
record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:  
 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are 
insufficient accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off; 

 Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Council is not allowed to raise Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisations.  However, it is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  Depreciation, 
revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the 
contribution in the General Fund Balance, known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within our control.  Contingent assets are not recognised in the 
Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be 
an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of 
uncertain future events not wholly within our control.  Contingent liabilities also arise where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent 
liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
Balance sheet events have been considered up to the time the Statement of Accounts was 
authorised for issue. 
 
Adjustment will be made for events after the balance sheet date that provides evidence of 
the conditions that existed at the balance sheet date.  Adjustment will not be made for 
events that occurred after the balance sheet date that is indicative of conditions that arose 
after the balance sheet date.  However, if the non-adjusting event would have a material 
effect, disclosure will be made in the notes to the accounts describing the nature of the event 
and the estimated financial effect. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

23

Page 114



Employee Benefits  
 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.  
They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, 
bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and are recognised as an 
expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the Council.  An 
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements earned by employees but not taken 
before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The 
accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, 
being the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is charged to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in 
which the holiday absence occurs. 
 
Termination Benefits 
 
Termination Benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision 
to accept voluntary redundancy.  These payments are charged on an accruals basis to the 
Non Distributed Costs line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when 
the Council is demonstrably committed to the termination of the employment of an officer or 
group of officers, or making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to 
the Pension Fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are 
required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for 
pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the Pension Fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-
end. 
 
Post Employment Benefits  
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the 
Council offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until 
the employee retires, the Council has a commitment to make the payments that need to be 
disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
Employees of the Council are members of five separate pension schemes: 

 The Local Government Pensions Scheme, 

 The Firefighter’s Pensions Scheme, 

 The New Firefighter’s Pension Scheme,  

 The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, and 

 The NHS Pension Scheme for employees that have transferred in respect of Public 
Health. 

 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

24

Page 115



Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme for civilian employees is 
administered by the Council.  The assets of the scheme are separately held in a Committee 
Administered Fund with the Council acting as trustees.  It is a statutory scheme, 
administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 
and 2007/2008, as amended and a separate annual audit is carried out by the appointed 
external auditors.   
 
The scheme is contracted out of the State Second Pension and is a funded, defined benefit, 
final salary scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into a fund, 
calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets.  
Retirement benefits are determined independently of the investment of the scheme and 
employers have obligations to make contributions where assets are insufficient to meet 
employee benefits. 
 
Firefighter’s Pension Schemes 
 
The Firefighter schemes are unfunded defined benefit final salary schemes administered by 
the Council.  There are no assets built up to meet the pension liabilities and cash has to be 
generated to meet actual pension payments as they eventually fall due.  Annual pension 
costs are met from defined employee contributions and charges to the Fire and Rescue 
Service revenue account.  The accounting for these schemes complies with the Code and 
the IAS19 adjustments are detailed in the notes to the accounts. 
 
Teachers Pension Scheme 
 
The Teachers Pension Scheme is an unfunded, multi-employer pension scheme.  The 
Council is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme.  
In compliance with the Code, the Council is reporting the Scheme as if it were a defined-
contribution scheme. 
 
NHS Pension Scheme 
 
The NHS Pension Scheme is an unfunded, multi-employer pension scheme.  The Council is 
unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme.  In 
compliance with the Code, the Council is reporting the Scheme as if it were a defined-
contribution scheme. 
 
Exceptional Items 
 
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed 
separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or 
in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding 
of the Council’s financial performance. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another.  The term financial instrument covers both 
financial assets and liabilities. 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

25

Page 116



All financial instruments held by the Council are reviewed in accordance with the Code.  
Arrangements to establish the subsequent carrying value and recognition of any gains and 
losses, and accounting entries are made as applicable.  All adjustments are detailed in the 
notes to the accounts. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. 
Annual charges to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the 
carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective interest rate for the instrument.  For 
most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest); and interest 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable 
for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase or settlement.  Where 
repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of a loan portfolio that involves the 
modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively 
deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-
down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the 
loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate.  
 
Where, in previous periods, premiums and discounts have been charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the 
General Fund balance to be spread over future years.  The Council has a policy of spreading 
the gain or loss over the term remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable 
or the discount receivable.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund 
balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into two types: 

 Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 
quoted in an active market: and 

 Available for sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have 
fixed or determinable payments. 

 
Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are carried at their amortised 
cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the interest receivable are based on 
the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
For the loans that the Council has made, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest). Interest 
receivable that has accrued in year is credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

26

Page 117



Available for Sale Assets 
 
Available for sale assets are initially measured and carried at fair value.  Where the asset 
has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the 
interest receivable are based on the amortised amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  Where there are no fixed or determinable 
payments, income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
when it becomes receivable by the Council. 
 
 
Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available for Sale Reserve and the 
gain or loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit on the revaluation of available for sale 
financial asset.  The exception is where impairment losses have been incurred.  These are 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any net gain or loss for the asset 
accumulated in the reserve. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event 
that payments due under the contract will not be made, or fair value falls below cost, the 
asset is written down and a charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement along with accumulated gains or losses previously recognised in 
the available for sale reserve.  Where fair value cannot be measured reliably the instrument 
is carried at cost less any impairment losses. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation  
 
The Council does not generally deal in transactions dominated in a foreign currency but 
when transactions do take place in foreign currency they are converted into sterling at the 
exchange rate applicable when the transaction took place.  Any assets or liabilities held in 
foreign denominations at the balance sheet date are reconverted at the spot rate applicable 
at the balance sheet date.  Resulting gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.   
 
Government Grants and Contributions   
 
Revenue grants received are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and are accounted for on an accruals basis when the conditions for their receipt 
have been met, and there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be 
received.  Specific grants are credited to the Cost of Services, whilst grants received to 
cover general expenditure are credited to the Taxation and Investment Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions where conditions attached have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are satisfied, the 
grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line or Taxation and Non-Specific 
Grant Income (non-ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

27

Page 118



Where the Council has met all conditions attached to capital grants and contributions, the 
income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  This income 
is reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Intangible Assets  
 
Intangible assets are non-current assets that do not have physical substance but are 
identifiable and are controlled by the Council through custody or legal rights.  The Council’s 
intangible assets consist of purchased software licences which are capitalised at cost. 
 
Inventories and Work in Progress 
 
All stocks recognised in the Balance Sheet are held at the lower of historical cost or net 
realisable value.  Certain stocks have not been valued (e.g. office stationery). 
 
Jointly Controlled Operations and Jointly Controlled Assets  
 
Jointly controlled operations are activities undertaken by the Council in conjunction with 
other ventures that involve the use of the assets and resources of the ventures rather than 
the establishment of a separate entity.  The Council recognises on its Balance Sheet the 
assets that it controls and the liabilities that it incurs, debiting and crediting the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement accordingly with the appropriate share 
of income and expenditure related to the activity of the operation.   
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the Property Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a 
lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 
separately for classification.   
 
Finance Leases - The Council as Lessee 
 
PPE held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the start of the lease 
at its fair value measured at the start of the lease (or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, if lower).  The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay 
the lessor.  Initial direct costs of the Council are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  
Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability.  
Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the PPE – applied to write down the 
lease liability, and 

 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

28

Page 119



PPE recognised under finance leases are accounted for using the policies applied generally 
to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter 
than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the 
Council at the end of the lease period). 
 
The Council is not allowed to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and 
impairment losses arising on leased assets.  Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made 
from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory 
requirements.  Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by 
a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with 
the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two.  
 
Finance Leases - The Council as Lessor 
 
Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, 
the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the start of the lease, 
the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal.   
 
Operating Leases - The Council as Lessee 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased 
PPE.  Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. 
 
Operating Leases - The Council as Lessor 
 
Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to the 
Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.  
 
Overheads and Support Service Costs  
 
These costs are charged to service areas using a variety of apportionment bases 
appropriate to the particular service provided, in accordance with the costing principles of the 
CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities 2015/16 (SeRCOP).  The 
two cost categories identified under SeRCOP that are not charged out to service are 
Corporate and Democratic Core Costs and Non Distributed Costs.  These are accounted for 
under separate headings within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment  (PPE) 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected 
to be used during more than one financial year are classified as PPE. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

29

Page 120



Recognition 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of PPE is capitalised on an 
accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to 
deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is 
charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
 
Measurement 
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended. The Council does not capitalise borrowing costs 
incurred whilst assets are under construction. 
 
Revaluation of all the County Council’s PPE is undertaken using a three-year rolling 
programme, aiming to move to two years.  Valuations are co-ordinated internally by the 
Council’s Valuation Service Team, with valuations carried out through a combination of 
external valuers (RICS qualified) and, where necessary, the Council’s internal valuers. The 
Valuation Service Team ensure all valuations are carried out in accordance with the 
methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  
 
Non operational PPE, classified as surplus assets, are now measured at fair value in 
accordance with the Code, following the adoption of IFRS 13.   
 
Impairment 
 
Assets are assessed at year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for in the following way: 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to 
the amount of the accumulated gains) 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

30

Page 121



Depreciation and Amortisation 
 
All PPE with a finite useful life (determined at the time of purchase or revaluation) are 
reduced in value (depreciated) using the straight line method according to the following 
rates: 
 
Buildings Permanent Up to 100 years 
 Temporary 20-25 years 
 Leased Period of lease 
   
Infrastructure roads and street lighting 25 years 
 bridges 120 years 
 footpaths and footbridges 7 years 
 vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment 

 
5 –10 years 
 

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful economic lives using the straight-line 
method as shown below: 
 
Purchased Software Licences                                                       Up to 20 Years 
Internally developed Software                                                       Up to 10 Years 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the following basis: 

 Assets which are bought from a third party are depreciated for a full year in the year 
of purchase.  All other assets created as a result of capital expenditure during the 
year are depreciated for a full year where appropriate. 

 Land is not depreciated. 

 Heritage Assets are not depreciated. 

 Community Assets are comprised totally of land (e.g. parks, picnic places) and are 
not depreciated. 

 Assets under construction, being capital works in progress where the uncompleted 
asset does not have a material benefit to the County Council, are not depreciated. 

 Where an item of PPE has major components whose cost is significant in relation to 
the total cost of the item (de-minimus of £1m per asset), the components are 
depreciated separately. The Council has identified 4 component groups that are 
used as a standard template to carry out valuations as shown below: 

o Land – No depreciation, 

o Host (Frame, floors, roof, windows, walls and doors), depreciate over 41 
years, or the actual life of the asset, 

o Services (Internal water installations, sanitary ware, heating, ventilation, 
electrical, lifts, sprinklers and communications), depreciate over 22 years, 
unless the host asset’s life is less than 41 years, then depreciate over 53.7% 
of the life of the host, 

o Externals (Drainage, roads, pavements, fences and external utility pipes), 
depreciate over 39 years, unless the host asset’s life is less than 41 years, 
then depreciate over 95.2% of the life of the host. 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

31

Page 122



 Revaluation gains are depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have 
been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the 
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 Surplus Assets, held for disposal (10-99 years) are not depreciated.  
 
Accounting for Schools 
 
In determining these accounting policies the Council has considered the treatment of land 
and building separately and referred to the requirements and considerations within the 
following publications and standards: 
 

 The Code. 
 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment as adopted by the Code. 
 IAS 17 Leases. 
 The IASB Conceptual Framework on Local Authority Reporting. 
 The Education Act 1996. 
 The School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 

. 
The Code concluded that schools are separate entities and that under IFRS 10, maintained 
schools (but not free schools or academies) meet the definition of entities controlled by local 
authorities which should be consolidated in group accounts. However, rather than requiring 
local authorities to prepare group accounts, the Code requires local authorities to account for 
maintained schools within their single entity accounts. This includes school income and 
expenditure as well as assets and liabilities.  
 
Maintained schools assets held under finance lease arrangements where material are 
recognised within the Council’s accounts in accordance with the Code and IAS 17.  A lease 
is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the asset even though title may or may not eventually be 
transferred.  This therefore involves looking at the substance of the transaction rather than 
the form of the contract. 
 
To determine whether a lease meets these conditions, consideration is given as to whether 
the following situations individually or in combination are in place: 

 The lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term 
 The lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be 

sufficiently lower than the fair value so as to make it reasonably certain the option will 
be exercised 

 The lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset 
 The present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially 

all of the fair value of the leased asset, and the leased assets are of such a 
specialised nature that only the lessee can use them without major modifications. 

 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged directly to the income and expenditure 
account. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

32

Page 123



Academies and Free Schools 
 
These are owned and managed completely independently of the Council with all funding 
apart from high needs top up funding being provided directly by central government.  The 
Council has granted long leases as part of the Academies transfer which includes a 
peppercorn rent, the Net Present Value (NPV) of future minimum lease payments will be nil 
and the finance lease receivable will be nil.   
 
No revenue or capital amounts are therefore recognised in the Councils accounts for these 
entities. 
 
No adjustment is made in the Council’s accounts for maintained schools that are in the 
process of conversion as it is still possible for them to pull out of the conversion process. 
Their assets are therefore treated and recognised on the basis explained under the 
maintained schools section below until the actual conversion date. This means assets of 
schools converting on a 1st April date are still recognised in the previous financial year’s 
accounts. 
 
Maintained Schools 
 
Locally maintained schools consist of the following type of schools: Community, Voluntary 
Aided, Voluntary Controlled and Foundation Schools. 
 
All locally maintained schools are deemed to be entities controlled by the Council.  For this 
reason, schools’ transactions (i.e. income, expenditure, assets, liabilities, reserves and cash 
flows) that would be recognised by a ‘school as an entity’ are consolidated into the Council’s 
statement of accounts. A ‘school as an entity’ should be understood to mean the 
management of the school (i.e. the governing body, including the head teacher, and the 
resources controlled by the school management). 
 
This means that, for all locally maintained schools, the Council recognises: 
 Their income and expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement (within the Children’s and Education Services line) in accordance with 
accounting policy on accruals of income and expenditure; 

 Any unspent resources held by Schools within an earmarked revenue reserve, in 
line with the Council’s reserves policy; and 

 Their current assets and liabilities within the Balance Sheet, under the appropriate 
heading and in accordance with the Council’s accounting policies specific to that 
asset / liability. 

 
With regard to PPE, the Council recognises the assets of locally maintained schools in its 
financial statements if, and only if: 
 As a result of a past event, it is probable that the future economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the items will flow to the Council and/or to a ‘school as an 
entity’; and 

 The costs of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
Playing fields are usually part of the Council’s statutory duty and for some schools e.g. 
Community Schools,  the Council is normally the freeholder of the buildings.  In other cases 
trustees or religious bodies are the legal owners.  However, in preparing the accounting 
judgement of whether these schools should or should not be recognised in the Council’s 
accounts we have considered not just legal ownership of the assets, but also the substance 
of the arrangement.  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

33

Page 124



Although there are cases where a maintained school’s land and building assets are not 
legally owned by the Council, and the owning entity has the right to take them back 
(described by CIPFA as “mere licences”), we are unaware of any instances where this right 
has been exercised.  There is therefore an expectation of continued use of both land and 
building assets for the provision of education through the school.   In a number of cases the 
Council has also incurred capital costs on the school buildings and there is an expectation 
within education regulations that where this is the case a period of notice would need to be 
given if the owning entity wanted to take back the land or buildings.  
 
Even in cases where the Council does not actually own the freehold of Voluntary Aided, 
Voluntary Controlled and Foundation schools through legal title itself, the Council retains a 
residual interest in the proceeds on disposal of land or buildings of any Voluntary Aided 
school, Voluntary Controlled school, and Foundation School under the provisions of 
Schedule 22 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 
 
Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 also states:  “A local education authority shall (in so far 
as their powers enable them to do so) contribute towards the spiritual, moral, mental and 
physical development of the community by securing that efficient primary education, 
secondary education and further education are available to meet the needs of their area.” 
 
This clearly shows that all maintained schools contribute towards meeting the Council’s 
service objectives and should therefore form part of our accounts. 
 
Land and buildings of Voluntary Aided, Voluntary Controlled and Foundation Schools are 
recognised in the Council’s statement of accounts.   
 
The Council school numbers are shown below.  Three maintained schools have converted to 
academies during 2015/16 resulting in a total net book value of £2.5 million removed from 
the Balance Sheet. 
 

 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

34

Page 125



Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme  
 
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where responsibility for making available 
the PPE needed to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. Where the Council is 
deemed to control the services in accordance with IFRIC 12 ownership of the PPE will pass 
to Council at the end of the contract.  The Council carries the PPE used under the contracts 
on the Balance Sheet. The annual unitary payment is separated into the following 
component parts, using appropriate estimation techniques where necessary: 
 
a) Payment for the fair value of services received, and 

b) Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs. 
 
The original recognition of the PPE is balanced by the recognition of a liability for the 
amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the assets. PPE recognised on the Balance 
Sheet are valued and depreciated in the same way as other assets owned by the Council.  
Services received under the contract are recorded under the relevant expenditure headings 
as operating expenses. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or 
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer or economic benefits 
or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  In 
these instances, services have been charged expenditure in anticipation of the liability 
having been met.  When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision 
carried in the Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits 
will now be required, or a lower settlement than anticipated is made, the provision is 
reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
A specific bad debt provision is estimated by considering the probability of recovery of 
individual debtor invoices.  The specific provision is based upon all known information about 
the debtor including financial position of the debtor, the age of the invoice and current credit 
control status of the invoice. 
 
Reserves  
 
In addition to its general revenue balances, the Council has maintained specific reserves for 
future expenditure and to protect against unexpected events.  Certain reserves are kept to 
manage the accounting processes for tangible non-current assets and retirement benefits.  
These reserves do not represent usable resources to the Council, and are explained further 
in the appropriate policies and notes to the accounts. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute  
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but 
that does not result in the creation or enhancement of a non-current asset has been charged 
as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year. Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account is 
made which reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of 
Council Tax. 
 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

35

Page 126



 
Service Concessions 
 
Service concessions are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making 
available the property, plant and equipment needed to provide the services passes to the 
contractor.  The recognition point is the same as for assets under construction, when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the organisation 
and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.   
 
VAT 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her 
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.  
 
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
 
The Code requires consideration of the impact of standards that have been issued but not 
yet adopted.  This is to enable users to evaluate the risk of these new standards on the 
Council’s current financial position.  A number of standards have been issued but are not yet 
applied, and these are listed below.  None are considered to have a material impact on the 
current year’s accounts.   
 

 Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions) 

 Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle, and 2014 – 2014 Cycle.   These 
improvements are minor, principally proving clarification and will not have a material 
impact on the Statement of Accounts.  The Code requires implementation from 1 
April 2016 and there is therefore no impact on the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts. 

 Amendment to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations) 

 Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets 
(Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation) 

 Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Disclosure Initiative) 
 The changes to the format of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement and the introduction of the new 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

 The changes to the format of the Pension Fund Account and the Net Assets 
Statement. 

 
 
Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the accounting policies set out the Council has had to make certain judgements 
about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical 
judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:  

 There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local 
government.  The Council has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to 
provide an indication that the assets of the Council might be impaired as a result of a 
need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision.  

 The Council recognises school land and buildings for Community Schools, Voluntary 
Controlled, Voluntary Aided and Foundation Schools on its Balance Sheet, where it is 
probable that the future economic benefits or service flow to the Council, and costs 
can be measured reliably. The Council has not recognised assets relating to 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

36

Page 127



Academies, as it is of the opinion that these assets are not controlled by the Council.  
School assets are recognised as a disposal from the Council’s Balance Sheet on the 
date on which a school converts to Academy status, not on the date of any related 
announcement, nor is any impairment recognised by the Council prior to conversion.  

 Where the Council is the lead commissioner for service level agreements that include 
a contribution from the CCG, all figures are shown in gross terms (i.e. the contribution 
from the CGG is shown within Other Operating Income). 

 The Better Care Fund (BCF) has been accounted for as an aligned pool in line with 
other Joint Commissioning Arrangements with the CCG. 

 
 
Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty 
 
In preparing the accounts there are areas where estimates are used.  These include: 
 

 Useful life and valuations of properties, which are estimated by qualified valuers, 
 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities, which are estimated by our treasury 

advisors, Arlingclose Ltd 
 Provisions, which are estimated using latest available information,  
 Bad debt levels, which are estimated using past trends and experience,  
 The liability for future pension payments, which are estimated by qualified actuaries. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

37

Page 128



 

Statement of Responsibilities 
 
The Council is required to: 
 

 Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that 
one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this 
Council that officer is the Strategic Finance Director. 

 Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets. 

 Approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Strategic Finance Director Responsibilities 
 
The Strategic Finance Director is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the CODE). 
 
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Strategic Finance Director has: 
 

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 

 Complied with the local authority CODE. 
 
The Strategic Finance Director has also: 
 

 Kept proper accounting records, which were up to date; 

 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Certification 
 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts 2015/16 gives a true and fair view of the financial position 
and Income and Expenditure account of Gloucestershire County Council for the year ended 31st 
March 2016. 
 
 

 
_________________________________ 

 
Jo Walker CPFA, Strategic Finance Director 

16th September 2016 
 
The Audit Committee of the County Council approved the Statement of Accounts on 16th 
September 2016. 
 

 
_________________________________ 

 
Councillor Nigel Robbins, Chairperson 

16th September 2016 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

38

Page 129



Movement in Reserves Statement

General Earmarked Capital Capital Total Unusable Total

Fund General Receipts Grants Usable Reserves Reserves

Balance Fund Reserve Unapplied Reserves

Reserves Reserve

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restated Balance at 31st March 2014 carried 

forward

-19,848 -110,437 -53,406 -183,691 -142,328 -326,019

Movement in reserves during 2014/15

Surplus (-) or Deficit on Provision of Services 18,953 -                       -                     -                   18,953 -                      18,953

-                             
Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income -                  -                       -                     -                   -                      106,068 106,068

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 18,953 -                       -                     -                   18,953 106,068 125,021

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis 
under regulations (Note 1)

-29,797 -                       -                     -                   -29,797 29,797 -                           

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves

-10,844 -                       -                     -                   -10,844 135,865 125,021

Transfers to/from (-) Earmarked Reserves 10,844 -12,427 -                     1,583 -                      -                      -                             

Increase/Decrease in 2014/15 -                  -12,427 -                     1,583 -10,844 135,865 125,021

Balance at 31st March 2015 -19,848 -122,864 -                     -51,823 -194,535 -6,463 -200,998

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to 
fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and unusable reserves.  The 'Surplus (-) or Deficit on the provision of services' line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Council's services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  These are different from the 
statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance.  The 'Net increase/decrease before transfers to earmarked reserves' line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Council.

Movement in Reserves 2014/15

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

39

P
age 130



General Earmarked Capital Capital Total Unusable Total

Fund General Receipts Grants Usable Reserves Reserves

Balance Fund Reserve Unapplied Reserves

Reserves Reserve

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31st March 2015 carried forward -19,848 -122,864 -                     -51,823 -194,535 -6,463 -200,998

Movement in reserves during 2015/16

Surplus (-) or Deficit on Provision of Services -24,750 -                       -                     -                   -24,750 -                      -24,750

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income -                  -                      -155,912 -155,912

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income

-24,750
-                       -                     

-                
-24,750

-155,912
-180,662

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis 
under regulations (Note 1)

9,636 -                       -21,375  7,672 -4,067 4,067 -                           

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves

-15,114 -                       -21,375  7,672 -28,817 -151,845 -180,662

Transfers to/from (-)Earmarked Reserves 15,114 -15,114 -                      -                      -                             

Increase/Decrease in 2015/16 -                  -15,114 -21,375 7,672 -28,817 -151,845 -180,662

Balance at 31st March 2016 -19,848 -137,978 -21,375 -44,151 -223,352 -158,308 -381,660

Movement in Reserves 2015/16

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

40

P
age 131



Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross Expenditure, Gross Income and Net 

Expenditure of Continuing Operations
3,601 -2,989 612 Central Services 4,023 -1,798 2,225
9,342 -873 8,469 Cultural and Related Services 8,237 -811 7,426

33,990 -2,200 31,790 Environmental and Regulatory Services 30,118 -2,262 27,856
1,799 -318 1,481 Planning Services 1,340 -230 1,110

392,292 -284,584 107,708 Children’s and Education Services 392,915 -297,163 95,752
62,561 -10,210 52,351 Highways and Transport Services 63,084 -10,593 52,491

513 -372 141 Housing Services 537 -353 184
247,400 -74,841 172,559 Adult Social Care 240,046 -77,706 162,340
30,268 -7,466 22,802 Fire and Rescue Services 25,078 -4,376 20,702
20,336 -22,597 -2,261 Public Health 24,142 -24,227 -85
13,358 -4,822 8,536 Corporate and Democratic Core 14,543 -4,349 10,194
10,757 -256 10,501 Non Distributed Costs 17,566 -142 17,424

826,217 -411,528 414,689 Cost Of Services 821,629 -424,010 397,619

293 -                   293 Levies Payable 294 -                         294

15,060 -                   15,060 Gain (-)/Loss on disposal of non current assets -                    -11,332 -11,332

15,353 -                   15,353 Other Operating Expenditure 294 -11,332 -11,038

18,183 -                   18,183 Interest Payable on Debt 17,846 -                         17,846
26,613 -                   26,613 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 

(Asset)
23,770 -                         23,770

-1,746 -1,746 Investment Interest income -3,467 -3,467
44,796 -1,746 43,050 Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure

41,616 -3,467 38,149

-                    -43,193 -43,193 Recognised Capital Grants and Contributions -                    -47,500 -47,500
-                    -231,078 -231,078 Council Tax -                    -236,027 -236,027
-                    -65,399 -65,399 National Non Domestic Rates -                    -69,449 -69,449
-                    -85,983 -85,983 Revenue Support Grant -                    -67,456 -67,456
-                    -26,017 -26,017 Non Service Related Government Grants -                    -25,780 -25,780
-                    -2,469 -2,469 Fire Pensions Top Up Grant -                    -3,268 -3,268
-                    -454,139 -454,139 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income         -                    -449,480 -449,480

886,366 -867,413 18,953 Surplus (-) or Deficit on Provision of 

Services

863,539 -888,289 -24,750

 110,720 -107,350 3,370 Revaluation Gains (-)/Losses (Note 13) 7,328 -20,923 -13,595

-                    -1,670 -1,670 Surplus (-) or Deficit on Revaluation of Available 
for Sale Financial Assets (Note 13)

-                    -659 -659

 104,368 -                    104,368 Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability (Asset)

-                    -141,658 -141,658

215,088 -109,020 106,068 Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

7,328 -163,240 -155,912

1,101,454 -976,433 125,021 Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

870,867 -1,051,529 -180,662

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, 
rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Councils raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be 
different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

31
st

 March 2015 31st March 2016

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

41

Page 132



Balance Sheet

Restated

As at

Restated       

As at

Restated       

As at Notes As at

1
st

 April 1st April 1st April 31
st

 March

2014 2015 2016

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,134,869 1,084,105 Property Plant and Equipment 3,39 1,097,134
894 894 Heritage Assets 3 894

3,562 4,889 Assets under Construction 3 4,711
255 368 Intangible Assets 4 541

5,000 40,317 Long Term Investments 5 87,324
2,344 2,371 Long Term Debtors 5 11,278

1,146,924 1,132,944 Long Term Assets 1,201,882

139,362 142,183 Short Term Investments 5 88,179
768 368 Assets held for Sale 10 2,556

1,639 1,388 Inventories 6 1,465
50,178 52,132 Short Term Debtors 8 50,772
52,844 69,248 Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 & 17 110,159

244,791 265,319 Current Assets 253,131

-49,866 -63,241 Short Term Borrowing 5 -49,698
-58,418 -66,522 Short Term Creditors & Revenue Receipts in Advance 12 -71,951
-5,055 -4,140 Short Term Provisions 11 -3,423

-18,098 -20,854 Capital Grants and Contributions Receipts in Advance 24 -37,018
-10,916 -10,401 Provision for Accumulated Absences 13 -8,645

-142,353 -165,158 Current Liabilities -170,735

-2,618 -2,568 Deferred Liability 37 -2,529
-4,619 -3,559 Long Term Provisions 11 -3,510

-284,005 -278,627 Long Term Borrowing 5 -273,194
-632,101 -747,353 Liability Related to Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 32 -623,385
-923,343 -1,032,107 Long Term Liabilities -902,618

326,019 200,998 Net Assets 381,660

Usable Reserves

 53,406  51,823 Capital Grants & Contributions Unapplied Reserve 2  44,151
-                         -                         Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2  21,375

19,848 19,848 General Fund Balance 2 19,848
110,437 122,864 Earmarked Reserves 2 137,978
183,691 194,535 223,352

Unusable Reserves

-10,916 -10,401 Short Term Accumulated Absences Account 13 -8,645
660,843 645,797 Capital Adjustment Account 13 662,115
127,047 117,549 Revaluation Reserve 13 125,179

2,326 1,618 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 13 & 38 2,979
-                         2,300 Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 13 2,300

-298 1,372 Available for Sale Revaluation Reserve 13 2,031
-4,573 -4,419 Financial Instrument Adjustment Account 13 -4,266

-632,101 -747,353 Defined Pension Fund Reserve 32 -623,385
142,328 6,463 158,308

326,019 200,998 Total Reserves 381,660

The Balance Sheet shows the value, as at the Balance Sheet date, of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Council. The net assets 
of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first 
category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to 
maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only 
be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The second category of reserves are those that the Council is not able to use to 
provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation 
Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing 
differences shown within the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 

regulations’.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

42

Page 133



Cash Flow Statement

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

18,953 Net Surplus (-) or Deficit on the Provision of Services -24,750
-107,825 Adjustments to Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non-

Cash Movements (note 14)
-78,408

53,171 Adjustments for items included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services that are Investing and Financing Activities (note 14) 69,953         

-35,701 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities -33,205

28,224 Investing Activities (Note 15) -27,719

-8,927 Financing Activities (Note 16) 20,014         
-16,404 Net Increase or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents -40,910

-52,844 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period -69,248

-69,248 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the reporting period (Note 9) -110,158

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the reporting 
period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying 
cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating 
activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation 
and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Council. Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Council’s 

future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future 
cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

43

Page 134



Page

Note 1. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 45
Note 2. Useable Reserves 47
Note 3. Non-current Assets 50
Note 4. Intangible Assets 51
Note 5. Financial Instruments 52
Note 6. Inventories 55
Note 7. Contractual Capital Commitments 55
Note 8. Debtors 55
Note 9. Cash and Cash Equivalents 55
Note 10. Assets Held for Sale 55
Note 11. Provisions 56
Note 12. Creditors & Revenue Receipts in Advance 57
Note 13. Unusable Reserves 57
Note 14. Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities 61
Note 15. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 62
Note 16. Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities 62
Note 17. Movement in Net Debt 62
Note 18. Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 63
Note 19. Pooled Budgets & Partnership Working 67
Note 20. Officer's Remuneration 69
Note 21. Members' Allowances 73
Note 22. External Audit Costs 73
Note 23. Deployment of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 73
Note 24. Grant Income 74
Note 25. Related Parties 75
Note 26. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 76
Note 27. Leases 78
Note 28. Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts 80
Note 29. Impairment Losses - Capital 83
Note 30. Termination Benefits 83
Note 31. Pensions Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes 84
Note 32. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 84
Note 33. Contingent Liabilities 91
Note 34. Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments 91
Note 35. Trust Funds 95
Note 36. Insurance 95
Note 37. Deferred Liabilities 95
Note 38. Collection Fund Adjustment Account 96
Note 39. Prior Period Restatements 96
Note 40. Post Balance Sheet Events 96

Contents of the Notes to the Statement of Accounts

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

44

Page 135



1. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations

2014/15

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment 

Account: 

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Depreciation and revaluation losses (charged to Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services) of non-current assets

-72,059 72,059

Capital grants and contributions applied 45,226 -45,226
Movement in the Donated Assets Account -
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute -9,486 9,486
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 
part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

-23,158 23,158

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Voluntary Provision for financing of Capital Investment 13,825 -13,825
Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment 13,605 -13,605
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund Balance 5,076 -5,076
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts 

Reserve: 
Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss 
on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

8,098 -8,098

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure 

8,098 -8,098

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied 

Reserve
Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the 
Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement

-43,643 43,643

Application of grants and contributions to capital financing 
transferred to capital adjustment account

45,226 -45,226

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments 

Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement are different from finance 
costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

153 -153

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve: 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

-10,884 10,884

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rates income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from council tax and non-domestic Rates 
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

-708 708

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences 

Account: 
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the 
year in accordance with statutory requirements

515 -515

Total Adjustments -29,797 -                  1,583 28,214

Movement    in   

Unusable 

Reserves

 Restated Capital 

Grants Un-

applied Reserve

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Restated 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Usable Reserves 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement recognised by the 
Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as 
being available to the Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

45

Page 136



2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment 

Account: 

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Depreciation and revaluation losses (charged to Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services) of non-current assets

-49,211 49,211

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute -7,858 7,858
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 
part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

-11,274 11,274

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Voluntary Provision for financing of Capital Investment
Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment 8,737 -8,737
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund Balance 13,556 -13,556
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts 

Reserve: 
Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss 
on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

22,606 -22,606

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure 

1,231 -1,231

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied 

Reserve:

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the 
Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement

47,500 -47,500

Application of grants and contributions to capital financing 
transferred to capital adjustment account

55,172 -55,172

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments 

Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement are different from finance 
costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

153 -153

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve: 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

-17,690 17,690

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rates income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from council tax and non-domestic Rates 
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

1,361 -1,361

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences 

Account: 
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the 
year in accordance with statutory requirements

1,756 -1,756

Total Adjustments 9,636 -21,375 7,672 4,067

Usable Reserves 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital Grants 

Un-applied 

Reserve

Movement    in   

Unusable 

Reserves

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

46

Page 137



2. Useable Reserves

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 

31
st

 March 

2015

Transfers 
Out 2015/16

Transfers 
In     

2015/16

Balance at 

31
st

 March 

2016

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Waste Reserve 15,577 -                 18,335 33,912

Fire Joint Training Centre 1,169 -13 -              1,156

Fire PFI Reserve- GRFS 2,489 -                 268 2,757

Insurance Fund 10,283 -6,636 7,176 10,823

Capital Fund 22,849 -23,301 10,130 9,678

Transformation Reserve 6,912 -235 279 6,956

County Elections 414 -                 200          614

Vehicle & Plant Replacement 110 -                 -              110

Fire Service Pensions 127 -                 -              127

Active Communities 1,230 -                 -              1,230

Invest to Save 4,517 -1,841 499 3,175

Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 -                 -              500

Adoption Reserve 762 -367 -              395

Economic Stimulus Reserve 10,296 -1,826 -              8,470

Public Health 4,513 -                 83 4,596

Vulnerable Children Reserve 2,585 -931 916 2,570

Adult Care Reserve 654 -                 1,000 1,654

Home to School Transport Reserve 400 -                 272 672

A417 Missing Link Reserve 309 -45 1,000 1,264

Rates Retention Reserve 1,660 -                 175 1,835

Revenue Grant Reserves 6,981 -5,095 9,865 11,751

Communities & Infrastructure Reserve -                   -                 1,476 1,476

Traded Services Reserve -                   -                 67 67

LED Renewables Reserve -                   -                 223 223

Services to Families with Young Children Reserve -                   -                 300 300

Other Reserves 436 -9 128 555

Total Non School Earmarked Reserves 94,773 -40,299 52,392 106,866

Schools Related

School Balances 20,220 -20,220 23,824 23,824

Other Schools Related 7,871 -7,871 7,288 7,288

Total School Related 28,091 -28,091 31,112 31,112

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves 122,864 -68,390 83,504 137,978

General Fund Balances 19,848 -                 -              19,848

Total Revenue Reserves 142,712 -68,390 83,504 157,826

Earmarked Capital Reserves Balance at 

31
st

 March 

2015

Transfers 
Out 2015/16

Transfers 
In     

2015/16

Balance at 

31
st

 March 

2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Capital Grant Reserves 51,823 -104,496 96,824 44,151

Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserves -                   -1,231 22,606 21,375

Total Capital Reserves 51,823 -105,727 119,430 65,526

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund Balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future 
expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2015/16.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

47

Page 138



Reserve Description

Strategic Waste Reserve -The contribution made to the EFW project in 2015/16 was £8.927 million.  It 
has been shown as a debit in the prepayment balance sheet, as opposed to a drawdown on the reserve, 
following technical accounting advice received.  This reflects the fact that the contribution is amortised in 
the accounts over the life of the contract.  An additional £0.335 million contribution was made from the 
revenue budget of the Residual waste to cover future liabilities and this has resulted in a closing balance 
of £33.912 million, which is fully committed to the contract.

Fire Joint Training Centre - This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire 
Training Centre, which is fully committed.

Fire PFI Reserve (GRFS) - This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire 
Stations PFI, which is fully committed.

Insurance Fund -  Levels are based on external professional actuarial review and advice to mitigate 
GCC's insurance liability.

Capital Fund - This reserve is used for capital financing and is fully committed to fund schemes 
approved under the Council's Capital Programme.  The balance remaining on this reserve is more than 
expected in the MTFS and reflects slippage on the capital programme and unspent approved revenue 
contributions that will be needed to fund future capital expenditure.   

Transformational Reserve - Budget support was provided in 2015/16 totalling £0.235 million.  In 
addition transfers into the reserve totalled £0.279 million which related to Organisational Structure 
Savings.

Council Elections - This reserve is to smooth the cost of funding the council elections.

Vehicle & Plant Reserve - This reserve is to support the purchase of vehicle and plant. 

Fire Service Pensions - The reserve is to support any potential liabilities under the Fire Service pension 
schemes.

Active Communities - This reserve has been established to meet the Council's strategy to provide 
support for people to do more for themselves, their families and communities without the Council having 
to intervene. It was funded from transferring monies from the Supporting People Reserve.( £1.23 million 
in March 2015)

Invest to Save - This reserve is fully committed as follows:- to support Salix loan grants initiative for 
energy saving projects (£0.15 million); Contribution towards the provision of Photovoltaic PV panels for 
Shire Hall (£0.90 million);ICT improvements (£0.7 million); Transformational Support (£1.43 million). 
Transfers out during 2015-16 including a contribution to capital programme funding next generation 
desktop rationalisation scheme (£1.30 million) and Salix loans (£0.54 million) offset by transfers from 
Salix loan repayments received in year (£0.5 million).

Education Funding Risk - This reserve was established to smooth the impact from schools becoming 
academies.

Adoption Reserve - This reserve was established to fund a package of measures relating to adoptions 
over a number of years. Monies drawn down during 2015-16 have been used to fund these measures.

Economic Stimulus Reserve - Fully committed as follows: Rural Broadband (£7.80 million); 
Apprentices (£0.33 million): Grow Gloucestershire ( £0.34 million). Transfers out during 2015-16 
included: contribution towards broadband project (£1.6 million);Apprenticeships (£0.14 
million);Community Grants (£0.02 million); Grow Gloucestershire (£0.06 million)
Public Health - Ring fenced funding stream, and this reserve was established in accordance with grant 
conditions to hold any unspent balances from the annual grant received from Government.
Vulnerable Children - The reserve includes £1.922 million of funding to offset demand-led pressures in 
children's services 2016/17 and £0.648 million of unused funding for one-off projects (mental health, 
archives, safeguarding training, reunification) which will be used for these approved projects. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

48

Page 139



Adult Care Reserve - The current balance of £1.654 million provides funding to mitigate demand risk in 
Adult Social Care, given the continuing concern about the volatility in demand and the pressure across 
the health and social care economy.    
Home to School Transport - This reserve is to smooth the impact changes in schools days year to 
year on home to school transport.

A417 Missing Link - This reserve has been established to support pre development work on the A417 
project to be undertaken.

Rates Retention - This reserve was established to cover the Council against a potential funding 
shortfall in business rate income. The scheme is still in its infancy and the full impact remains uncertain. 
The situation will continue to be monitored closely. Part of the reserve is ring fenced for economic 
development projects across the County and part is a ring fenced contingency for smoothing any future 
pool losses as per the pool guidance arrangements.

Revenue Grants Reserve -A technical reserve for specific unapplied revenue grants and contributions, 
where conditions related to the monies have been met but expenditure has not been incurred. The 
monies remained ring fenced and fully committed.  This reserve is prepared in accordance with the 
Accounting Code of Practice issued annually by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy, which the Council is legally required to follow.

Communities & Infrastructure - A new reserve has been established to carry forward specific budget 
under spends and invest a further £1 million into Highways.

Traded Services - A new reserve has been established to invest in Traded Services to mitigate against 
any loss in traded income.

LED Renewables - A new reserve established to provide budget support for the LED renewables 
project.

Sevices to Families with Young Children - A new reserve established to provide specific budget 
support.
School Balances and Other Related Reserves - These reserves represents specific balances held by 
individual schools and central ring fenced balances carried forward to support future years expenditure.

Capital Grant & Contributions -This technical reserve relates to unspent capital grants and 
contributions, which are fully committed to funding the Council's approved Capital Programme. 

Capital Receipts - This reserve reflects unapplied capital receipts, which are fully committed to funding 
the approached capital programme.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

49

Page 140



3. Non-current Assets
Other Land 
& Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture & 
Equipment

Infrastructure 
Assets

Community 
Assets

Surplus 
Assets

Assets Under 
Construction

Heritage 
Assets

Total Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment

PFI Assets 
included in 

PPE

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

801,097 25,900 596,224 -               12,133 4,889 894 1,441,137 27,048

26,731       7,594           28,148           -                   -              3,991            -               66,464              7                  
-                -                   -                    -                   -              -                    -               -                       -                   

17,970       -                   -                    -                   2,953      -                    -               20,923              -                   
829            -                   -                    -                   42           -                    -               871                   -                   

(6,903)       -                   -                    -                   (425)        -                    -               (7,328)              -                   
(6,572)       -                   -                    -                   (1,978)     -                    -               (8,550)              -                   
(9,928)       (7,173)          (17,457)          -                   (1,189)     -                    -               (35,747)             -                   
1,907         -                   -                    -                   -              -                    -               1,907                -                   

(4,094)       -                   -                    -                   -              -                    -               (4,094)              -                   
-                -                   -                    -                   -              (4,169)           -               (4,169)              -                   

1,443         -                   -                    -                   (1,443)     -                    -               -                       -                   

822,480     26,321          606,915         -                   10,093    4,711            894           1,471,414         27,055          

(100,871)    (14,273)        (234,958)        (1,147)     -                    -               (351,249)           (3,475)          

(14,170)      (5,185)          (22,483)          -                   (63)          -                    -               (41,901)             (977)             
(234)          -                   -                    -                   234         -                    -               -                       -                   
(35)            6,995           17,457           -                   57           -                    -               24,474              -                   

(115,310)    (12,463)        (239,984)        -                   (919)        -                    -               (368,676)           (4,452)          

707,170 13,858      366,931     -               9,174   4,711        894        1,102,738    22,603      

Revaluation Reserve adjustment charge to I & E
Derecognition – Disposals  

Assets reclassified from Held for Sale  

Gross book value at 31st March 2015

Additions  
Donations  
Revaluation increases recognised in Revaluation Reserve  
Revaluation Reserve adjustment refund to I & E
Revaluation decrease recognised in Revaluation Reserve  

Assets reclassified to Held for Sale  
Assets Under Construction completed schemes
Surplus reclassification

Net book value at 31
st

 March 2016

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment as at 31st March 

2015

Depreciation charge 
Surplus reclassification
Derecognition – disposals  

At 31
st

 March 2016

Gross book value at 31
st

 March 2016

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

50

P
age 141



Non Current Asset Valuations

 Land and Property

Fair Value- Surplus Assets

 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment

 Infrastructure Assets

 Donated Assets

Donated assets are defined as assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value.

4. Intangible Assets 

These are purchased software licences and are amortised over an estimated life of up to 20 years.

The movement on Intangible Asset balances during the year is as follows:

Internally 
Generated 

Assets

Other 
Assets

Internally 

Generated 

Assets

Other 

Assets

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at start of year: 

Gross carrying amounts -                  255 -                   368
Amortisation for the period -                  -128 -                   -124
Other changes -                  241 -                   297
Net carrying amount at end of year -                   368 -                    541

Level 2 -   fair value is calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, eg 
interest rates or yields for similar instruments

Level 1 -   fair value is only derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, eg bond 
prices

2014/15 2015/16

The Code requires all land and property to be formally revalued at least every five years. This year the District covered was 
Cheltenham and in addition to all surplus assets being revalued, we also revalued all Rural Estate assets.

These assets, consisting of roads, bridges, street lighting, footpaths and footbridges, are included on the basis of historical costs 
incurred since 1st April 1974, depreciated over periods in accordance with the anticipated life of the various types of infrastructure.

Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are included at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Furniture and equipment 
charged to the capital account is included at historical cost and depreciated over the expected life.

Non-operational land and property is included on the basis of IFRS 13 Fair Value except assets under construction which are 
included on the basis of capital expenditure incurred by 31st March 2016.  The valuations have been undertaken by qualified 
valuers, consistent with the current accounting policy.  All the Council’s surplus assets have been assessed as Level 3 for valuation 

purposes using the following fair value hierachy:-

Operational land and property is included in the Balance Sheet on the basis of existing use value or, where this cannot be assessed 
because there is no market, depreciated replacement cost.  With the exception of schools which are on a Modern Equivalent Asset 
basis, the valuation approach reflects the demand for space based on the number of children on roll.

Level 3 -  fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, eg non-market data such as cash flow forecasts or 
estimated creditworthiness

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

51

Page 142



5. Financial Instruments 

Categories of Financial Instruments 

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Loans and receivables 30,317 64,000 174,242 178,744
Available-for-sale financial assets 10,000 23,324 35,378 10,461
Other cash 1,811 9,132
Total Investments 40,317 87,324 211,431 198,337

Debtors 2,371 11,278 52,132 50,772
Total Debtors 2,371 11,278 52,132 50,772

Financial Liabilities

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Borrowings at amortised cost 257,662 252,799 62,726 49,151
Total Borrowings 257,662 252,799 62,726 49,151

Lease Liabilities

PFI liabilities at amortised cost 20,965 20,395 515 547
Total other long term liabilities 20,965 20,395 515 547

Total Borrowing and Long Term Liabilities 278,627 273,194 63,241 49,698

Creditors 0 0 66,522          71,951
Total Creditors -                      -                      66,522  71,951

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet

Long Term Current 

Long Term Current 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

52

Page 143



Expense, Income, Gains and Losses

Financial 
Liabilities at 

amortised 
cost

Financial 
Assets: Loans 

and 
Receivables

Financial 
Assets: 

Available for 
Sale

Total Financial 

Liabilities at 

amortised 

cost

Financial 

Assets: 

Loans and 

Receivables

Financial 

Assets: 

Available for 

Sale

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest expense 18,183 -                      -                     18,183 17,846 -                      -                     17,846

Total expense in Surplus or Deficit on 

the Provision of Services 

18,183 -                      -                     18,183 17,846 -                      -                     17,846

Interest income -1,551 -195 -1,746 -2,563 -904 -3,467

Gains on derecognition -                      -                     -                     

Total income in Surplus or Deficit on 

the Provision of Services 

-1,551 -195 -1,746 -                      -2,563 -904 -3,467

Gain (-)/Loss on revaluation -1,670 -1,670 -659 -659

Surplus or deficit arising on 

revaluation of financial assets in 

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure 

-                      -                      -1,670 -1,670 -                      -                      -659 -659

Net loss/gain(-) for the year 18,183 -1,551 -1,865 14,767 17,846 -2,563 -1,563 13,720

2014/15 2015/16

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

53

P
age 144



Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Long-term loans from PWLB 2 265,340        346,903   260,363      331,948   

Long-term Lender Option borrower option (LOBO) loans 2 41,548          67,260     41,586        67,501     

Finance Leases and PFI Liabilities 2 21,479          36,417     20,943        33,284     

Total Financial Liabilities 328,367        457,370   322,892      437,879   

Recorded on the balance sheet as:-
Short-term borrowing 49,762          49,698        

long-term borrowing 278,605        273,194      

Total Financial Liabilities 328,367        322,892      

Financial assets held at fair value: £'000

Money market funds;notice and call accounts 1
Bonds,equities and Property funds 1
Total Financial Assets held at Fair Value

Financial assets held at amortised cost: 31st March 2015 31st March 2016

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Long-term bank deposits 2 131,910        132,042   73,257        72,910     

Long-term loans to local authorities 2 39,064          39,412     71,448        68,522     

Total Financial Assets held at Amortised Cost 170,974        171,454   144,705      141,432   

Total Financial Assets 249,937        250,417   276,529      273,256   

Recorded on the balance sheet as:-

Long-term investments 40,317          87,324        

Short-term investments 142,183        88,179        

Cash and cash equivalents 67,437          101,026      

Total Financial Assets 249,937        276,529      

11,473

78,963

£'000

101,138

30,686

131,824

Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount 

shown on 

Balance 

67,490

Fair Value

Fair 
Value 
Level

31st March 2015 31st March 2016

Carrying Amount shown 
on Balance Sheet at Fair 

Value

Carrying Amount 

shown on Balance 

Sheet at Fair Value

31st March 2016
Carrying 
Amount 

shown on 
Balance 

Level 2 -   fair value is calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 
liability, eg interest rates or yields for similar instruments

Fair Values are considered for financial liabilities that are represented by PWLB and other long-term 
borrowing and finance leases.  Although no adjustments were recognised in the accounts, accounting 
practice requires that fair values are disclosed.  These liabilities are carried in the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost and their fair values are assessed by calculating the net present value of the future 
contractual cash flows that will take place over the remaining term of the instruments:

For commercial 'lender option borrower option' (LOBO) loans, future estimated cashflows are compared 
with the cashflows that would result from a comparable replacement PWLB loan.

Fair 
Value 
Level

31st March 2015

Fair Values are shown in the tables below, split by the level in the fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 -   fair value is only derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 
eg bond prices

Level 3 -  fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, eg non-market data such as cash flow 
forecasts or estimated creditworthiness

The fair values of the loans are higher than the carrying amount because the Council’s borrowing portfolio 

includes fixed rate loans where the interest rates payable are higher than the prevailing market rates at 
the Balance Sheet date.  

Carrying 
Amount 

shown on 
Balance 
Sheet Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount 

shown on 

Balance Fair Value

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

54

Page 145



6. Inventories

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Maintenance Materials

Balance outstanding at start of the year 1,639 1,388
Purchases 4,629 4,912
Stock used within the year -4,880 -4,835
Balance outstanding at year-end 1,388 1,465

7. Contractual Capital Commitments

8. Debtors

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Central Government Bodies 10,252 12,341
Other Local Authorities 3,888 3,356
NHS Bodies 4,807 8,452
Public Corporations and Trading Funds 6,399 253
Other Entities and Individuals 26,786 26,370
Total 52,132 50,772

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Cash held by the Council, including schools 1,811           9,132           
Cash held in call/money market accounts with same day access 7,437           30,280         
Cash Equivalents - investments maturing within 3 months 60,000         70,747         
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 69,248         110,159       

10. Assets Held for Sale

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance outstanding at start of year 768 368

Assets newly classified as held for sale: 
Property, Plant and Equipment 368 4,094
Assets sold -768 -1,906

Balance outstanding at year-end 368 2,556

A contractual capital commitment is where a significant new contract has been agreed during the financial year 
where a legal agreement has been entered in to and can not easily be backed out of.  The Council has a policy 
that a significant contract value would be £3m or above.

There is a contractual commitment of £4.3m for Carlton Primary expansion and £3.8m for a new infant school 
at Northway

A contract for the replacement of existing street lights with new and more energy efficient LED equipment has 
been let. This contract has a value of £13.5 million over a period of 4 years.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

55

Page 146



11. Provisions

Applications Additions

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Insurance Fund -4,140 -2,778 -6,918  2,459 -2,060 -                    -6,519 -3,423 -3,096
Adults:

Community Equipment 
Liabilities 

-                 -200 -200 -                     -                -                    -200 -                 -200

Communities & 
Infrastructure:

Glos South West 
Bypass Land Claims

-                 -95 -95 -                   -              -                 -95 -                 -95

Contracts -                 -340 -340 340 -              -                    -                     -                 -               
Children & Families:

Pension Strain Costs -                 -29 -29 -                     -                -                    -29 -                 -29
General:

Pension Strain & 
Redundancy costs

-                 -7 -7 -                     -                -                    -7 -                 -7

Retained Fire Fighters 
Liabilities

-                 -15 -15  5 -                -                    -10 -                 -10

LAMS Scheme 
Liabilities

-                 -95 -95 -                     -                22 -73 -                 -73

Total -4,140 -3,559 -7,699 2,804 -2,060 22 -6,933 -3,423 -3,510

Employee Accrual - IAS19 
accumulated absences

-10,401 -               -10,401 -                     -                1,756 -8,645 -8,645 -               

Total -10,401 -             -10,401 -                   -              1,756          -8,645 -8,645 -             

Insurance Fund

Employee Accrual - IAS19 accumulated absences

Whilst Insurance services are arranged through external partners, the current excess levels effectively means that all but the very largest 
claims are self insured. The Council therefore operates a stand alone insurance fund to cover the impact of any self insurance liabilities.  The 
Provisions held specifically relate to known claims which had not been settled at year end.

Local Authorities are required to account for benefits payable during employment in accordance with IAS19.  The provision held within the 
Accumulated Absences Account relates to estimated costs associated with short term benefits such as leave, flexible working hours and 
additional TOIL, which have been accumulated at the end of 2015/16  but will not be settled until 2016/17.

Balance at 

1
st 

April 

2015

Amounts 
Written off in 

Year

Balance at 

31
st

 March 

2016

Short Term 
Liabilities

Long 
Term 

Liabilities

Short Term 
Liabilities

Long 
Term 

Liabilities

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

56

P
age 147



12. Creditors & Revenue Receipts in Advance

2014/15 2014/15

£'000 £'000

Central Government Bodies 11,798 13,807

Other Local Authorities 5,513 5,065
NHS Bodies 6,175 8,608
Public Corporations and Trading Funds 51 54
Other Entities and Individuals 42,985 44,417

Total 66,522 71,951

13. Unusable Reserves 

Revaluation Reserve  

•  Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

•  Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

•  Disposed of and the gains are realised

Restated
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April 127,047 117,549
Upward revaluation of assets 107,350 20,923
Downward revaluation of assets not charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services

-110,720 -7,328

Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped -6,128 -5,965
Revaluation of newly recognised school assets
Revaluation Adjustments
Balance at 31

st
 March  117,549 125,179

Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April -298 1,372           
Change in year end valuation 1,670           659             

Balance at 31
st

 March  1,372           2,031           

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the value of its 
Property, Plant and Equipment (and Intangible Assets). The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are:

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1st April 2007, the date that the Reserve was 
created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

The Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve contains the gains/losses made by the Council arising 
from increases/decreases in the value of investments that have quoted market prices or otherwise do not 
have fixed or determinable payments. The investments concerned are part of the portfolio held by the 
Council's external fund managers.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

57

Page 148



Capital Adjustment Account 

Restated
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April 660,843 645,797

Charges for depreciation of noncurrent assets -71,932 -49,087

Amortisation of intangible assets -128 -124
Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute -9,486 -7,858
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 
part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

-23,158 -11,274

Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 6,128 5,965

Capital financing applied in the year: 
Write off of deferred charges 
Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure 

8,098 1,231

RCCO applied to capital financing 5,076 13,556
Voluntary Provision for financing of Capital Investment 13,825 -                  
Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment 13,605 8,737
Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to 
capital financing 

45,226 55,172

Donated Assets -                   -                  
Adjustment to Deferred Capital Receipts -2,300 -                  

Balance at 31
st

 March  645,797 662,115

The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties and gains recognised on 
donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the Council. 

The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1st April 
2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

Note 1 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving 
the Revaluation Reserve. 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or 
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve 
to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by 
the Council as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

58

Page 149



Pensions Reserve 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April -632,101 -747,353
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability -104,368 141,658
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

-10,884 -17,690

Balance at 31
st

 March  -747,353 -623,385

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April 2,326 1,618
Amount by which Council Tax and non domestic rate income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from Council Tax and Non Domestic 
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements.

-708 1,361

Balance at 31
st

 March  1,618 2,979

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting 
for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Council 
accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect 
inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. 
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employers' 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit 
balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall between the benefits earned by past 
and present employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of Council Tax 
and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from 
Council Tax payers and local businesses compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

59

Page 150



Accumulated Absences Account 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April -10,916 -10,401
Amount in which the settlement or cancellation of accrual made at 
the end of the preceding year and the amount accrued at the end 
of this year differs.

515 1,756

Balance at 31
st

 March  -10,401 -8,645

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April -4,573 -4,419

Net write down 154 153

Balance at 31
st

 March  -4,419 -4,266

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-current
assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place. Under statutory
arrangements, the Authority does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital
expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash settlement
eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1
st

 April -                      2,300
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part of the 2,300 -                     
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement

Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash -                     -                     

Balance at 31
st

 March  2,300 2,300

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to certain financial instruments and for bearing 
losses or benefiting from gains per statutory provisions. The Council uses the Account to manage premiums 
and discounts paid or received on the early redemption of loans. Premiums or Discounts are debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when they are incurred, but reversed out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Over time, the expense 
is posted back to the General Fund Balance in accordance with statutory arrangements for spreading the 
burden on Council Tax.

Adjustments with the General Fund relating to the total of deferred 
premiums/discounts:

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund 
Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave 
entitlement carried forward at 31st March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund 
Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

This balance represents the payments made under the local authority mortgage scheme (£2.2 million) and 
monies invested in Funding Circle (£0.1 million).  As these monies are invested for capital purposes, when 
repaid they will be used for further capital investment in line with accounting standards.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

60

Page 151



14. Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

-71,932 -49,087

-128 -124

-5,998 -5,651

2,036 4,574

-251 77

-10,884 -17,690

2,490 766

-23,158 -11,273

Total -107,825 -78,408

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provision of services 45,226 47,500

Premiums or discounts on the repayment of financial liabilities -153 -153

8,098 22,606

Net cash flows from operating activities 53,171 69,953

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Interest received -1,746 -3,144

Interest paid 18,183 17,770

Total 16,437 14,626

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

a) Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non cash movements as follows:

Depreciation & Impairment
Amortisation

Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment 

Increase/Decrease in Creditors
Increase/Decrease in Debtors
Increase/Decrease in Inventories
Movement in Pension Liability
Contributions to/(from) Provisions

b) Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are investing or 
financing activities:

Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held 
for sale, sold or derecognised

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

61

Page 152



15. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

48,525 66,766

945,115 863,039

-8,098 -22,606

-907,091 -887,415

-50,227 -47,503

Net cash flows from investing activities 28,224 -27,719

16. Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Cash receipts of short and long term borrowing -61,847 -15,000

Other receipts from financing activities -708 -                  

Repayments of short-term and long-term borrowing 53,115 34,437

513 577

Net cash flows from financing activities -8,927 20,014

17. Movement in Net Debt

2014/15 2015/16  Movements

in year

£'000 £'000 £'000

Movement In Cash Balances:
Imprest Accounts 138 130 -8
Cash At Bank 9,110 39,282 30,172
Cash Equivalents investments 60,000 70,747 10,747
Net Cash 69,248 110,159 40,911

Financing & Liquid Resources 199,882 234,895 35,013

Net Debt 269,130 345,054 75,924

Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets
Purchase of short-term and long-term investments

Other receipts from investing activities

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assetsProceeds from short-term and long-term investments

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

62

Page 153



18. Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 

Service Information for the year ended 31
st

 March 2015

Children & 

Families

Adults Public Health Communities & 

Infrastructure

 Support 

Services

Technical & 

Corporate

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fees, Charges & Other Service Income -14,026 -73,619 -805 -13,512 -9,801 -1,565 -113,328
Government Grants -268,695 -618 -21,793 -5,223 -172 5,400 -291,101
Additional Council Tax Income
Total Income -282,721 -74,237 -22,598 -18,735 -9,973 3,835 -404,429

Employee Expenses 206,476 27,171 1,144 28,269 26,108 11,041 300,209            
Other Operating Expenses 164,627 197,902 21,193 76,315 13,231 38,081 511,349            
Support Service Recharges 9,449 8,829 261 6,179 -26,594 1,876 -                    

Total Operating Expenses 380,552 233,902 22,598 110,763 12,745 50,998 811,558

Net Cost of Services 97,831 159,665 -                        92,028 2,772 54,833 407,129

Council Approved Budget 99,923              154,101            -                        92,766              3,385                56,954              407,129

Declared Outturn Position -2,092 5,564 -                           -738 -613 -2,121 -                           

Reconciliation to Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

£'000

Cost of Services in Service Analysis 407,129

Add Technical Accounting Adjustments 58,270

Removal of amounts reported to management but not included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. -50,710

Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 414,689

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

63

P
age 154



 Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis

2014/15

Service 

Analysis

Technical 

Accounting 

Adjustments

Items not 

included in the 

Income & 

Expenditure 

Account

Net cost of 

Services

Corporate 

Amounts

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fees, Charges & Other service Income -113,328 -                           -                           -113,328 -                           -113,328

Interest and Investment income -                           -                           1,746 1,746 -1,746
Income from Council Tax -                           -                           -                           -                           -231,078 -231,078

Government Grants and Contributions -291,101 -1,478 -7,367 -299,946 -177,399 -477,345

Capital Grants and Contributions -                           -                           -                           -                           -43,193 -43,193

Fire Pensions Top Up Grant -                        -                        -                         -                           -2,469 -2,469

Total Income -404,429 -1,478 -5,621 -411,528 -455,885 -867,413

Employee Expenses 300,209 -13,542 -                           286,667            -                           286,667            

Other Service Expenses 511,349 -8,256 -26,613 476,480            26,613 503,093            

Support Service Recharges -                           -                           -                           -                    -                           -                    

Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment -                           72,060 -                           72,060              -                           72,060              

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute -                           9,486 -                           9,486                -                           9,486                

Interest Payments -                           -                           -18,183 -18,183 18,183 -                    

Precepts & Levies -                           -                           -293 -293 293 -                    

Gain or Loss on Disposal of fixed Assets -                           -                           -                           -                    15,060 15,060              

Impairment of Investments -                           -                           -                           -                    -                           -                    

Total Operating Expenses 811,558 59,748 -45,089 826,217 60,149 886,366

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 407,129 58,270 -50,710 414,689 -395,736 18,953

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

64

P
age 155



Service Information for the year ended 31
st

 March 2016

Children & 

Families

Adults Public 

Health

Communities & 

Infrustructure

Support 

Services

Technical & 

Corporate

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fees, Charges & Other Service Income -15,256 -72,409 -780 -13,558 -9,191 -3,590 -114,784

Government Grants -279,322 -4,880 -23,447 -7,060 -165 -1,855 -316,729

Total Income -294,578 -77,289 -24,227 -20,618 -9,356 -5,445 -431,513

Employee Expenses 215,902 27,211 1,293 25,809 28,781 12,616 311,612

Other Operating Expenses 169,862 194,995 22,671 76,878 13,651 37,344 515,401

Support Service Recharges 9,916 9,738 263 6,287 -29,960 3,756 -                       

Total Operating Expenses 395,680 231,944 24,227 108,974 12,472 53,716 827,013

Net Cost of Services 101,102 154,655 -             88,356 3,116 48,271 395,500

Council Approved Budget 101,102            151,507            -             88,356              3,698                50,837              395,500

Declared Outturn Position - Surplus -                    3,148 -             -                    -582 -2,566 -                    

Reconciliation to Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
£'000

Cost of Services in Service Analysis 395,500

Add Technical Accounting Adjustments 14,977

Removal of amounts reported to management but not included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. -12,858

Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 397,619

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

65

P
age 156



Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis

2015/16

` Technical 

Accounting 

Adjustments

Items not 

included in the 

Income & 

Expenditure 

Account

Net cost of 

Services

Corporate 

Amounts

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fees, Charges & Other service Income -114,784 -                           -                           -114,784 -                        -114,784

Interest and Investment income -                           -                           3,467 3,467 -3,467 -                    

Income from Council Tax -                           -                           -                           -                    -236,027 -236,027

Government Grants and Contributions -316,729 2,222 1,814 -312,693 -162,685 -475,378

Capital Grants and Contributions -                           -                           -                         -                    -47,500 -47,500

Fire Pensions Top Up Grant -                        -                        -                         -                    -3,268 -3,268

Gain on Disposal of fixed Assets -                        -                        -                         -                    -11,332 -11,332

Total Income -431,513 2,222 5,281 -424,010 -464,279 -888,289

Employee Expenses 311,612 -5,075 -                           306,537 -                           306,537            

Other Service Expenses 515,401 -47,097 -                           468,304 23,771 492,075            

Support Service Recharges -                           -                           -                           -                    -                           -                    

Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment -                           57,069 -                           57,069 -                           57,069              

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute -                           7,858 -                           7,858 -                           7,858                

Interest Payments -                           -                           -17,845 -17,845 17,845 -                    

Precepts & Levies -                           -                           -294 -294 294 -                    

Loss on Disposal of fixed Assets -                           -                           -                           -                    -                           -                    

Impairment of Investments -                           -                           -                           -                    -                           -                    

Total Operating Expenses 827,013 12,755 -18,139 821,629 41,910 863,539

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 395,500 14,977 -12,858 397,619 -422,369 -24,750

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

66

P
age 157



19. Pooled Budgets & Partnership Working

Provision of services to Carers (Integrated Budget)

Fastshire

The Council is involved with five partnerships between Adult Social Care and health agencies 
under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.  This allows health bodies and health-related council 
services to work together more effectively in the provision of services designed to meet the 
needs of users without concern for the boundaries of their organisations. Details of the schemes 
are as follows:
Provision of mental health services with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

(integrated budget) 

A partnership agreement with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group is in place to jointly 
commission mental health services.  In 2015/16 the Council's share of the gross expenditure of 
the partnership was £6.0m (£6.2m in 2014/15), gross income was nil (£0.09m in 2014/15) and 
the Council’s contribution was £6.0m (£6.1m in 2014/15).

Provision of social care occupational therapy (Integrated Budget)

Fastshire is a partnership between Herefordshire Council, Gloucestershire County Council and 
BT to build a future proof world class broadband network for the two counties.  The project is 
being funded by Herefordshire Council, Gloucestershire County Council,Broadband Delivery UK 
(BDUK), a government agency and BT.  

A partnership agreement with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group to commission 
occupational therapy services.  In 2015/16 the gross expenditure of the partnership was £3.9m 
(£3.9m in 2014/15), gross income was £0.0m (£0.0m in 2014/15) and the Council’s contribution 

was £3.0m (£3.0m in 2014/15). 

In 2015/16 the gross expenditure of the partnership was £7.1m (£6.3m in 2014/15), gross 
income was £1.0m (£1.1m in 2014/15) and the Council’s contribution was £2.4m (£1.6m in 

2014/15) 

With effect from 1st April 2011, Lead Commissioning responsibility for the Integrated Community 
Equipment Service (ICES) was transferred from Gloucestershire Health to the Council.  
Ownership of Funds to purchase NHS elements of the ICES was transferred to the Council.  
Expenditure continues to be subject to the requirement that these funds are spent in a way that 
reflects the financial contribution of each partner to the Pooled Fund for this individual service. 

A partnership agreement with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group to jointly 
commission Carers services came into place from 1st April 2013. In 2015/16 the gross 
expenditure of the partnership was £3.1m (£3.1m in 2014/15), gross income was nil (nil in 
2014/15) and the Council’s contribution was £2.0m (£2.0m in 2014/15).

The Council approved a commitment of £7.5 million to the project, which is reflected in the 
Council’s approved capital programme for 2014/15 and 2015/16.  This was match funding to 

enable the Authorities to drawn down the central government contribution via BDUK.

Provision of a community equipment service with Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group (Pooled Budget) 

Herefordshire Council acts as the lead authority for this project, and the Council provides 
additional revenue funding for the programme management and project team support. To date 
£9.674 million of expenditure relating to Gloucestershire has been incurred of which £8.070 
million has been funded from government grant, and £1.604 million funded from the Council's 
£7.5 milion contribution, which remains a part of the Council’s Economic Stimulus Reserve.  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

67

Page 158



Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership

The Better Care Fund

On 1st April 2013, the Council entered into an Inter-Authority Agreement with Cheltenham 
Borough Council, Cotswold District Council and Forest of Dean District Council to form the 
Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership for the purpose of joint waste management in the 
county.  Tewkesbury Borough Council joined the partnership on 15th December 2014.  This 
partnership reports to the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee, hosted by the Council, with 
equal representation from member authorities.   The Council acts as the accountable body for 
the partnership.  The gross expenditure in 2015/16 of the partnership was £524,000, with the 
council’s contribution to this being £237,000. 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) came into operation on 1 April 2015 for the 2015/16 financial year. 
To  administer the fund, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were required to establish joint 
arrangements with local authorities to operate a pooled budget for the joint delivery of more 
integrated health and social care.

In 2015/16 the total funding covered within the BCF was £39.9m, of which £14.2m was allocated 
to the Council as Lead Commissioner, The CCG was allocated £21.6m as Lead Commissioner.  
A further £4.1m was held within the Fund and was jointly commissioned by the Council and the 
CCG.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

68

Page 159



20. Officer's Remuneration

•  They report directly to the Chief Executive, or;

•  They are part of the Council's Senior Management Team, or;

•  They hold posts required by statute.

2014/15

Salary, Fees 

and 

Allowances

Compensation 

for loss of 

Office

Other 

Taxable 

Benefits

Employer's 

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

£ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive:   Mr P Bungard 161,235 -                          -                       16,768 178,003

Chief Operating Officer 133,562 -                          -                       20,836 154,398

120,243 -                          -                       25,591 145,834

Director: Strategic Finance 120,146 -                          -                       18,743 138,889

Commissioning Director: Adults 120,146 -                          -                       18,793 138,939

120,146 -                          -                       18,743 138,889

96,360 -                          -                       15,236 111,596

96,360 -                          -                       15,115 111,475

Director: People Services 96,360 -                          -                       15,032 111,392

96,360 -                          -                       15,032 111,392

93,438 -                          -                       14,590 108,028

Deputy Chief Executive (1) 80,137 -                          -                       -                         80,137

77,871 -                          -                       12,148            90,019

1,412,364 0 0 206,627 1,618,991

(1)

(2)

(3)

The Council is required to list all post holders who earn between £50,000 and £150,000 for all or part of a year 
and who also fit the following criteria:

The senior employees who received remuneration in excess of £50,000 for 2014/15 and 2015/16 are as follows:

Chief Fire Officer & Operations 
Director

Director: Strategy & Challenge & 
Monitoring Officer

Commissioning Director: Children 
& Families

Commissioning Director: 
Communities & Infrastructure

The Chief Operating Officer was seconded to NHS Gloucester Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) during 
2015/16. Salary costs for 2014/15 were therefore funded by NHS Gloucestershire CCG.

The Deputy Chief Executive works 22.2 hours per week.  The whole time equivalent salary for 2014/15 is 
£133,562.

The additional posts reported in 2014/15 were in place in 2013/14 and became part of the Senior 
Management team in 2014/15 and hence meet the reporting criteria.

Operations Director:  Childrens 
Safeguarding & Care

Operations Lead:  Adult Social 
Care & Business Development

Operations Director:  Education, 
Learning & Libraries

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

69

Page 160



2015/16

Salary, Fees 

and 

Allowances

Compensation 

for loss of Office

Other 

Taxable 

Benefits

Employer's 

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

£ £ £ £ £

142,424 -                             -                   196,281 338,705

135,099 113,985 -                   20,836 269,920

Director: Strategic Finance 120,146 -                             -                   18,743 138,889

120,146 -                             -                   18,743 138,889

120,146 -                             -                   18,793 138,939

120,146 -                             -                   26,072 146,218

101,487 -                             -                   15,832 117,319

97,799 -                             -                   15,257 113,056

97,799 -                             -                   15,257 113,056

97,799 -                             -                   15,257 113,056

97,799  85,340 121,221 304,360

90,855 -                             - 12,992 103,847

90,499           -                             -                   14,118 104,617

42,352 -                             208 6,353 48,913

13,356 36,117 -                   -                         49,473

1,487,852 235,442 208 515,755 2,239,257

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Operations Director:  Childrens 
Safeguarding & Care

Director of Public Health (4)

Commissioning Director (5)

Director: People Services (3)

Chief Executive Mr P Bungard (1)

Commissioning Director: Children & 
Families

Operations Director:  Education, 
Learning & Libraries

Commissioning Director: 
Communities & Infrastructure

Chief Operating Officer (2)

Commissioning Director: Adults 

The Deputy Chief Executive was made redundant on 31st May 2015. The whole time equivalent salary for 2015/16 
is £133,562.

The post of Director of Public Health was filled on an interim basis from 1 April 2015 to 12 October 2015, on which 
date a permanent appointment was made. The whole time salary for the permanent appointee in 2015/16 is 
£91,541.

Chief Fire Officer & Operations 
Director

Director: Strategy & Challenge & 
Monitoring Officer

The Commissioning Director is an employee of Gloucester City Council and Gloucestershire County Council is 
liable for half of the costs associated with this role. The figure disclosed above therefore represents the 
Gloucestershire County Council share of the costs associated with this role 

The post of Director of People Services was made redundant on 31 March 2016.

The Chief Operating Officer was seconded to NHS Gloucester Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) during 
2015/16. Salary costs for 2015/16 were therefore funded by NHS Gloucestershire CCG.

Operations Lead:  Adult Social Care 
& Business Development

Deputy Chief Executive (6)

The Chief Executive works 29.6 hours per week, effective 1 September 2015. The whole time equivalent salary for 
2015/16 is £162,847. The Chief Executive's pension contribution figure includes pension strain costs (a payment to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund) of £175,445 as a result of flexible retirement.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

70

Page 161



Remuneration band

Schools Non-Schools Schools Non-Schools

£50,000 - £54,999 54 48 59 43

£55,000 - £59,999 28 17 37 23

£60,000 - £64,999 22 16 21 5

£65,000 - £69,999 8 6 6 16

£70,000 - £74,999 1 5 2 4

£75,000 - £79,999 5 3 6 2

£80,000 - £84,999 2 2 1 -

£85,000 - £89,999 -                4 1 2

£90,000 - £94,999 -                1 - 3

£95,000 - £99,999 -                6 - 5

£100,000 - £104,999 -                1 - 1

£105,000 - £109,999 -                -                      - -

£110,000 - £114,999 -                -                      - -

£115,000 - £119,999 -                -                      - -

£120,000 - £124,999 -                4 - 4

£125,000 - £129,999 -                -                      - -

£130,000 - £134,999 -                1 - -

£135,000 - £139,999 -                -                      - -

£140,000 - £144,999 -                -                      - 1

£145,000 - £149,999 -                -                      - -

£150,000 - £154,999 -                -                      - -

£155,000 - £159,999 -                -                      - -

£160,000 - £164,999 -                1 - -

£165,000 - £169,999 -                -                      - -

£170,000 - £174,999 -                -                      - -

£175,000 - £179,999 -                -                      - -

£180,000 - £184,999 -                -                      - 1

£185,000 - £189,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£190,000 - £194,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£195,000 - £199,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£200,000 - £204,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£205,000 - £209,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£210,000 - £214,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£215,000 - £219,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£220,000 - £224,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£225,000 - £229,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£230,000 - £234,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£235,000 - £239,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£240,000 - £244,999 -                -                      -                -                        
£245,000 - £249,999 -                -                      -                1

Total 120 115 133 111

The numbers within the bandings include the total remuneration (excluding employer’s 

pension contributions) of the senior officers disclosed individually in the previous tables.

Salaries for teachers in Academy, Foundation and Voluntary Aided schools have not been 
included.

Under regulations, the Council is required to show the number of employees whose 
remuneration exceeded £50,000 (excluding employer's pension contributions) and this is 
shown in the table below.  

The table reflects the total remuneration, including compensation for loss of office 
(redundancy), received by employees as at 31st March 2016, not just an employee's gross 
salary. 

Total Number of Employees

2014/15 2015/16

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

71

Page 162



2014/15

Exit package cost band 

(including special payments)

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 

departures agreed

Total number of exit 

packages by cost 

band

Total cost of exit 

packages in each 

band£

£0 - £20,000 13 5 18 229,611

£20,001 - £40,000 5 5 10 375,684

£40,001 - £60,000 3 3 6 284,134

£60,001 - £80,000 1 -                                      1 74,365

£80,001 - £100,000  1 -                                      1 80,437

£100,001 - £150,000 -                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      

£150,001 - £200,000 -                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      

Accruals/Provision  173,599

Total 23 13 36 1,217,830

2015/16

Exit package cost band 

(including special payments)

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 

departures agreed

Total number of exit 

packages by cost 

band

Total cost of exit 

packages in each 

band
£

£0 - £20,000 16 29 45 338,606

£20,001 - £40,000 2 8 10 307,195

£40,001 - £60,000 3 6 9 411,742

£60,001 - £80,000 1 1 2 125,304

£80,001 - £100,000 -                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      

£100,001 - £150,000 -                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      

£150,001 - £200,000 -                                      1 1 175,445

Accruals/Provision 549,247

Total 22 45 67 1,907,539

The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the 
tables below: 

The total cost of £1,907,539 in the table above includes £549,247 for exit packages that have been agreed, accrued for and 
charged to the Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the current year. 

These costs are not included in the bands and therefore an additional line has been added to reconcile to the total cost of 
termination benefits reported in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

72

Page 163



21. Members' Allowances

Allowances and expenses paid to Members of the Council - Gloucestershire County Council

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Basic Allowances 475 482
Special Responsibility Allowances 261 269
Travel & Subsistence Allowances 32 31
Total 768 782

22. External Audit Costs 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by 
the appointed auditor for the year

131 98

3 4
-                  14             

Total 134 116

23. Deployment of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2015/16 are as follows:
Central 

Expenditure

Individual 

Schools 

Budget

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Final DSG for 2015/16 before academy recoupment 407,927

Academy figure recouped for 2015/16 -164,718

Total DSG after academy recoupment for 2015/16 243,209

Plus: Brought forward from 2014/15 7,723

Less: Carry forward to 2015/16 agreed in advance -               
Agreed initial budgeted distribution in 2015/16 74,496            176,436       250,932    

In Year Adjustments 315                 -                  315           

Final budget distribution for 2015/16 74,811            176,436       251,247    

Less: Actual central expenditure 67,271            67,271      -               
Less: Actual ISB deployed to schools -                      176,436       176,436    
Plus: Local Authority contribution for 2015/16 -                      -                  -               

Carry Forward to 2016/17 7,540              -                  7,540        

The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the Department for 

Education via the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is ringfenced and can only be applied to meet 
expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as defined in the School Finance (England) Regulations. 
The Schools Budget includes elements for a range of educational services provided on an authority-wide basis 
and for the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), which is divided into a budget share for each maintained school. 

The Council has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, certification 
of grant claims and to non-audit services provided by the Council’s external auditors: 

Fees payable for the certification of grant claims and returns for the year
Fees payable in respect of other services provided during the year

The Council is required to report the total allowances paid during the year to members of the County Council.  
Full details of the allowances paid to each individual councillor are published on the Council's website:  
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk and can be found through the following link:-

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

73

Page 164

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/expenses


24. Grant Income 

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Revenue Support Grant -85,983 -67,456
National Non Domestic Rates Grant -65,399 -69,449
Non Service Related Grants -26,017 -25,780
Fire Pensions Top Up Grant -2,469 -3,268
Total -179,868 -165,953

Revenue Grants Credited to Services 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Department for Work & Pensions - Workstep Grant -1 -                 
Department for Children's Schools & Families Grants -20,450 -22,539
Department for Education Grants -236,618 -243,525
Department of Health Grants -22,701 -24,134
Community & Local Government Grants -4,717 -8,936
Youth Justice Board Grant -724 -598
Young Peoples Learning Agency Grants -2,102 -2,084
Other Grants -8,617 -9,088
Skills Funding Agency -4,017 -2,607
Total -299,947 -313,511

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Capital Grants and Contributions credited to Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Account

-43,193 -47,500

Capital Grants Receipts in Advance 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Department for Transport Grants -89 -6,658
Non Government Contributions for Capital purposes -6,434 -9,346
Highways Section 106 Contributions -11,490 -11,568
Accountable body -2,841 -9,446
Total -20,854 -37,018

The Council has received a number of grants, contributions and donations that have yet to be 
recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them that may require the monies or 
property to be returned to the giver. The balances at the year-end are as follows:

The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement in 2015/16.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

74

Page 165



25. Related Parties

Central Government 

Members 

Other Public Bodies (subject to common control by Central Government)

In 2015/16 payments of £16.1m (£16.8m in 2014/15) were made to the Order of St John Care Trust in relation 
to this contract. £1.3m was outstanding at the year end (2014/15 £1.3m).

On 1st April 2013, the Council entered into an Inter-Authority Agreement with Cheltenham Borough Council, 
Cotswold District Council and Forest of Dean District Council to form the Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Partnership for the purpose of joint waste management in the county.  Tewkesbury Borough Council joined 
the partnership on 15th December 2014.  This partnership reports to the Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Committee, hosted by the Council, with equal representation from member authorities.   The Council acts as 
the accountable body for the partnership.  The gross expenditure in 2015/16 of the partnership was £524,000 
(£492,000 in 2014/15), with the council’s contribution to this being £237,000 (£237,000 in 2014/15). 

The Council is entitled to appoint one independent trustee to the Board of GCP and under the Articles of 
Association the Council must always have less than 20% of the voting rights.  At present this position is 
vacant.

There is a contractual arrangement between the Council and the Brandon Trust for the provision of Learning 
Disabilities Services. In 2015/16 payments of £6.9m (£7.4m in 2014/15) were made to the Brandon Trust, 
with a further £0.2m collected as client contributions (£0.3m in 2014/15).

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, that is bodies or individuals that 
have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or influenced by the Council. 
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Council might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s 

ability to bargain freely with the Council. 

Central Government has effective control over the general operations of the Council – it is responsible for 

providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, provides the majority of its funding in the 
form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has with other parties.  
Grants received from Government departments are set out in the subjective analysis in Note 18 on reporting 
for resources allocation decisions. Grant receipts outstanding at 31st March 2016 are shown in Note 24.

Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies. The total of 

members’ allowances paid in 2015/16 is shown in Note 21.  Details of all member interests are recorded in 

the Register of Members’ Interest, open to public inspection at Shire Hall during office hours or on the Council 

website. 

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme is a related party of Gloucestershire County Council 
due to the Council being the administering body of the scheme and by virtue of the Pension Committee 
including 6 Council Members out of the 8 Committee members.  The Committee is supported by Council staff 
who may be subject to influence from Council Members.  From the 2010/11 financial year the Pension Fund's 
"in-house" surplus cash balances have been held in the Pensions Fund's own bank account and in an instant 
access call account. The Council administers the Pension Fund's named accounts within its Treasury 
Management department.  A total average balance of £6.8m (£4.4m in 2014/15) was held in the Pension 
Fund accounts for 2015/16 gaining interest of £0.032m. (£0.020m in 2014/15). The Council charged £1.55m 
(£1.41m in 2014/15) for administering the Pension Fund.

It should be noted that 2015/16 was the final financial year for this specific contractual arrangement, with the 
contract ending on 31st March 2016.

Current provision under the arrangement is managed under a commercial contract. Future development of 
care facilities is managed by an Estates Committee, comprising an equal number of representatives from 
each party.

In accordance with specific grant conditions, the Council confirms that it received a Big Lottery Fund and ESF 
Building Better Opportunities Grant totalling £49,850 in 2015-16. Total expenditure incurred against this grant 
totalled £10,675. The balance of £39,175 is included within the revenue grants receipts in advance section on 
the balance sheet. It is anticipated that these funds will be fully expended during 2016-17. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

75

Page 166



26. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing

2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 353,760 326,330

Property, Plant and Equipment 49,034 62,101
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 9,486 7,858
Total to Finance 58,520 69,959

Sources of finance 

Capital Receipts -8,098 -1,231
Capital Fund & other Earmarked Reserves -572 -6,568
Government Grants and other Contributions -44,775 -55,172
Direct Revenue Contributions -5,075 -6,988

-58,520 -69,959

MRP -13,605 -8,737
Capital Receipts applied against debt -                      -                  
VRP -13,825 -                  
Total revenue provision -27,430 -8,737

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 326,330 317,593

Explanation of movements in year 

Increase/decrease (-) in underlying need to borrowing -27,430 -8,737
Assets acquired under PFI/PPP contracts -                         -                     
Increase/Decrease (-) in Capital Financing Requirement -27,430 -8,737

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value of 
assets acquired under finance leases and PFI/PPP contracts), together with the resources that have been 
used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets 
are used by the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a 
measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Council that has yet to be financed. The CFR is 
analysed in the second part of this note.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

76

Page 167



Capital Expenditure 2015/16

£'000 %

Adults 746 1.1

Children & Families 27,641 39.2

Communities & Infrastructure

Infrastructure 30,765 43.7
Business Support Property 1,628 2.3
Business Support ICT 5,850 8.3
Libraries & Archives 291 0.4
Safety 662 0.9

Capital Receipts Expenditure 180 0.3
Rural Broadband Joint Working 2,682 3.8

70,445 100

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

77

Page 168



27. Leases 

The Council accounts for leases in accordance with its Statement of Accounting Policies 

Council as Lessee 

Finance Leases

Operating Leases 

Within 1 year After 1 year but After more 

less than 5 years than 5 years

£'000 £'000 £'000

2014/15

Property 725 2,186 2,085
Vehicles 380 706 1

1,105 2,892 2,086

2015/16

Property 340 652 619
Vehicles 291 441 -                     

631 1,093 619

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Property 734 359
Vehicles 469 411

1,203 770

Other than those schemes undertaken through the Private Finance Initiative as reported in Note 28, there were 
no further finance leases identified by the Council during 2015/16.

The Council has entered into operating leases to acquire the use of both property and vehicles.  The future 
commitments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

Expiry date of lease 

The expenditure charged to Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the 
year in relation to the minimum payments for these leases was:

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

78

Page 169



Council as Lessor 

Finance Leases (IAS 17)

There were no finance leases identified to be included on the balance sheet.

Operating Leases 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

Within 1 year After 1 year but After more 

less than 5 years than 5 years

£'000 £'000 £'000

2014/15

Property 1,885 6,988 7,365
Total 1,885 6,988 7,365

2015/16

Property 2,096 6,553 8,725
Total 2,096 6,553 8,725

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Property 1,945 2,275
1,945 2,275

Expiry date of lease 

The income relating to the minimum lease payments credited to Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement during the year was:

The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after 
the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.

The Council leases out property under operating leases for purposes that include the provision of community 
services, care homes for older people and county farms for new starters in agriculture. 

The Council has looked at all leases (including those that terminated at 31st March 2016) where it is the lessor 
(landlord), to establish the correct classification under IFRS.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

79

Page 170



28. Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts

Fire Service Joint Training Centre PFI Scheme 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Payments 

2014/15

Payment 

for 

Services

Reimbursement 

of Capital 

Expenditure

Interest Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

670 Paid in 2015/16 412 141 134 687

Outstanding undischarged contract 

obligations:

687 Payable within one year 422 153 128 703
2,921 Payable within two to five years  1,796 754 443 2,994
4,077 Payable within six to ten years  2,507 1,328 344 4,178
2,697 Payable within eleven to fifteen years  * 1,092 681 47 1,820

10,382 Total 5,817 2,916 962 9,695

* There are twelve years remaining. 

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance outstanding at start of year 1,532 1,510
Payments during the year -22 -66
Balance outstanding at year-end 1,510 1,444

The asset value held as at the 31st March each year were:

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Opening Net Book Value 1,514 1,096
Depreciation -91 -94
Additions 46 5
Revaluations -373 0
Balance 1,096 1,007

2015/16 was the thirteenth year of a twenty-five year PFI contract for the design, build, financing and operation 
of a Joint Training facility in Avonmouth.  The scheme is a joint PFI venture with Avon Fire Authority and Devon 
& Somerset Fire Authority whereby a significant proportion of the training required by the three services is 
provided at this facility.  

The Council's share of the assets used to provide services at the Joint Training Centre are recognised on the 
Council’s Balance Sheet. Movements in their value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement 

on the Property, Plant and Equipment balance in Note 3.

The Council makes an agreed payment each year which is increased annually by inflation and can be reduced 
if the contractor fails to meet availability and performance standards in any year but which is otherwise fixed.  
Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract at 31st March 2016 (excluding any estimation of 
inflation and availability/performance deductions) are as follows:

Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have been calculated 
to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services they provide, the capital expenditure incurred 
and interest payable whilst the capital expenditure remains to be reimbursed. The liability outstanding to pay 
the liability to the contractor for capital expenditure incurred is as follows:

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

80

Page 171



Fire Service Stations PFI Scheme

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Payments 

2014/15

Payment 

for 

Services

Reimbursement 

of Capital 

Expenditure

Interest Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3,290 Paid in 2015/16 944 656 1,772 3,372

Outstanding undischarged contract 

obligations:

3,372 Payable within one year 968 758 1,730 3,456
14,352 Payable within two to five years  4,119 4,129 6,463 14,711
20,053 Payable within six to ten years  5,755 7,932 6,868 20,555
22,689 Payable within eleven to fifteen years  6,512 11,492 5,252 23,256
25,670 Payable within sixteen to twenty years 7,367 15,864 3,080 26,312
12,640 Payable within twenty-one to twenty-five 

years 1,992 4,852 271 7,115
98,776 Total 26,713 45,027 23,664 95,405

The Council makes an agreed payment each year which is increased annually by inflation and can be reduced 
if the contractor fails to meet availability and performance standards in any year but which is otherwise fixed.  
Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract at 31st March 2016 (including an estimation of inflation 
and excluding estimations of availability/performance deductions) are as follows:

The building of four new Community Fire Stations, as well as a Life Skills Centre (SkillZONE) in 
Gloucestershire took place during 2011/12 and 2012/13.  The PFI scheme runs for twenty-five and a quarter 
years to June 2037 and the fire stations become the property of the Fire & Rescue Service at the end of the 
contract agreement. Each station includes community facilities that can be hired by local groups and 
organisations.  The SkillZONE centre in Gloucester will be an educational facility aimed at teaching key safety 
messages to different parts of the community.

The Council's assets used to provide services at the Fire Stations and Life Skills Centre are recognised on the 
Council’s Balance Sheet. Movements in their value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement 

on the Property, Plant and Equipment balance in Note 3.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

81

Page 172



2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Balance outstanding at start of year 20,411 19,970
Payments during the year -441 -471
Balance outstanding at year-end 19,970 19,499

The asset value held as at the 31st March each year were:

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Opening Net Book Value 21,397 22,479
Depreciation -1,010 -1,010
Additions 2 12
Revaluation 2,090 0
Closing Balance 22,479 21,481

Arrangements that contain a lease

Service Concessions

£m
2015/16 8.9
2016/17 16.1
2017/18 0.0
2018/19 13.0

A service concession arrangement involves the grantor conveying to the operator for the period of the 
concession the right to provide services that give the public access to major economic and social facilities. 
They are arrangements whereby a public body grants contracts for the supply of public services, such as 
roads, to private operators. In practice, service concessions typically last for twenty five to thirty years or more 
and have complicated fact patterns. 

In September 2012 a contract for the treatment of residual waste was awarded to Urbaser Balfour Beatty 
(UBB) to design, build, finance and operate an energy from waste (EfW) facility on behalf of the Council 
located at Javelin Park, near Gloucester.  Following planning delays, the contract finally received permission in 
July 2015, and in January 2016 the existing contract with UBB was revised to take account of an updated 
project plan. 
The facility will take approximately three years to build and it is forecast to become operational in 2019 when it 
will be recognised on the Council's Balance Sheet. The contract period is for 25 years starting from the 
operational date in 2019 with the option to extend by 5 years.
The contract includes an obligation to the Council to make contributions totalling £38m in the four years before 
the asset becomes operational, which will reduce the revenue fee paid over the life of the contract as shown 
below:

These contributions will be treated as prepayments until the asset is brought onto the balance sheet in 
2019/20.  The funding for the above contributions will build up on the Strategic Waste Reserve until 2019/20 
when they will be netted off from the liability of the asset. 

Under the contract the authority is required to ensure that all waste for disposal from  the district councils within 
Gloucestershire is delivered to the contractor, who will take on the responsibility for recycling or recovering 
energy from the waste stream. 

Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have been calculated 
to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services they provide, the capital expenditure incurred 
and interest payable whilst the capital expenditure remains to be reimbursed. The liability outstanding to pay 
the liability to the contractor for capital expenditure incurred is as follows:

The Council have examined arrangements that could contain a lease.  This is where "a transaction does not 
take the legal form of a lease but conveys the right to use an asset in return for payment".  None were 
identified.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

82

Page 173



29. Impairment Losses - Capital

30. Termination Benefits

31. Pensions Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes

In 2015/16, the Council paid £101k (£105k in 2014/15) to the NHS in respect of public health retirement 
benefits, representing 14.3% (14.0% in 2014/15) of pensionable pay.

Under the new arrangements for Public Health, staff performing public health functions who were compulsorily 
transferred from the PCTs to local authorities and who had access to the NHS Pension Scheme on 31 March 
2013 retained access to that Scheme on transfer at 1 April 2013

The NHS pension scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme and it is a multi-employer defined benefit 
scheme. In the NHS, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The Council is 
not able to identify its share of underlying financial position and performance of the Scheme with sufficient 
reliability for accounting purposes. For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is therefore accounted for 
on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 

The Council terminated the contracts of a number of employees in 2015/16, incurring liabilities of £1.9m 
(£1.2m in 2014/15).  Note 20 provides details of the number of exit packages and total cost per band.

Adjustment for impairment has not been considered necessary in respect of decline in value due to 
obsolescence or physical damage, nor due to a commitment by the council to undertake a significant 
reorganisation nor due to a significant adverse change in the statutory or other regulatory environment in which 
the Council operates.

Teachers employed by the Council are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita 

Teachers' Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education. The Scheme provides teachers with specified 
benefits upon their retirement, and the Council contributes towards the costs by making contributions based on 
a percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. 

The Scheme is a multi employer defined benefit scheme. The Scheme is unfunded and the Department for 
Education uses a notional fund as the basis for calculating the employers’ contribution rate paid by local 

authorities. The Council is not able to identify its share of underlying financial position and performance of the 
Scheme with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is 
therefore accounted for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 

In 2015/16, the Council paid £13.8m to the Teachers’ Pensions Agency (TPA) in respect of teachers’ 

retirement benefits, representing five months at 14.1%, and seven months at 16.48% of pensionable pay. The 
figures for 2014/15 were £12.4m and 14.1%.  There were no contributions remaining payable at year-end.

The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early retirement outside of the 
terms of the teachers’ scheme. These costs are accounted for on a defined benefit basis, and fully accrued in 

the pensions liability.  Detail can be found in Note 32. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

83

Page 174



32. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Participation in Pension Schemes 

The Council participates in several post employment schemes: 

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

The council recognise the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by 
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge the council is 
required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post 
employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the 
General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year: 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Council makes contributions towards the 
cost of post employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the Council has a commitment to make the payments that needs to be disclosed at the time that employees 
earn their future entitlement. 

•  The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered locally by Gloucestershire County Council – this is a 

funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 

•  Arrangements for the award of discretionary post retirement benefits upon early retirement – this is an 

unfunded defined benefit arrangement, under which liabilities are recognised when awards are made. However, 
there are no investment assets built up to meet these pensions liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet 
actual pensions payments as they eventually fall due. 

The Gloucestershire pension scheme is operated under the regulatory framework for the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and the governance of the scheme is the responsibility of the pensions committee. Policy is 
determined in accordance with the Pensions Fund Regulations. The investment managers of the fund are 
appointed by the pensions committee.

The principal risks to the authority of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the 
scheme, structural changes to the scheme (ie large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation, 
bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a 
certain extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund the amounts required by statute as 
described in the accounting policies note.

• The Council also participates in the unfunded  Firefighters Pension Scheme and these are disclosed 

seperately within these accounts.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

84

Page 175



Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement 

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost of Services:
Service Cost Comprising: 

Current service cost 27,101 35,847 5,100 5,100

Past service costs 235 153 -                      -                        
Losses / Gains (-) on settlements -6,293 -475 -                      -                        

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

Net interest on the defined pension liability 18,513 16,670 8,100 7,100

Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to 

the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services 

39,556 52,195 13,200 12,200

Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement 

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 
comprising:

Return on plan assets (excluding the amount 
charged in the net interest expense)

-78,324 -26,660 -                      

Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes 
in demographic assumptions

-                      -                      600

Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes 
in financial assumptions

166,039 117,777 26,600 20,800

Other experience -9,847 20,541 -100 8,600

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement 

77,868 111,658 26,500 30,000

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

Unfunded - Firefighters' 

Pension Scheme

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

Unfunded - Firefighters' 

Pension Scheme

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

85

Page 176



2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Movement in Reserves Statement  

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 
Deficit  for the Provision of Services for post 
employment benefits in accordance with the 
Code  

-1,984 -11,090 -9,100 -6,600

-1,984 -11,090 -9,100 -6,600

Actual amount charged against the General 

Fund Balance for pensions in the year:  

Employers’ contributions payable for unfunded 

teachers scheme & LGPS benefits 
(discretionary)

33,017 36,526 4,100 5,500

Employers’ contributions payable to scheme for 

unfunded LGPS benefits (Discretionary)
4,555 4,579 -                     -                    

Total employers contributions 37,572 41,105 4,100 5,500

7,100

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 1,387,230 1,291,947 223,700 200,300

Fair value of plan assets -863,577 -868,862 -                   -                  

Other movements in the liability (asset) -                     -                         -                     -                    

Net liability arising from defined benefit 

obligation 523,653 423,085 223,700 200,300

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

Unfunded - Firefighters' 

Pension Scheme

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority's obligation in respect of its defined 
benefit plans is as follows:

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

Unfunded - Firefighters' 

Pension Scheme

Firefighters pension and lump sum benefit payments

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

86

Page 177



Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets:

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening fair value of scheme assets 759,907 863,577 -                     -                    
Interest Income 32,329 27,702 -                     -                    
Remeasurement Gain / Loss (-):

The return on plan assets, excluding the 
amount included in the net interest expense 78,324 -26,660

-                     -                    

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
-                     -                     -                    

Contributions from employer 37,572 41,105 4,300 5,600

Contributions from employees into the scheme 7,132 7,483 1,200 1,500

Benefits paid -39,860 -39,631 -5,500 -7,100

Benefits paid for unfunded LGPS benefits 
(Discretionary) -4,555 -4,579 -                     -                    

Assets distributed on settlement
-7,272 -135

-                     -                    

Closing fair value of scheme assets 863,577 868,862 0 0

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening balance at 1st April -1,203,708 -1,387,230 -188,300 -223,700

Current service cost -27,101 -35,847 -5,100 -5,100

Interest cost -50,842 -44,372 -8,100 -7,100

Contributions from scheme participants -7,132 -7,483 -1,200 -1,500

Remeasurement Losses / Gains (-):
Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions

-                     -                         -                     600

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions -166,039 117,777 -26,600 20,800

Other experience 9,847 20,541 100 8,600

Past service costs (Including curtailments) -235 -153 -                     -                    
Liabilities assumed on entity combinations -                     -                         -                     -                    
Benefits paid 39,860 39,631 5,500 7,100

Benefits paid for unfunded teachers scheme & 
LGPS benefits (Discretionary) 4,555 4,579

-                     -                    

Liabilities extinguished on settlements, where 
relevant 13,565 610

-                     -                    

Closing balance at 31
st

 March -1,387,230 -1,291,947 -223,700 -200,300

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation):

Funded liabilities:               

Local Government Pension 

Scheme 

Unfunded liabilities:   

Firefighters' Pension 

Scheme

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

Unfunded - Firefighters' 

Pension Scheme

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

87

Page 178



Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

 Quoted 
prices in 
active 

markets 

Quoted 
prices not in 

active 
markets

TOTAL

 Quoted 

prices in 

active 

markets 

 Quoted 

prices not in 

active 

markets 

TOTAL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash and cash equivalents 13,062      -            13,062    9,533             -               9,533              

Equity Instruments:

By Industry Type (a)
Consumer 46,342      -            46,342    53,475           -               53,475            

Manufacturing 20,603      -            20,603    26,190           -               26,190            

Energy and utlilites 21,903      -            21,903    15,753           -               15,753            

Financial institutions 40,997      -            40,997    41,992           -               41,992            

Health and care 8,213        -            8,213      6,821             -               6,821              

Information Technology -            -            -          4,706             -               4,706              

Other 20,703      20,703    18,028           -               18,028            

Sub-total equity (a) 158,761    -            158,761  166,965         -               166,965          

Bonds by Sector:
Corporate (investment grade) 43,842      -            43,842    44,793           -               44,793            

3,303        -            3,303      3,374             -               3,374              

UK Government 81,291      -            81,291    79,394           -               79,394            

Other 14,143      14,143    11,961           -               11,961            

Sub-total bonds 142,579    -            142,579  139,522         -               139,522          

Real Estate:
UK Property 42,828      14,824       57,652    47,391           17,071         64,462            

Overseas Property -            4,442         4,442      -                4,453           4,453              

Sub-total real estate 42,828      19,266       62,094    47,391           21,524         68,915            

Private equity:
All -            2,577         2,577      -                2,551           2,551              

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts:
Equities 28,516      376,791     405,307  29,019           371,502       400,521          

Bonds 37,438      2,292         39,730    38,023           2,231           40,254            

Other -            39,520       39,520    40,680         40,680            

65,954      418,603     484,557  67,042           414,413       481,455          

Derivatives:
-            -            -          -                -               -                  

Other -53 -            -53 -78 -               -78

Sub-total derivatives -53 -            -53 -78 -               -78

TOTAL ASSETS 423,131    440,446     863,577  430,375         438,488       868,863          

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Equity Instruments by Company size:-:
FTSE 100 113,451       110,815

FTSE 250 40,341         53,128

Pooled UK Smaller Companies 4,969           3,022

Sub-total equity instruments 158,761       166,965          

2014/15 2015/16

Fair Value of Scheme 

Sub-total investments funds and 
Unit Trusts

Corporate (non-investment 
grade)

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

88

Page 179



Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

Mortality assumptions: 
Longevity (yrs) at 65 (60 for Fire) for current pensioners: 

Men 22.5 22.5 29.4 29.7
Women 24.6 24.6 31.6 31.6

Longevity (yrs) at 65 (60 for Fire) for future pensioners: 

Men 24.4 24.4 31.0 31.2

Women 27.0 27.0 33.1 33.2

Rate of Inflation 3.3% 3.3% 3.2%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.8% 3.7% 3.4% 3.2%

Rate of increase in pensions ** 2.4% 2.2% 2.4% 2.2%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities  # 3.2% 3.5% 3.2% 3.5%

Unfunded liabilities:   

Firefighters' Pension 

Schemes

# Under IAS19 requirements the long-term expected rate of return on all asset types is the discount 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.  
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes 
while all other assumptions remain constant.  The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life 
expectancy increases or decreases for men and women.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some 
of the assumptions may be interrelated.  The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting 
policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method.  The methods and types of 
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity anaysis below did not change from those used in the previous period.

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the 
pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc. 
Both the Local Government Pension Scheme and Firefighters' Pension Schemes liabilities have been assessed by 
Hymans Robertson, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the County Council Fund being based on the 
latest full valuation of the scheme as at 1st April 2013. The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 

Local Government Pension 

Scheme

(Figures assume members aged 45 as at 31.03.13 for 
the LGPS and as at 31.03.14 for Fire)

** Pension increases are assumed to be 1.0% p.a. less than market derived RPI.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

89

Page 180



Change in assumptions at 31 March 2016
Approximat
e Increase

Approximate 
monetary 
amount

% £'000

Local Government Pension Scheme  - Increase to Employer Liability

0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 10% 123,774          
1 year increase in member life expectancy 3% 38,758            
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 2% 31,190            
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 7% 91,217            

Fire Fighters Pension Scheme  - Increase to Employer Liability

0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate 9% 17,500            
1 year increase in member life expectancy 3% 5,900              
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 1% 1,800              
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 8% 15,600            

Fire Fighters Pension Scheme  - Increase to Projected Current Service Cost

0.1% decrease in real Discount Rate 9% 410                 
1 year increase in member life expectancy 2% 90                   
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 0% 20                   
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 8% 390                 

Impact on the Authority's Cash Flows

Duration Duration

2014/15 2015/16

LGPS Duration as at previous formal valuation - 31.03.13 17.6 17.6

Fire Duration effective as at previous formal valuation - 31.03.12 18.9 18.9

Fire - Injury Duration effective as at previous formal valuation - 31.03.12 21.8 21.8

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers' contributions at as a constant a rate as possible.  The County 
Council has agreed a strategy with the scheme's actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% over the next 20 
years.  Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.  The next triennial valuation is due to be commenced on 
31 March 2016.  The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 provided for scheme regulations to be made within a 
common framework to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other 
benefits to certain public servants in relation to service after 31st March 2014 for the Local Government Pension 
Scheme or service after 31st March 2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England and 
Wales.

The Council anticipates to pay £36.3m expected contributions to the LGPS scheme and £1.6m for the Fire scheme 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members:

Sensitivity Analysis

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

90

Page 181



33. Contingent Liabilities

34. Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments

•  Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes in such

 measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed by way of a note when there is a possible obligation which may require a payment 
or a transfer of economic benefits.

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

•  Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council.

•  Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its commitments

 to make payments.

Work by the Council has identified a contingent liability in respect of Pyke Quarry and Oak Quarry, restored landfill 
sites, and Fosse Cross, a closed landfill site.  At the Pyke and Oak Quarry sites there are Household Recycling 
Centres. Should the Council vacate the sites they would have to be restored.  At Fosse Cross the Council has a 
budget for maintenance of the site, and if this site were to be vacated restoration costs would be incurred. The work for 
restoration of the three sites is estimated to be £1.0m.

As part of the EFW service concession a contingent liability is likely to arise in 2019 for GCC to enter in to a 25 year 
contract with UBB for them to operate an energy from waste (EfW) facility on behalf of the Council located at Javelin 
Park.  The liability will be triggered when UBB hand over the plant to GCC which has met the specifications within the 
contract.  

The actual fee paid per tonne will depend on the actual tonnage processed in each of the 25 years and will be offset by 
third party income and electricity generation.  The contract is expected to be in the region of £500m over the 25 year 
period.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

91

Page 182



Credit Risk

Amount at 

31
st

 March 

2016

Historical 

experience of 

default

Historical 

experience 

adjusted for 

market 

conditions at 

31
st

 March 

2016

Estimated 

maximum 

exposure to 

default and 

uncollectability 

£'000 % % £'000

Deposits with Banks & 
Financial Institutions

273,543 -                          -                         -                                

Customers  14,998 -                          -                         2257
288,541 -                          -                         2,257

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Council’s 

customers.  This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not made 
with financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria, as laid down by Fitch, Moody’s and 

Standard & Poors Ratings Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be invested 
with a financial institution located within each category.

The Council has adopted CIPFA's Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and has set treasury 
management indicators to control key financial instruments risk in accordance with CIPFA's Prudential Code.

The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building societies cannot be 

assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be 
specific to each individual institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet 
their commitments. A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the Council’s deposits, but there was no evidence at the 

31st March 2016 that this was likely to crystallise.

The following analysis summarises the Council’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk on other financial assets, 

based on experience of default and uncollectability over the last five financial years, adjusted to reflect current market 
conditions.

The Council's day to day cash flow results in surplus funds being available for investment.  These are made in 
accordance with the Council's Treasury Management Strategy which has been developed in accordance with the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance.  The principle aims are security, liquidity and yield.

Deposits are made with other local authorities, banks, building societies and other financial institutions.  The banks and 
financial institutions must satisfy a minimum credit rating and the Council sets limits on the amounts that can be 
invested in both an individual institution and also with a type of institution in total.

The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is carried out by a 
central treasury team, under policies approved by the Council in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy. The Council provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 
covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

92

Page 183



2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Less than a month 4,539                      7,580                 
One to three months 2,057                      2,245                 
Three to six months 1,026                      1,774                 
More than six months 2,924                      3,399                 

10,546 14,998

Liquidity Risk

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Less than one year 62,725 49,150
Between one and two years 4,863 8,336
Between two and five years 24,062 23,690
Between five and ten years 44,509 36,545
Between ten and twenty years 44,000 44,000
Between twenty and thirty years 47,849 47,849
Between thirty and forty years 77,379 77,379
Between forty and fifty years 15,000 15,000

Finance Lease Liability 21,481 20,943

341,868 322,892

All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and the Council does not expect any losses from non-
performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits. 

Generally the recovery process commences when an invoice is 28 days overdue.  The following provides an aged-debt 
analysis of our outstanding debtor invoices.

The Council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as 
needed. If unexpected movements happen, the Council has ready access to borrowings from the money markets and 
the Public Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments under financial instruments.  The current maturity is as follows:

The Council's debtors, including any payments in advance made by the Council totalled £57.486m as at 31st March 
2016, represent a customer base with the potential for risk exposure to non-recovery of the debt.  However a large 
proportion of the total debt relates to Government bodies and other debts which are not considered to be a risk.  
Therefore, in practice, the calculation of the risk exposure (bad debt provision) is confined to debtor invoices raised 
that are then subjected to recovery procedures.  At 31st March 2016 these debts totalled £14.999m.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

93

Page 184



Market Risk 

Interest Rate Risk 

£'000

Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings  - - -
Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments - - -710
Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services  -                       -                              -710

Price Risk 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

•  Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will 

rise.

The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments. 
Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council. For instance, a rise in interest rates would have 
the following effects: 

•  Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will 

rise.

•  Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall.

The Council’s investment in a pooled property fund is subject to the risk of falling commercial property prices.  This risk 

is limited by the Council’s maximum exposure to property investments of £15m. This investment is subject to fair value 
adjustments at year end, but any fall in commercial property prices would have no impact on the General Fund until the 
investment was sold.

The Council's has minimal exposure to foreign exchange rates, however following the sale via auction of the Council's 
remaining deposit with Glitnir Bank the money was repaid in Euros (totalling 1.895m EUR).  Due to the poor exchange 
rate at the time of sale this sum has remained in the Euro Account, and will be converted once rates improve.  All other 
conversions are carried out at spot rates with minimal financial risk.

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However, changes 
in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair value of fixed rate 
investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

The Council's strategy for managing interest rate risk is based on the prevailing interest rates and market forecasts.  It 
works within any limits imposed by its own Investment Strategy and takes advice from external advisors to achieve a 
high rate for investments and borrow when rates are low.

The treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting 
of the annual budget and is used to monitor the budget during the year. In addition to considering the risk associated 
with the  financial markets it also monitors the effects of interest adjustments with other external bodies such as the 
Pension Fund or Health Bodies

According to this assessment strategy, at 31st March 2016, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables 
held constant, the financial effect would be: 

The market prices of the Council’s fixed rate bond investments and its units in pooled bond funds are governed by 

prevailing interest rates and the market risk associated with these instruments is managed alongside interest rate risk.

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being reversed. There would be no 
further effect as the remainder of the Council's borrowing and investments are held in fixed rate products.

•  Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

94

Page 185



35. Trust Funds

Balance at Income Expenditure Balance at

31st March 
2015

31
st

 March 

2016

£ £ £ £

Libraries

2 trusts providing books for libraries 2,798 171 -183 2,786

Gloucestershire Heritage Trust Ltd

Preserves and renovates specific buildings and 6,915  49 -                       6,964

areas which are of historic interest

Gloucestershire War Relief 

The awarding of grants relating to service in 411 -                -                       411

the Great War

Total 10,124 220 -183 10,161

36. Insurance

37. Deferred Liabilities

At 31st March 2016 the Council administered 4 trust funds on behalf of the trustees.  These funds do not 
represent assets of the Council and they have not been included in the Balance Sheet.

The Council arranges external insurance subject to the following excess levels: public / employer's / official's 
indemnity liability policies, £370,500.  

The Insurance Fund is made up of annual premiums charged to services. The fund consists of a provision 
representing the estimated cost of known outstanding claims, with the remaining balance being held as a 
reserve to meet the cost of potential future claims.

The amount of £2.529m represents the shares of the PFI Joint Fire Training Centre project equalisation fund 
attributable to Avon Fire Authority and Devon & Somerset Fire Authority.

In addition to the above Trust Funds, the Council is holding £32,890 in cash relating to Criminal Injury awards.  
This is also included in the creditors balance on the Balance Sheet.

 Property Risks (Fire / lightening / explosion / earthquake / riot / civil commotion / storm / floods and escape of 
water damage) to all Council Properties £100,000 excess and own accident damage to vehicle £20,000 
excess.  This effectively means that all but the very largest claims are self-insured.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

95

Page 186



38. Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The following statement outlines the balances held as at 31st March 2016:

Arrears after 

impairment allowance 

for doubtful/bad debt 

(Debtors)

Overpayments 

and 

prepayments 

(Creditors)

Collection 

Fund   

Surplus (-) 

/Deficit

Cash (shown 

as Debtor or 

Creditor)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Council Tax Collection 7,403 -3,746 -5,661 2,004
Non-Domestic Rates Collection 338 -2,143 2,682 -877

Total 7,741 -5,889 -2,979 1,127

39. Prior Period Restatements

Revaluation Reserve

2013/14 2014/15

£'000 £'000

Balance Previously Reported 97,397 87,899
Revaluation Adjustment 29,650 29,650
Restated Balance 127,047 117,549

Capital Adjustment Account

2013/14 2014/15

£'000 £'000

Balance Previously Reported 690,493 675,447

Revaluation Adjustment -29,650 -29,650
Restated Balance 660,843 645,797

40. Post Balance Sheet Events

Within Gloucestershire precept collection of council tax and non-domestic rates for the Council is managed 
by the District Councils. 

Regulations require the Council to account for precept collection on an accruals basis. The Council is 
therefore required to include its share of any collection balances within the formal Statement of Accounts. 

Following a review and reconciliation of the Asset Register it was found that the balances on the 
Revaluation Reserve and the Capital Adjustment Account in the 2013/14 and 2014/15 accounts were mis-
stated by £29.65 million.  As a result a prior period adjustment has been undertaken, whereby the 
Revaluation Reserve and Capital Adjustment Account have been restated.  This realignment, within 
Unusable Reserves, has no impact on either the cash position or the net worth of the Council over this 
period

A particular event this year that is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event i.e. not requiring values to be 
altered in the accounts, is the impact of of the EU referendum outcome. With the vote to leave the EU 
confirmed on 24 June 2016, global stock markets have, as expected, responded with some significant 
fluctuations. Whilst these significant fluctuations are expected to ease in the coming weeks, the Council will 
need to consider the impact of these events on its financial statements at the time of their approval. As an 
authority and a Pension Fund administering authority, with balances held in investments and other liabilities 
held at fair value, these events may have an impact. In this case the values reported may be significantly 
lower, or possibly higher, than the position reported at 31 March 2016.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

96

Page 187



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Fund Account for the year ended 31
st

 March 2016

2014/15 Note

£'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions 

-76,113 employer contributions -81,156 N20 
-16,753 members contributions -17,292 N20 
-92,866 -98,448 N7

Transfers in from other pension funds

-3,708 individual transfers in from other schemes -1,131

-2,556 group transfers in from other schemes
-6,264 -1,131

Other income

-157 recoveries for services provided -139 N22

Benefits 

60,335 pensions 62,087 N31
8,918 commutation of pensions and lump sum retirement benefits 8,506

1,755 lump sum death benefits 1,344

71,008 71,937 N7

Payments to and on account of leavers

102 refunds of contributions 115

31 state scheme premiums 50

3,579 individual transfers out to other schemes 2,200

 29,012 group transfers out to other schemes  1,078 N29
32,724 3,443

4,445 Net (addition) / withdrawal from dealings with scheme members -24,338

7,093 Management Expenses 7,663 N22

Returns on investments

-23,655 Investment income -24,595 N15
41 Taxes on income -27 N3 & N15

-190,503 Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in 
market value of investments

47,868 N4

-214,117 Net returns on investments 23,246

-202,579 NET INCREASE (-) / DECREASE IN THE NET ASSETS AVAILABLE 

FOR BENEFITS DURING THE YEAR

6,571

1,506,495 Opening net assets of the scheme 1,709,074

1,709,074 Closing net assets of the scheme 1,702,503

2015/16

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

97

Page 188



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Net Assets Statement as at 31
st

 March 2016

2014/15 2015/16 Note

£'000 £'000

Investment assets

173,518 Fixed interest securities 176,726

312,365 Equities 312,866

103,682 Index-linked securities 104,155

978,743 Pooled investment vehicles 951,620

113,586 Property unit trusts 127,990 N10
587 Derivative contracts 138 N2 & N17

4,587 Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,219 N10
6,876 Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 9,198

5,439 Other investment balances 7,254

1,699,383 1,695,166 N14

Investment liabilities

-949 Derivative contracts -927 N2 & N17
-1,436 Other investment balances -1,789

-2,385 -2,716 N14

Long term assets

338 Contributions due from employers 288

2,472 Other long term assets (debtors) 2,472

2,810 2,760 N14 & N24

Current assets

3,076 Contributions due from employers 3,773

581 Other current assets 286

1,236 Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618

6,413 Cash balances 4,321
N2, N23, 

N27
11,306 8,998 N14 & N24

Current liabilities

-5 Unpaid benefits -10

-1,975 Other current liabilities -1,695

-60  Receipts in advance
-2,040 -1,705 N14 & N25

1,709,074 Net assets of the scheme available to fund benefits at the period 

end

1,702,503 N4, N5, N14 
& N18

The notes on the following pages form part of these Financial Statements.

The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 
period end but rather summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at Note N26.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

98

Page 189



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Notes

N1. Introduction

* There are restrictions with some casual staff

A full analysis of membership, funding and benefits can be found in the Pension Fund's Annual Report. 
The Fund exists to provide pensions and certain other benefits to former employees. The Pension Fund is 
not a Gloucestershire County Council fund and is subject to its own audit; therefore balances are not 
included in the Gloucestershire County Council Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The Fund is administered 
by the Pension Committee, which is a committee of Gloucestershire County Council.   The Pension Board 
was set up with effect from the 1st April 2015 to assist the Pensions Committee in securing compliance 
with the relevant laws and Regulations and to help the Pension Committee ensure the effective and 
efficient governance and administration of the Fund.

- The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended)           

- The LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as 
amended)                    

The County Council is the administering body for the Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund. 
This is not only for County Council employees but also for District Councils within the County and other 
local bodies providing public services. A full list of all employing bodies who are members of the Fund are 
shown in the Pension Fund's Annual Report alongside the more detailed accounts of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund.                                                                                      

The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory funded defined benefit pension scheme. Previously 
the Fund was "contracted out" of the state scheme but from the 1st April 2016 onwards all members have 
been contracted back into the state scheme in addition to being in the Pension Fund.  From 1st April 
2014, the scheme became a career average scheme, whereby members accrue benefits based on their 
pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th.  Accrued pension is increased annually in line 
with the Consumer Prices Index.                                                                                               

The scheme is voluntary and made available to all (*) employees except fire fighters, police and teachers 
(who have their own separate nationally-administered schemes). The Fund is financed by contributions 
paid in by the existing employees and their employers and by earnings from the investment of Fund 
monies. The number of contributors at 31st March 2016 was 18,630 (2015 18,141).  The Fund is 
governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and administered in accordance with the following 
secondary legislation:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

- The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 (as amended)               

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

99

Page 190



N2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

Accruals concept applied

Management expenses

Investment management expenses

l  Hermes - Property Unit Trusts         

Hermes deducts its fees from a combination of assets held and income distributions. 
GMO and Yorkshire Fund Managers deduct their fees from the value of the assets under 
their management.  However in all these cases fees have been calculated and included 
within Investment Management Expenses. 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Funds' transactions for the 2015/16 financial 
year and its position at year end as at 31st March 2016. The accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2015/16 which is based upon International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector.  The accounts summarise the 
transactions of the Fund and reports on the net assets available to pay pensions and 
benefits. The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and benefits 
which fall due after the end of the financial year.  The actuarial value of promised 
retirement benefits, valued on an International Accounting Standard (IAS19) basis, is 
disclosed at Note N26 of these accounts.  The accounts are prepared on a going 
concern basis.

Income and expenditure have been accounted for on an accruals basis so far as 
amounts due have been determined in time for inclusion in the accounts.  Any amount 
due in year but unpaid will be classed as a current financial asset.  Benefits payable and 
refunds of contributions have been brought into the accounts on the basis of all valid 
claims approved during the year.  Individual transfer values are accounted for when they 
are paid or received. Bulk transfer values are accrued when the value has been 
determined.

Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA 
guidance Accounting for Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs .   
Consequently Administrative Expenses and Investment Management Expenses have 
been amalgamated under Management Expenses.  A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses can be found in Note N22.

The managers' fees have been accounted for on the basis contained within their 
management agreements.  Broadly these are based on the market value of the 
investments under management and therefore increase or decrease as the value of 
these investments change.  In addition the Fund has agreed with the following managers 
that an element of their fee be performance related:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                            
l  Standard Life Investments - UK Equities            

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

100

Page 191



Acquisition and transaction costs of investments

Administration expenses

 Investment Income

Cash

Dividends from quoted securities are accounted for when the security is declared ex-
dividend.  Any amount not received by the end of the reporting period is recognised as a 
current financial asset.  Investment income arising from the underlying investments of 
Pooled Investment Vehicles is reinvested within the Pooled Investment Vehicle and 
reflected in the unit price. 

Cash balances held in accordance with the County Councils' Treasury Management 
Strategy and those held with the Funds' Custodian BNY Mellon, on behalf of investment 
managers, are in instant access accounts, subject to timing deadlines.

Acquisition costs of investments (e.g. stamp duty) and transaction costs previously 
included within the purchase cost/proceeds of investment purchases and sales have now 
been added to Investment Management Expenses with a corresponding offset against 
Profit on Disposal of Investments.  In addition to the transaction costs disclosed, indirect 
costs are incurred through the bid/offer spread on investments within pooled investment 
vehicles.  The amounts of indirect costs are not separately provided to the Fund.  A more 
detailed breakdown of management expenses can be found in Note N22.

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All staff costs 
associated with administration is charged to the Fund.  Associated management, 
accommodation and other overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged as 
expenses to the Fund.  Further information on administrative expenses can be found in 
Note N22.  

Oversight & governance expenses
All Oversight and Governance expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All staff 
costs associated with Oversight and Governance is charged to the Fund.  Associated 
management, accommodation and other overheads are apportioned to this activity and 
charged as expenses to the Fund.   The cost of investment advice from external 
consultants is included in Oversight & Governance.  Further information on Oversight 
and Governance expenses can be found in Note N22.  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

101

Page 192



Valuation of assets

Derivatives

N3. Taxation

The SORP requires securities to be valued on a Fair Value Basis therefore assets, 
where there is an active and readily available market price, are valued at the bid (selling) 
price and liabilities on an offer (buying) price basis. Where assets do not actively trade 
through established exchange mechanisms a price is obtained from the manager of the 
investment asset. Investments held in foreign currencies are shown at market value 
translated into sterling at the exchange rates prevailing as at 31st March 2016.  
Purchases and sales during the year which require settlement in a foreign currency are 
converted from/to sterling at the exchange rate prevailing on the trade date.  Fixed 
interest securities are recorded at net market value based on their yields. Pooled 
investment vehicles are valued at closing bid price if both bid and offer prices are 
published; or if single priced, at the closing single price.  In the case of pooled investment 
vehicles that are accumulation funds, change in market value also includes income 
which is re-invested in the fund, net of applicable withholding tax.  Property within the 
property unit trusts are independently valued in accordance with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors valuation standards.  Private Equity is valued using the latest 
financial statements published by the respective fund managers and in accordance with 
the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Guidelines.  

Derivative contracts are valued at fair value and are determined using exchange prices 
at the reporting date.  The fair value is the unrealised profit or loss at the current bid or 
offer market quoted price of the contract.  Derivative contract assets, those with a 
positive value, are valued at bid price and derivative contract liabilities, those with a 
negative value, are valued at the offer price.   Amounts due from the broker represent 
the amounts outstanding in respect of the initial margin (representing collateral on the 
contracts) and any variation margin which is due to or from the broker.  The amounts 
included in change in market value are the realised gains and losses on closed futures 
contracts and the unrealised gains and losses on open futures contracts.  The fair value 
of the forward currency contracts are based on market forward exchange rates at the 
year end date.

The Fund is exempt from UK capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments sold.  
Corporation Tax is deducted from UK equity dividends; tax deducted from property unit 
trusts can be reclaimed.  Withholding tax is payable on income from overseas 
investments.  This tax is recovered wherever local tax laws permit.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

102

Page 193



N4. Investment movements summary

2015/16

Market  
Value at     

31st March 
2015

Purchases at 
cost and 

derivative 
payments

Sales 
proceeds and 

derivative 
receipts

Change in 
market value, 

new money 
and accruals

Market  

Value at     

31
st

 March 

2016

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fixed Interest 173,518 41,808 -32,017 -6,583 176,726

Equities 312,365 115,559 -92,476 -22,582 312,866

Index Linked 103,682 4,002 -2,447 -1,082 104,155

Derivatives -362 725 -1,705 553 -789

Pooled Investments 978,743 17,256 -10,619 -33,760 951,620

Property Unit Trusts 113,586 5,551 -1,232 10,085 127,990

Private Equity 4,587 135 -                     497 5,219

1,686,119 185,036 -140,496 -52,872 1,677,787

2014/15

Market  
Value at     

31st March 
2014

Purchases at 
cost and 

derivative 
payments

Sales 
proceeds and 

derivative 
receipts

Change in 
market value, 

new money 
and accruals

Market  
Value at     

31st March 
2015

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fixed Interest 150,399 38,750 -32,542 16,911 173,518
Equities 316,478 39,878 -44,212 221 312,365
Index Linked 78,543 15,373 -5,030 14,796 103,682
Derivatives 156 201 -498 -221 -362
Pooled Investments 842,755 19,448 -24,507 141,047 978,743
Property Unit Trusts 90,919 11,111 -603 12,159 113,586
Private Equity 4,934 259 -                     -606 4,587

1,484,184 125,020 -107,392 184,307 1,686,119

The change in market value of investments comprises all increases and decreases in the market value of 
investments held at any time during the year, including profits and losses realised on sales of investments 
during the year.

The derivatives in the previous tables represent futures and forward foreign exchange contracts. The closing 
market value represents fair value as at the year end date.  In the case of derivative contracts, which are 
traded on exchanges, this value is determined using exchange prices at the reporting date.  Forward foreign 
exchange contracts are over the counter contracts and are valued by determining the gain or loss that would 
arise from closing out the contract at the reporting date and entering into an equal and opposite contract as at 
that date. The profit or loss arising is included within the total 'cash movement' figure.

All derivative contracts settled during the period are reported within the table as purchases and sales.  

In addition to the investments there was £24,716k (£22,955k 2014/15) in cash and accruals.  Cash 
movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled £5,004k (£6,196k 2014/15).  As 
a result the total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of investments 
was £47.9m (-£190.5m 2014/15).   

In addition to the investments there was £22,955k (£22,311k 2013/14) in cash and accruals.  Cash 
movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled £6,196k (£2,244k 2013/14).  As 
a result the total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of investments 
was -£190.5m (-£93.9m 2013/14).   

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

103

Page 194



N5. Management of fund assets

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 % £'000 %

Western Asset Management 
Company 359,868 21.1 370,280 21.7

BlackRock 495,689 29.0 486,382 28.6

CBRE 37,728 2.2 41,928 2.5

GMO 311,184 18.2 301,562 17.7

Standard Life Investments 405,851 23.7 394,396 23.2

Hermes Investment Management 
Property Unit Trust 82,073 4.8 92,629 5.4

Technology Venture Partners 2,833 0.2 3,056 0.2

Yorkshire Fund Managers (YFM) 1,754 0.1 2,163 0.1

Total - External Managers 1,696,980 99.3 1,692,396 99.4

In-house cash and accruals 12,075 0.7 10,053 0.6

Cash instruments with Custodian  19 0.0  54 0.0

1,709,074 100.0 1,702,503 100.0

The market value of investments managed by each external manager at the end of the financial year was:

Where the value of an investment exceeds 5% of the total value of net assets or 5% of its asset class, details 
have been disclosed in note N18. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

104

Page 195



N6. Actuarial position of the Fund











2010 2013

Rate of return on investments       (Discount 
Rate) 6.1% pa 4.6% pa

Rate of general pay increases * 4.8% pa ** 3.8% pa

Rate of increase to pensions in payment 3.3% pa 2.5% pa

(in excess of guaranteed minimum pension) 

* Plus an allowance is also made for promotional pay increases.  
** 1% pa for 2010/11 and 2011/12, reverting to 4.8% pa thereafter.



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments



The market value of the Fund's assets at the March 2013 triennial valuation date was £1,385m 
(£1,054m March 2010) and represented 70.1% (70.4% March 2010) of the Fund's accrued 
liabilities, allowing for future pay increases.  When a valuation reveals a deficiency, the employer 
contribution rates are adjusted to target restoration of a solvent position over a period of years (the 
recovery period).  The recovery period applicable for each participating employer is set by the 
Administering Authority in consultation with the Scheme Actuary and employer, with a view to 
balancing the various funding requirements against the risks involved due to such issues as the 
financial strength of the employer and the nature of its participation in the Fund. 

The contribution rate has been calculated using the projected unit method in line with accepted 
guidelines and the main actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

See note N26 for details of the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits.

In line with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, actuarial valuations of the Fund 
are required to be undertaken every three years, for the purpose of setting employer contribution 
rates for the forthcoming triennial period.  The latest valuation took place as at 31st March 2013 and 
established the minimum contribution payments for the three years until 31st March 2017.  The next 
valuation will take place as at March 2016.

The results of the 2013 valuation showed that the total common contribution rate was 32.9% (25.8% 
2010 valuation) for the three years to 31st March 2017.  Individual employers' rates will vary from the 
common contribution rate depending on the demographic and actuarial factors particular to each 
employer.  Full details of the contribution rates payable can be found in the 2013 actuarial valuation 
report and the Funding Strategy Statement on the Fund's website.  This rate of contribution is the 
rate which, in addition to the contributions paid by the members, is sufficient to meet:

v  100% of the liabilities arising in respect of service after the valuation date;

v   plus an adjustment over a period of 20 years to reflect the shortfall of the value of the County 
Council's notional share of the Fund's assets over 100% of its accrued liabilities, allowing, in the 
case of members in service, for future pay increases.

The estimate of the pension fund liability is subject to significant variations, based on changes to the 
underlying assumptions used - see below.

Funding Basis

The full actuarial valuation reports for 2007, 2010 and 2013 are published on the County 
Council's website and can be viewed using the following web address:

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

105

Page 196

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments


N7. Analysis of contributions receivable and benefits payable

Contributions Benefits Contributions Benefits

receivable payable receivable payable

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

39,624 39,057   43,845 40,112   

45,308 28,613   45,686 28,732   

7,934 3,338     8,917 3,093     

92,866 71,008   98,448           71,937   

* These numbers relate to active employers with active members

Scheduled bodies now include 78 (75 14/15) schools who have converted to academy status.

Gloucestershire County Council                                                          
[Administering authority]

Admitted bodies (40 15/16) (35 14/15)*     
[Bodies admitted by agreement]

Scheduled bodies (144 15/16) (141 14/15)*                               
[Bodies admitted by right]

2015/162014/15

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

106

Page 197



N8. Statement of Investment Principles

N9. Related party transactions

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Administrative expenses 1,412 1,553

Member

Cllr. D. Brown
Cllr. C. Hay
Cllr. L. Stowe
Cllr. R. Theodoulou

Four members of the Pension Committee, excluding the District Council Representative, are also District 
Council members and these are detailed below:

Gloucester City Council
District Council

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cotswold District Council
Cotswold District Council

In addition Councillor L. Stowe is Cotswold District Council’s nominated shareholder for Ubico Limited, 

Councillor C. Hay sits on the Boards of Cheltenham Borough Homes and Cheltenham Leisure & Culture Trust 
and Councillor N. Cooper is a governor of Archway School.  Ubico Limited, Cheltenham Borough Homes, 
Cheltenham Leisure & Culture Trust and Archway School  are employers in the Fund.

The Pension Board was created on the 1st April 2015.  Three members of the Board, Mr. Owen, Ms. Walton 
and Mr. Topping are members of the Fund as contributing employees.  This does not impact on their roles as 
members of the Pension Board given the nature of the Board's functions.

Mr. P. Clark, the Scheme Member Representative, is a non-voting member of the Pension Committee.  Mr. 
Clark is a contributing member of the Pension Fund  and this does not impact on his Pension Committee role.

A Statement of Investment Principles, which sets out the Pension Fund's long-term investment objectives, its 
style of management and policies together with risk management, performance targets and details of how that 
performance is monitored and reviewed, can be found in the Annual Report of the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund.  This statement is also available on the website at the following address 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering Authority for the Fund, incurred the following costs in 
relation to the administration of the Fund and was subsequently reimbursed by the Fund for these expenses.  
The Council is also the single largest employer of members of the Pension Fund.

Transactions between employers and the Fund are disclosed in note N7.   

Part of the Pension Fund's cash holdings are invested on the money markets by the Treasury Management 
team of Gloucestershire County Council, see notes N2, N23 and N27.

The Director: Strategic Finance is a member of the Fund as a contributing Gloucestershire County Council 
employee.  This does not impact on her role as Finance Director and S151 officer, which is clearly defined.

Of the County Council's key management personnel, some of the Director: Strategic Finance's remuneration 
costs were charged to the Fund to reflect time spent.  These consisted of salary, fees and allowances of 
£10,813 (£10,813 2014/15) and employers' pension contributions of £2,801 (£2,801 2014/15).

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

107

Page 198



N10. Contingent liabilities and contractual commitments

Total 

Commitment

Outstanding 
liability   

2014/15

Outstanding 

liability 

2015/16
£'000 £'000 £'000

Chandos Fund 3,000 286 151

CBRE 30,000 591 151

33,000 877 302

N11. Contingent assets

N12. Unquoted holdings

The following holdings are unquoted:
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000
Pooled investment vehicles
UK equity unitised insurance policy 9,218 -                      
Global equity managed funds 311,184 301,562

Overseas equity unitised insurance policies 437,153 422,424

UK limited liability partnerships 5,874 4,981

Overseas limited liability partnerships 4,607 4,517

Global multi asset unitised insurance policy 78,772 75,700

846,808 809,184

Property unit trusts
UK property unit trust 19,755 22,820

Overseas property unit trust 11,759 12,541

31,514 35,361

Total 878,322 844,545

N13. Stocklending

The Fund has an investment within a private equity fund managed by Yorkshire Fund Managers and a global 
property portfolio managed by CBRE.  The following table shows the Fund's total commitment and the 
remaining liability, following drawdowns, at the year end.  

The Pension Funds' custodian has been authorised to release stock to third parties under a stock lending 
arrangement.  At 31st March 2016 the value of stock out on loan was £19.6m (2014/15 £4.8m) of which 
£14.2m (£4.8m) was in UK equities, £4.9m (£0) in UK and Overseas Government stock and £0.5m £(0) in UK 
Corporate Bonds.  Collateral of £20.7m (£5.1m) equal to 106% (106%) of stock out on loan was held in the 
form of  UK, Austrian Sovereign bonds, G10 Overseas Government debt and AAA rated fixed interest stock 
issued by Supranational bodies.  The Pension Fund stipulates those institutions that are allowed to borrow its 
stock and the type of collateral that is acceptable.  

Due to retrospective adjustments to how pension payments are made for Registration staff working additional 
hours or on a fee basis, a contingent asset of £38,504 (14/15 £38,504) has been recorded for possible 
additional contributions from ex members of staff, during 2016/2017 and future years.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

108

Page 199



N14. Financial asset analysis
2014/15 2015/16 Note

Financial assets £'000 £'000

Fixed interest securities
    UK          - Public Sector          - Quoted 63,141 63,664

                   - Other                     - Quoted 93,852 94,743

    Overseas - Public Sector          - Quoted 13,678 11,490

                   - Other                     - Quoted 2,847 6,829

173,518 176,726

Equities
    UK                                         - Quoted 312,365 312,866

Index-linked securities
   UK          - Public Sector          - Quoted 89,044 92,190

   Overseas - Public Sector          - Quoted 14,638 11,965

103,682 104,155

Pooled investment vehicles
Unit Trusts
    Overseas  - Equities       - managed from outside the UK - Quoted 58,499 63,921

Unitised Insurance Policies
    UK          - Equities                                                      - Unquoted 9,218 -                        
    Overseas - Equities        - managed from outside the UK - Unquoted * 437,153 422,424

    Global     - Multi Asset    - managed from within the UK   - Unquoted 78,772 75,700

Other Managed Funds
O.E.I.C.'s
   Overseas - Fixed interest - managed from outside the UK - Quoted * 73,436 78,515

   Global     - Equities         - managed from outside the UK - Unquoted * 311,184 301,562

Limited Liability Partnerships
   UK          - Property         - managed from within the UK   - Unquoted 5,874 4,981

   Overseas - Fixed interest - managed from outside the UK - Unquoted 4,607 4,517

978,743 951,620

Property Unit Trusts
  UK            - managed from within the UK      - Quoted 82,072 92,629

                  - managed from within the UK      -  Unquoted 2,595 2,349

                  - managed from outside the UK    - Unquoted 17,160 20,471

  Overseas   - managed from outside the UK    - Unquoted 11,759 12,541

113,586 127,990 N10

Derivative Contracts
   Futures - UK 27 -                        
               - Overseas -                     29

  Forward foreign exchange contracts 560 109

587 138 N17

Other Investments
   Venture Capital/Private Equity - UK 4,587 5,219 N10

Cash (Managers)
  Cash instruments    - UK 4,261 4,943

                                 - Overseas 1,441 1,532

  Cash deposits         - UK 377 2,336

                                - Overseas 797 387

6,876 9,198

Other investment balances
Debtors
   Outstanding settlement of investment transactions 1,092 2,979

   Accrued dividend income and tax reclaims due on dividend income 4,347 4,275

5,439 7,254

Total Financial Assets 1,699,383 1,695,166

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

109

Page 200



2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Contracts
   Futures  - UK -                     -58

                - Overseas -73 -                        
   Forward foreign exchange contracts -876 -869

-949 -927 N17

Other investment balances
Creditors
   Outstanding settlement of investment transactions -1,436 -1,789

Total Financial Liabilities -2,385 -2,716

Long Term Assets

   Contributions due from employer 338 288

   Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 2,472 2,472

2,810 2,760 N24

Current Assets

   Contributions due from employers 3,076 3,773

   Other current assets (debtors) 581 286

   Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 1,236 618

   Cash balances 6,413 4,321 N23
11,306 8,998 N24

Current Liabilities

   Unpaid benefits -5 -10

   Other liabilities (creditors) -1,975 -1,695

   Receipts in advance -60 -                        
-2,040 -1,705 N25

TOTAL 1,709,074 1,702,503

* These overseas pooled funds may incorporate some UK assets. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

110

Page 201



N15. Investment income

Investment income arises from the following investment categories:
2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Fixed interest 6,537 6,853

Equities 11,105 10,582

Index-linked 1,264 1,825

Pooled investment vehicles 4,631 5,192

Interest on cash deposits 93 72

Private equity -                   -                   
Other income from stocklending, underwriting and class actions 25 71

23,655 24,595

Withholding tax -41 27

23,614 24,622

N16. Separately invested additional voluntary contributions (AVC's)

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Value of investments at 1st April 7,416 7,526 115 95 7,531 7,621

Prior year adjustments 2 -                   -                   2 -                   

Contributions received in year* 661 602 -                   -                   661 602

Death in service premiums paid by 
members -6 -6 -                   -                   -6 -6

Sales of investments -946 -1,288 -21 -35 -967 -1,323

Changes in value of investments
400 393 -                   -                   400 393

Present value of investments 7,527 7,227 94 60 7,621 7,287

Gloucestershire County Council LGPS provides additional voluntary contribution (AVC) schemes for its members, 
with The Prudential Assurance Company Limited and Phoenix Life Limited. The AVC's are invested separately in 
funds managed by them.  These are in the form of with-profits, unit-linked and deposit accounts and secure 
additional benefits on a money purchase basis for those members electing to pay additional voluntary contributions.  
Members participating in this arrangement receive an annual statement confirming amounts held to their account 
and movements in the year. These amounts are not included in the Pension Fund Accounts in accordance with 
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 (as amended). 

Prudential Phoenix Life Total Investments

*   Contributions paid by members in the Prudential scheme during 2015/16 totalled £602,166 (2014/15 £661,109) 
which included additional death in service premiums totalling £6,151  (2014/15 £6,417).

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

111

Page 202



N17. Derivatives

Derivative Contract Analysis

Contract 

type*

 2014/15 
Notional 

Value 

 2015/16 

Notional 

Value 

Expiration 2014/15 
Market 
Value

2015/16 

Market 

Value

INVESTMENT ASSETS £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Futures
  UK - Fixed Interest

UK Long Gilt Future ET  2,415 -                  Less than 3 
months

 27 -                  

UK Futures  2,415 -                   27 -                  

  Overseas - Fixed Interest
US Treasury Bond Future ET -                -3,663 Less than 3 

months
-                29             

Overseas Futures -                  -3,663 -                  29             

Total Futures  2,415 -3,663  27  29

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts

OTC 21,631 9,157 Less than 6 
months

560 109

Total Derivative Assets 24,046 5,494 587 138

INVESTMENT LIABILITIES

Futures
  UK - Fixed Interest ET -                20,850      Less than 3 

months
-                -58

UK Futures -                   20,850 -                  -58

  Overseas - Fixed Interest
US Treasury Bond Future ET 3,753        -                Less than 3 

months
-73 -                

Overseas Futures  3,753 -                -73 -                

Total Futures  3,753  20,850 -73 -58

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts

OTC 32,462 43,167 Less than 6 
months

-876 -869

Total Derivative Liabilities 36,215 64,017 -949 -927

Net Futures -362 -789

* Contract types ET (exchange traded) OTC (over the counter)

Investments in derivatives are only made if they contribute to a reduction of risks and facilitate efficient portfolio 
management.  A derivative is a generic term for financial instruments used in the management of portfolios and is 
a financial contract between two parties, the value of which is determined by the underlying asset.  Derivatives 
include futures, forwards, swaps and options.

The fixed income portfolio uses futures and options for duration and yield curve management purposes. 
Additionally, the investment strategy for this manager, for all overseas currency exposures, is to be fully hedged 
back in to sterling which is achieved by the use of foreign exchange forward contracts.  To mitigate large 
unrealised profits or losses accruing with any one counterparty the contracts are split between a handful of banks 
and the contracts rolled quarterly in order that any gains or losses are realised at regular intervals.  

In the table below, the 'notional value' of the stock purchases under futures contracts is the economic exposure 
and the value subject to market movements as at 31st March 2016.

The investment strategy of the property manager with overseas holdings is to place forward currency trades with 
the intention of hedging foreign currency exposure to ensure the portfolio is not impacted by currency fluctuations.  
The hedges are achieved by placing foreign exchange forward contracts with the Fund's custodian.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

112

Page 203



A breakdown of the open forward foreign exchange contracts at 31st March 2016 is given below:-

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31st March 2016

Settlement

 Currency 

bought 

 Local 

Value 

 Currency 

sold  Local Value 

 Asset 

Value 

 Liability 

Value 

000 000 £000 £000

Up to six months GBP 3,458 USD 4,905 47

Up to six months USD 4,160 JPY 462,151 30

Up to three months GBP 881 USD 1,240 18

Up to three months BRL 5,559 USD 1,558 6

Up to six months GBP 330 HKD 3,631 4

Up to six months GBP 278 JPY 44,421 3

Up to six months GBP 230 CNY 2,144 1

Up to six months GBP 4,430 SEK 54,170 -225
Up to six months GBP 8,334 EUR 10,745 -194
Up to three months USD 1,342 BRL 5,559 -157

Up to six months GBP 10,940 USD 15,933 -144

Up to six months GBP 7,687 USD 11,097 -33

Up to six months GBP 2,727 EUR 3,471 -31

Up to six months GBP 4,694 USD 6,786 -27

Up to six months GBP 966 EUR 1,240 -18

Up to six months GBP 236 MYR 1,391 -13

Up to six months GBP 569 AUD 1,086 -10

Up to six months GBP 193 NZD 415 -7

Up to six months GBP 401 SGD 787 -5

Up to six months USD 1,519 BRL 5,559 -5

109           869-           
Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2016 760-           

Prior year comparative

Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2015 560           876-           
Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2015 316-           

The total Futures' initial margin for 2015/16 was £0.4m (£0.0m 2014/15) and the total variation margin was £0.4m 
(£0.2m 2014/15). The initial margin is an amount of money deposited by both buyers and sellers of Futures 
contracts to ensure performance of the terms of the contract. The variation margin reflects the accumulated cash 
flows from the daily marking to market that accrues in the futures broker’s account. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

113

Page 204



£'000 % £'000 % 

* BlackRock Global Equity Fund 437,153 25.6 422,424 24.8
* GMO World Equity Allocation Investment Fund 311,184 18.2 301,562 17.7
* Hermes Property Unit Trust -          -          92,629 5.4

748,337 43.8 816,615 47.9

BlackRock investments are Unitised Insurance Policies

GMO Investment Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in global equities

Hermes Property Unit Trust is a Property Unit Trust

* Indicates assets which are in excess of 5% of both net assets and their asset class for 2015/16

£'000 % £'000 % 

Fixed interest securities

Treasury 4.25% 2040 21,942 12.6 28,275 15.5

Treasury 3.75% 2021 14,479 8.3 14,470 7.9

Treasury 4.25% 2039 9,725 5.6 9,680 5.3

Equities

Royal Dutch Shell 'B' Shares 18,476    5.9 ** **

HSBC Holdings  18,174    5.8 ** **

Index-linked securities

United Kingdom IL 1.875% 2022 14,932    14.4 14,809    14.2

United Kingdom IL 1.25% 2027 13,681    13.2 13,580    13.0

Treasury IL Variable Rate 2035 13,109    12.6 13,002    12.5

United Kingdom IL 1.125% 2037 10,873    10.5 10,891    10.5

Treasury IL 1.25% 2055 9,390      9.1 9,560      9.2

US Treasury IL 1.375% 2044 9,132      8.8 9,105      8.7

United Kingdom IL 0.375% 2062 5,831      5.6 8,776      8.4

United Kingdom IL 1.25% 2032 8,339      8.0 8,287      8.0

Treasury IL 0.75% 2047 5,202      5.0 5,225      5.0

Pooled investment vehicles

* Blackrock Global Equity Fund 437,153  44.7 422,424  44.6

* GMO World Equity Allocation Investment Fund 311,184  31.8 301,562  31.9

Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS 72,587    7.4 77,569    8.2

Standard Life Global Absolute Return Strategies Fund 78,772    8.0 75,700    8.0

Blackrock Emerging Markets Index Fund 58,499    6.0 63,921    6.8

Property unit trusts 

* Hermes Property Unit Trust 82,072    72.3 92,629    72.4

Global Alpha Fund 8,671      7.6 8,771      6.9

Derivative contracts - assets

UK Long Gilt Future (LIF) Exp Jun 15 27           100.0 -          -          

US Treasury Bond Future (CBT) Exp Jun 16 -          -          18           61.1

US Ultra Bond (CBT) Exp Jun 16 -          -          11           38.9

Derivatives contracts- Liabilities

US Treasury Bond Future (CBT) Exp Jun 15 -73 100.0 -          -          

UK Long Gilt Future (LIF) Exp Jun 16 -          -          -58 100.0

Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity

South West Venture Fund 2,833      61.8 3,056      58.6

Chandos Fund 1,754      38.2 2,163      41.4

** Investment held is now below 5% of asset class

Investments exceeding 5% of their Asset Class 2014/15 2015/16

N18. Investments exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets or that exceed 5% of their Asset Class

At 31st March 2016 the Pension Fund held three, (2014/15, two) investments that each exceeded 5% of the 
total value of the net assets of the scheme.  These are detailed as follows:

2014/15 2015/16

Investments exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

114

Page 205



N19. Agency services

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Discretionary Payments        1,174           1,102 

N20. Contributions breakdown 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000
From Employers:
    Normal 41,158 42,830

    Augmentation -                 -                    
    Deficit Funding 32,228 37,080

    Other 2,727 1,246

76,113 81,156

From Members:
    Normal 16,379 16,967

    Additional Voluntary 374 325

16,753 17,292

N21. Custody of investments

The accounts for the year ended 31st March 2016 use the valuations for the Fund's assets provided by our 
custodian, BNY Mellon Asset Servicing SA/NV.  This reflects the position of the custodian who is ultimately 
the master book of record. Fund Managers must make sure that their records agree with those kept by the 
custodian, although the investment values may be obtained from different sources.  Using the custodian’s 

valuations ensures that the various portfolios are priced consistently, so that the same stocks, in different 
portfolios, are valued on the same basis.   Investments held in custody by BNY Mellon Asset Servicing SA/NV 
on behalf of the Pension Fund, are ring-fenced from the assets of the Bank and segregated within its books 
as belonging to Gloucestershire County Council's Pension Fund.

Other contributions are those contributions paid by an employer to compensate the Pension Fund for early 
retirement costs, excess ill health retirement costs or to improve their funding levels.  

These payments follow the principles outlined in the Funding Strategy Statement.  Early retirement costs are 
usually paid in one lump sum or were historically paid over several years dependent on the status of the 
employer.  When a payment is spread there is an extra cost to reflect the delay in total payment.  There are 
currently no early retirement costs being spread; however at 31st March 2016 £0.04m (2014/15 £0.1m) was 
due to the Pension Fund for early retirements, which have been accrued. 

The Pension Fund pays discretionary pension awards to former employees on behalf of some Pension Fund 
employers.  The amounts paid are not inclued within the Fund Account but are provided as a service and fully 
reclaimed from the employer bodies.  The sums are disclosed below.

It had been agreed previously that an employer who left the Fund in 2008/09 could spread the payment of 
their deficit over a number of years.  The total amount was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual made 
for the outstanding amount. The accrual is rolled forward each year and adjusted for deficit payments made.

Excess ill health retirement costs are invoiced for as they arise and funding level payments are made by an 
employer voluntarily.  

The employers' monthly contributions are based on a percentage of pensionable pay.  Deficit funding 
payments are either based on a percentage of pensionable pay or paid as a lump sum.  Both monthly 
contributions and deficit fund payments have been identified above.  The deficit funding contributions relate to 
past service benefit accrual and are payable over an agreed recovery period, not exceeding 20 years.  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

115

Page 206



N22. Management expenses

Management expenses 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000
Investment management expenses * 5,753          6,186          
Administration expenses 933             1,002          
Oversight & governance 407             475             

7,093          7,663          

2014/15 2015/16

Investment management expenses*

£'000 £'000

Fund value based management fees - invoiced 2,865 2,982

                                                     - deducted from investment 1,868 1,970

4,733 4,952

Performance fee                             - invoiced 244 117

                                                    - deducted from investment                     354 346

598 463

5,331 5,415

Transaction costs 350 695

Custody costs 72 76

5,753 6,186

Transaction costs have increased as a result of repositioning the UK Equities mandate against a new 
(capped) benchmark during June 2015.

The management fees disclosed above include all investment management fees directly incurred by the 
Fund.  In addition to these costs, indirect costs are incurred through the bid-offer spread on investments sales 
and purchases.  These are reflected in the cost of investment acquisitions and in the proceeds from the sales 
of investments.

The increase in Administration Expenses is largely due to the set up costs of a data capture system for 
enhancing actuarial information and the increase in Oversight & Governance is mainly due to Pooling costs 
resulting from the Government's recent initiative and Fund data modelling.

* Please see a more detailed breakdown of the investment management expenses below.

Within Oversight and Governance costs there were actuarial expenses of £109,830 (£134,997 2014/15) 
generated by specific employer requirements, these were then charged back to the employer.  The 
corresponding income is included within Recoveries for Services Provided in the Fund Account.  

Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for 

Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs .   

Transaction costs of £694,532 (£350,127 2014/15) previously included within the purchase cost/proceeds of 
investment purchases and sales have now been added to Investment Management Expenses with a 
corresponding offset against Profit on Disposal of Investments.  

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

116

Page 207



N23. Cash

N24. Current & long term assets

2014/15 2015/16

Current assets £'000 £'000

Contributions due - Employees 572 761
Contributions due - Employers 2,504 3,012

Sundry debtors 581 286

Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 1,236 618

4,893 4,677

Cash balances 6,413 4,321

11,306 8,998

Current assets

2014/15 2015/16

Analysis of debtors £'000 £'000

Central government bodies 1,311 955

Other local authorities 1,399 1,199

NHS bodies 16 14

Public corporations and trading funds -                    -                    
Academies 405 938

Bodies external to general government 1,762 1,571

4,893 4,677

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Long term assets

Central government bodies 2,472 2,472

Other entities and individuals 338 288

2,810 2,760

From the 1st April 2010 the Pension Fund has had its own bank account.  At 31st March 2016 cash of £4.3m 
(made up of £4.5m on loan and £0.2m overdrawn) (£6.4m 2014/15) was invested through the County 
Council's short-term investment procedures. During the year the average investment balance was £2.3m 
(£4.4m 2014/15) earning interest of £36.6k (£20k 2014/15).

One central government body has transferred to another pension fund and the resulting bulk transfer value 
due is being paid over a number of years.  The total amount was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual 
has been made for the outstanding amount. The accrual will be rolled forward each year and adjusted for 
payments made.  A payment of £618,000 is due to the Pension Fund within the next twelve months. 

It had been agreed that an employer who left the Fund could spread the payment of their deficit over a 
number of years.  The total amount was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual made for the 
outstanding amount.  The accrual is rolled forward each year and adjusted for deficit payments made.  A 
payment of £50,000 is due to the Pension Fund within the next twelve months. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

117

Page 208



N25. Current liabilities

2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Benefits payable -5 -10

Sundry creditors -1,975 -1,695

Receipts in advance -60 -                    

-2,040 -1,705

Analysis of creditors 2014/15 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Central government bodies -690 -649

Other local authorities -178 -64

Academies -                    -                    

Bodies external to general government -1,172 -992

-2,040 -1,705

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

118

Page 209



N26. Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits

Balance Sheet:

31
st

 March 2016

£m

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits                    2,569 

Net Assets Available for Benefits 

31
st

 March 2016

£m

Net assets                    1,703 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used

Financial assumption:

31
st

 March 2016

% pa

Inflation/Pension Increase Rate 2.4 2.2 

Salary Increase Rate 3.8 3.7 

Discount Rate 3.2 3.5 

Longevity assumption:

Males Females

Current Pensioners 22.5 24.6
Future Pensioners ** 24.4 27.0

Commutation assumption:

Sensitivity Analysis 

Change in assumptions for the year ended 31st March 2016 Approximate % 

increase to 

liabilities

Approximate 

monetary 

amount 

% £m

0.5% decrease in discount rate 10 270

1 year increase in member life expectancy 3 77

0.5% increase in salary increase rate 3 87

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate 7 178

CIPFA guidance requires the disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods and 

assumptions used.  The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the 

liabilities are set out below:

Year Ended

Year Ended

Year Ended

In addition to the triennial funding valuation (See Note N6), the fund's Actuary also undertakes a 
valuation of the pension fund liabilities on an IAS19 basis every year.  These liabilities have been 
projected using a roll forward approximation from the last triennial valuation as at 31st March 2013. 

31st March 2015
£m

% pa

The life expectancy assumption is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves with improvements in line with the 

CMI 2010 model, assuming the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge 
to a long term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions the average future life expectancies at 
age 65 are summarised below.

An allowance is included for future retirements to elect to take 50% of the maximum additional tax 
free cash up to HMRC limits for pre-April 2008 service and 75% of the maximum tax free cash for 
post-April 2008 service.

** Future pensioners are assumed to be aged 45 at the most recent formal valuation as at 31st March 
2013.

Years

                   2,748 

31st March 2015
£m

                   1,709 

The assumptions used are suitable for IAS19 purposes as required by the Code of Practice; these 
differ from those used for the triennial valuation.  It is estimated that the impact of the change of 
assumptions to 31st March 2016 is to decrease the actuarial present value by £252m (14/15 increase 
of £364m).

31st March 2015

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

119

Page 210



N27. Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments

Market Risk

Other Price Risk

In general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the diversification of the portfolio in terms of 
geographical, industry sectors, individual securities, investment mandate guidelines and Investment Managers.  The 
risk arising from exposure to specific markets is limited by the strategic asset allocation, which is regularly 
monitored by the Committee as well as appropriate monitoring of market conditions and benchmark analysis.

Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices, caused by factors other than interest rate or foreign currency movements, whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument, its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the 
market.

Market price risk arises from uncertainty about the future value of the financial instruments that the Fund holds.  All 
securities investments present a risk of loss of capital.  Except for shares sold short, the maximum risk resulting 
from financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments. Possible losses from shares 
sold short are unlimited. The Investment Managers mitigate this price risk through diversification in line with their 
own investment strategies and mandate guidelines. 

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund's (“The Fund”) objective is to generate positive investment 

returns for a given level of risk.  Therefore the Fund holds financial instruments such as securities (equities, bonds), 
collective investment schemes (or pooled funds) and cash and cash equivalents. In addition debtors and creditors 
arise as a result of its operations.  The value of these financial instruments in the financial statements approximates 
to their fair value.

The Fund's primary long-term risk is that the Fund's assets will fall short of its liabilities i.e. promised benefits 
payable to members. Therefore the aim of investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall 
reduction on the value of the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole fund portfolio.  The 
Fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, currency risk and 
interest rate risk) and credit risk to an acceptable level.  In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure 
there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund's forecast cash flows.

The Fund's investments are managed on behalf of the Fund by the appointed Investment Managers.  Each 
Investment Manager is required to invest the assets managed by them in accordance with the terms of their 
investment guidelines or pooled fund prospectus.  The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Committee 
("Committee") has determined that the investment management structure is appropriate and is in accordance with 
its investment strategy.  The Committee regularly monitors each investment manager and considers and takes 
advice on the nature of the investments made and associated risks.

The Fund's investments are held by BNY Mellon Asset Servicing, who acts as custodian on behalf of the Fund. 

Because the Fund adopts a long term investment strategy, the high level risks described below will not alter 
significantly during the year unless there are significant strategic or tactical changes in the portfolio.  

Market risk represents the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices, interest rates or currencies. The Fund is exposed through its investments in equities, bonds and 
investment funds, to all these market risks.  The aim of the investment strategy is to manage and control market risk 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return from the investment portfolio. 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

120

Page 211



Other Price Risk - Sensitivity Analysis

As at 31st March 2016 Value Volatility of 
return

Value on 
Increase

Value on 
Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

UK Bonds 169,897 6.9 181,636 158,157
UK Index Linked Gilts 92,190 10.0 101,437 82,943
UK Equities 312,866 10.1 344,465 281,266
Overseas Bonds 101,827 6.0 107,997 95,656
Multi National Equities* 863,606 9.8 947,894 779,318
UK Property 120,429 2.0 122,898 117,961
Overseas Property               12,541 14.6 14,375 10,708
Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,219 14.5 5,973 4,465

1,678,575          1,826,675            1,530,474 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 1,678,575 7.1% 1,796,915 1,560,236

As at 31
st

 March 2015 Value Volatility of 
return

Value on 
Increase

Value on 
Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

UK Bonds 170,671 6.8 182,277 159,066
UK Index Linked Gilts 89,045 10.4 98,305 79,784
UK Equities 321,583 10.7 355,992 287,174
Overseas Bonds 95,528 5.1 100,400 90,656
Multi National Equities* 885,608 9.0 965,313 805,903
UK Property 107,701 2.7 110,609 104,793
Overseas Property               11,759 14.7 13,488 10,030
Venture Capital/Private Equity 4,587 14.3 5,243 3,931

1,686,482          1,831,627            1,541,337 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 1,686,482 6.5% 1,796,103 1,576,861

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on investments.  These 
investments are subject to interest rate risk, which represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. This risk will affect the value of both fixed 
interest and index linked securities. The amount of income receivable from cash balances will also be affected by 
fluctuations in interest rates.

The sensitivity of the Fund's investments to changes in market prices has been analysed using the volatility of return 
experienced by each investment portfolio during the year to 31st March 2016. The volatility data is broadly consistent 
with a one-standard deviation movement in the value of the assets.  The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant.  

Movements in market prices would have increased or decreased the assets, as held by the Fund's custodian, at 31st 

March 2016 by the amounts shown below:

The Funds exposure to interest rate movements, as a result of the bond portfolio, as at the 31st March 2016 is set 
out below along with the interest rate sensitivity analysis data.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

121

Page 212



Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Asset type

Carrying 

amount as at 

31 March 2016

+100BPS -100BPS

£'000 £'000 £'000

Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest Securities 
excluding cash 362,380            -43,491 43,491             

Asset type

Carrying 

amount as at 

31 March 2015

+100BPS -100BPS

£'000 £'000 £'000

Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest Securities 
excluding cash 355,601            -46,138 46,138             

Foreign Currency Risk

Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

A 6.3% strengthening/weakening of the Pound against the various countries in which the Fund holds
investments would increase/decrease the net assets available to pay benefits as follows:

2015/16 Currency exposure - Asset type Asset value            

as at                 

31st March 

2016

£'000 £'000 £'000

+6.3% -6.3%

Global Fixed Interest 432                   460 405
UK Equities 449                   477 421
Global  Equities 688,006            731,350 644,662
Emerging Market Equities 64,144              68,185 60,103
Global Multi Asset -                    0 0

753,031            800,472      705,591           

Change to net assets 

available to pay benefits

The Council recognises that interest rates can vary and can affect both income to the Fund and the value of the net 
assets available to pay benefits.  Over the last five years long term yields, as measured by the yield on the FTSE 
Over 15 Year Gilt Index, have averaged 3.05% (2014/15 3.4%) and moved between a high of 4.4% (4.6% 2014/15) 
and a low of 2.0% (2.0% 2014/15).  As at the end of March 2016 this yield was 2.2% (2.2% 2014/15).  Given the 
high degree of uncertainty over the future economic situation, the Fund's bond manager has advised that it is 
entirely possible that yields could fluctuate anywhere within this historic range in the next year, or in extreme 
circumstances outside these boundaries.

Change in the year in the 

net assets available to pay 

benefits

Change in the year in the 

net assets available to pay 

benefits

Foreign currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on both monetary and non-
monetary investments denominated in a currency other than Sterling. For a Sterling based investor, when Sterling 
weakens, the Sterling value of foreign currency denominated investments rises. As Sterling strengthens, the 
Sterling value of foreign currency denominated investment falls.  Apart from permitting the fixed income portfolio 
manager, global property manager and the global multi asset manager to hedge currency exposures back to 
Sterling, the Fund’s current policy is to not hedge foreign currency exposure.

Following analysis of historical data, by the Funds performance measurement service, the likely volatility associated 
with foreign exchange rate movements is considered to be 6.3% (as measured by one standard deviation).   

The analysis that follows assumes that all other variables, in particular, exchange rates, remain constant and shows 
the effect in the year on the values of a +/- 100bps (1%) change in interest rates.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

122

Page 213



2014/15 Currency exposure - Asset type    Re-

stated

Asset value            

as at                 

31st March 

2015
£'000 £'000 £'000

+5.6% -5.6%

Global Fixed Interest 2,283                2,412          2,155               
UK Equities 739                   781             698                  
Global  Equities 721,333            761,934      680,731           
Emerging Market Equities 58,499              61,791        55,206             
Global Multi Asset -                    -             -                   

782,854            826,918      738,790           

2014/15 Currency exposure - Asset type Asset value            

as at                 

31st March 

2015

£'000 £'000 £'000

+5.6% -5.6%

Global Fixed Interest 2,283                2,411          2,155               
UK Equities 739                   780             698                  
Global  Equities 721,333            761,728      680,938           
Emerging Market Equities 58,499              61,775        55,223             
Global Multi Asset 78,772              83,183        74,361             

861,626            909,877      813,375           

Credit Risk

Change to net assets 

available to pay benefits

Following further discussions with the Global Multi Asset Manager it has become apparent that this Fund's currency 
risk is actively hedged and it is now considered more appropriate to exclude this holding from the table below.  
Therefore we have re-stated the 2014/15 table to enable comparisons.

The Council believes it has managed its exposure to credit risk within an acceptable level and its default experience 
over the last five financial years is not significantly out of line with the industry.  

Change to net assets 

available to pay benefits

Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss.  This is often referred to as counterparty risk.  

In essence the Fund's entire investment portfolio is exposed to some form of credit risk, with exception of the 
derivatives positions, where the risk equates to the net market value of a positive derivative position.  However, the 
careful selection and monitoring of counterparties including brokers, custodian and investment managers minimises 
any credit risk that may occur through the failure to settle transactions in a timely manner.  The Fund's contractual 
exposure to credit risk is represented by the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding, and the cost of 
replacing the derivative position in the event of a counterparty default.  The residual risk is minimal due to the 
various insurance policies held by the exchanges to cover defaulting counterparties.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the custodian may affect the Fund's access to its assets.  However, all assets held by 
the custodian are ring-fenced as "client assets" and therefore cannot be claimed by creditors of the custodian.  The 
Fund manages its risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the custodian.

Credit risk on over the counter derivative contracts is minimised as counterparties are recognised financial 
intermediaries with acceptable credit ratings determined by a recognised rating agency.

The Fund's bond portfolios have significant credit risk through its underlying investments.  This risk is managed 
through diversification across sovereign and corporate entities, credit quality and maturity of bonds. The market 
prices of bonds incorporate an assessment of credit quality in their valuation which reflects the probability of default 
(the yield of a bond will include a premium that will compensate for the risk of default). 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

123

Page 214



Credit Analysis

31
st

 March 2016 AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

62,670 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
92,596 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
11,592 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
10,819 -               -               -                           -               -               -               

                     -   2,597 43,519 27,500 8,158 -               1,682
1,100 1,373 5,459 11,638 1,739       -               -               

                     -                -   495 -                           1,806       -               -               
                     -   1,057       -               -                           -               -               -               

3,136 -               -               -                           -               -               -               

               1,432 -               -               262                      -               -               2,433
183,345 5,027 49,473 39,400 11,703              -   4,115

62.6% 1.7% 16.9% 13.4% 4.0% -           1.4%

31
st

 March 2015
AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

63,475 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
89,296 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
12,229 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
13,548 -               -               -                           -               -               -               

                     -   3,419 36,006 24,390 9,076 -               1,815
1,779 1,448 6,186 12,748 -               -               -               

                     -                -   1,797 2,237 -               -               -               
1,105 -               -               -                           -               -               -               
4,669 -               -               -                           -               -               -               

                     -   -               -               -                           -               -               2,182
186,101 4,867 43,989 39,375 9,076              -   3,997

64.8% 1.7% 15.3% 13.6% 3.2% -           1.4%

Supra/Sov/Local Govts

Cash/Cash 
Equivalents/Currency 
Forwards

Emerging Markets

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio

Overseas Inflation-linked

Overseas Govt Bonds

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio

Corporate Bonds

UK Index Linked

Asset Backed

Mortgages

UK Gilts

Emerging Markets

Overseas Inflation-linked

UK Index Linked

Asset Backed

Supra/Sov/Local Govts

UK Gilts

Cash/Cash 
Equivalents/Currency 
Forwards

Overseas Govt Bonds

Another source of credit risk is the cash balances held to meet operational requirements or by the managers at their 
discretion.  Internally held cash is managed on the Fund's behalf by the Council's Treasury Management Team in line with the 
Fund's Treasury Management Policy which sets out the permitted counterparties and limits.  The Fund invests surplus cash 
held with the custodian in diversified money market funds.

Through its securities lending activities, the Fund is exposed to the counterparty risk of the collateral provided by borrowers 
against the securities lent.  This risk is managed by restricting the collateral permitted to high grade sovereign debt and 
baskets of liquid equities. Cash collateral is not permitted.

Foreign exchange contracts are subject to credit risk in relation to the counterparties of the contracts which are primarily 
banks.  The maximum credit exposure on foreign currency contracts is any net profit on forward contracts, should the 
counterparty fail to meet its obligations to the Fund when it falls due.

The credit risk within the bond portfolios can be analysed using standard industry credit ratings and the analysis as at 31st 

March 2016 is set out below.  

Corporate Bonds

Mortgages

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

124

Page 215



Treasury Management Year End Cash Balances

Account Name Rating* £’000 Rating* £’000

** Standard Life Sterling Liquidity Fund AAAmmf 3,837 AAAmmf 1,542

** Federated Short Term Sterling Prime Fund AAAmmf 2,019 AAAmmf 2,725

HSBC Instant Access A-1+/AA- 531 A1+/AA- 195

HSBC Current Account A-1+/AA- 25 A1+/AA- 45

Total 6,412                   4,507       

** Renamed

Liquidity Risk

All financial liabilities are due within one year.

* Ratings quoted are all Standard and Poors as at 31st March 2016 and 2015 with the exception of Federated Prime, which is 
Fitch rated as at 31st March 2016

The management of Pension Fund cash balances not held by the Custodian is delegated to Gloucestershire County Council's 
Treasury Management team to manage in accordance with their Treasury Management Strategy, which reflects the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services. Pension Fund cash is invested separately from 
Gloucestershire County Council monies.

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Council 
therefore takes steps to ensure that the Pension Fund has adequate cash resources to meet its commitments. A substantial 
portion of the Fund's investments consist of readily realisable securities, in particular equities and fixed income investments, 
even though a significant proportion is held in pooled funds.  However, the main liability of the Fund are the benefits payable, 
which fall due over a long period and the investment strategy reflects the long term nature of these liabilities.  Therefore the 
Fund is able to manage the liquidity risk that arises from its investments in less liquid asset classes such as property which 
are subject to longer redemption periods and cannot be considered as liquid as the other investments. The Fund maintains a 
cash balance to meet working requirements and has immediate access to its cash holdings.

 Balances as at 31st March 

2015 

 Balances as at 31st 

March 2016 

The Fund's cash holding under its treasury management arrangements at 31st March 2016 is shown below:

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

125

Page 216



Refinancing risk

Fair value hierarchy







2015/16 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£’000 £’000 £’000

312,866 -                             -                        
300,054 1,508                        -   

63,920                             -                          -   
                                  -                     162,866                        -   
                                  -                       92,190                        -   

180 96,684                        -   
9,105                       2,860                        -   

422,424                     75,700                        -   
Property                                   -   24,239 108,732

                                  -                               -   5,219
6,475                             -                          -   

1,115,024 456,047 113,951

2014/15 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£’000 £’000 £’000

312,365 -                             -                        
309,628 1,556                        -   

58,499                             -                          -   
156,993                             -                          -   

89,045                             -                          -   
89,916 4,607                        -   
14,638                             -                          -   

446,370 78,772                        -   
Property                                   -   101,494 17,966

                                  -                               -   4,587
5,702                             -                          -   

                     1,483,156 186,429 22,553

Type of Asset

UK Equities
Global Equities 

Private Equity
Cash & Cash Equivalents

TOTAL

Emerging Market Equities 
Fixed Interest
Index Linked Securities
Overseas Fixed Interest
Overseas Index Linked
Unitised Insurance Policy

Overseas Fixed Interest
Overseas Index Linked
Unitised Insurance Policy

Private Equity
Cash & Cash Equivalents

TOTAL

Type of Asset

UK Equities
Global Equities 
Emerging Market Equities 
Fixed Interest
Index Linked Securities

Refinancing risk relates to the Fund being required to replenish a significant proportion of its financial instruments at a 
time of unfavourable interest rates.  Refinancing risk within the Bond portfolio is mitigated through credit and liquidity 
analysis of all investments and diversification by issuer and maturity. The CBRE property fund managed on behalf of the 
Pension Fund is not leveraged or subject to refinancing risk.  However, the underlying investments within this portfolio 
are leveraged and so may be subject to refinancing risk.  This risk is mitigated by covenants written into the Fund 
documentation.  There are no other financial instruments that have refinancing risk as part of its treasury management 
and investment strategies.

The Fund is required to classify its investments using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used 
in making an assessment of fair value.  Fair value is the value at which the investments could be realised within a 
reasonable timeframe.  This hierarchy is not a measure of investment risk but a reflection of the ability to value the 
investments at fair value. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

The following sets out the Fund's investment assets (by class) measured at fair value according to the fair value 
hierarchy, as held by the Fund's custodian, at 31st March 2016

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has 

the ability to access at the measurement date

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices under Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 

indirectly

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value that rely on the reporting entity’s 

own assumptions concerning the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability, 
including assumptions about risk

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

126

Page 217



N28. Financial instrument disclosure

2015/16

Designated as fair 

value through P & L

Loans & 

Receivables

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost
£'000s £'000s £'000s

Financial assets

Fixed interest securities 280,881                           -                             -                        
Equities 312,866                           -                             -                        
Pooled investments 1,079,610                       -                             -                        
Private equity 5,219                               -                             -                        
Derivative contracts 138                                   -                             -                        
Cash -                                    13,519                      -                        
Other investment balances -                                    7,254                        -                        
Debtors -                                    7,437                        -                        

1,678,714                       28,210                      -                       

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts -927 -                             -                        
Other investment balances -                                    -1,789 -                        
Creditors -                                    -                             -1,705
Borrowings -                                    -                             -                        

-927 -1,789 -1,705

1,677,787 26,421 -1,705

2014/15

Designated as fair 

value through P & L

Loans & 

Receivables

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost
£'000s £'000s £'000s

Financial assets

Fixed interest securities 277,200                           -                             -                        
Equities 312,365                           -                             -                        
Pooled investments 1,092,329                       -                             -                        
Private equity 4,587                               -                             -                        
Derivative contracts 587                                   -                             -                        
Cash -                                    13,289                      -                        
Other investment balances -                                    5,439                        -                        
Debtors -                                    7,703                        -                        

1,687,068                       26,431                      -                       

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts -949 -                             -                        
other investment balances -                                    -1,436 -                        
Creditors -                                    -                             -2,040 
Borrowings -                                    -                             -                        

-949 -1,436 -2,040 

1,686,119 24,995 -2,040 

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

127

Page 218



N29. Transfers in and out of the Pension Fund

Transfers to other pension funds

N30. Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted

N31. Taxation where lifetime or annual allowances are exceeded 

N32. Events after the reporting date 

Where a member's benefit entitlement exceeds the United Kingdom Inland Revenue tax limits (Lifetime Allowance or the 
Annual Allowance), the member is liable for taxation.  This tax can be settled by the member or has to be settled by the 
Pension Fund on behalf of the member in exchange for a reduction in benefit entitlement.  The Pension Fund has paid 
tax of £50k on behalf of members in 2015/16 which will be recovered from their future pension payments.  An accrual has 
not been made for the recovery of this tax element on the grounds of materiality and the very long term nature of its 
recovery.      

Following the EU referendum and the decision to leave the EU, stock markets and currency exchanges experienced 
significant fluctuations whilst the implications of this decision was being assimilated. As investments are valued at fair 
value and the benefit only realised upon sale, any change is considered a non-adjusting event. 

The Pension Fund received notification that all Valuation Tribunals across the country would be transferring their pension 
assets and liabilities into the London Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA).  This involved transferring the Gloucestershire & 
Severnside Valuation Tribunals’ records, pensioners and members to LPFA together with £1.1m representing the 

Valuation Tribunal's share of the Pension Fund assets.   

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 requires consideration of the impact 
of Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted. This is to enable users to evaluate the risk of these new 
Standards on the Pension Fund's current financial position.                                                                                                                                                                  
The Pension Fund has yet to adopt the amendment to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements (Disclosure Initiative).  IAS 1 sets out the overall requirements for financial statements and will 
change the format of the Pension Fund Account and Net Assets Statement.  Although this amendment to the standard 
was effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2016, its adoption was deferred by the 
CIPFA/LASSAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board until the 2016/17 Code.
It is anticipated that this Standard will not have a material impact on the accounts when it is applied prospectively from 
1st April 2016.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

128

Page 219



Fire Pensions Accounts

Fund Account for the year ended 31st March 2016

2014/15 FPS NFPS

Modified 

Scheme

2015 Care 

Scheme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Contributions Receivable

Fire Authority
-1,616 contributions in relation to pensionable pay -899 -19 -57 -531 -1,506

early retirements -                   -                  -                   -                  -             
-                   other: Ill health retirement -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

Firefighters' contributions
-1,177 normal -621 -17 -121 -449 -1,208

-9 other: Added Years -8 -                  -                   -                  8-             

Transfers in

-                   transfers in from other schemes 1,034-            -                  -                   -                  1,034-      

Benefits Payable

4,512 pensions 4,655 13 1 -                  4,669
759 commutations & lump sum retirement benefits 2,324 9 5 -                  2,338

-                   lump sum death benefits -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

Payments to and on account of leavers

-                   refunds of contributions -                   -                  -                   -                  -             
-                   transfers out to other schemes -                   13               -                   -                  13           

2,469 Net amount payable for the year 4,417 -1 -172 -980 3,264

-2,469 Top-up grant receivable / payable to central government -4,417 1 172 980 -3,264

-                   -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

Net Assets Statement for the year ended 31st March 2016

FPS NFPS

Modified 

Scheme

2015 Care 

Scheme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net current assets and liabilities

Current Assets

contributions due from employer -                   -                  -                   -                  -             
-468 pension top-up grant receivable from central government -1,556 1                 172               980 403-         

recoverable overpayments of pensions -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

Current Liabilities

unpaid pension benefits -                   -                  -                   -                  -             
amount payable to central government -                   1-                 172-               980-             1,153-      
other current liabilities -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

468 amount owing to general fund 1,556            -                  -                   -                  1,556      

-                   -                   -                  -                   -                  -             

 Notes

The Firefighters pension fund is administered by the County Council.  Under the Public Services( Firefighters) Pension Regulations 2014, four  schemes currently 
exist: the 'Firefighter Pension Scheme 1992 ' (FPS) which is for whole-time firefighters who were employed before 5th April 2006; The 2006 'New Firefighters 
Pension Scheme' (NFPS) for all whole-time firefighters who have joined since 6th April 2006, those that have transferred from the old scheme, and all Retained 
Firefighters;  The modified scheme which offers retrospective access to benefits to retained firefighters employed since April 2000; The 2015 Care Scheme for all 
new members employed from April 2015 with transitional arrangements and protections. It is an unfunded scheme which is "contracted out" of the state scheme 
and is termed a defined benefit (or final salary) scheme.  The fund is financed by contributions paid in by existing firefighters and the Fire Service with any balance 
receivable from or payable to the Home Office, therefore there are no investment assets belonging to the fund.

Employees and employers contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set nationally by Government and are subject to triennial revaluation 
by the Government Actuary's Department.

Pension benefits are payable from the fund in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions and include ordinary and ill-health awards.  Any ongoing injury 
awards are not payable from the fund.

The fund has been prepared to meet the requirements of the "Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16.  There are no 
administration charges included in the accounts and the fund's financial statements do not take into account any liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after 
the period end.

The liability under IAS 19 is disclosed in note 32 of the Notes to the Accounts 

In May 2015 a determination was made by the pensions ombudsman requiring an amendment to the basis on which commutation lump sum payments were made 
to retiring firefighters between 2001 and 2006. This determination resulted in additional payments being made to these individuals in 2015-16 totalling £549,358.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

129

Page 220



Glossary of terms 

Accounting Policies

Accounting Standards

Accrual

Actuary

Actuarial Gains and Losses

Admitted Body

Amortisation

Benefits in Kind

Capital Expenditure

Includes spending on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Assets either directly by the Council or 
indirectly in the form of grants to other persons or bodies. Expenditure not falling within this definition must be 
charged to the General Fund as Revenue Expenditure.

Contributions over and above a member’s normal contributions which the member elects to pay in order to 

secure additional benefits.

Those principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices that specify how the effects of transactions and 
other events are reflected in Financial Statements through recognising, selecting measurement bases for, 
and presenting Assets, Liabilities, Gains, Losses and changes to Reserves.  Accounting policies do not 
include estimation techniques.

An adviser on financial questions involving probabilities relating to mortality and other contingencies.  Every 
three years the Scheme appointed actuary reviews the Assets and the Liabilities of the Fund and reports to 
the Group Director of Enabling & Transition on the financial position.  This is known as the triennial actuarial 
valuation.

For a Defined Benefit Pension Scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because 
events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (experience gains and 
losses), or the actuarial assumptions have changed.

An organisation that chooses and is allowed by the Scheme to be admitted to the LGPS using an Admission 
Agreement in order to provide access to the Scheme for some or all of its employees.

The writing down in book value of Intangible Assets to reflect the Asset's usage.

An amount to cover income or spending that has not yet been paid but which belongs to that accounting 
period.

Active Investment Management

The Code of Practice prescribes the accounting treatment and disclosures for all normal transactions of a 
Council. It is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Standards (IAS) and 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) plus UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (GAAP) and Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

Benefits in Kind are items provided to an employee on top of their salary that are considered to benefit the 
employee. Benefits in Kind can be varied and wide ranging. Some of the most common of these benefits 
include fuel allowances, leased cars, mobile phones, beneficial or low rate loans, and contributions to 
schemes such as private medical insurance.

A style of investment management where the fund manager aims to outperform a benchmark by superior 
asset allocation, market timing or stock selection (or by a combination of all 3).

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC’s)

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

130

Page 221



Class of Tangible Fixed Assets

The classes of Tangible Fixed Assets required to be included in the accounting statements are:

Operational Assets

•     Land and buildings
•     Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment
•     Infrastructure assets
•     Community assets

Non-operational Assets

•     Assets under construction
•     Surplus assets held for disposal.

Code of Practise (CODE)

Community Assets

Consistency

Contingent Asset

Contingent Liability

Corporate and Democratic Core 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

Deferred Charges

A publication produced by CIPFA that provides comprehensive guidance on the content of a Council's 
Statement of Accounts.

Deferred Retirement Benefit

A benefit that a member has accrued but is not yet entitled to receive payment.  

Assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity that have no determinable useful life, which may have 
restrictions on their disposal. Examples of Community Assets are parks and historical buildings.

The principle that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting period, and from one period to 
the next, is the same.

A Contingent Asset is a possible asset arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Council’s control.

A Contingent Liability is either a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Council’s 

control, or a present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The Corporate and Democratic Core comprises all activities which the council engage in specifically because 
it is an elected, multi-purpose council.  The cost of these activities are over and above those which would be 
incurred by a series of independent, single purpose, nominated Bodies managing the same services. There is 
therefore no logical basis for apportioning these costs to services.

Expenditure which may properly be deferred, but which does not result in, or remain matched with, assets 
controlled by the council.

A specific Government grant which funds schools and schools related expenditure.  The grant is ringfenced 
and can only be used in support of the School's budget.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

131

Page 222



Depreciation

Derivative

Disclosure

Information we must show in the accounts under the CIPFA code of practice.

Discretionary Benefits

Estimation Techniques

Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Exceptional Items

Extraordinary Items

Fair Value

Finance Lease

The measure of the cost or revalued amount of the benefits of the Fixed Asset that have been consumed 
during the period.  Consumption includes the wearing out, using up or other reduction in the useful life of a 
Fixed Asset whether arising from use, effluxion of time or obsolescence through either changes in technology 
or demand for the goods and services produced by the Asset.

A security whose price is dependent upon, or derived from, one or more underlying Assets. The derivative 
itself is merely a contract between two or more parties. It's value is determined by fluctuations in the 
underlying Asset. The most common underlying Assets include stocks, bonds, commodities, currencies, 
interest rates and market indexes.

Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to award and are 
awarded under the council’s discretionary powers, such as the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) 

Regulations 1996.

The methods adopted by an Entity to arrive at estimated monetary amounts corresponding to the 
measurement bases selected for Assets, Liabilities, Gains, Losses and changes to Reserves.  Estimation 
techniques implement the measurement aspects of Accounting Policies. An Accounting Policy will specify the 
basis on which an item is to be measured; where there is uncertainty over the monetary amount 
corresponding to that basis, the amount will be arrived at by using an estimation technique. 

A Finance Lease is one that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to 
the lessee. 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the 
Balance Sheet date and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.

Material items which derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the council and 
which need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size or incidence to give fair presentation of the 
Accounts.

Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs/ET’s)

A fund that tracks a selection or ‘basket’ of related securities within a Stock Market Index but can be traded 

on an Exchange like a stock or share. 

Material items possessing a high degree of abnormality, which derive from events or transactions that fall 
outside the ordinary activities of the Council and which are not expected to recur. They do not include 
exceptional items nor do they include prior period items merely because they relate to a prior period.

The amount for which an Asset could be exchanged or a Liability settled at arms length between 
knowledgeable parties.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

132

Page 223



Funding Level

Going Concern

Government Grants

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12

Inventories

Impairment

The relationship at a specified date between the actuarial value of Assets and the Actuarial Liability, normally 
expressed as a funding ratio or percentage.

Futures Contracts

A contract which binds two parties to complete a sale or purchase at a specified future date at a price which is 
fixed at the time the contract is effected. Exchange Traded Futures Contracts have standard terms and 
margin payments are required.

The concept that the Authority will remain in operational existence for the foreseeable future, in particular that 
the Accounts and Balance Sheet assume no intention to curtail significantly the scale of operations.

The assistance by Government and Inter-Government Agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national or 
international, in the form of cash or transfers of assets to a Council in return for past or future compliance with 
certain conditions relating to the activities of the council.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)

A loss in the value of a Fixed Asset arising from physical damage such as a major fire or a significant 
reduction in market value. In addition a reduction in value where there is insufficient unrealised gains in the 
revaluation reserve for that asset.  A loss in the value of a financial instrument arising from market conditions.

The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use. When use will not arise until 
a later period, it is appropriate to carry forward the amount to be matched to the use or consumption when it 
arises. 

These standards are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They are adapted under the 
auspices of CIPFA so as to apply to local authorities and consolidated in the Code of Practise on Local 
Authority Accounting.

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 outlines the accounting requirements for employee benefits, 
including short-term benefits (e.g. wages and salaries, annual leave), post-employment benefits such as 
retirement benefits, other long-term benefits (e.g. long service leave) and termination benefits. The standard 
establishes the principle that the cost of providing employee benefits should be recognised in the period in 
which the benefit is earned by the employee, rather than when it is paid or payable, and outlines how each 
category of employee benefits are measured, providing detailed guidance in particular about post-
employment benefits.

The minimum pension which a salary related Occupational Pension Scheme must provide in respect of 
contracted out contributions paid between April 1978 and 1997 as a condition of contracting out.

The objective of IFRIC 12 is to clarify how certain aspects of existing International Accounting Standards are 
to be applied to service concession arrangements.  A service concession arrangement is an arrangement 
whereby a government or other public sector body contracts with a private operator to develop (or upgrade), 
operate and maintain the grantor's infrastructure assets such as roads, bridges, tunnels, airports, energy 
distribution networks, prisons or hospitals. The grantor controls or regulates what services the operator must 
provide using the assets, to whom, and at what price, and also controls any significant residual interest in the 
assets at the end of the term of the arrangement.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

133

Page 224



Infrastructure Assets

LAAP

Liquid Resources

Long-term Contracts

Net Book Value

Non-Operational Assets

Operating Leases

Fixed assets that are not able to be transferred and expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued 
use of the asset created. Examples of Infrastructure Assets are highways and footpaths.

The price at which an asset might reasonably be expected to be sold in an open market.

A contract entered into for the design, manufacture or construction of a single substantial asset or the 
provision of a service (or a combination of assets or services which together constitute a single project), 
where the time taken substantially to complete the contract is such that the contract activity falls into different 
accounting periods. Some contracts with a shorter duration than one year should be accounted for as long-
term contracts if they are sufficiently material to the activity of the period.

Managed Fund

An arrangement where the assets of a scheme are invested on similar lines to the operation of unit trusts by 
an external investment manager.

Market Value

Current Asset investments that are readily disposable by the council without disrupting its business and are 
either readily convertible to known amounts of cash at or close to the carrying amount, or traded in an active 
market.

Local Authority Accounting Panel.  The panel regularly issues LAAP Bulletins to local authority practitioners. 
These Bulletins provide guidance on topical issues and accounting developments and when appropriate 
provide clarification on the detailed accounting requirement.

Investment Management Agreement

The document agreed between an Investment Manager and the Fund setting out the basis upon which the 
manager will manage a portfolio of investments for the Fund.

A pooled investment vehicle structured as a limited company in which investors can buy and sell shares on an 
ongoing basis.

Under this type of lease, the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased goods stay with the company 
leasing out the goods.

Fixed Assets held by a council but not used or consumed in the delivery of services or for the service or 
strategic objectives of the council. Examples of Non-Operational Assets include investment properties and 
assets that are surplus to requirements, pending their sale.

Membership

Local Authority employment during which time pension contributions were made or deemed to have been 
made providing entitlement to benefits under the scheme.

The amount at which Fixed Assets are included in the Balance Sheet, i.e. at their historical cost or current 
value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation.

Open Ended Investment Company (OEIC)

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

134

Page 225



Operational Assets

Past Service Cost

Pension Interest Cost and Expected Return on Pensions Assets

Prior Period Adjustments

Realised Gains/ (Losses)

Profit/(losses) on investments when they are sold at more/(less) than the purchase price.

Projected Unit Method

An Accrued Benefits funding method in which the actuarial liability makes allowance for projected earnings. 
The standard contribution rate is that necessary to cover the cost of all benefits which will accrue in the 
control period following the valuation date by reference to earnings projected to the dates on which benefits 
become payable. 

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)

A Government agency providing long and short term loans to local authorities at interest rates only slightly 
higher than those at which Government itself can borrow.

Quoted Investments

Investments that have their prices quoted on a recognised stock exchange.

The right but not the obligation to buy (call option) or sell (put option) a specific security at a specified price 
(the exercise or strike price), at or within a specified time (the expiry date). This right is obtained by payment 
of an amount (known as the premium) to the writer (seller) of the option, and can be exercised whatever 
happens to the security’s market price.

Fixed assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the council in the direct delivery of those services for 
which it has either a statutory or discretionary responsibility or for the service or strategic objectives of the 
council.

Pooled Investment Vehicle

A fund in which a number of investors pool their assets which are managed on a collective basis. The assets 
of a pooled investment vehicle are denominated in units that are revalued regularly to reflect the values of 
underlying assets. Vehicles include open ended investment companies, real estate investment trusts and unit 
trusts.

Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting policies or from the 
correction of fundamental errors. A fundamental error is one that is of such significance as to destroy the 
validity of the financial statements. They do not include normal recurring corrections or adjustments of 
accounting estimates made in prior years.

Over The Counter (OTC)

A market that is conducted between dealers by telephone and computer and not on a listed exchange.

For a Defined Benefit Scheme, the increase in the present value of the scheme liabilities related to employee 
service in prior periods arising in the current period as a result of the introduction of, or improvement to, 
retirement benefits.

The earnings on which benefits and/or contributions are calculated under the scheme rules.

Options

For a Funded Defined Benefit Scheme, the average rate of return, including both income and changes in fair 
value but net of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining life of the related obligation on the actual 
assets held by the scheme.

Pensionable Earnings

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

135

Page 226



Related Parties

Two or more parties are related parties when at any time during the financial period:

•     One party has direct or indirect control of the other party, or
•     The parties are subject to common control from the same source, or
•     One party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other party to an extent that the

 other party might be inhibited from pursuing at all times its own separate interests, or
•     The parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same source to such an extent

 that one of the parties to the transaction has subordinated its own separate interests.

Examples of related parties of the Council include:

•     Central Government
•     Local Authorities and other bodies precepting or levying demands on the Council Tax
•     It's subsidiary and associated companies
•     It's joint ventures and joint venture partners
•     It's Members
•     It's Chief Officers, and
•     It's Pension Fund.

For individuals identified as related parties, the following are also presumed to be related parties:

•     Members of the close family, or the same household, and
•     Partnerships, companies, trusts or other entities in which the individual, or a member of their close family 

 or the same household, has a controlling interest.

Related Party Transaction

•     The purchase, sale, lease, rental or hire of assets between related parties
•     The provision by a pension fund to a related party of assets of loans, irrespective of any direct economic

 benefit to the pension fund
•     The provision of a guarantee to a third party in relation to a liability or obligation of a related party
•     The provision of services to a related party, including the provision of pension fund administration 

 services
•     Transactions with individuals who are related parties of an authority or a pension fund, except those 

 applicable to other members of the community or the pension fund, such as council tax, rents and
 payments of benefits.

Remuneration

Reserves

Residual Value

All sums paid to or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of expenses allowances (as far as those 
sums are chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value of any other benefits received other than in 
cash. Pension contributions payable by the employer are excluded.

Amounts set aside in one year’s accounts to be spent in future years. Some reserves are earmarked for 

specific purposes and other general revenue balances are available to meet future revenue and capital 
expenditure.

The Net Realisable Value of an Asset at the end of its useful life. Residual values are based on prices 
prevailing at the date of the acquisition (or revaluation) of the asset and do not take account of expected 
future price changes.

A Related Party Transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a 
related party irrespective of whether a charge is made. Examples of related party transactions include:

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

136

Page 227



Retirement Benefits

Scheduled Bodies

Service Reporting Code of Practise (SeRCOP)

Soft Loans

Loans, normally to voluntary sector organisations, below the market rate of interest.

Tangible Fixed Assets - Property Plant & Equipment

Trust Funds

The amount of the transfer payment.

Funds administered by the Council on behalf of others for such purposes as prizes, charities and specific 
projects.

Unitised Insurance Policy

Investors are issued with a life policy representing title. Investors' 'holdings of units' represent a means of 
calculating the value of their policy. The Life Fund/Company holds the pool of investments and is the owner of 
all the assets. The activities of Life Companies are regulated by the FSA.

A payment made from a pension scheme to another pension scheme in lieu of benefits, which have accrued 
to the member or members concerned, to enable the receiving arrangement to provide alternative benefits.

Tangible Assets that yield benefits to the council and the services it provides for a period of more than one 
year.

Transfer Value

Transfer Payment

All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees that are 
payable after the completion of employment. Retirement benefits do not include termination benefits payable 
as a result of either an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 

retirement date, or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, 

because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees.

Local authorities and similar bodies whose staff are entitled automatically to become members of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund.

Segregated Fund

Where the assets of a particular fund are managed independently of those of other funds under the fund 
manager’s control.

Specialist Management

A fund management arrangement whereby there are separate accounts or contracts with one or a variety of 
managers for specific asset classes. Each manager focuses mainly on stock selection within the asset class 
while the Pension Committee/trustees determine allocations to each asset class.

Councils have different structures for services or departments, which may have different responsibilities, 
making comparisons between them difficult.  To help make comparisons, CIPFA uses a Code of Practice 
which provides standard categories for both services (departments) and expense types.  The CIPFA Service 
Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) replaced the previous Best Value Accounting Code of Practice 
(BVACOP) from 2011/12.  SeRCOP establishes proper practices with regard to consistent financial reporting 
for services.  It is expected that CIPFA members will comply with all the mandatory requirements of SeRCOP 
as it defines best practice in terms of financial reporting.  SeRCOP is reviewed annually to ensure that it 
develops in line with the needs of modern Local Government, Transparency, Best Value and Public Services 
reform.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

137

Page 228



Useful Life

The period over which the council will derive benefits from the use of a fixed asset.

Unrealised Profit

This is the anticipated profit that would be generated from selling the asset.

Usable Capital Receipts

Unit Trust

Unit Trusts are collective funds, which allow private investors to pool their money in a single fund, thus 
spreading risk, getting the benefit of professional fund management and reducing dealing costs. Unit trust 
trading is based on market forces and their Net Asset Value - that is, the value of their underlying assets 
divided by the number of units in issue. The activities of unit trusts are regulated by the FSA.

The proportion of the proceeds arising from the sale of fixed assets that can be used to finance capital 
expenditure or repay debt.

Venture Capital

The term used to describe a subset of private equity covering the seed to expansion stages of investment.

Unquoted Investments

Investments which are dealt in the market but are not subject to any listing requirements and are given no 
official status.

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

138

Page 229



Abbreviations

BVACOP Best Value Accounting Code of Practice
CFR Capital Financing Requirement
CPFA Chartered Public Finance Accountant
CPI Consumer Price Index
DCLG Department of Communities and Local Government
DEFRA (Defra) Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
DSG Dedicated Schools Grant
FPS Firefighters Pension Scheme
FSA Financial Services Authority
GCC Gloucestershire County Council
GFRS Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
GSWBP Gloucester South West Bypass
HMRC Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
IAS International Accounting Standard
ICES Integrated Community Equipment Service
IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
ISB Individual School Budget
IT Information Technology
LAAP Local Authority Accounting Panel
LAMS Local Authority Mortgage Scheme
LASAAC Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee
LATS Landfill Allowances Trading Scheme 
LEP Local Enterprise Partnership
LGPS Local Government Pension Scheme
LOBO Lender Option Borrower Option (Loans)
MRP (Statutory) Minimum Revenue Provision
NFPS New Firefighters Pension Scheme
NHS National Health Service
NNDR National Non-Domestic Rates
NPV Net Present Value
PCT Primary Care Trust
PFI Public Finance Initiative
PPP Public-Private Partnership
PPE Property Plant and Equipment
PWLB Public Works Loans Board
RCCO Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay
RPI Retail Price Index
RSG Revenue Support Grant
SeRCOP Service Reporting Code of Practice
SORP Statement of Recommended Practice
TOIL Time Off in Lieu
TPA Teachers' Pensions Agency
VRP Voluntary Revenue Provision
WG Welsh Government

Gloucestershire County Council - Statement of Accounts 2015-16

139

Page 230



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date:  r 16th September 2016 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 2015/2016 which includes 
The Local Code of Corporate Governance 2015/2016

Context The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement (AGS), in accordance with 
‘proper practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we 
comply with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance, including 
how we have monitored the effectiveness of our arrangements in year 
and on any planned changes to our governance arrangements in the 
coming year. The AGS is signed by the Leader, Chief Executive and 
the Chief Financial Officer and must accompany the Annual Statement 
of Accounts.

Purpose of Report: To summarise GCC’s Corporate Governance arrangements in place 
during 2015/2016, via the publication of an Annual Governance 
Statement which is in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1999, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance – Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government 2007 (Addendum 2012) and Grant Thornton’s publication, 
Local Government Governance Review 2015: All Aboard and Reforging 
Local Government 2015.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 reviews and approves the Annual Governance Statement and 
Local Code of Corporate Governance, and the actions planned 
by the Council to further enhance good governance 
arrangements; and

 agrees that an update on actions taken to address the 
governance issues identified will be provided to the January 
2017 Committee meeting. 

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer - Head of Internal Audit & Risk Management Shared 
Service and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services. 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker – Finance Director
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver effective governance will impact on the ability of the 
Council to achieve its vision, outcomes and priorities. 

Page 233

Agenda Item 7

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

1 

 

 

 
 

Annual 
Governance 
Statement 

 

INFORMATION 

RISK LEADERSHIP 

P
A

R
T

N
E

R
S

H
IP

S
 

ALTERNATIVE 

DELIVERY MODELS 

P
U

B
L

IC
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IC

A
T

IO
N

 

TRANSPARENCY OF DECISION MAKING 

E
N

G
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 

A
C

C
O

U
N

T
A

B
IL

IT
Y

  

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

IL
IT

Y
 

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 ENVIRONMENT 

ASSURANCE 

CULTURE 

S
K

IL
L

S
 

2015 - 2016 

Page 235



1 

 

Contents 
 

Scope of Responsibility .............................................................................................. 2 

Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Framework ....................................... 3 

What is the purpose of a Governance Framework? ................................................... 4 

Process for the review of the effectiveness of GCC’s 2015/2016 Governance 

Framework ................................................................................................................. 7 

Progress on 2014/2015 issues identified .................................................................. 12 

Key findings identified during the 2015/2016 review, including positive initiatives and 

improvement areas................................................................................................... 12 

Other Issues ............................................................................................................. 35 

Certification .............................................................................................................. 38 

Appendix 1 - Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Framework 2015/2016

 ................................................................................................................................. 39 

Appendix 2 - Progress on 2014/2015 Governance Improvement Actions ................ 40 

Appendix 3 - Improvement Plan - 2015/2016 Governance Improvement Actions .... 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 236



     

2 

 

Scope of Responsibility 
 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is responsible for ensuring that its business 

is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 

money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently 

and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 

make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 

functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in 

place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and facilitating the 

effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management 

of risk. 

The responsibility for leading and directing the annual reviews of the effectiveness of 

the Council’s governance arrangements and providing ongoing oversight and robust 

challenge, is the Council’s Statutory Officers, comprising, the Chief Executive, Chief 

Financial Officer (S151) and the Monitoring Officer and when completed, the findings 

are reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

What is Governance? 

Governance is about how the Council ensures that it is doing the right things, in the 

right way, for the right people in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable 

manner. Strong transparent and responsive corporate governance is a key feature of 

any democratic body whose main function is community development and 

representation.  

GCC operates through a governance framework that has been summarised within a 

revised Local Code of Corporate Governance 2015/2016, which is consistent with 

the six core principles of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) Framework; 

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2007 (Addendum 2012) and 

comprises the Council’s systems and processes, culture and values for the direction 

and control of the Council and its activities through which it accounts to, engages 

with and leads the community.   

Page 237



     

3 

 

Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Framework 
The six core principles (underpinned by a number of supporting principles) are 

summarised below:  

 Core Principle 1: Gloucestershire 

County Council aims to focus on its 

purpose and on outcomes for the 

community, creating and implementing 

a vision for the local area with partners.  
 

Core Principle 2: Members and 

officers working together to achieve a 

common purpose with clearly defined 

functions and roles.  

Core Principle 3: Promoting values for 

the authority, and demonstrating the 

values of good governance through 

upholding high standards of conduct 

and behaviour. 

Core Principle 4: Taking informed and 

transparent decisions, which are 

subject to effective scrutiny and 

managing risk. 

Core Principle 5: Developing the 

capacity and capability of members 

and officers to be effective. 

Core Principle 6: Engaging with local 

people and other stakeholders to 

ensure robust public accountability. 

  

Page 238



     

4 

 

Local Code of Corporate Governance (LCCG) 2015/2016 

The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is a public statement of the Council's 

commitment to these principles and specifically identifies the key actions taken by 

GCC in relation to each of the core and supporting principles. The Code is reviewed 

and updated annually. 

Annual Governance Statement 2015/2016 

The Council is also required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to publish 

an Annual Governance Statement (AGS), in order to report publicly on the extent to 

which we comply with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance, including how 

we have monitored the effectiveness of our arrangements in year and on any 

planned changes to our governance arrangements in the coming year. In order for 

the Council to continue to improve our governance framework and learn from our 

peers, full consideration has also been given to the key issues highlighted within 

Grant Thornton’s publications, Local Government Governance Review 2014 – 

Working in Tandem, Local Government Governance review 2015: All Aboard and 

Reforging Local Government 2015.   

What is the purpose of a Governance Framework? 
 

The governance framework enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its 

strategic objectives, and to consider whether those objectives have led to the 

delivery of appropriate services and value for money. The system of internal control 

is a significant part of that framework (i.e. the policies, processes, tasks, behaviours, 

performance and other aspects of the organisation) that ensures: 

� business is conducted in accordance with the laws, regulations, internal 

policies and proper standards; 

� significant risks are appropriately managed;  

� assets are safeguarded from inappropriate use, or from loss and fraud;  

� public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 

economically, efficiently and effectively; 

Page 239



     

5 

 

� human, financial, environmental and other resources are managed efficiently 

and effectively;  

� records and information are properly maintained;   

� effective arrangements are in place for timely, relevant and reliable internal 

and external reporting; and  

� the Council’s values and ethical standards are met. 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 

and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, aims, objectives 

and outcomes, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being 

realised and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  

Please note however, that any system of internal control is designed to manage risk 

to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, 

aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance of effectiveness.  

The Council’s Governance Framework, which underpins the Annual Governance 

Statement, has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31st March 2016 and up 

to the date of approval of the Annual Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts 

and is summarised at Appendix 1.  

Key Corporate Governance Strategies/Systems and Processes 

The Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance evidences the Council’s commitment 

and actions taken to ensure good governance. However the key corporate strategies, 

systems and processes that contribute to effective governance arrangements and 

underpin the core principles,  are summarised below:- 

� The Council’s Constitution July 2015 (describes the individuals and groups that 

make up the County Council (that is, its “composition”) and the principal rules and 

procedures that govern the way it operates, including clearly defined decision 

making processes). http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/constitution 

 

Page 240



     

6 

 

� The Council Strategy 2015-2018 (defines the Council’s key priorities and plans, 

following full consultation with the communities of Gloucestershire). 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42252&p=0 

� Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 (describes the Council’s 

financial strategy and detailed budget to meet the priorities of the Council’s 

Strategy).  

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0 

� Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 2014/2015 (defines 

the Council’s response to fraud and irregularity). 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=59424&p=0 

� Performance and Spending Framework (defines the Council’s corporate 

performance management arrangements, including audits, inspections and 

assessments). http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/104745/Performance--

spending 

� Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 2015-2016 (defines how risk 

is managed within the Council and our partners). 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105641/Code-of-Corporate-Governance 

� Information Management and Security Policies (defines how the Council’s 

information is managed and secured). 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/information-management-policies 

� Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of GCC (defines the 

expected standard of conduct by Members).  

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=53987&p=0 

� Members development programme (to support continued Member 

development).  

� Employee Code of Conduct (defines the expected standard of conduct by 

employees). 

� Officers’ development programmes (to support continued officer development). 

Page 241



     

7 

 

� Customer Complaints Policy and Customer Care Standards enables the 

Council to act quickly and efficiently to put things right if something goes wrong; 

and to learn from customer complaints in order to improve our services and focus 

on the needs of our customers.  

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/customercare 

� External Audit arrangements. Grant Thornton (external audit) provide (a) an 

independent opinion on the financial statements and (b) a value for money 

conclusion focusing on financial resilience and the three ‘E’s i.e. Economy, 

Efficiency and Effectiveness.  

� Internal Audit arrangements. Internal Audit provide independent, objective 

assurance that the key risks to the achievement of objectives/priorities are 

adequately managed and that Anti-Fraud and Corruption arrangements are in 

place to ensure financial probity. 

Process for the review of the effectiveness of GCC’s 2015/2016 

Governance Framework 
 

The review of effectiveness is informed by: 

� The work of senior officers of the Council who have responsibility for good 

governance; 

� The Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report on Internal Audit Activity 2015/2016, 

which provides the independent assurance that key risks (financial and non-

financial) are being adequately controlled and provides an opinion on the 

effectiveness of these arrangements; 

� The annual report on Risk Management Activity 2015/2016; 

� Any comments made by the Council’s External Auditors; and  

� Any other review agencies and inspectorates.  

 
 
 

Page 242



     

8 

 

In undertaking the 2015/2016 review GCC has:- 
 

� Set out within the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance, the key 

policies, strategies, documents and processes which incorporate its 

governance system; 

� Sought independent assurances from external assessments where available;  

� Significantly strengthened the assurance gathering process, which has been 

led by the Council’s Statutory Officers, (full details are provided below). These 

statements cover all areas of the business, to confirm that adequate 

governance arrangements are in place in relation to:  

o Policy and decision making; 

o Service delivery; 

o Multi Agency / Joint Working / Contractual / Partnerships with other 

Public / Private Sector Bodies, Voluntary and Community 

Organisations; 

o Risk management and internal control; 

o Performance management; 

o Financial management; 

o Compliance with laws and regulations and the Council’s rules and 

procedures; 

o Human resources issues; 

o Management of natural resources and Maximising Social Value; 

o Asset management; and 

o Information governance. 

� If less than adequate assurance has been received back from any Director in 

relation to a key issue, this is reported later within this Annual Governance 

Statement; 

� Reviewing, via the Audit and Governance Committee, progress on the 

implementation of key audit recommendations made in relation to all internal 

audits where an ‘Limited Assurance’ audit opinion was issued during the year; 

Page 243



     

9 

 

� Reviewing the effectiveness of the Audit and Governance Committee; 

� Reviewing the effectiveness of Internal Audit; 

� Reviewing the effectiveness of a sample of the key corporate governance 

processes highlighted; and 

� Reviewing the risk, control and governance arrangements relating to the 

Pensions Fund. 

Governance Assurance Framework 

Assurance provides confidence, based on sufficient evidence, that controls are in 

place and are operating effectively and that objectives are being achieved. An 

Assurance Framework is a structure within which Members and Senior Management 

identify the principal risks to the Council meeting its principal objectives, and through 

which they map out both the key controls to manage them and how they have gained 

sufficient assurance about the effectiveness of those controls. The assurance 

framework underpins the statements made within the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

A governance assurance process is in place to provide a framework for the annual 

assessment of the effectiveness of the governance arrangements operating within 

the Council. This includes a Lead Cabinet Member overview and oversight and 

robust challenge by the Council’s Statutory Officers i.e. the Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer.  

In addition, ‘the three lines of defence risk assurance model’ is in place which helps 

Members and Senior Management to understand where assurances are being 

obtained from, the level of reliance they place on that assurance and identify 

potential gaps in assurance.  

The ‘Three Lines of Defence’ in effective Risk Management and Control 

Assurance can come from many sources within the Council. The Three Lines of 

Defence is a concept for helping to identify and understand the different sources of 

assurance.  

Page 244



     

10 

 

By defining these sources into three categories i.e. the First Line (functions that own 

and manage risks e.g. management and supervisory controls) the Second Line 

(functions that oversee risks e.g., Governance structures and processes (e.g. Audit 

and Governance Committee, Scrutiny) and the Third Line (functions that provide 

independent assurance on the management of risks e.g. OFSTED, Internal/External 

audit), helps understand how each contributes to the overall level of assurance and 

how best they can be integrated and supported.  

Increased focus on the roles and responsibilities of Members and Senior 

Management has prompted the Council to place a greater emphasis on assurance 

activities.  

Members/Directors/Heads of Service Assurance Process 2015/2016 

Self-Assessment Checklist 

Every Director/Head of Service is responsible for delivering the objectives set out in 

their service plan. Directors/Heads of Service are responsible for identifying and 

managing the risks that may affect delivery of their service objectives. This work 

includes monitoring the effectiveness of controls put in place to mitigate the risks and 

carrying out remedial action where controls are weak or not in place. 

Every Director, and nominated Head of Service is required to assist the preparation 

of the AGS for the Council by providing an assurance statement for the internal 

control framework operating within their service(s). An assurance checklist is initially 

completed and signed off by each nominated Head of Service following their self 

assessment, identifying any areas of positive governance initiatives and/or significant 

control issues, the actions taken to address them and the timescales for completion. 

The statements are then submitted to their relevant Director(s), to provide them with 

assurance that appropriate governance arrangements are in place within all parts of 

their areas of business.  

To enable the Council to provide reliable evidence to underpin the assessment of 

risk and control, each section within the assurance statements / self assessment 

checklist, now provides Management with the opportunity to summarise the key 

types of assurance they receive and the level of reliance they place on that 

assurance.   

Page 245



     

11 

 

Directors Review 

If, having considered the checklists submitted by the Heads of Service, the 

Director(s) are satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place in each area, or 

that any weaknesses identified have a timescale for improvement, they will be able 

to countersign the statement.  

The remedial actions are monitored by the Directors/Heads of Service to ensure all 

actions are completed within the specified timescales.  

Lead Cabinet Member Overview 

In addition to obtaining management assurances, Lead Cabinet Members 

assurances are also fundamental within the framework. To enable these to be 

gained, each Director and relevant Lead Cabinet Member has discussed the key 

positive initiatives and/or significant control and governance issues recorded within 

the assurance statement, at their portfolio holder meetings. Based on these 

discussions, their own knowledge and understanding and overview of the information 

recorded/evidence provided, the Lead Cabinet Member has been able to provide the 

relevant assurances to the Leader.     

Leader/Chief Executive 

When the Directors/Lead Cabinet Members are confident that there are robust 

governance arrangements in place within their areas of responsibility, or whether any 

further improvement actions are needed, the signed composite Directors assurance 

statements are provided to the Chief Executive, highlighting any improvement areas 

for final sign off. This is designed to provide final assurance to the Leader and the 

Chief Executive that there are appropriate arrangements in place within all areas 

under the control of each Director for the proper governance of Council business. 

The Leader and Chief Executive of the Council have a responsibility to ensure that 

the document is supported by an embedded assurance framework, reliable evidence 

and accurately reflects the Council’s governance framework.  

  

Page 246



     

12 

 

Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Monitoring Officer  

To enable the above, the Council’s Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and 

Monitoring Officer, led on the annual governance review and provided oversight and 

robust challenge to the enhanced process and the resulting AGS, to enable them to 

be assured that any governance issues identified are being addressed and to ensure 

that the Council’s AGS accurately reflects the current governance arrangements 

operating within the Council. 

Progress on 2014/2015 issues identified 
 

Please refer to Appendix 2 attached, which provides the progress on the actions 

taken to address the issues identified, as part of the 2014/2015 governance review.  

Key findings identified during the 2015/2016 review, including 

positive initiatives and improvement areas  
 

Whilst a full assessment of the Council’s governance arrangements can be found 

within the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance, a summary of the main 

findings of this years review, within Gloucestershire County Council and 

Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund, which was co-ordinated by the 

Chief Internal Auditor, prior to being scrutinised and challenged by the Chief 

Executive, Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer and approved by the 

Corporate Management Team, are set out below:  

The Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO)  
 

In accordance with the recommendations on proper practices on the form and 

content of the Annual Governance Statement for 2015/16, this statement includes 

the following disclosure about the status of the Chief Financial Officer (the Section 

151 Officer), the Strategic Finance Director, in accordance with CIPFA’s statement 

on the role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government. 

Page 247



     

13 

 

The assessment considers the five key principles laid down by CIPFA, as set out 

below, together with the supporting advice on governance requirements and core 

CFO responsibilities provided by CIPFA. 

CIPFA : Key Principles on the Role of the CFO 
 
Principle 1: The CFO in a public service organisation is a key member of the 

Leadership Team, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to resource and 

deliver the authority’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the public interest. 

Within the Council the CFO is a full member of the Corporate Management Team, 

reports directly to the Chief Executive of the Council, and attends all joint meetings 

between the Cabinet and Corporate Management Team, and all meetings of 

Cabinet. The CFO adheres to all of the advice set out by CIPFA and particularly: 

� Brings influence on all key business decisions; 

� Has full access to all senior officers and Councillors, the Audit and 

Governance Committee and External Audit;  

� Leads on the development of Corporate Governance arrangements, 

including the risk management and reporting framework; and 

� Leads on the development of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS), annual budgeting process and the monitoring and reporting of 

in year net expenditure. 

Principle 2: The CFO in a local authority must be actively involved in, and able to 

bring influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate and 

longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and alignment 

with the authority’s financial strategy. 

Within the Council the CFO regularly meets with the Chief Executive and Monitoring 

Officer, the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet in order to ensure that she 

can bring influence to bear on all business decisions. Specifically regarding the 

detailed guidance provided by CIPFA, the CFO within the Council: 

  

Page 248



     

14 

 

� Leads on the development and detailed monitoring of the MTFS; 

� Ensures that all Cabinet reports, on which decisions are made, 

includes accurate and timely information which is fit for purpose; and 

� Ensures that the Council meets the requirements of the CIPFA codes 

on Capital Financing and Treasury Management. 

Principle 3: The CFO must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole authority of 

good financial management so that public money is safeguarded at all times and 

used appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively. 

As set out in this Annual Governance Statement robust governance arrangements 

exist within the Council in relation to the use and control of financial resources, led 

by the CFO. Specifically the CFO: 

� Ensures that appropriate advice is always given on all financial matters; 

� Oversees the maintenance of adequate systems of control, which are 

subject to regular review by Internal Audit, thereby ensuring that robust 

systems are in place to deliver value for money and prevent fraud and 

corruption; 

� Jointly ensures, with the Monitoring Officer, the maintenance of an 

effective Audit and Governance Committee and attends at the 

meetings of the Committee; and 

� Approves the Annual Governance Statement and ensures that it 

adequately covers all areas of the control and governance framework. 

Principles 4 and 5: To deliver these responsibilities the Chief Financial Officer must 

lead and direct a finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose; and must be 

professionally qualified and suitably experienced. 

The CFO within the Council is a fully qualified member of the Chartered Institute of 

Public Finance and Accountancy, has over 20 years experience within the finance 

function and regularly meets with other S151 officers as part of the Society of County 

Treasurers. 

Page 249



     

15 

 

The CFO leads and manages the finance function, which has been structured to 

meet the changing needs and risks of the authority, and which continues to meet 

required standards. 

Overall this assessment has concluded that Gloucestershire County Council’s 

financial arrangements fully conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA 

Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2016).  

The Role of the Monitoring Officer 
 

The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment under Section 5 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989.  

The Monitoring Officer has responsibilities in relation to governance. The main 

functions of the Monitoring Officer at Gloucestershire County Council are: 

� To report to the Council and to the Cabinet in any case where s/he is of 

the opinion that any proposal or decision of the authority has given rise to 

or is likely to or would give rise to any illegality, maladministration or 

breach of statutory code under Sections 5 and 5A of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 LGHA 89;  

� To investigate any matter, which s/he has reason to believe may 

constitute, or where s/he has received an allegation that a matter may 

constitute, a reportable incident under Sections 5 and 5A of the LGHA 89;  

� To act as one of the principal advisers to the Authority's Audit and 

Governance Committee, together with the Director: Strategic Finance; 

� To maintain a register of interests of members and co-opted members of 

the authority; and 

� To have responsibility for responding to complaints to the Local 

Government Ombudsman.  

The Monitoring Officer's ability to discharge these duties and responsibilities will 

depend on Members and Officers: 

� complying with the law (including any relevant Codes of Conduct);  

Page 250



     

16 

 

� complying with any general guidance issued, from time to time, by the 

Audit and Governance Committee and the Monitoring Officer;  

� making lawful and proportionate decisions;  

� complying with the Council's Constitution and Standing Orders;  

� not taking action that would bring the Council, their officers or professions 

into disrepute; and  

� communicating effectively with the Monitoring Officer and seeking advice 

on any issues relating to constitutional or ethical matters.  

  The Role of the Head of Internal Audit (Chief Internal Auditor - CIA) 
 

In accordance with amended recommendations on proper practices on the form and 

content of the Annual Governance Statement for 2015/2016, this statement includes 

the following disclosure about the role of the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA). 

CIPFA has issued the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in 

Public Service Organisations (2010). The statement sets out five principles that 

define the core activities and behaviours that belong to the role of the head of 

internal audit and the organisational requirements needed to support them. 

CIPFA : Key Principles on the Role of the CIA 
 
Principle 1: The HIA in a public service organisation plays a critical role in delivering 

the organisation’s strategic objectives by championing best practice in governance, 

objectively assessing the adequacy of governance and management of existing 

risks, commenting on responses to emerging risks and proposed developments. 

� The Council’s Internal Audit Charter clearly defines the status, role, 

purpose, authority and functional reporting lines of the CIA i.e. to the Audit 

and Governance Committee and the Corporate Management Team; 

� The CIA works with members of the Corporate Management Team to give 

advice and promote good governance throughout the organisation and is 

a member of key corporate governance boards such as the Challenge 

and Commercial Assurance Teams; and 

Page 251



     

17 

 

� Risk based internal auditing and planning processes developed and 

implemented, ensuring that internal audit resources are focused on the 

key risks facing the organisation, providing the relevant assurances to 

both members and management. 

Principle 2: The HIA in a public service organisation plays a critical role in delivering 

the organisation’s strategic objectives by giving an objective and evidence based 

opinion on all aspects of governance, risk management and internal control. 

� The CIA provides an annual opinion to those charged with governance on 

the effectiveness of the Councils governance arrangements, which 

includes the adequacy of the mitigating controls in place, that manage the 

key risks; and 

� The opinion feeds into the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 

Principle 3: The HIA in a public service organisation must be a senior manager with 

regular and open engagement across the organisation, particularly with the 

Leadership Team and with the Audit Committee. 

� The CIA has the right of direct access to the Chief Executive, Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Financial Officer; and  

� Where considered necessary for the proper discharge of the internal audit 

function, the CIA has the right of direct access to elected members of the 

Council and in particular those who serve on the committees charged with 

governance i.e. the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Principle 4: The HIA in a public service organisation must lead and direct an internal 

audit service that is resourced to be fit for purpose. 

The CIA leads and directs the Internal Audit function, so that it makes a full 

contribution to and meets the changing needs and risks of the Council, and which 

continues to meet required professional standards.  

 

 

 

Page 252



     

18 

 

Principle 5: the HIA in a public service organisation must be professionally qualified 

and suitably experienced. 

The CIA within the Council is a fully qualified member of the Chartered Institute of 

Internal Auditors, has over 25 years experience within the Internal Audit function and 

regularly meets with other CIA’s as part of the national Chief Internal Auditors’ 

Network. 

Overall this assessment has concluded that Gloucestershire County Council’s 

Internal Auditing arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the 

CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Local Government 

(2010).  

  Risk Management arrangements  
 
The Annual Report on Risk Management Activity 2015/2016 provides an overview of 

the effectiveness of risk management within GCC and was presented to the Audit 

and Governance Committee on 24th June 2016. The extract below demonstrates 

where external recognition has been provided as to GCC’s effectiveness. 

Insurance Tender  

In October 2014 the Council’s Liability insurers, Travelers, informed the Council that 

they would be increasing the liability premium rates by at least 100% and therefore 

the Long Term Agreement with them was broken.  As this represented a significant 

increase in premium the Council’s brokers, Marsh, advised the Council to test the 

market and therefore re-tender the policy.  

Travelers informed the Council that the reason for the increase in premium rates was 

due to a review of their own risk profile, the outcome of which determined that they 

considered that those authorities with highways and social care responsibilities 

presented too high a risk to them.  They were very clear that the increase was not a 

specific reflection on Gloucestershire County Council’s risk profile. Other Council’s 

have also experienced the same increases. 

In view of the above, the Liability Policy was tendered through the Crown 

Procurement Service Insurance Framework with the contract effective from 24th 

June 2015.   

Page 253



     

19 

 

The contract has now been awarded on a 3 year + 2 year option which has resulted 

in annual savings of around £29k (14%) i.e. £87k over the three year period. 

Marsh brokers stated in their tender evaluation report ‘We believe that the 

investment made in both time and effort by Gloucestershire County Council 

throughout this tender process has been invaluable and has resulted in a positive 

response from the market’.   

Development and implementation of a Risk Appetite Framework/Guidance 

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils down 

to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take. The HM Treasury 

definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept, 

tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do we need to determine our 

risk appetite?  

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk 

that are legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a 

perception that taking on additional risk is discouraged, then business performance 

will not be maximised. At the other end of the scale an organisation constantly erring 

on the side of caution (or one that has a risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to 

stifle creativity and not necessarily encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit 

opportunities.  

Risk Management and Insurance Services have developed a framework to enable 

risk judgements to be more explicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our 

approach to determining risk appetite, we will be able to raise the Council’s capability 

to deliver on challenging targets to raise standards, improve service quality, system 

reform and provide more value for money.  

The framework considers all levels of the business from strategic decision making to 

operational delivery and was highlighted as good practice by the Council’s external 

auditors. 

 

 

 

Page 254



     

20 

 

Risk leadership skills and behaviours 

To enable the above and further embed good risk leadership into the culture of the 

Council, the leadership skills and behaviours have been enhanced, which now 

include reference to leaders encouraging conscientious risk taking, being prepared 

to take a “calculated” risk, creating shared ownership of risk and being risk averse. 

This evidences that the Council supports well-managed risk taking and innovation. 

Internal Audit’s review of Risk Management 

In addition, Internal Audit provides an opinion on the effectiveness of risk 

management arrangements on each audit activity.  

The outcomes during 2015/2016 highlighted that in 97% of the audited areas Internal 

Audit rated the effectiveness of the risk management arrangements as substantial or 

satisfactory, with 40% rated as substantial and 57% satisfactory, with the 

remaining 3% obtaining a limited assurance opinion. Where limited assurance 

opinions are given on audits of strategic importance, they are provided to the 

relevant risk champions within the Council to ensure that they are placed on the 

relevant risk registers.  

The monitoring of the implementation of the recommendations is then owned by the 

relevant manager and helps to further embed risk management into the day to day 

management processes. These opinions also help to inform the work priorities of 

Risk Management and Insurance Services.  

Internal Audit also undertake, on a rotational basis, detailed reviews on the 

effectiveness of risk management arrangements, operating across all service areas, 

looking at the Strategic and Operational Performance/Business Plans/Project Plans 

and associated Risk Registers, to ensure that actions recorded to mitigate risks are 

in place and operating as intended.  

Management Assurances 

The assurance statements obtained from all Directors and Service Heads, provided 

assurance that the majority of management are aware of and apply the Council’s 

Risk Management Strategy and principles, within their service areas.  

Page 255



     

21 

 

These internal and external assessments, coupled with the external recognition 

received for the numerous risk management initiatives undertaken over past years, 

and the detailed risk based assurance statements obtained as part of the formulation 

of the Annual Governance Statement, has led to conclude that robust risk 

management arrangements operate within the authority.  

  Financial Management and reporting arrangements 
 

In the latest Annual Audit Letter the External Auditor issued an unqualified audit 

opinion, confirmed that proper arrangements were in place to secure value for 

money and did not identify any material weaknesses in the Council’s internal control 

arrangements.  

During 2015/16, regular financial monitoring reports were presented to Corporate 

Management Team, Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees.  

Although those reports highlighted risks regarding demand led budgets, and at 

various times during the year forecast an overall position whereby net expenditure 

exceeded the overall budget, despite making savings of around £21.5 million, an 

overall balance budget position was achieved for 2015/16. 

Fighting Fraud Locally 
 

Radical changes to how local services are to be delivered continue. The change of 

emphasis from the Council being a provider to a commissioner of services changes 

the risk profile of fraud, as well as the control environment in which risk is managed.  

All of these changes are happening against a backdrop of depressed economic 

activity in which the general fraud risk tends to increase.  

The Council takes its responsibilities to protect the public purse very seriously and is 

fully committed to the highest ethical standards, in order to ensure the proper use 

and protection of public funds and assets. These factors support the need to ensure 

that the Council has a resilient response to the changed conditions. The Council 

annually publishes information about the counter fraud work undertaken via the 

Annual Report on Internal Audit Activity, in June of each financial year.  

 

 

Page 256



     

22 

 

Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 2014/2015 

The Council’s Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 2014/2015, 

was developed in line with national public sector standards. The approved strategy is 

communicated, at regular intervals, to all managers and key stakeholders, alongside 

the latest whistleblowing policy (confidential reporting procedure) within the 

Employee’s Code of Conduct, to raise awareness and help us to further reduce the 

risk of fraud within GCC. 

Fraud Governance within GCC 

The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee has a specific role regarding fraud, 

which is to monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place for 

combating fraud and corruption and the Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 

preventing fraud and corruption and the development and maintenance of an Anti 

Fraud and Corruption Policy.  

In addition, the Council’s Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring 

Officer are regularly updated on all irregularities and External Audit annually 

assesses the effectiveness of the Council’s anti fraud and corruption arrangements. 

These assessments have been positive. 

Audit arrangements, including the Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Effective audit arrangements operate within the Council, provided by an in-house 

internal audit service and external audit provided by Grant Thornton. Both internal 

and external audit submit detailed risk based annual plans to the Audit and 

Governance Committee of the Council, together with regular monitoring reports 

highlighting key recommendations for improvement and management actions taken. 

Clearly, for audit to be effective, it is important that appropriate action is taken in 

relation to key recommendations made. 

During 2015/16 the external auditors found no material weaknesses in the system of 

internal control, comprising risk management, control and governance within the 

Council.  

 

 

Page 257



     

23 

 

Internal Audit 

One of the key roles of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor is to provide an opinion 

on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s internal control 

environment, and disclose any qualifications to that opinion, together with the 

reasons for the qualification. 

Chief Internal Auditor’s Opinion on the Council’s Internal Control Environment 

In providing the opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. 

The most that Internal Audit can provide is a reasonable assurance that there are no 

major weaknesses in risk management arrangements, control processes and 

governance. 

 

Chief Internal Auditor’s Opinion 

I am satisfied that, based on the internal audit activity undertaken during 2015/16 

and management’s actions taken in response to that activity, enhanced by the work 

of other external review agencies, sufficient evidence is available to allow me to draw 

a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of Gloucestershire 

County Council’s overall internal control environment.  

 

In my opinion, for the 12 months ended 31 March 2016, Gloucestershire County 

Council has a satisfactory overall control environment, to enable the achievement 

of the Council’s outcomes and objectives.  
 

Regarding internal audit reports, the Audit and Governance Committee have, during 

2015/16, taken the opportunity to follow up on progress on all key audit 

recommendations in relation to audit reports where limited assurance was given. 

They did this by requesting the attendance at their meetings of key officers who are 

asked to report on progress.  

This improves accountability and ensures that key recommendations are actioned to 

the satisfaction of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

  

Page 258



     

24 

 

During 2015/16, ten “limited assurance opinions on control” internal audit reports 

were issued (representing 28% of the overall audit activity), which related to:  

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and 

Governance Committee 

Provision of Care and Support – Extra Care 

housing Schemes 

25th September 2015 

Gloucestershire Music Service 25th September 2015 

Exempt limited assurance 25th September 2015 

BSC Payroll / Pensions  22nd January 2016 

Adult Services Deaths and Discharges 22nd January 2016 

Financial Assessment and Benefits Team 15th April 2016 

Active Together, Healthy Together and 

Children’s Activity Fund grant Scheme 

15th April 2016 

Capital – Virements and Delegated Powers 15th April 2016 

Exempt limited assurance 15th April 2016 

Client Contributions Adult Social Care 24th June 2016 

 

Whilst 28% of the audited activity was rated as a limited opinion, 72% of the activities 

reviewed have received either a substantial (15%) or satisfactory (57%) opinion 

on control. 

Internal Audit effectiveness 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require relevant bodies ‘to conduct an 

annual review of the effectiveness of its internal audit’. (Please refer to the Annual 

Report on Internal Audit Activity 2015/2016 reported to the Audit and Governance 

Committee on 24th June 2016), which provides further information about the 

effectiveness of the Internal Audit function and its findings.  

 

Page 259



     

25 

 

This process is also part of the wider annual review of the effectiveness of the 

internal control system, and significantly contributes towards the overall controls 

assurance gathering processes and ultimately the publication of the Annual 

Governance Statement.  

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 also state that internal audit should 

conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2013 or guidance. 

The Internal Audit Charter and the Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of 

Reference both reflect the requirements of standards. 

These standards also require the Chief Internal Auditor to report annually on 

conformance to the standards, reporting any key non conformance in the Annual 

Report on Internal Audit activity and the Annual Governance Statement.  

Audit and Governance Committee 

Given that Internal Audit and the Audit and Governance Committee form an integral 

part of the Council’s overall governance framework, and are an important source of 

assurance in respect of the Council’s arrangements for managing risk, maintaining 

an effective control environment, and reporting on financial performance, their 

effectiveness has been reviewed against the CIPFA publication - Audit Committees – 

Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 2013. 

The Audit and Governance Committee comprises of 9 members with a Chairman 

who is not part of the Executive.  

Its primary role, as laid out in the Constitution, is to provide independent assurance 

of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control 

environment; independent scrutiny of the Authority’s financial and non-financial 

performance to the extent that it affects the Authority’s exposure to risk and weakens 

the control environment, to oversee the financial reporting process, and to ensure 

that Members maintain high standards of probity in their public life by carrying out 

investigations in respect to allegations of misconduct by a Member or co-opted 

Member. 

  

Page 260



     

26 

 

Challenge Team 
 

The Challenge Team’s role is to develop and oversee a programme of challenge 

which supports priority-setting, options appraisal, development of strategy, decision-

making, resource allocation and monitoring of implementation, to identify 

opportunities to save money, avoid expenditure and improve performance by 

encouraging a culture of challenge throughout GCC.  

Commercial Team 
 
The Council has adopted "commissioning council" model which helps us to think 

about our work in terms of outcomes, and not just services. This means that the 

Council faces an increasingly complex commercial environment with the need to 

balance the growing desire for decentralisation, localism and individual choice with 

increasing market complexity, greater regulation and the need to do more with less. 

Making the right commercial decisions, developing and managing markets and 

commercial relationships therefore becomes an increasingly vital competence to 

ensure that quality, service and cost outcomes are met or exceeded.  

With 70% of our budget now spent externally, we need to secure better value for 

money and, crucially, to guarantee that we receive the services we pay for and 

provide the services our customers actually need.  

The Council’s commercial vision is:  
 
The Council will be widely recognised by its stakeholders and other commercial 

partners as a leading exponent of sound commercial practices. As such, in order to 

strengthen our commercial management across the Council, the Commercial 

Service has been developed and implemented within the Council.  

Commercial Assurance Team (Governance) 
 
In addition, a Commercial Assurance Team has been set up with its key role to 

provide a governance overview on the adequacy and effectiveness of 

commissioning, procurement and contract management arrangements.  

  

Page 261



     

27 

 

Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Pension Fund 
 

Gloucestershire County Council is the administering body for the Gloucestershire 

(LGPS) Pension Fund. 

Internal Audit reviewed the controls in place for the three main areas of governance, 

pension administration and investment management. 

Based on this work Internal Audit has concluded that adequate assurance has been 

obtained that the controls are operating satisfactorily. 

Governance 
 

Internal Audit examined the various reports, policies and statements, which are 

published on the Gloucestershire County Council website, namely the annual report, 

statement of investment principles, funding strategy statement, communications 

policy statement, governance policy statement, governance compliance statement, 

pension administration strategy, the breaches policy and the actuarial valuation 

report. 

The latest triennial actuarial review was in respect of the fund as at 31 March 2013 

and as a result employer’s contributions were revised from 1 April 2014. 

Under new LGPS legislation administering authorities were required to set up a 

Pension Board from 1 April 2015. At the meeting on 18 February 2015 the Pension 

Committee approved the terms of reference of the new Pensions Board, and the first 

meeting was held in July 2015. The Pension Board has been created in line with 

legislation and its creation gives greater scrutiny to the fund. 

Internal Audit is satisfied that all published statements are satisfactory and changes 

have been approved by the Pension Committee. The annual business plan which is 

approved by the Pension Committee sets out a timetable for the review of key 

policies, which are revised if necessary. The governance policy statement and 

governance compliance statement were last revised and approved by the Pension 

Committee in May 2015. The policy statement now includes the terms of reference of 

the Pension Board. 

 

Page 262



     

28 

 

The governance compliance statement identifies the level of compliance against best 

practice principles. With the exception that not all stakeholders are represented 

within the committee structure, the authority is fully compliant. The reason given for 

this is ‘concern over the logistics and potential size of the committee’. The 

Committee have agreed to keep the membership as it is but to keep it under review.  

Employers’ forums, which are open to all employers, are held at least twice a year.  

External Fund Managers 
 

Internal Audit has examined the latest published accounts and the latest internal 

control statements of all fund managers. With the exception of the South West 

Venture Fund (SWVF) there were no qualifications to the opinions given. With regard 

to the SWVF the concern related to whether or not it can be classed as a going 

concern, as a request has been made to all partners to extend the life of the fund for 

a further year. As at 27 May 2016, not all partners had responded, although those 

who had, have agreed with the proposed extension. The risk to the Pension Fund 

should the extension not be approved is not considered significant. 

There have been no changes to the fund managers during the year. 

Performance Monitoring 
 

All of the fund managers report regularly on their performance to the Pension 

Committee. In addition, the Head of the Pension Fund and the independent advisor 

meet fund managers in London on a regular basis, reporting back to the following 

Pension Committee.  The Independent Investment Advisor continues to provide 

advice on the financial markets and fund management.  

In addition the custodians measure the performance against the agreed benchmarks 

and this is reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis. A specialist company, GS 

Performance Services independently measure the performance of the funds. 

Gloucestershire continue to perform well against the local authority universe.   

In accordance with Myner’s principle 1, members of the Pension Committee should 

have sufficient skills, knowledge and expertise to be able to make effective decisions 

and challenge the advice they are given. All Committee members are asked to 

attend three days of fundamental pensions training, when they first join the 

Committee. Similarly key officers also attend this training.  

Page 263



     

29 

 

Two new key officers attended the training in 2015. This training is to be extended to 

include Pension Board members, although unfortunately due to the demand created 

by the introduction of Pension Boards nationally, members have not yet attended the 

course. In July 2015 an in-house training day took place for the Committee and 

Board, which was well attended. Training was provided by the fund’s actuary, the 

fund’s Independent Investment Advisor and an external fund manager. Training 

records are maintained for all members.  

Management of funds risks and controls 
 

As part of the annual report and funding strategy statement the administering 

authority assesses and publishes its risks under four main headings: 

� Investments/financial; 

� funding/demographic; 

� administration/regulatory; and 

� governance. 

Mitigating controls are documented against each risk.  

Internal Audit are satisfied that the key documents required to mitigate these risks 

including the actuarial review – triennial valuation and the fund strategy statement 

are in place and are reviewed on a regular basis. The statement of investment 

principles was due for review in 2014, following the last triennial review however it 

was delayed pending the outcome of the DCLG consultation on opportunities for 

collaboration cost savings and efficiencies in the LGPS. This consultation was 

completed in October 2015 and given that the next actuarial valuation is imminent 

the next review is now planned for May 2017. 

In February 2016 a detailed risk register was taken to the Pension Committee. A new 

risk was added relating to the development and implementation of the South West 

Investment Pool. The pool is being developed in response to the July 2015 budget 

statement when the Chancellor announced that the government would be working 

with the LGPS to ensure that they pool investments.  

Page 264



     

30 

 

Officers have been consulting with other pension authorities and have kept the 

Pension Committee updated with progress. 

Pension Fund Administration 
 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund participates in the annual CIPFA benchmarking 

club, which compares them to 42 other LG Pension Funds. The latest results show 

that the costs per member continue to be well below the average with staff dealing 

with significantly higher caseloads than other authorities.  

In April 2014 new regulations (LGPS 2014) came into force, representing a 

significant change to the scheme. National delays in interpretation of regulations and 

provision of software impacted on the work of the Pension Administration Section, 

resulting in a backlog of work. A set of performance indicators is used by Pension 

Administration to monitor how long it takes to provide estimates to employees, 

calculate retirement benefits including lump sums and pay death grants, this shows a 

significant deterioration in performance in 2015/16 compared to previous years. 

Similar issues are being experienced by other LGPS pension funds. 

Gloucestershire along with many other pension authorities, failed to meet the 

statutory deadline of 30th August 2015 for the issue of the annual benefit statements 

to active and deferred members. This was due mainly to delays in receiving 

information from the various employers. As this was a national issue the Pension 

Regulator extended the deadline to 30th November 2015, as a one-off concession. 

This new deadline was met.  

The Pension Administration Section undertakes a variety of exercises to mitigate 

against risk of losses to the fund including validation of pension contributions and 

checks to reconcile lump sum payments. However, due to the impact of LGPS 2014 

the data matching exercise between the pension database and the pension payroll to 

identify ghost pensioners has temporarily lapsed. 

Under the LGPS 2014 career average system (CARE) it is more critical that correct 

and timely information is received from employers. The Pension Administration 

Strategy enables the pension fund to charge the employer for late notification and to 

recover additional costs that may be incurred. 

   

Page 265



     

31 

 

Budget Scrutiny/Performance Management/Business Planning arrangements  
 

This area has been covered in numerous inspections in recent years, with positive 

comments always being made.  

Corporate Performance Management, Strategic and Business Planning continue to 

be an integral part of working arrangements within GCC, both at officer and member 

level, with strategic performance reports being submitted to the Corporate 

Management Team, Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee, (who led on the budget and performance scrutiny process during 

2015/16) and performance against Business Plans being monitored by the relevant 

Scrutiny Committees.  

Programme and Project Management arrangements  
 

GCC has invested significantly in continuing to strengthen the arrangements we 

have in place for programme and project management. There is a clear portfolio of 

projects which have been designed to meet the significant challenges the Council is 

facing.  

These projects are managed in accordance with good practice principles and are 

systematically reviewed as part of the corporate performance and risk management 

and reporting framework.  

 Independent external reviews of the Council’s governance arrangements 
 
External Audit 

 
In terms of the Governance statement for 2015/16, further key assurance has been 

obtained from the most recent Annual Audit Letter produced by the External 

Auditors, based on findings from the 2014/15 audit (latest set of audited accounts), 

and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2016. In this letter 

the auditors set out their main responsibilities and the basis on which an assessment 

on the adequacy of the County Council’s financial arrangements and statements, 

internal control arrangements and arrangements for securing financial resilience and 

securing value for money, has been made. 

In relation to the above, the external auditor issued an unqualified opinion on the 

Council’s 2014/15 financial statements, confirming that the statements give a true 

and fair view of the Council’s financial position.  

Page 266



     

32 

 

The external auditors also issued an unqualified Value for Money conclusion for 

2014/15, stating that in all significant respects the Council had proper arrangements 

in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. No 

significant weaknesses were identified by the External Auditor.  

External Quality Assessment of the effectiveness of Internal Audit 

The objective of an External Quality Assessment (EQA) review is to undertake an 

independent assessment of the effectiveness of Gloucestershire County Council’s 

internal audit function. This review was undertaken during May 2015 by the 

Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors and included a review of the team’s 

conformance to the International Professional Practice Framework (IPPF) as 

reflected in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, benchmarking the function’s 

activities against best practice and assessing the impact of internal audit on the 

organisation. There are 56 fundamental principles to achieve with more than 150 

points of recommended practice in the IPFF. The independent assessment identified 

100% conformance. The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors stated: 

‘It is our view that GCC’s internal audit function conforms to all 56 principles. This is 

excellent performance given the breadth of the IPPF and the challenges facing the 

function’. 

Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members decision making arrangements / 
scrutiny arrangements 

 
Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members decision making arrangements continued 

to operate effectively during 2015/16.  

The Council’s Scrutiny committees provide an opportunity for councillors to hold 

decision makers to account for their actions, review under-performance and help in 

developing policies. The committees do not just look at services provided by the 

Council but also those provided by partner organisations such as the NHS. They are 

well placed to address issues of local concern and provide opportunities for public 

involvement. 

A key piece of scrutiny work undertaken during the year related to the scrutiny of the 

Council’s 2016/2017 budget process, with a report being submitted to, and 

considered by Cabinet, as part of the budget setting process. 

Page 267



     

33 

 

The Council is recognised nationally as one of the leading scrutiny authorities and 

works closely with public sector partners.   

The Council features in the 2015 Centre for Public Scrutiny Guide to Good Scrutiny 

for the review of the community impact of the badger cull in West Gloucestershire. 

More information on the roles and responsibilities of the Council’s Scrutiny 

Committees can be accessed at: 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=  

Executive decisions taken by Officers 

The Council’s decision making process is under greater scrutiny than ever before, 

both from elected members and members of the public. It is therefore extremely 

important that we have robust decision making and recording procedures in place. 

The procedural framework for documenting and publishing executive decisions taken 

by officers under delegated powers, which includes decisions taken over £250k, 

continues to be reviewed and further enhanced to embed further accountability and 

enable challenge to decisions, prior to them being formally approved.  

Decisions made by the Cabinet and by Individual Cabinet members are documented 

and published on the Council’s website. 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1.  

Reports include requirements to explain background, options, resource implications, 

risk, consultation, equality’s considerations, officer advice and performance 

management. 

Standards of conduct of officers and members (including the role of the Audit 
and Governance Committee) and adherence to the law 

 
The Audit and Governance Committee continued to operate effectively during 

2015/16. As provided in the Council’s Constitution, “the purpose of the Audit and 

Governance Committee is to maintain high standards of probity amongst members 

through the provision of advice, training and by carrying out investigations in respect 

of allegations of misconduct by a member or a co-opted member”.  

 

Page 268



     

34 

 

Regarding complaints to the Ombudsman, the Council’s Chief Executive, Chief 

Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer oversees all such complaints and the 

complaint outcomes are monitored on an ongoing basis. In 2015/16, no findings of 

maladministration with injustice were made.  

 

Governance of Stakeholder relationships- Leadership Gloucestershire – 
Working together for you 

 
Leadership Gloucestershire (LG) brings together public sector organisations which 

allocate and spend significant resources in Gloucestershire.  

Its role is to provide vision, leadership and strategic direction in those areas where it 

is vital for organisations to work together to meet the needs of the people and 

communities of Gloucestershire in the most cost effective way.  

Leadership Gloucestershire will work together to reduce current costs, minimise 

future costs and deliver better outcomes for the benefit of the people of 

Gloucestershire.  

These pages set out the arrangements for strategic partnership working in 

Gloucestershire. http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/leadershipgloucestershire 

Risk leadership in partnerships/contracts and alternative service delivery 
models  
 
The range of contractual arrangements, collaboration and alternative service delivery 

models now being adopted by the Council, evidences how much change and 

innovation there is in the local government sector. However, these new 

arrangements bring new risks. The challenge for the Council is to implement robust 

and proportionate governance arrangements to support these new delivery models 

and innovation. 

To be able to respond to the above, the Council has developed and successfully 

implemented shared services/contractual governance frameworks, which includes 

applying the principles of good risk management and using the risk appetite model to 

help direct resources and inform decisions. In addition, the leadership behaviours 

encourage well thought-through risk taking, to enable the Council and its service 

delivery partners to achieve the desired outcomes.  

Page 269



     

35 

 

Action Required 

The Council will continue to ensure that there is a high level of awareness of the 

need and importance of good contract and relationship management as part of its 

risk management approach. 

 

Necessary consideration of contract and risk management will be embedded at all 

stages, including options appraisal, business case, tendering and through the life of 

the contract. 

 

Support services will provide the necessary contract support to managers through 

systems, information, guidance and training and ensure that they are working 

effectively. 

 

The findings of this review and ongoing monitoring of the actions taken by the 

Council are of sufficient significance to be included within the key governance issues 

arising from the 2015/2016 governance review, as set out in Appendix 3 of the 

statement.  

Other Issues 

 
Ongoing changes to the Council’s governance structures 

The challenges faced by the Council continue to intensify. Austerity and central 

government funding reductions combined with demographic pressures, capacity to 

deliver and long term sustainability issues, heighten the importance of alternative 

service delivery models to local authorities as an avenue for both cost savings and 

innovation, when deciding how services are to be delivered.  

In responding to this challenge, the Council is increasingly using commissioning and 

partnerships/shared services with other local authorities and sectors as a vehicle for 

delivering public services, to ensure that waste and inefficiency are reduced and 

resources deployed in areas that matter to people who need our services.  

 

Page 270



     

36 

 

Shared services and collaborative working provide many important opportunities. By 

introducing new business structures, improving processes and deploying new 

technologies and management systems, such approaches have a major role to play 

in improving cost-effectiveness, resilience and service quality.  

Alternative Service Delivery Models 

Joint working arrangements with Gloucester City Council 

Members of both the Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucester City Council 

appointed a joint role of Managing Director for Gloucester City Council and a Joint 

Strategic Commissioning Director for the County Council. The Managing Director 

role is accountable to the Leader and Cabinet of Gloucester City Council and the 

Strategic Commissioning Director role will report to the Chief Executive of 

Gloucestershire County Council. During 2015/2016 we have a jointly agreed vision 

for the Shared Services Programme between the two councils and a Memorandum 

of Understanding has been agreed and signed by both parties. 

This is a fundamental role for the progression and development of both Councils’ 

strategic objectives. This is about innovation, collaboration, influencing and ensuring 

we make the essential links across both organisations through understanding the 

needs and capacity of our community. Then it’s translating that into how best we can 

sustainably target limited resources to manage the demand for services and support. 

Internal Audit and Risk Management Shared Service  

With effect from 1st June 2015, Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City 

Council and Stroud District Council entered into an Internal Audit and Risk 

Management shared services collaboration agreement. This collaboration presents a 

real opportunity across the three authorities, to: 

� Achieve efficiencies from the employment of a single Chief Internal Auditor, 

across the three authorities;  

� Pool expertise to strengthen business delivery to the benefit of the clients; 

� Provide critical mass and improved business resilience e.g. enabling the risk 

of sickness and vacancies to be better managed; 

Page 271



     

37 

 

� Enhanced ability to undertake thematic reviews across the three authorities to 

share best practice across the shared service; 

� Enabling succession planning, career opportunities and development for staff; 

� Optimising use of resources through a modern collaborative approach; 

� Achieving economies of scale through shared training and procurement; 

� Increased capacity, flexibility and specialist knowledge from pooling staff 

resources; and 

� Benefits of adopting common day to day audit reporting and procedural 

approaches driven by a single Audit Management System for the shared 

service, along with common audit committee reporting 

protocols/methodologies/formats.  

Whilst the benefits of this are widely recognised, partnerships/shared services and 

the cross cutting issues with which they often deal, create some challenges for clear 

accountability and good governance. However, the Council strives to ensure that 

working arrangements demonstrate clear lines of accountability for stakeholders and 

customers taking into consideration each partner organisations’ own governance and 

structure.  

Financial challenges 

The Council faced a challenging year in 2015/2016 as it sought to manage budget 

reductions and increasing demand for some key services during a period of ongoing 

changes made to the organisational structure of the Council.  

Looking to the future, we expect the financial climate to continue to be challenging 

for all councils. Although the economy is recovering, and Gloucestershire's recovery 

has been more rapid than most, we expect there to be further reductions in the 

amount of money councils have to spend.  

This means that for the County, we estimate that this will result in a budget gap of 

around £75m over the next three years. We also know that changes in our 

demographics will mean that more and more people need help and support.  

Page 272



     

38 

 

This is particularly true of services for vulnerable children and adults, where 

improvements in healthcare mean that more people will need help for longer. If we 

carry on in the same way, a greater proportion of our budget will need to be spent on 

supporting vulnerable people, reducing what is left to be spent on other essential 

services. 

 

Despite the pressure of increased demand on key services and the need to achieve 

significant savings, the Council has kept within its budget for 2015/16. We have 

saved around £21.5 million in 15/16 against a very challenging target of £26m. The 

biggest shortfall is in the area of adult social care where, broadly speaking, we are 

managing to maintain demand at existing levels and achieve some reductions in 

cost, but not seeing demand reduce significantly as a result of our preventative work. 

Plans for this, and other areas, are being reviewed and revised in order to ensure 

that we continue to address the anticipated shortfall and live within our means.  

Certification 
 

To the best of our knowledge, the governance arrangements, as defined above and 

within the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance, have been effectively 

operating during the year with the exception of those areas identified in Appendix 3. 

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to 

further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will 

address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness 

and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual 

review. 

Page 273



       

39 

 

Appendix 1 - Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Framework 2015/2016 
 

 

 

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

Audit & Governance Committee 
Approval Committee 

Formal sign off by Leader, 

Chief Executive and Chief 

Financial Officer 

CEO/CFO/MO/CoMT 

Responsibility for leading/providing 

oversight and challenge, evaluating 

assurance and reporting evidence 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015– Annual Review of 

the effectiveness  of  the system of  internal control  

Ongoing assurance on adequacy and effectiveness of controls over key risks 

Performance 

Management & 

Data Quality 

Risk Management 

 

Legal & Regulation  

 

Programme & 

Project 

Management 

Financial 

Governance 
Information 

Governance 

Ethical Governance 

(including Counter 

Fraud)  

Committee and 

Scrutiny 

Functions 

Challenge Team 

 

Senior 

Management 

Functions 

Members/Directors/

Service Assurance 

Statements 

Other Sources of 

Assurance 
Partnerships, External 

inspections, review 

agencies  

Commissioning 

and Delivery 

Boards 

Internal Audit External Audit Commercial 

Assurance Team 

P
age 274



       

40 

 

Appendix 2 - Progress on 2014/2015 Governance Improvement Actions 
 

As a result of the 2014/2015 review of governance arrangements, the following governance issues were identified. Progress on 

these issues are summarised below. 

Review 

Reference 

Required Action Original 
Target 
Date 

Progress to date  

B/F from 

2013/2014 

Review 

LCCG 

Governance 

Principle 

2.2  

Scheme of Delegation. The County Council is required to: 

 

Determine a scheme of delegation and reserve powers within the Constitution / 

Partnership Arrangement including a formal schedule of those matters specifically 

reserved for collective decision of the authority, taking account of relevant 

legislation, and ensure that it is monitored and updated when required. 

 

Action: A detailed scheme of delegation is currently being developed by the 

Commissioning Director: Adults and Public Health. 

 
 
To be 

finalised 

during the 

first quarter 

of 2015/16. 

 
 
 

 
 
A scheme of Delegation 

has now been completed 

for both Adult Social Care 

and Public Health. 

 
 
 
 

2014/2015 

Review 

AGS 

Page 22 

Ref 6.7 

Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion on the ICT control environment 

The Chief Internal Auditor to work with the Council’s ICT Service and ICT Auditors 

to ensure that all 2015/2016 audits included within the audit plan are undertaken 

and finalised by the 31st March 2016 to enable an audit opinion on the 

effectiveness of the ICT control environment to be provided. 

 

 

31st March 

2016 

Completed 

P
age 275



     

41 

 

Review 

Reference 

Required Action Original 
Target 
Date 

Progress to date  

2014/2015 

Review 

LCCG 

Governance 

Principle -

1.1  

 

Governance in working with others – Alternative Service Delivery Models. 

The County Council is required to: 
 

Ensure that Partnerships/Contracts are underpinned by a common vision of their 

work that is understood and agreed by all Partners. 

 

Action: Corporate Risk Management (CRM) and Commercial Services (CS) to 

review the key partnership/contractual governance arrangements, working with the 

relevant managers and support services, to ensure they are operating effectively. 

This will include the common understanding between all partners/providers of the 

risks they face and how they will be managed, clearly defined roles and 

responsibilities and decision making processes.  

31st March 

2016 

CRM and CS continue to 

work with the business to 

establish all key contracts 

and embed good risk 

management practice 

within the contract 

management framework.  

 

In addition, CRM provides 

advice, guidance and 

support to management 

with applying the 

principles of good risk 

management when 

working with partners, 

supporting the 

development of Joint Risk 

Registers and their 

ongoing management and 

review. 

P
age 276



       

42 

 

Appendix 3 - Improvement Plan - 2015/2016 Governance Improvement Actions 
 

As a result of the 2015/2016 review of governance arrangements, the following governance issues were identified.  

Review 

Reference 

Action Target Date 

Annual 

Governance 

Statement  

Page 35 

 

 

Governance in working with others – Alternative Service Delivery Models. The County 

Council is required to: Ensure that Partnerships/Contracts are underpinned by a common vision of 

their work that is understood and agreed by all Partners. 

 

Actions: The Council will continue to ensure that there is a high level of awareness of the need 

and importance of good contract and relationship management as part of its risk management 

approach. 

 

Necessary consideration of contract and risk management will be embedded at all stages, 

including options appraisal, business case, tendering and through the life of the contract. 

 

Support services will provide the necessary contract support to managers through systems, 

information, guidance and training and ensure that they are working effectively. 

 

 

  

 

Ongoing 

P
age 277



     

43 

 

Review 

Reference 

Action Target Date 

Revised 

CIPFA 

Guidance on 

Delivering 

Good 

Governance 

2016 

CIPFA - Delivering Good Governance in Local Government : Framework (2016 Edition): The 

Council currently prepares and publishes an Annual Governance Statement in accordance with 

the CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2007 (Addendum 2012).  

This guidance/framework has been refreshed and defines the principles that should underpin the 

governance arrangements of the Council and applies to the annual governance statements 

prepared for the financial year 2016/2017 onwards. 

 

Action: The Chief Internal Auditor to test the Council’s governance arrangements and be able to 

demonstrate that its governance structures comply with the core and sub principles contained 

within the revised framework. To then develop and maintain, on behalf of the Council, a local code 

of governance / governance arrangements reflecting the principles set out.  

 

31st March 2017 

Local Code 

of Corporate 

Governance 

Core 

Principle 3  

Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy: The Council is required to promote values for the authority 

and demonstrate the values of good governance through upholding high standards of conduct and 

behaviour. 

 

The Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016–2019 strategy has been developed by local 

authorities and counter fraud experts and supported by the CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre. 

It is the definitive guide for council leaders, chief executives, finance directors and all those with 

governance responsibilities. The strategy includes practical steps for fighting fraud, shares best 

practice and brings clarity to the changing anti-fraud and corruption landscape. 

31st March 2017 

P
age 278



     

44 

 

Review 

Reference 

Action Target Date 

 

Action: The Chief Internal Auditor will undertake a self assessment against the new guidance to 

measure the Council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and response and propose 

enhancements as required. 

 

 

P
age 279



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
 

CODE OF CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 
 

  

2015-2016 

Page 281



Code of Corporate Governance 

 
Document Version Control  

Revision Description Changed By:  Date:  
V0-0 Original document Theresa Mortimer December 2013 
V1.0 Revised Theresa Mortimer February 2014 
V1.1 Revised Theresa Mortimer May 2016 

 
 

Document Information 
Owner & Author: Head of Internal Audit & Risk Management Shared 

Service and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance 
Services. Tel: 01452 328883 

Team/Section: Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 
Create Date: February 2014 
Review date: May 2016 
Approval (when appropriate): Audit and Governance Committee 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
Completed (when appropriate): 

 

Version: 1-1 
Disposal: Once superseded retain for 6 years then offer to archives 
Subject:  
File Name: Code of Corporate Governance 2015-2016 

Page 282



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 3 

Context 
 

Local Government has been undergoing significant change and the environment in which 

it works is increasing in complexity. In addition to economic and financial challenge, the 

Localism Act and other key legislation has brought new roles and opportunities and 

greater flexibility for authorities. 

 

Local authorities are changing the way in which they operate and undertake service 

provision. Public services are delivered directly, through partnerships and collaboration 

and through commissioning, shared services and partnership boards have come into 

existence. The introduction of new structures and ways of working provide challenges for 

managing risk, ensuring transparency and demonstrating accountability. 

 

Good governance enables an authority to pursue its vision effectively as well as 

underpinning that vision with control and the management of risk. A one-size-fits-all 

approach to governance is inappropriate. Local governance arrangements must be 

proportionate to the risks and are acknowledged as the responsibility of each local 

authority in its area of operation. 

Introduction  
 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance 

based upon the CIPFA/SOLACE document entitled ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government’: 2012 Framework. 

 

What do we mean by Governance? 

 

Governance is about how GCC ensures that we are doing the right things, in the right way, 

for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 

 

It comprises the systems and processes, culture and values by which GCC is directed and 

controlled and how it accounts to, engages with and, where appropriate, leads local 

communities. 

  

Page 283



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 4 

 

GCC operates through a governance framework that brings together an underlying set of 

legislative requirements, governance principles and management processes.  

 

The County Council’s Code of Corporate Governance specifically identifies the actions to 

be taken in relation to each of the core principles and supporting principles, please see 

below.  

 

In order to assist the reader, a single sheet which defines the local framework by reference 

to key documents and contributory processes is detailed at Appendix 1 attached to this 

Code. 

 
  

Page 284



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 5 

Core Governance Principles  

 
The Council’s governance framework is consistent with the six core principles 

(underpinned by a number of supporting principles) of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework and 

these are summarised below:  

 

 Core Principle 1: Gloucestershire 

County Council aims to focus on its 

purpose and on outcomes for the 

community, creating and implementing 

a vision for the local area with partners.  

 

Core Principle 2: Members and 

officers working together to achieve a 

common purpose with clearly defined 

functions and roles.  

 

Core Principle 3: Promoting values for 

the authority, and demonstrating the 

values of good governance through 

upholding high standards of conduct 

and behaviour. 

 

Core Principle 4: Taking informed and 

transparent decisions, which are 

subject to effective scrutiny and 

managing risk. 

 

Core Principle 5: Developing the 

capacity and capability of members 

and officers to be effective. 

 

Core Principle 6: Engaging with local 

people and other stakeholders to 

ensure robust public accountability. 

Page 285



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 6 

Actions taken by GCC in relation to each principle  

Core Principle 1 

Focusing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for our customers and stakeholders and creating and 

implementing a vision for the local area. 

 

Supporting Principles The County Council is required to: 

Evidence that the Council 

complies with these 

requirements: 

Compliant 

R / A / G 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. timescales) 

1.1 Exercising strategic 

leadership by 

developing and 

clearly 

communicating the 

authority’s purpose 

and vision. 

 Develop and promote the purpose 

and vision through the Council 

Strategy 

 The Council’s Strategy sets 

out the Council’s vision, 

values and high level 

priorities.  

  

 Review on a regular basis the 

authority’s vision for the local 

community and the implications 

for our governance arrangements. 

 The Strategy is updated 

annually and informed by 

public consultation. 

Progress is monitored on a 

quarterly basis through 

strategic performance 

reports to Cabinet and 

Scrutiny Committees, which 

are publicly available. 

 

  

Compliance Key 
     - Compliant  
     - Improvement Required 
     - Not Compliant 

P
age 286

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=42252&p=0


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 7 

 Ensure that Partnerships are 

underpinned by a common vision 

of their work that is understood 

and agreed by all Partners. 

 The Council’s Strategy 

priorities are developed in 

partnership with other 

public/private bodies and 

the voluntary sector. We 

have joint partnership plans 

and outcome 

agreements/contracts which 

include key performance 

indicators and activities 

which are monitored and 

progress discussed at 

regular Board and Business 

meetings. 

 A jointly agreed vision for 

the Shared Services 

Programme between 

Gloucester City Council and 

the County Council and a 

Memorandum of 

Understanding has been 

agreed and signed by both 

parties. 

 

  

 

P
age 287



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 8 

 Publish an annual report (or 

similar documents) on a timely 

basis to communicate GCC’s 

activities and achievements, its 

financial position and 

performance. 

 Quarterly strategic 

performance reports are 

produced, which are publicly 

available. 

 Medium Term Financial 

Strategy published.   

 The Council publishes an 

annual report on the activity 

of the scrutiny function. 

 Annual Statement of 

Accounts and Annual 

Governance Statement 

published. 

 Annual External Audit and 

Inspection Letter. 

 A Complaints and 

Compliments Annual Report 

is produced and available 

on the Council’s website. 

 

  

P
age 288

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/Statement-of-Accounts
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/Statement-of-Accounts
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=52575&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=52575&p=0


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 9 

1.2 Ensuring that 

customers receive a 

high quality of service 

whether directly, or in 

partnership, or by 

commissioning. 

 Decide how the quality of service 

for customers is to be measured 

and make sure that the 

information needed to review 

service quality effectively and 

regularly is available. 

 The Council has developed 

Strategic Commissioning 

Plans, Service 

Level/Outcome Agreements 

and Annual Business Plans 

with clearly defined 

outcomes and a balanced 

set of measures and risks to 

evaluate performance. 

Performance scorecards are 

circulated to managers on a 

regular basis. 

 External inspection regimes 

including OFSTED and 

CQC.  

 Internally led service 

reviews, as well as 

independent challenge 

sponsored by Challenge 

Team to support service 

improvement and value for 

money.   

  

P
age 289

http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/businessplanning
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/businessplanning
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/businessplanning
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/businessplanning


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 10 

 Put in place effective 

arrangements to identify and deal 

with failure in service delivery. 

 Quarterly performance 

reports analysing trends and 

latest budget position are 

monitored at management 

and Board meetings and 

mitigation strategies are 

implemented to manage 

current and emerging risks. 

 Formal complaints policy 

and procedures in 

operation. This intelligence 

is used to improve services 

and focus on the needs of 

our customers.  

 Independent Challenge 

Team to support rigorous 

commissioning, review 

significant issues arising 

from performance, finance 

and risk monitoring, support 

transformational change, 

value for money and 

efficiencies, and promote 

and support the 

development of a culture of 

challenge for all staff. 

  

P
age 290

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/customerservices
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/customerservices


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 11 

1.3 Ensuring that the 

authority makes best 

use of resources and 

that tax payers and 

service users receive 

excellent value for 

money. 

 Decide how value for money is to 

be measured and make sure that 

the authority or partnership has 

the information needed to review 

value for money and performance 

effectively. 

 Measure the environmental 

impact of policies, plans and 

decisions. 

 Annual Organisational Value 

for Money Assessment by 

the External Auditor. 

 Benchmarking exercises to 

compare information on the 

authority’s economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness 

of services with that 

provided by similar 

organisations. This 

information is shared with 

Scrutiny Committees and 

other relevant Boards and 

Management Teams. 

 Value for Money Policy in 

place. 

 The Cabinet report template 

enables the recording of the 

environmental impact of 

decisions taken. 

 The Corporate Risk 

management Strategy 

considers environmental risk 

as a key category of risk 

and enables the impacts to 

be measured. 

  

P
age 291



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 12 

Core Principle 2 

Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined functions and roles. 

 

Supporting Principles The County Council is required to: 

Evidence that the Council 

complies with these 

requirements: 

Compliant  

R / A / G 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. timescales) 

2.1 Ensuring effective 

leadership throughout 

the authority and 

being clear about 

executive and non-

executive functions 

and of the roles and 

responsibilities of the 

scrutiny function. 

 Set out a clear statement of the 

respective roles and 

responsibilities of the executive 

and of the executive’s members 

individually and the authority’s 

approach towards putting this into 

practice. 

 Set out a clear statement of the 

respective roles and 

responsibilities of other authority 

members, members generally 

and senior officers. 

 The Council’s Constitution 

sets out the respective roles 

and responsibilities of the 

Council, the Cabinet, 

Scrutiny and other 

Committees, as well as 

Officers. It covers, among 

other things, Codes of 

Conduct for Members and 

Employees, a protocol on 

the relationship between 

members (including shadow 

members) and officers and 

the scheme of members’ 

allowances. 

 Officer role descriptions 

(particularly for reward 

band/senior posts). 

  

P
age 292

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD163&ID=163&RPID=34422134&sch=doc&cat=13295&path=13295


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 13 

 Leadership performance 

management/Performance 

Development Review and 

leadership development 

programme.  

2.2 Ensuring that a 

constructive working 

relationship exists 

between Elected 

Members and Officers 

and that the 

responsibilities of 

Members and Officers 

are carried out to a 

high standard. 

 Determine a scheme of 

delegation and reserve powers 

within the Constitution / 

Partnership Arrangement 

including a formal schedule of 

those matters specifically 

reserved for collective decision of 

the authority, taking account of 

relevant legislation, and ensure 

that it is monitored and updated 

when required. 

 The Council’s Constitution 

defines the Scheme of 

delegation and approval 

powers, which is reviewed at 

least annually in the light of 

legal and organisational 

changes. 

 Register of authorisations 

(i.e. detailed schemes of 

delegations that sit beneath 

the overarching scheme) 

which are maintained by the 

Monitoring Officer. 

 Terms of Reference of Joint 

Committees included within 

the Constitution. 

 Officer role descriptions and 

employment contracts. 

  

P
age 293



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 14 

 Performance management 

framework and leadership 

development programme in 

place. 

 New Operating Model 

Accountabilities & 

Responsibilities framework 

in place.  

 Make a Chief Executive 

responsible and accountable to 

the authority for all aspects of 

operational management. 

 The Council has three 

Statutory Officers 

responsible for good 

governance. The Chief 

Executive is the Council’s 

Head of Paid Service, The 

Director of Strategic Finance 

is the S151 Officer and the 

Director of Strategy and 

Challenge is the Monitoring 

Officer. They meet on a 

regular basis. 

  

 Develop protocols to ensure that 

the Leader and Chief Executive 

negotiate their respective roles 

early in the relationship and that a 

shared understanding of roles 

and objectives is maintained. 

 The Council’s Constitution 

defines the relevant roles 

and their respective 

delegated powers. 

 

 

  

P
age 294



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 15 

 GCC have a job 

description/job profile for the 

Leader and the Chief 

Executive. 

 The Leader and Chief 

Executive have regular 1:1 

meetings each week. 

 Regular Cabinet / CoMT 

meetings take place. 

 Make a Senior Officer (the S151 

Officer) responsible to the 

authority for ensuring that 

appropriate advice is given on all 

financial matters, for keeping 

proper financial records and 

accounts, and for maintaining an 

effective system of internal 

financial control. 

 

 The Council’s Constitution 

reflects the statutory 

appointment of a Section 

151 officer, who is also a 

member of the Corporate 

Management Team. 

 The Council has complied 

with the CIPFA Statement 

on the Role of the Chief 

Financial Officer in Local 

Government and has 

reported on it accordingly in 

its Annual Governance 

Statement. 

 

 

  

P
age 295



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 16 

 The Council has complied 

with the CIPFA Statement 

on the Role of the Head of 

Internal Audit in Public 

Service Organisations and 

has reported on it 

accordingly in its Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 Make a Senior Officer (the 

Monitoring Officer) responsible to 

the authority for ensuring that 

agreed procedures are followed 

and that all applicable Statutes 

and Regulations are complied 

with. 

 The Council’s Constitution 

reflects the statutory 

appointment of a Monitoring 

Officer, who is also a 

member of the Corporate 

Management Team. 

 

  

2.3  Ensuring relations 

between the authority, 

its partners and the 

public are clear so 

that each knows what 

to expect of the other. 

 Develop protocols to ensure 

effective communication between 

members and officers in their 

respective roles. 

 Protocol on Member / Officer 

Relations in the Constitution. 

 Portfolio Holder (and 

shadow) meetings. 

  

 Set out the terms and conditions 

for the remuneration of members 

and officers and an effective 

structure for managing the 

process including an effective 

remuneration panel. 

 The Council has an 

Independent Remuneration 

Panel. 

 A scheme for member 

remuneration and 

allowances is published. 

  

P
age 296



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 17 

 The Council has an 

Appointments Committee 

which enables members to 

play a full role in deciding 

which persons should be 

employed as the Council’s 

most senior officers and to 

determine any changes to 

contractual terms of 

employment and decisions 

on pension policy discretions 

for the Council. 

 For officers, the Council’s 

Pay Policy and reward 

structure, including 

authorisation procedures are 

in place. 

 Established process for job 

evaluation and appeals 

procedures in respect of 

disciplinary, dismissal and 

grievance procedures.. 

 Ensure that effective mechanisms 

exist to monitor service delivery 

 Quarterly strategic 

performance and risk 

reporting. 

 Independent inspections 

such as OFSTED and CQC. 

  

P
age 297



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 18 

 Ensure that the organisation’s 

vision, strategic plans, priorities 

and targets are developed 

through robust mechanisms, and 

in consultation with the local 

community and other key 

stakeholders, and that they are 

clearly articulated and 

disseminated. 

 The organisation has a 

Consultation Planning and 

Implementation Protocol, 

which clearly sets out how 

we deliver consultation in a 

consistent and meaningful 

way, whilst also being legally 

compliant. 

 Dissemination, including 

through individual and team 

performance targets via the 

Performance Development 

Review Scheme. 

 Relating to the workforce as 

stakeholders: 

 Employee 

Engagement 

Strategy; 

 Trade Unions; 

 Consultation 

arrangements; 

 STAFFNET. 

 

  

P
age 298



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 19 

 When working in partnership, 

ensure that members are clear 

about their roles and 

responsibilities both individually 

and collectively in relation to the 

partnership and to the authority. 

 Ensure that there is clarity about 

the legal status of the partnership. 

 Ensure that representatives or 

organisations both understand 

and make clear to all other 

partners the extent of their 

authority to bind their organisation 

to partner decisions. 

Appointments to outside bodies  

 The Council is one of a 

number of organisations that 

enter into partnerships with 

other public sector and with 

private sector organisations. 

It is represented on such 

partnership bodies by 

County Councillors and 

Officers, who must be 

formally appointed to them. 

The appointments process is 

what is called a “local choice 

function”, which means that 

it may be exercised by the 

Cabinet or the full Council; 

  In line with the Secretary of 

State’s advice, the Cabinet 

will make appointments to 

those bodies with functions, 

which are its responsibility. 

Other appointments will be 

made by or on behalf of the 

full Council.  

 

 

  

P
age 299



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 20 

 

 A list of all appointments to 

outside bodies is maintained 

by the Head of Democratic 

Services.  

  

P
age 300



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 21 

Core Principle 3 

Promoting values for the authority and demonstrating the values of good governance through upholding high standards of 

conduct and behaviour. 

 

Supporting Principles The County Council is required to: 

Evidence that the Council 

complies with these 

requirements: 

Compliant 

R / A / G 

 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. timescales) 

3.1 Ensuring authority 

Members and Officers 

exercise leadership by 

behaving in ways that 

exemplify high 

standards of conduct 

and effective 

governance. 

 Ensure that the authority’s 

leadership sets a tone for the 

organisation by creating a climate 

of openness, support and respect. 

 The Council has up to date 

Members and Employees 

Codes of Conduct. 

Incorporating the Council’s 

Whistleblowing procedure. 

 There are established 

procedures for investigating 

complaints about standards 

of conduct and behaviour. 

These include Fairness and 

Diversity, Bullying and 

Harassment policies. 

 

 

 

  P
age 301

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=53987&p=0


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 22 

 The Council has appointed 

three Independent Persons 

to assist the Monitoring 

Officer in dealing with 

complaints against 

members. 

 Performance Development 

Review and regular 121 and 

supervision meetings..   

 Ensure that standards of conduct 

and personal behaviour expected 

of members and staff, of work 

between members and staff and 

between the authority its partners 

and customers are defined and 

communicated clearly and 

through Codes of Conduct and 

Protocols. 

 Members’ / Employees’ 

Codes of Conduct. 

 Performance appraisal 

processes in place. 

 Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

Policy and Strategy in place. 

 Regular review/updates of 

the above codes/policies. 

 Staff awareness briefings. 

 Anti Fraud and 

Corruption 

Strategy 

Fighting Fraud and 

Corruption Locally 

2016–2019 strategy 

has been developed 

and supported by 

the CIPFA Counter 

Fraud Centre. The 

strategy includes 

practical steps for 

fighting fraud, 

shares best practice 

and brings clarity to 

the changing anti-

fraud and corruption 

landscape.  

 

P
age 302

http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/appraisal
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=59424&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=59424&p=0


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 23 

During 2016/2017 

the Chief Internal 

Auditor will 

undertake a self 

assessment against 

the new guidance to 

measure the 

Council’s counter 

fraud and corruption 

culture and 

response and 

propose 

enhancements as 

required. 

 Put in place arrangements to 

ensure that members and 

employees of the authority are not 

influenced by prejudice, bias or 

conflicts of interest in dealing with 

different stakeholders and/or 

customers and put in place 

appropriate processes to ensure 

that they continue to operate in 

practice. 

 Register of declaration of 

interests held for both 

Members and Officers. 

 Procedures in place for 

dealing with conflicts of 

interest, defined within the 

Codes of Conduct.  

 Registers of gifts and 

hospitality maintained. 

 

 

 

  

P
age 303



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 24 

3.2 Ensuring that 

organisational values 

are put into practice 

and are effective. 

 Develop and maintain shared 

values including leadership 

values for both the organisation 

and staff reflecting customer / 

public expectations, and 

communicate these to members, 

staff, customers and partners. 

 The Council Strategy sets 

out clear values for the 

organisation. 

 As part of the annual 

appraisals, the Council’s 

Leadership Skills and 

Behaviours are used to set 

and review performance and 

associated behaviours and 

to identify personal 

development needs. 

 Leadership and 

Management Development 

which promotes and 

develops individuals’ 

behaviours, capabilities and 

skills.  

 Integration of organisational 

values in learning and 

development for all staff. 

 Whistle blowing – 

confidential reporting 

procedures are in place and 

protect individuals raising 

concerns. 

 

  

P
age 304



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 25 

 Complaints procedures are 

in place. 

 Put in place arrangements to 

ensure that systems and 

processes are designed in 

conformity with appropriate 

ethical standards and monitor 

their continuing effectiveness in 

practice. 

 Registers of Members and 

Staff Interests maintained by 

the Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

  

 Develop and maintain an effective 

standards framework. 

 The Council’s Audit and 

Governance Committee’s 

role is to promote, maintain 

and assist the achievement 

of high standards of conduct 

by County Councillors and 

co-opted members in 

accordance with the 

Council’s Code of Conduct 

for Members.  

  

 Use the organisation’s shared 

values to act as a guide for 

decision making and as a basis 

for developing positive and 

trusting relationships within the 

authority. 

 In pursuing the vision of a 

partnership, agree a set of values 

 As part of annual appraisals, 

the Council’s Leadership 

Skills and Behaviours are 

used to set and review 

performance and associated 

behaviours and to identify 

personal development 

needs. 

  

P
age 305

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/customerservices


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 26 

against which decision making 

and actions can be judged.  Such 

values must be demonstrated by 

partners’ behaviour both 

individually and collectively. 

 Terms of Reference of 

Partnership Boards. The 

Council’s Codes of Conduct 

to apply. 

  

P
age 306



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 27 

Core Principle 4 

Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and managing risk. 

 

Supporting 

Principles 

The County Council is 

required to: 

Evidence that the Council complies 

with these requirements: 

Compliant 

R / A / G 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. 

timescales) 

4.1 Being rigorous and 

transparent about 

how decisions are 

taken and listening 

and acting on the 

outcome of 

constructive 

scrutiny. 

 Develop and maintain an 

effective scrutiny function 

which encourages 

constructive challenge and 

enhances the organisation’s 

performance overall, and 

that of any organisation for 

which it is responsible. 

 The role of and responsibility for 

scrutiny have been established and 

detailed within the Council’s 

Constitution. 

 Agenda and minutes of scrutiny 

meetings which are publicly available. 

 The position of Statutory Scrutiny 

Officer is identified in the job role of the 

Head of Democratic Services. Specific 

officers have been identified in the 

Democratic Services Unit to support 

scrutiny committees.   

 Gloucestershire’s scrutiny principles 

acknowledged nationally as best 

practice. 

 Monitoring scrutiny recommendations 

after 6, 12 and 18 months. 

  

P
age 307

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 28 

 Independent Challenge Team to 

support rigorous commissioning, 

review significant issues arising from 

performance, finance and risk 

monitoring, support transformational 

change, value for money and 

efficiencies and promote and support 

the development of a culture of 

challenge for all staff. 

 An effective internal audit function is 

resourced and maintained. 

 

 Develop and maintain open 

and effective mechanisms 

for documenting evidence 

for decisions and recording 

the criteria, rationale and 

considerations on which 

decisions are based. 

 Decisions made by the Cabinet and by 

Individual Cabinet Members are 

documented and published on the 

Council’s website 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?

bcr=1. Reports include requirements to 

explain background, options, resource 

implications, risk, consultation, 

equality’s considerations, officer advice 

and performance management.  

 Article 7 of the Constitution includes 

information on decision making, 

including principles of decision making. 

 

  

P
age 308

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 29 

 Put in place arrangements 

to safeguard members and 

employees against conflicts 

of interest and put in place 

appropriate processes to 

ensure that they continue to 

operate in practice. 

 Members’ and Officers’ Codes of 

Conduct which refers to a requirement 

to declare interests. 

 Reminder on all Committee agenda 

papers to declare interests. 

 Minutes of meetings, showing 

declarations of interest were sought 

and appropriate declarations made. 

 Members and Staff Registers of 

Interests maintained. 

 

  

 Develop and maintain an 

effective Audit and 

Governance Committee, 

which is independent of the 

executive and scrutiny 

functions, or make other 

appropriate arrangements 

for the discharge of such a 

function. 

 The Council’s Audit and Governance 

Committee’s Terms of Reference is to 

advise Council on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s 

corporate governance arrangements 

and internal control environment. 

 A self assessment as to their 

effectiveness undertaken against the 

CIPFA’s Audit Committees – Practical 

Guidance for Local Authorities 2013. 

 

 

  

P
age 309



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 30 

 Ensure that effective, 

transparent and accessible 

arrangements are in place 

for dealing with complaints. 

 The Council has implemented a 

revised Customer Complaints Policy 

and procedure. Complaints information 

is shared with Overview Management 

Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly 

basis.  

  

 

4.2 Having good 

quality information, 

advice and 

support to ensure 

that services are 

delivered 

effectively and are 

what the customer 

wants / needs. 

 Ensure that those making 

decisions whether for the 

authority or the partnerships 

are provided with 

information that is fit for the 

purpose – relevant, timely 

and gives clear 

explanations of technical 

issues and their 

implications. 

 Committee report templates require full 

consideration of key risks, impacts and 

opportunities. 

 Discussion/consultation between 

members and officers on the 

information needs of members to 

support decision making. 

 Support / training/guidance is provided 

to management, by the Executive 

Support Manager, to ensure that all 

decisions are made in accordance with 

the Council’s Constitution and are 

supported by good quality 

documentation. 

 Internal Audit reviewed compliance 

with the Council’s decision making 

processes during 2014/2015. 

 

 

  

P
age 310



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 31 

 Ensure that proper 

professional advice on 

matters that have legal or 

financial implications is 

available and recorded well 

in advance of decision 

making and used 

appropriately. 

 Committee reports require formal sign 

off from relevant professional 

disciplines. 

 Record of consultation, decision 

making and supporting rational is 

required under the Council’s 

Constitution.  

 Meeting reports provides details of 

advice given. 

  

4.3 Ensuring that an 

effective risk 

management 

system is in place. 

 Ensure that risk 

management is embedded 

into the culture of the 

authority with members and 

managers at all levels 

recognising that risk 

management is part of their 

jobs. 

 A Corporate Risk Management Policy 

and Strategy has been formally 

approved and adopted and is reviewed 

and updated on a regular basis. 

 Risk Management principles and roles 

and responsibilities are clearly defined 

with the Council’s Constitution 

(Financial Regulations). 

 Strategic Risk Register is owned by 

CoMT. 

 External Audit annually reviews the 

effectiveness of risk management 

arrangements operating with the 

Council and report the outcome 

publicly. 

 

  

P
age 311

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=56321&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=56321&p=0


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 32 

 Risk Management is embedded into 

the day to day business systems and 

processes operating within the 

Council.  

 Ensure that effective 

arrangements for whistle 

blowing are in place to 

which officers, staff and all 

those contracting with or 

appointed by the authority 

have access. 

 Whistleblowing arrangements are set 

out in the Employees Code of Conduct 

and on the Council’s website. The 

Monitoring Officer is responsible for 

dealing with whistleblowing allegations.  

  

4.4 Using their legal 

powers to the full 

benefit of 

stakeholders. 

 Actively recognise the limits 

of lawful activity placed on 

them by, for example, the 

ultra vires doctrine, but also 

strive to utilise their powers 

to the full benefit of their 

stakeholders. 

 Legal support is available to all service 

areas. 

 Training provided to Officers. 

 Awareness briefings are provided as 

required. 

 Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal 

Services review of all Cabinet and 

Cabinet Member reports prior to 

submission. 

  

P
age 312



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 33 

 Recognise the limits of 

lawful action and observe 

both the specific 

requirements of legislation 

and the general 

responsibilities placed on 

the authority by public law. 

 Regular Legal updates. 

 Council’s web-pages. 

  

 Observe all specific 

legislative requirements 

placed upon us, as well as 

the requirements of general 

law, and in particular to 

integrate the key principles 

of good administrative law – 

rationality, legality and 

natural justice – into our 

procedures and decision 

making processes. 

 Legal and Regulatory risk is one of the 

key categories of risk to be fully 

considered when delivering objectives. 

 Guidance provided on decision 

making. 

 Chief Executive, the Chief Financial 

Officer and Monitoring Officer sign off 

of all Cabinet reports. 

 Commissioning Board Papers are 

reviewed by the Head of Legal 

Services to be alerted to any potential 

unlawfulness. 

  

  

P
age 313

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 34 

Core Principle 5 

Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be effective. 

 

Supporting Principles The County Council is required to: 

Evidence that the Council 

complies with these 

requirements: 

Compliant 

R / A / G 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. timescales) 

5.1 Making sure that 

Members and Officers 

have the skills, 

knowledge, 

experience and 

resources they need 

to perform well in their 

roles. 

 Provide induction programmes 

tailored to individual needs and 

opportunities for Members and 

Officers to update their knowledge 

on a regular basis. 

 Staff Learning, Training, 

Induction and Development 

Programmes. 

 The Council has put in 

place a Member 

Development Framework 

based around the Local 

Government Association 

Skills Framework. This is 

reviewed regularly at Group 

Leader meetings. 

 Political awareness 

sessions provided to staff 

so that they are made 

aware of the Council’s 

working arrangements 

under a Conservative 

minority administration. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 314



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 35 

 Role descriptions 

incorporate knowledge and 

behaviour requirements. 

 Ensure that the Statutory Officers 

have the skills, resources and 

support necessary to perform 

effectively in their roles and these 

roles are properly understood 

throughout the authority. 

 The Council’s Constitution 

clearly defines these 

statutory roles. 

 Membership of the 

Corporate Management 

Team. 

 Membership of national / 

regional peer groups. 

 Leadership Development 

Programme.  

  

5.2 Developing the 

capability of people 

with governance 

responsibilities and 

evaluating their 

performance, as 

individuals and as a 

group. 

 Assess the skills required by 

Members and Officers and make 

a commitment to develop those 

skills to enable roles to be carried 

out effectively. 

 Workforce and 

Organisational 

Development Strategy 

includes activity on: 

 Leadership 

development; 

 Workforce planning and 

capability; 

 Workforce engagement; 

 Performance & Reward. 

  

P
age 315



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 36 

 Ongoing Member 

development programme 

to ensure that members 

have the knowledge to 

undertake their roles 

effectively. 

 Develop skills on a continuing 

basis to improve performance, 

including the ability to scrutinise 

and challenge and to recognise 

when outside expert advice is 

needed. 

 

 Performance 

monitoring/appraisal 

process identifies skills 

gaps and future needs and 

Workforce and 

Organisational 

Development responds to 

these. 

  

 Ensure that effective 

arrangements are in place for 

reviewing the performance of the 

Executive as a whole and of 

individual Members and agreeing 

an action plan, which might, for 

example, aim to address any 

training or development needs. 

 Officer performance 

appraisal systems. 

 Development plans linked 

to performance appraisals. 

 Appraisal process not 

appropriate for members as 

they are elected 

individuals. 

 

 

 

  

P
age 316



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 37 

5.3 Encouraging new 

talent at both Member 

and Officer level so 

that best use can be 

made of individuals’ 

skills and resources in 

balancing continuity 

and renewal. 

 Ensure that effective 

arrangements are in place 

designed to encourage individuals 

from all sections of the community 

to engage with, contribute to and 

participate in the work of the 

authority. 

 Workforce and 

Organisational 

Development Strategy, 

including activity on 

equality and diversity and 

leadership and 

management development. 

 As part of Grow 

Gloucestershire the council 

is committed to providing 

work experience 

placements / 

apprenticeships. This will 

enhance our commitment 

to young people in 

Gloucestershire and 

potentially contribute to 

developing a skilled 

workforce of the future.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 317



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 38 

 National Graduate 

Development Programme 

(NGDP). The NGDP is a 

national, two year, high 

profile, general 

management development 

programme for high calibre 

graduates with the potential 

to become senior leaders. 

It is one of the 

Improvement and 

Development Agency's 

(IDeA) flagship national 

leadership programmes.  

 Peoples Panel in place with 

regular recruitment to 

ensure this panel is 

representative of the 

Community. 

 Consult Gloucestershire – 

Consultation Portal. 

 Information for prospective 

councillors published on 

GCC website. 

 Political parties actively 

involved in recruiting 

political candidates. 

P
age 318



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 39 

 Ensure that career structures are 

in place for Members and Officers 

to encourage participation and 

development. 

 Workforce/Organisational 

Development Strategy. 

 A member development 

programme is in place to 

help councillors in 

undertaking their 

roles.  Support is provided 

to members on an 

individual basis if they need 

assistance on a particular 

issue. Officers across the 

authority are encouraged to 

attend council meetings 

and other events involving 

councillors to improve their 

political awareness. 

 Career structures not 

appropriate for elected 

members. 

 

  

  

P
age 319



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 40 

Core Principle 6 

Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability. 

 

Supporting Principles 
The County Council is required 

to: 

Evidence that the Council 

complies with these 

requirements: 

Compliant 

R / A / G 

 

Actions for 

improvement 

(incl. timescales) 

6.1 Exercising 

leadership through a 

robust and open 

scrutiny function 

which effectively 

engages local people 

and stakeholders, 

including 

partnerships and 

develops 

constructive 

accountability 

relationships. 

 Make clear to itself, all staff and 

the community to whom they 

are accountable and for what. 

 The Council publishes an 

annual report on the activity of 

the scrutiny function. 

 The Council’s website records 

all Council meetings and key 

decisions.  

 Group Leader meetings 

receive regular reports on 

scrutiny and working group 

activities. This ensures that the 

Leader of the Council, the 

leaders of the other political 

groups and the Chief 

Executive are kept fully 

informed about non-executive 

member activities. 

 

  

P
age 320



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 41 

 Consider those institutional 

stakeholders to whom the 

authority is accountable and 

assess the effectiveness of the 

relationships and any changes 

required. 

 The Council is recognised 

nationally as one of the 

leading scrutiny authorities 

and works closely with public 

sector partners.  The Council 

was successful in winning the 

Centre for Public Scrutiny’s 

‘Overall Impact’ award in 2012 

for its work with community 

representatives in examining 

the Environment Agency’s 

proposals south of Gloucester.  

 The Council features in the 

2015 Centre for Public 

Scrutiny Guide to Good 

Scrutiny for the review of the 

community impact of the 

badger cull in West 

Gloucestershire.  

  

 Publish an annual report on the 

activity of the scrutiny function. 

 The Council publishes an 

annual report on the activity of 

the scrutiny function.   

 The Council website provides 

records for meetings of full 

Council, Council committees 

and Cabinet meetings.  

 

  

P
age 321



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 42 

 Cabinet member decisions 

and significant officer 

decisions are also recorded on 

the website.  

6.2 Taking an active and 

planned approach to 

dialogue with and 

accountability to the 

public to ensure 

effective and 

appropriate service 

delivery whether 

directly by the 

authority, in 

partnership or by 

commissioning. 

 Ensure clear channels of 

communication are in place 

with all sections of the 

community and other 

stakeholders, and put in place 

monitoring arrangements and 

ensure they operate effectively. 

 Consultation Planning and 

Implementation Protocol. 

 People’s panel. 

 Consult Gloucestershire – 

Consultation Portal. 

 Strategic Performance reports 

are produced on a quarterly 

basis. They incorporate 

financial and risk reporting. 

They are reported to both 

Cabinet and Scrutiny 

Committees and papers are 

publicly available. 

 

  

 Ensure that arrangements are 

in place to enable the authority 

to engage with all sections of 

the community effectively.  

 Consultation Planning and 

Implementation Protocol. 

 People’s panel. 

  

P
age 322



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 43 

These arrangements should 

recognise that different sections 

of the community have different 

priorities and establish explicit 

processes for dealing with 

these competing demands. 

 The above, alongside risk 

assessments helps to inform 

the direction of resources. 

 

 Establish a clear policy on the 

types of issues we will 

meaningfully consult on or 

engage with the public and 

service users about, including a 

feedback mechanism for those 

consultees to demonstrate what 

has changed as a result. 

 Consultation Planning and 

Implementation Protocol. 

 

  

 On an annual basis, publish a 

performance plan giving 

information on the authority’s 

vision, plans and financial 

statements as well as 

information about its outcomes, 

achievements and the 

satisfaction of service users in 

the previous period. 

 Council’s Strategy is updated 

annually and informed by 

public consultation. Progress 

is monitored on a quarterly 

basis through strategic 

performance reports to the 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committees, 

which are publicly available. 

 Annual Statement of Accounts 

and AGS published which 

provides details on how the 

Council is directed and 

controlled. 

  

P
age 323



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 44 

 We undertake an annual 

satisfaction survey with Adult 

Social care Users, bi-annual 

survey with Carers and bi-

annual online pupil survey. 

Analysis informs future 

commissioning intentions and 

service improvements. 

 Ensure that the authority as a 

whole is open and accessible to 

the community, service users 

and its staff and ensure that the 

authority has made a 

commitment to openness and 

transparency in all its dealings 

including partnerships, subject 

only to the need to preserve 

confidentiality in those specific 

circumstances where it is 

proper and appropriate to do 

so. 

 The Council publishes an 

Annual Governance Statement 

in order to report how we have 

monitored the effectiveness of 

our governance arrangements 

in year and on any planned 

changes in the coming year.  

 Freedom of Information 

Annual report published. 

 Freedom of Information Act 

publication scheme. 

 The Council’s website. 

 Public Meetings. 

 Whistle blowing – confidential 

reporting procedures are in 

place and protect individuals 

raising concerns. 

  

P
age 324



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 45 

6.3 Making best use of 

human resources by 

taking an active and 

planned approach to 

meet responsibilities 

to staff. 

 Develop and maintain a clear 

policy on how staff and their 

representatives are consulted 

and involved in decision 

making. 

 We undertake periodic staff 

surveys. 

 HR policy requires all staff 

have regular supervision and 

an annual appraisal. 

 Support provided for training 

and Continuing Professional 

Development Programmes. 

 

  

P
age 325



Code of Corporate Governance 

 

Code of Corporate Governance 46 

Monitoring & Review 

 

The governance arrangements in place will be monitored to ensure that they are adequate 

and operating effectively in practice, and will be subject to review on a periodic basis (at 

least annually).  

 

The responsibility for arranging the review(s), providing oversight and robust challenge, is 

the Chief Executive, Director of Finance (s151) and the Monitoring Officer and when 

completed, the findings will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

In addition, the Council will prepare an Annual Governance Statement (to be published 

alongside the annual accounts) to provide assurance that: 

 

 the Council’s governance arrangements are adequate and operating effectively in 

practice, or 

 where the reviews of the governance arrangements have revealed gaps, action is 

planned that will ensure effective governance in future.   

Monitoring the implementation of any agreed action plans emanating from the review(s) 

will be the responsibility of the relevant Directors.  

 

An independent opinion on the control environment (comprising risk management, control 

and governance) will be provided by the Chief Internal Auditor and included within the 

Annual Governance Statement. 

Page 326



Gloucestershire County Council Corporate Governance Framework 

Principles, Statutory Obligations and Organisational Objectives 
 

 47 

Appendix 1 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Corporate Governance comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values, by which local government bodies are 

directed and controlled and through which they account to, engaged with and, where appropriate, lead their communities. 

Meeting Statutory 
Obligations 

Meeting Organisational 
Objectives 

Implementing Local Vision 

Taking Informed and 
Transparent Decisions  

Working together to achieve 
a common purpose 

Adherence to Ethical Values 

Developing Members and 
Officers 

Maintaining a Community 
Focus 

 
 

 Constitution  

 Council Strategy 

 Scheme of Delegation 

 Members and Officers Codes of Conduct 

 Partnership Terms of Reference 

 Consultation Planning & Implementation 

Protocol 

 Commissioning Toolkit 

 Communications Strategy 

 Complaints Policy 

 Workforce Organisational Development 

Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Statement of Accounts 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Annual Performance Reports 

 Commissioning/Delivery Business Plans 

 Freedom of Information Publication 

Scheme 

 Risk Management Strategy 

 Strategic Risk Register 

 Information Management and Security 

Policies 

 Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy/Strategy 

 Health and Safety Policy 

Key Documents 
 
 

 Audits/Inspections and assessments 

 Financial Management Framework 

 Corporate Governance Assurance 

Framework 

 Information Governance Framework 

 Partnership Protocols 

 Gifts and Hospitality Registers 

 Officer Employment Procedures Rules 

 Member/Officer Relations 

 Performance Management Framework 

 Risk Management Framework 

 Member and Officer Decision Making 

 Declarations of Interests: Members and 

Officers 

 Confidential reporting procedure 

(Whistleblowing) 

 Health, Well-being and Safety processes 

 Emergency Management/Business 

Continuity Arrangements 

 Asset Management Planning 

 Member/Officer Training 

 Leadership and Staff appraisal processes 

 Gloucestershire County Council Website 

 Change Programme/Project Management 

 

Key Processes 
 
 Leader 

 Cabinet 

 Elected Members 

 Committees 

 Scrutiny 

 Portfolio Holder/Group Spokespersons/Shadow Members 

 Audit and Governance Committee 

 Statutory Officers 

 Head of Paid Service 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Chief Financial Officer (S151 officer) 

 Corporate Management Team 

 Commissioning Board 

 Delivery Board  

 Challenge Team 

 Commercial Assurance Team  

 Commercial Unit 

 Heads of Service 

 Partners 

 Officers 

 Internal Audit 

 External Audit 

 Other External Inspection Agencies 

 Performance and Risk Managers, Finance, HR and Legal Teams 

 
 
 

Key Roles/Functions 

P
age 327



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item:
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
16

th
 September 2016 

Title of Report Appointment of External Auditors for Statement of 
Accounts 2018/19 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

To summarise the changes to the arrangements for appointing 
External Auditors following the closure of the Audit Commission 
and the end of the transitional external audit arrangements at 
the conclusion of the 2017/18 audits.

To outline options for the appointment of the Council’s external 
audits for the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts and allow the 
Committee to recommend to Council the preferred appointment 
process. 
 

Recommendations 

That the Committee endorses Option 3 for the appointment of 
external auditors and recommends to Council to opt-in to the 
Public Sector Audit Appointment Ltd (PSAA) as the Sector-Led 
Body for the appointment of the Council’s external auditors 
from 2018/19.

Contact Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

John Kear, Financial Accounting Manager (01452) 328912
john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 329

Agenda Item 8

mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Report 

Introduction

1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) included transitional 
arrangements covering the audit contracts originally let by the Audit Commission in 
2012 and 2014. These contracts covered the audit of accounts up to 2016/17, and 
gave the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) the power to 
extend these contracts to 2019/20.

The Local Government Association (LGA) established an independent company, 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) to take on the management of the 
external audit contracts for local public bodies following the closure of the Audit 
Commission during this interim period. 

On 5th October 2015 the Secretary of State Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) announced that the audit contracts for large local government bodies (including 
county councils) would be extended to include the audit of the 2017/18 financial 
statements.  From the 2018/19 accounts, these bodies need to appoint their own 
auditors.
  
The Council’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton, an appointment made under 
a contract let by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).  

Over recent years the Council has benefited from reduction in fees in the order of 25% 
compared with historic levels. This has been the result of a combination of factors 
including new contracts negotiated nationally with the firms of accountants and 
savings from closure of the Audit Commission. The Council’s current external audit 
fees for the 2015/16 accounts is £98,000 the Council and £25,000 for the pension
fund.

When the current transitional arrangements come to an end on 31st March 2018 the 
Council will be able to move to local appointment of the auditor.  There are a number 
of routes by which this can be achieved, each with varying risks and opportunities.  
Current fees are based on discounted rates offered by the firms in return for 
substantial market share. When the contracts were last negotiated nationally by the 
Audit Commission they covered NHS and local government bodies and offered 
maximum economies of scale.

The scope of the audit will still be specified nationally, the National Audit Office (NAO) 
is responsible for writing the Code of Audit Practice which all firms appointed to carry 
out the Council’s audit must follow. Not all accounting firms will be eligible to compete 
for the work, they will need to demonstrate that they have the required skills and 
experience and be registered with a Registered Supervising Body approved by the 
Financial Reporting Council.  The registration process has not yet commenced and so 
the actual number of firms is unknown but it is reasonable to expect that the list of 
eligible firms may include the top 10 or 12 firms in the country, including our current 
auditor.  It seems unlikely that smaller local independent firms will meet the eligibility 
criteria. 

Page 330



Main Options for Appointing External Auditors

2 There are three main options open to the Council under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) to appoint external auditors:

Option 1 To make a stand-alone appointment

In order to make a stand-alone appointment the Council will need to set up an 
Auditor Panel.  The members of the panel must be wholly or a majority independent 
members, as defined by the Act.  Independent members for this purpose are 
independent appointees, this excludes current and former elected members (or 
officers) and their close families and friends.  This ensures that elected members will 
not have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing which firm of accountants 
to award a contract for the Council’s external audit.  The new independent Auditor 
Panel will be responsible for selecting the external auditor.

Advantages/benefit
 Setting up an auditor panel allows the Council to take maximum 

advantage of the new local appointment regime and have local input to the 
decision.

Disadvantages/risks
 Recruitment and servicing of the Auditor Panel, running the bidding 

exercise and negotiating the contract is estimated by the LGA to cost in 
the order of £15,000 per tender plus on going expenses and allowances.

 The Council will not be able to take advantage of reduced fees that may 
be available through joint or national procurement contracts.

 The assessment of bids and decision on awarding contracts will be taken 
by independent appointees and not solely by elected members.

Option 2 Set up a Joint Auditor Panel/local joint procurement
arrangements

The Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint auditor 
panel.  Again this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 
appointees.  Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such 
a panel, having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the 
Council would need to assess with other local authorities the appetite for such an 
arrangement.

Advantages/benefits
 The costs of setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise and 

negotiating the contract will be shared across a number of authorities.
 There is greater opportunity for negotiating some economies of scale by 

being able to offer a larger combined contract value to the firms.

Page 331



Disadvantages/risks
 The decision making body will be further removed from local input, with 

potentially no input from elected members where a wholly independent 
auditor panel is used or possibly only one elected member representing 
each Council, depending on the constitution agreed with the other bodies 
involved. 

 The choice of auditor could be complicated where individual Councils have 
independence issues.  An independence issue occurs where the auditor 
has recently or is currently carrying out work such as consultancy or 
advisory work for the Council. Where this occurs some auditors may be 
prevented from being appointed by the terms of their professional 
standards, in which case the Council may still need to make a separate 
appointment with all the attendant costs and loss of economies possible 
through joint procurement.

Option 3 Opt-in to a sector led body

In response to the consultation on the new arrangement the LGA successfully 
lobbied for Councils to be able to ‘opt-in’ to a Sector Led Body (SLB) appointed by 
the Secretary of State under the Act.  An SLB would have the ability to negotiate 
contracts with the firms nationally, maximising the opportunities for the most 
economic and efficient approach to procurement of external audit on behalf of the 
whole sector.

Advantages/benefits
 The costs of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating 

fees would be shared across all opt-in authorities.
 By offering large contract values the firms would be able to offer better 

rates and lower fees than are likely to result from local negotiation.
 Any conflicts at individual authorities would be managed by the SLB who 

would have a number of contracted firms to call upon.
 The appointment process would not be ceded to locally appointed 

independent members.  Instead a separate body is set up to act in the 
collective interests of the ‘opt-in’ authorities.  

Disadvantages/risks
 Individual elected members will have less opportunity for direct 

involvement in the appointment process other than through the LGA 
and/or stakeholder representative groups.

 In order for the SLB to be viable, and to be placed in the strongest 
possible negotiating position, the SLB will need Councils to indicate their 
intention to opt-in before final contract prices are known.

Page 332



Appointment of Gloucestershire County Council’s External Auditors from 
2018/19

3 The Council has until December 2017 to make an appointment.  In practical terms this 
means one of the options outlined above will need to be in place by spring 2017 in 
order that any contract negotiations can be completed by the end of 2017.  Section 8 
of the Act governs the procedure for appointment including that the authority must 
consult and take account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and 
appointment of a local auditor.  Section 8 provides that where a relevant authority is a 
local authority operating executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local 
auditor to audit its accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the authority.  

Whilst there is no immediate risk to the Council, early consideration by the Council of 
its preferred approach will enable detailed planning to take place so as to achieve 
successful transition to the new arrangement in a timely and efficient manner.

The cost of establishing a local or joint Auditor Panel outlined in options 1 and 2 below 
would need to be estimated and included in the Council’s budget for 2017/18 and 
2018/19.  This will need to cover the cost of recruiting independent appointees 
(members), servicing the Panel, running a bidding and tender evaluation process, 
letting a contract and paying members fees and allowances.

Opting-in to a national SLB provides maximum opportunity to limit the extent of any 
fee increases by entering in to a large scale collective procurement arrangement and 
would spread the costs of establishing an auditor panel across all opt-in authorities.  
There will not be a fee to join the sector led arrangements.  The audit fees that opted-
in bodies will be charged by the sector led body will cover the costs of appointing 
auditors. The LGA believes that audit fees achieved through block contracts will be 
lower than the costs that individual authorities will be able to negotiate.  In addition, by 
using the SLB councils will avoid having to do their own procurement and the legal 
requirement to set up a panel of independent members.

The LGA have been working on developing a SLB arrangement, with around 270 
councils and local bodies expressed initial interest in a national scheme.

In late July 2016, the Department for Communities & Local Government approved 
PSAA’s (a not-for-profit company established by the LGA) bid to become the SLB for 
the independent appointment of auditors for principal authorities in England, beginning 
with responsibilities for the financial year 2018-19.  When announcing this 
development PSAA confirmed that only firms that have a proven track record in 
undertaking public audit work will be contracted.  The plan is to set a three-year time 
period for both contracts and public sector bodies’ membership of the scheme, with 
the option to expand it to five years.  PSAA will limit contracts to a small number of 
companies in two or three large contract areas, in order to try to achieve the most 
competitive prices possible.  PSAA’s draft prospectus is provided in Annex A.

Page 333



Conclusion & Recommendation

7 Opting-in to PSAA’s national SLB potentially provides the best opportunity to limit 
future fees or costs, in both terms of both appointment of auditors and audit, by 
entering into a large scale collective procurement arrangements.  It automatically 
removes the need to establishing an auditor panel, and the associated costs.

The LGA has continuously supported the SLB approach, believing it will offer best 
value to Councils by reducing set-up costs and having the potential to negotiate 
lowest possible fees.
.
It is recommended that the Committee endorses Option 3 for the appointment of 
external auditors and recommends to Council to opt-in to the Public Sector Audit 
Appointment (PSAA) as the Sector-Led Body for the appointment of the Council’s 
external auditors from 2018/19.

Jo Walker
Strategic Finance Director

Page 334



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

16th September 2016

TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT

Title of Report Treasury Management Update Report 2016/17

Purpose of Report 
In accordance with CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: 
Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes, to inform Members 
about Treasury Management activities for the 2016/17 Financial Year to 
date.

Recommendations To note the Treasury Management Update Report.

Officers
Jo Walker : Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker : Head of Finance  (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

John Kear: Financial Accounting Manager  (01452) 328912
John.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

The Treasury Management Strategy for the Council has been underpinned by the 
adoption of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management 2011, which includes the requirement for 
determining a treasury strategy on the likely financing and investment activity for the 
forthcoming financial year. The Code also recommends that members are informed of 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year.  This report therefore ensures this 
authority is embracing Best Practice in accordance with CIPFA’s recommendations. 

This report considers the treasury management activities in relation to the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2016/17.  It includes a summary of the current economic 
climate, a review of current investments, an update on the borrowing strategy, and 
compliance with Prudential Indicators. 

Page 335

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:John.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. The Economy and Events to August 2016

As we entered 2016, there was a significant uncertainty about the outlook for global 
growth.  The slowdown in the Chinese economy and the knock-on effects for both 
trading partners and commodity prices, the uncertainty over the outcome of the US 
presidential nominations and the impending referendum on the UK’s future relationship 
with the EU, all resulted in nervousness and a shaky start for markets. 

Data released in the April-June quarter showed UK GDP at 2% year/year to March 
2016 and annual inflation at 0.3% in May.  Core inflation remained subdued as a 
consequence of weak global price pressures, past movements in sterling and 
restrained domestic price growth.  Internationally, a modest pace of growth in the UK’s 
main trading partners remained the most likely prospect.    

Fluctuations in the opinion polls on the EU referendum prompted pronounced volatility 
in exchange rates, gilts, corporate bonds and equities as the result became 
increasingly uncertain.  Immediately prior to the result, financial market sentiment 
shifted significantly in favour of a Remain outcome, a shift swiftly reversed as the 
results came in.  The vote to leave the EU sent shockwaves through the domestic, 
European and global political spectrum, the most immediate impact being the 
resignation of Prime Minister David Cameron.

Between 23rd June and 1st July the sterling exchange rate index fell by 9% and short-
term volatility of sterling against the dollar increased significantly.  Worldwide, markets 
reacted very negatively with a big initial fall in equity prices.  Government bond yields 
also fell sharply by 20-30 bp across all maturities (i.e. prices rose) as investors sought 
safe haven from riskier assets. The 10-year benchmark gilt yield fell from 1.37% to 
0.86%. 

A week on from the result the overall market reaction, although significant, was less 
severe than some had feared. The 5-year CDS for the UK (the cost of insuring against 
a sovereign default) rose from 33.5 basis points to 38.4 basis points. The FTSE All 
Share index, having fallen sharply by 7% from 3,481 points on 23rd June to 3,237 after 
the result, had subsequently risen to 3,515 by the end of the month.

At its meeting in August, the Monetary Policy Committee voted unanimously to cut 
Bank Rate to 0.25% from 0.5% and to introduce a Term Funding Scheme. The 
Committee also voted 6-3 to increase the stock of purchases of gilts to £435 billion from 
£375 billion, and voted 8-1 to purchase £10 billion of corporate bonds. 

The Committee noted that following the vote to leave the European Union, the 
exchange rate had fallen and the outlook for growth in the short to medium term 
weakened markedly. The fall in sterling is likely to push up CPI inflation in the near 
term, hastening its return to the 2% target and probably causing it to rise above the 
target in the latter part of the MPC’s forecast period, before the exchange rate effect 
dissipates thereafter.

Page 336



3. Borrowing Strategy 2016/17

At 31st March 2016 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was £317.6 million. Actual 
external borrowing was £298.7m at this date plus £20.9m of other long term liabilities 
associated with the Council’s PFI schemes – a total of £319.7 million, giving a slightly 
over borrowed position.

In the period 1st April 2016 to 30th August 2016 no new long term external debt was 
incurred and no long term external debt was repaid.

The Treasury Management Strategy states that the Council’s Authorised Limit for 
External Debt is £360 million in 2016/17. So current debt is within this limit.

The latest PWLB borrowing rates are shown in Appendix B together with a graph 
showing how the level of borrowing in Gloucestershire at 31st March 2016 compares 
with other county councils and also a graph showing the maturity profile of this long 
term borrowing. 

The Council has a fully funded capital programme in 2016/17 with no additional long 
term borrowing planned – the capital programme is funded in full from grants, revenue 
contributions and reserves.

The borrowing strategy for 2016/17 is to ensure all long term debt due to mature in the 
financial year is repaid, and no new external debt incurred. A £4.9m loan from PWLB 
will mature in December 2016 and will be repaid at this time.  It is currently envisaged 
that any shortfall between the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes and total 
external debt will be funded from internal borrowing because it continues to provide the 
best value for funding new capital expenditure, as well as being a low risk option. 

The average loan cost for the Council is 5.36%, (5.48% on the PWLB portfolio, 5.00% 
on the fixed market loans, and 4.23% on the longer term LOBO loans). 

The premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt has remained expensive for 
the loans in the Council’s portfolio and therefore unattractive for debt rescheduling or 
early redemption activity. No rescheduling activity has yet been undertaken or is 
currently planned as a consequence.

The borrowing strategy will be kept under review to ensure the funding methods remain 
appropriate.  

Page 337



4. Investment Strategy 2016/17

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance 
of expenditure plus balances and reserves held. Cashflow statements show that during 
the period April to August 2016 the Councils investment balances ranged between 
£276 million and £357 million.

The Guidance on Local Government Investments in England gives priority to security 
and liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a yield commensurate with these 
principles. 

The UK Bank Rate has recently been reduced to 0.25% from a position of 0.5% since 
March 2009.  Short-term money market rates have now started to reduce, and short 
fixed deposits rates are at very low levels.  Our longer duration strategy should help 
protect income over the medium term.  

The current year budget for interest earned is £1.16 million and the current forecast is 
that this will be exceeded by £0.3 million in 2016/17 despite the recent cut in interest 
rates.  

The average return on investments as at the end of August was 1.20%.  This is likely to 
reduce as a result of the recent base rate reduction, and the outturn position has taken 
this into account. The graph at Appendix D shows the performance of the Council 
compared to other local authorities – we are in top quartile.  The graph at Appendix E 
shows the rate of return against the Council’s risk appetite in comparison to other 
councils – this shows that only 5 other councils have a similarly low risk appetite and still 
exceed our rate of return.

Internally Managed Funds

The Council has a number of longer term investments totalling £133.1 million - this 
includes £66m longer term investments with other local authorities.  

On a shorter term the Council makes regular fixed term deposits for up to one year with 
both UK and foreign banks.  Liquidity is maintained through the use of call facilities and 
money market funds (MMF’s).  

The following details the maturity profile of internal balances as at 25th August 2016:

On Call or in MMF’s 21.36%
95 day notice (Santander) 4.60% 
Deposits maturing within:
Under 3 months 17.25%
3 to 6 months 1.23%
6 to 12 months 10.77%
Over 12 months 34.04%
Payden & Rygel MMF 4.61%
LAMIT Property Fund 6.14%

A list of current investments as at 25th August 2016 is provided at Appendix A.  

Investment Activity to Date 

Page 338



Investment activity to date is shown in the table below:

Short term Investments (call 

accounts, deposits)

- Banks and Building Societies 

with ratings of A- or higher 101.3 89 -103.3 87.0 0.8

- UK Government 2 0 -2 0.0 0

- Local Authorities 7 15 -12 10.0 0.7

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 5.2 8.2 0 13.4 0.9

Long term Investments

- Banks and Building Societies 

with ratings of A- or higher 2.2 0 0 2.2 3.2

- CCLA Property Fund 15 5 0 20.0 5.0

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 8.3 36.6 0 44.9 0.9

- Local Authorities 64 7 -5 66.0 1.7

Money Market Funds 20.7 257.0 -243.4 34.3 0.5

Other Pooled Funds 50 0 0 50.0 0.9

Other organisations (e.g. loans 

to small businesses) 0.1 0 0 0.1 5.4

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 275.8 327.9
Increase/ (Decrease) in 

Investments £m 52.1

Avg Rate 

(%) Investments
Balance on 

30/03/2016  

Investments 

Made        

Maturities/ 

Investments 

Balance on 

25/08/2016  

Security of capital remained the Council’s main investment objective.  This was 
maintained by following the Council’s counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2016/17.  This restricts new investments to the 
following: 

 interest-bearing bank accounts,
 fixed term deposits and loans,
 callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment 

at any time (with or without notice),
 callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before 

maturity, but subject to a maximum of £30 million in total,
 certificates of deposit,
 bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable 

instruments, 
 shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
 reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Credit Risk:  Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored in line with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy.

Page 339



5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2016/17, 
which were set in February 2016 as part of the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.  

Details can be found in Appendix C.

6. Outlook for the rest of the year

Following the UK’s vote to leave the European Union, the economic outlook for the UK 
is uncertain, but likely to be substantially weaker in the short term than previously 
forecast. Arlingclose has changed its central case for the path of Bank Rate over the 
next three years. Arlingclose believes any currency-driven inflationary pressure will be 
looked through by Bank of England policymakers. The likely path for Bank Rate is 
downwards and the central case is 0.25%, but there is a 40% possibility of that the rate 
is cut to zero.

In addition, Arlingclose believes that the Government and the Bank of England have 
both the tools and the willingness to use them to prevent any immediate market-wide 
problems leading to bank insolvencies. The cautious approach to credit advice means 
that the banks currently on the Council’s counterparty list have sufficient equity buffers 
to deal with any localised problems in the short term.

7. Summary

In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report provides 
members with a summary report of the treasury management activity during the first 
period of 2016/17 to August.   As indicated in this report none of the Prudential 
Indicators have been breached and a prudent approach has been taken in relation to 
investment activity with priority being given to security and liquidity over yield.

Page 340



Appendix A
In-House Investments as at 25 August 2016

Instrument Country/ 
Domicile Counterparty Current £m Duration Limit 

Unsecured
Santander UK Plc (Banco Santander Group)

29.70
13 months 
(£14.7m 
covered)

Bank of Scotland (Lloyds Banking Group) - 13 months
Lloyds TSB (Lloyds Banking Group) 25.3 13 months 

(£10m covered)
HSBC Bank Plc 0.2 13 months
Close Brothers 10.0 6 months
Nationwide Building Society

12.4
6 months

(£7.4m covered)
Hinkley & Rugby Building Society

1.0
6 months

National Counties Building Society
1.0

6 months

Barclays Bank Plc 6.9 100 days 
(£6.9m covered)

Goldman Sacs International Bank 10.0 100 days

NatWest (RBS Group) - 35 days

Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS Group) - 35 days

UK

Coventry Building Society 8.9 6 months 
(£8.9m covered) 

Australia and NZ Banking Group - 6 months
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 5.0 6 months
National Australia Bank Ltd (National Australia 
Bank Group) - 6 months

Australia

Westpac Banking Corp - 6 months
Bank of Montreal - 13 months
Bank of Nova Scotia 5.0 13 months 

(£5m covered)
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce - 13 months
Royal Bank of Canada 5.0 13 months (£5m 

covered)

Canada

Toronto-Dominion Bank 10.0 13 months
Nordea Bank Finland - 13 monthsFinland
OP Corporate Bank - 6 months

Germany Helaba 5.0 6 months
ING Bank NV - 100 days
Rabobank - 13 monthsNetherlands

Danske Bank - 100 days
Sweden Svenska Handelsbanken - 13 months

Switzerland Credit Suisse - 100 days
US JP Morgan - 13 months

DBS 10.0 13 months
OCBC - 13 months

Te
rm

 D
ep

os
its

 / 
C

al
l A

cc
ou

nt
s 

/ C
D

s 
/ C

ov
er

ed
 In

st
ru

m
en

ts

Singapore
UOB - 13 months

LA / Bills UK Other UK Local Authorities 76.0 4 years

34.3m
AAA-rated 
Money 
Market 
Funds

UK / Ireland /
Luxembourg 

domiciled 

CNAV MMFs

VNAV MMFs (where there is greater than 12 
month history of a consistent £1 Net Asset 
Value)

50m
-

Other MMFs 
and CIS

UK / Ireland /
Luxembourg 
domiciled *

Pooled funds which meet the definition of a 
Collective Investment Scheme per SI 2004 No 
534 and subsequent amendments

20m
 
-

Page 341



Appendix B
Money Market Data and PWLB Rates 

The average, low and high rates correspond to the rates during the financial year 
and rather than those in the tables below.  Please note that the PWLB rates below 
are Standard Rates. Authorities eligible for the Certainty Rate can borrow at a 0.20% 
reduction.

Table 1: Bank Rate, Money Market Rates

Date Bank 
Rate

O/N 
LIBID

7-day 
LIBID

1-
month
LIBID

3-
month 
LIBID

6-
month 
LIBID

12-
month 
LIBID

2-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

3-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

5-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

01/4/2016 0.50 0.36 0.36 0.39 0.46 0.61 0.88 0.78 0.83 0.98

30/4/2016 0.50 0.36 0.36 0.38 0.47 0.62 0.90 0.86 0.95 1.13

31/5/2016 0.50 0.35 0.37 0.39 0.46 0.61 0.89 0.82 0.92 1.09

30/6/2016 0.50 0.35 0.36 0.39 0.43 0.55 0.80 0.49 0.49 0.60

Average 0.50 0.36 0.36 0.38 0.46 0.60 0.86 0.77 0.83 0.98

Maximum 0.50 0.36 0.37 0.39 0.47 0.62 0.90 0.88 0.99 1.20

Minimum 0.50 0.35 0.36 0.37 0.40 0.50 0.73 0.49 0.49 0.58

Spread -- 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.07 0.12 0.17 0.39 0.50 0.62

Table 2: PWLB Borrowing Rates – Fixed Rate, Maturity Loans
Change Date Notice 

No 1 year 4½-5 yrs 9½-10 yrs 19½-20 yrs 29½-30 yrs 39½-40 yrs 49½-50 yrs

01/4/2016 125/16 1.33 1.82 2.51 3.24 3.33 3.19 3.15

30/4/2016 165/16 1.37 1.95 2.65 3.34 3.40 3.25 3.21

31/5/2016 205/16 1.36 1.93 2.56 3.22 3.27 3.11 3.07

30/6/2016 249/16 1.17 1.48 2.09 2.79 2.82 2.61 2.57

Low 1.09 1.41 2.05 2.76 2.79 2.59 2.56

Average 1.31 1.79 2.46 3.17 3.23 3.07 3.03

High 1.40 2.00 2.71 3.40 3.46 3.31 3.28

Appendix B

Page 342



9.
25

0%
9.

25
0 8.

41
7%

7.
37

5%
8.

31
3%

7.
04

2%
6.

17
5%

5.
75

0%
4.

87
5%

4.
81

3%

5.
00

0%

4.
60

0%
4.

87
5%

4.
80

0%

4.
75

0%
4.

35
0% 4.
86

0%
4.

85
0% 4.

71
0%

4.
79

0%
4.

78
0%

4.
65

0%
4.

75
0%

4.
73

0%
4.

71
0%

4.
79

5%
4.

70
0% 3.
90

0%
4.

10
0%

4.
55

0%
5.

00
0%

4.
75

0%

4.
46

0%

4.
11

0%

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

 35,000,000

Maturity Profile (including average % loan rate)
£

P
age 343



Source: CIPFA benchmarking Final Report

P
age 344



Appendix C

Prudential Indicators 2016/17

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 
determining how much money it can afford to borrow.  The objectives of the 
Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment 
plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets 
out the following indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

Capital Financing Requirement
The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  Estimates of the Council’s cumulative maximum 
external borrowing requirement for 2016/17 to 2018/19 are shown in the table below:

31/03/2016 31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2019
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Capital Financing Requirement 317.593 315.676 313.284 304.396
Less:

Existing Profile of Borrowing 298.712 293.849 285.514 277.651
Less:

Other Long Term Liabilities 20.942 20.391 19.825 19.138
Cumulative Maximum External  
Borrowing Requirement -2.061 1.436 7.945 7.607

The Councils strategy remains to maintain maximum control over its borrowing 
activities as well as flexibility on its loans portfolio.  The capital financing requirement 
is forecast to fall over the next three years as the Council continues with its strategy 
to repay maturing debt and to cap the capital programme at the level of grants and 
contributions.

Following revisions to the MRP policy, approved in February 2016, there is no longer 
a breech of this prudential indicator with debt now staying below the CFR boundary.

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that over 
the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure 
that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key 
indicator of prudence.

Page 345



31.03.16 
Actual

31.03.17 
Estimate 

31.03.18 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Borrowing 298.712 293.849 285.514 277.651
PFI liabilities 20.942 20.391 19.825 19.138
Total Debt 319.654 314.24 305.339 296.789

Debt

The actual debt levels are monitored against the Operational Boundary and 
Authorised Limit for External Debt, below. 

(a) Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 

 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross 
basis (i.e. not net of investments) and is the statutory limit determined under 
Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. This is a statutory limit which 
should not be breached.  The Council’s Affordable Borrowing Limit was set at 
£360m for 2016/17, and debt at its highest to date, £319.7 million, has not 
exceeded this. 

 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR 
and estimates of other cashflow requirements.  (This indicator is based on the 
same estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but 
not worst case scenario, but without the additional headroom included within 
the Authorised Limit).  The Operational Boundary for 2016/17 was set at 
£330m.

 There were no breaches to the Authorised Limit and the Operational 
Boundary during the period to 30/08/16; borrowing at its peak was £317.6m.  

(b) Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet financing costs, net of investment income.

 (c) Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment 
decisions on Council Tax levels. The incremental impact is the difference 
between the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital 
programme and the revenue budget requirement arising from the capital 
programme proposed.  There has been no external or internal borrowing for 
capital purposes to date this year. 

Page 346



(d) Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing 

 This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
30/08/16

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing as 
at 30/08/16

LOBO PWLB/Other
under 12 months 25 0 33.050 4.863 12.69 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 0.000 8.336 2.79 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 0.000 23.690 7.93 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 0.000 36.545 12.23 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 0.000 44.000 14.73 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 0.000 47.849 16.02 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 0.000 85.379 28.58 Yes
40 years plus 100 0 0.000 15.000 5.03 Yes

% Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

30/08/16

Complian
ce with 

Set 
Limits?

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 
Borrowing

Upper 
Limit %

Lower 
Limit %

Note:  LOBO’s are shown at their earliest maturity (call) date.  In reality these loans tend to be much 
longer term and cannot be redeemed early, unless called, without significant penalty.  
Barclays LOBO’s are now reclassified as fixed loans and their maturity date is shown in the 
over 30-40 years category

(e) Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days

 This indicator allows the Council to manage the risk inherent in investments 
longer than 365 days. 

 The limit for 2016/17 was set at £120m, and in total the Council has £110.9 
million invested for over 365 days as follows:.  

o The Council has two Floating Rate Notes with Nationwide Building 
Society, totalling £5.0 million, maturing in 2018, and one covered bond 
totalling £2.0 million maturing in 2019.

o The Council has two covered bonds with Coventry Building Society, 
totalling £8.9 million, maturing in 2018.

o The Council has one Floating Rate Notes with Santander, totalling 
£10.0 million, maturing in 2018, and one covered bond totalling £1.7 
million maturing in 2021.

o The Council has a covered bond with Bank of Nova Scotia for £5.0 
million, maturing in 2017.

o The Council has a covered bond with Barclays Bank for £6.9 million, 
maturing in 2018.

o The Council has a Floating Rate Note with Royal Bank of Canada for 
£5.0 million, maturing in 2018.

o The Council has £66 million invested longer term with various local 
authorities, periods ranging from 2 years to 4 years.

 The Council has nearly reached the limit for 2016/17 on this indicator, so 
there will be limited opportunities to gain a pick up in yield on longer term 
investments over the remainder of 2016/17.  

Page 347



Appendix D

Source: Arlingclose limited

P
age 348



Source: Arlingclose limited

Appendix E

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 16th September 2016 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit (IA) activity progress report 2016/2017

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme and provide a progress 
report in relation to those audits undertaken during the period June to 
September 2016.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2016/2017 
Internal Audit Programme; 

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in two of the limited 
assurance reports. 

3. Assurance opinions provided in relation to the effectiveness of the 
Council’s control environment comprising risk management, 
control and governance arrangements as a result of the internal 
audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management 
Shared Service and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance 
Services. 
Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance 
Tel no: 01452 328469.
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 351

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2016/2017

Page 353



(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards define 
the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 the progress against the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 the outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period June to September 
2016; and

 special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 354



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2016/17 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee, including, very 
importantly, three limited assurance audit opinions on control.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2016/2017, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage 
those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are 
shown below. 

Assurance 
levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment client/customer/partners, and staff.  
All key risks are accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory
Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however some key 
risks are not being accurately reported and monitored in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied but with some lapses

Limited
Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and regularly 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in line with 
the Corporate Risk Management Strategy, the service 
area has not demonstrated an satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area under 
review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control

Page 355



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April to September 2016.

Page 356



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity record that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period June to September 2016, three audit reviews have been provided with a 
limited assurance opinion on control which relates to Data Storage – Structures, Direct 
Payments (Children) and Contact Team (pages 5 - 9 of this report).

It is important to note that whilst a limited assurance opinion has been provided in these 
instances, management have responded positively to the recommendations made and 
actions are being taken to address them.

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that an satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these.

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period June to September 2016 Internal Audit made, in total, 47 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 20 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 27 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

There were three limited assurance opinions on risk during the period June to September 
2016 which related to Data Storage – Structures, Direct Payments (Children) and Contact 
Team. Where limited assurance opinions on risk are provided, the reports are given to the 
appropriate risk champion to ensure that the risks highlighted by Internal Audit are placed on 
the service areas risk register. The monitoring of the implementation of the 
recommendations is then owned by the relevant manager and helps to further embed risk 
management into the day to day management, risk monitoring and reporting processes. 

In addition, the Corporate Risk Management Team is provided with the Internal Audit reports 
where a limited assurance opinion is provided, to enable their prioritisation of risk 
management support.

Page 357



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period June to September 2016

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Core Cluster

Audit Activity: Data Storage - structures

Background
A review was undertaken of the Data Storage and Structures in the Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) network domain as managed by Sopra-Steria.

Scope

The scope of this review encompassed:

 Membership of privileged Active Directory groups;

 Unstructured and commercially sensitive data;

 Leavers access rights and associated data folders; 

 Monitoring of user data storage limits;

 Data Archiving policies and procedures; and

 Data backup routines. 

Risk Assurance – Limited

Control Assurance – Limited

Key findings

Audit testing confirmed that a documented Information / IT Access policy was in place and 
adequate restrictions placed over user access to the Enterprise Admins and Schema Admins 
privileged Active Directory groups.  All key GCC systems are subject to regular data backup 
routines and backup systems and tapes are sited in physically secure Communications 
(Comms) rooms.  Active Directory user access rights are promptly disabled for all GCC 
leavers. However a number of improvement actions were identified. The main areas that 
require attention are:

 review and/or analysis of commercially sensitive unstructured data;

 review of access to superuser privileges;

 The existence of generic and service accounts with Domain Admins superuser 
privilege;

 The failure to delete or archive data for former GCC employees;

Page 358



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

 The absence of a formalised Data Archiving, storage and retention process; and

 The lack of a Data Backup policy. 

Conclusion

The improvement areas identified and outlined in the key findings section above limit the 
assurance that can be given about the effectiveness of the risk management and mitigation 
(control) activities, in particular the existence of generic and service accounts with Domain 
Admins rights, the lack of review of superuser privileges and no data archiving / deletion 
policy.

Management Actions

Management have explained that they do undertake regular reviews of the Domain Admins 
accounts and superusers access rights, as evidenced in the recent Public Services network 
(PSN) submission. However, the ICT Service will strengthen this area and those relating to 
data archiving and data back-ups through the development of internal operational policies to 
address the various issues.

Whilst Internal Audit will include a follow up review within the 2017/2018 internal audit 
plan, it is recommended that senior management attend the next meeting of the Audit 
and Governance Committee and is requested to provide an update on the action taken 
in relation to each recommendation made.

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Direct Payments  - Children 

Background

A Direct Payment (DP) is money given to parents/carers of young people so that services 
and/or equipment can be purchased to meet assessed needs, instead of the authority 
providing the support through their own/commissioned services.  The money should be spent 
in accordance with the Direct Payment Agreement (DPA) and the care plan agreed, such as 
employing personal care assistants (PAs), funding activities or buying equipment.

Local authorities must offer Direct Payments for social care provision to all those who have 
been assessed as meeting the criteria for disabled children's services.  Local authorities 
should also be satisfied that the person who manages/receives the Direct Payments will use 
them in an appropriate way.

At the time of the audit there were approximately 175 Direct Payments in place where 
payments of circa £50k were being made every four weeks (totalling £650k per annum).

Scope

The objective of the audit was to provide assurance, based on the test cases examined, that 
Direct Payments currently being made to parents/carers are being effectively used to provide 
the support to meet the assessed needs.

Page 359



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Risk Assurance – Limited

Control Assurance – Limited

Key findings

In order to assess whether DPs were being spent for the purposes intended it was necessary 
to review documentation in relation to each case.  Some of the documentation was held 
centrally as part of GCC’s own systems (Support Plans and DPAs), but some of it was held 
by the parents/carers (bank statements and receipts) and the payroll providers (timesheets 
and payslips).  The DPA makes it clear that information in relation to each care package 
should be retained and made available to GCC upon request.

Although a reasonable amount of evidence was sent in for the six DP cases that were 
reviewed, a complete set of evidence was not made available for any of the DP cases in the 
sample, thereby demonstrating how difficult it can be to obtain evidence for monitoring 
purposes.  On this basis, assumptions had to be made and it was not possible to provide 
absolute assurance that the DPs had been spent correctly.

One solution that would provide the local authority with greater transparency over the 
expenditure going through the DP bank accounts would be to introduce a Direct Payments 
card scheme.  However, this will not resolve the issue of also needing to monitor the 
completion of timesheets when PAs are employed and any receipts for expenditure that has 
been incurred.

From the evidence that was submitted, it became apparent that in five out of the six sample 
DP cases, the DPs were not entirely being spent for the purposes intended.  These will 
require further investigation with corrective action being taken as appropriate. The DPA 
details the sanctions that can be applied if the terms and conditions of the DPA are not met.

Examples of the types of non-compliance identified were as follows:

 Employing close family members living in the same household to provide care as PAs;

 Using the DP to pay for activities that should have been paid for by the parents;

 Using the DP to pay for items of expenditure that are not part of the DPA;

 Making cash withdrawals from the DP account for unknown items of expenditure;

 Using the DP account to fund private expenditure and not fully reimbursing the DP 
account; and

 Transferring funds from the DP account to a personal account, usually to that of the 
parent, with no explanation.

Page 360



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

Conclusion

From the sample selected it is evident that the parents/carers are not always complying with 
the DPA requirement to supply information to the Council on request. 

A review of the information that was received has revealed that the DPs are not always being 
spent for the purposes intended.  Management has agreed to undertake further investigations 
into each of these cases in conjunction with the Principal Auditor responsible for Counter 
Fraud, in order to determine whether any irregularities have occurred and whether any 
sanctions, as detailed in the DPA, should be applied or possibly a criminal investigation 
instigated.

The findings of this audit indicate that an on-going monitoring system needs to be introduced.  
The introduction of a DP payment card would enhance the ability to monitor spending on any 
given DP bank account.  In order to ensure that the Council has access to the remaining 
supporting documentation, consideration needs to be given to applying sanctions when that 
information is not received on request. Having ready access to payroll information from 
payroll providers would also enhance the monitoring arrangements.

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the above 
issues identified. In addition, Management within Children Services have been proactive and 
are now attending the regular direct payment champions’ group meetings, led by Adult 
Services, in order to identify best practice and enable consistency of approach.

Whilst Internal Audit will include a follow up review within the 2017/2018 internal audit 
plan and continue to work with management in relation to counter fraud activity, it is 
recommended that senior management attend the next meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee and is requested to provide an update on the action taken in 
relation to each recommendation made.

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: The Contact Team 

Background
In 2014/15 the Operations Director: Children’s Safeguarding commissioned Internal Audit to 
undertake a review of the management practices within the Contact Team. The review 
identified non-compliance with GCC policy for the use of vehicles (both Council and private), 
overtime payments, the recruitment of staff and making changes to existing contracts. A total 
of 11 recommendations (10 of which were high priority) were made that would further 
strengthen the systems and processes already in place. Two additional recommendations 
that related personally to a member of staff were raised and subsequently addressed by 
management. Limited assurance was given for both risk management and the control 
environment and as a result, a follow-up audit was planned to provide assurance that the 
necessary improvements have been made.

Page 361



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Scope
The overall objective of the audit was to follow-up the implementation of the agreed 
recommendations from the original audit to provide assurance that the necessary 
improvements have been made.

Risk Assurance – Limited

Control Assurance – Limited

Key findings
It was pleasing to note that since 2014 there have been significant improvements to the 
administrative systems and processes operated by the Contact Team. In particular, the 
internal controls for recording of use of official GCC vehicles have been strengthened and 
updated to reflect GCC’s policies. The new procedures have been disseminated to all Contact 
Team staff and staff have signed to say that they have seen and read the procedures. A 
sample of mileage claims are selected each month for spot checking and additional support is 
available to assist with the completion of the claims if required. Vehicle usage logs are 
completed for Council owned vehicles, using postcodes, after each journey and the start and 
finish mileage is being accurately recorded. These are checked monthly to ensure 
compliance with the GCC policy and Contact Team guidance.   

However, limited opinions have been provided based on the fact that Internal Audit identified 
that a member of the staff had been actively involved in the recruitment of a family member. 
This direct involvement in the authorisation of the appointment and starting salary of a family 
member is contrary to the GCC Code of Conduct and Starting Salary policy. Senior 
management will, in conjunction with Human Resources, undertake an investigation to 
consider what further actions are required.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the two recommendations made in respect of the 
above issues identified. In addition, Internal Audit will follow-up the actions taken by 
management to address them.

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Core Council

Audit Activity: Review of Statutory Compliance Arrangements

Background

GCC is responsible for ensuring compliance with statutory Health and Safety legislation, for 
example in respect of asbestos, legionella and carbon monoxide. Under Corporate 
Manslaughter legislation, GCC could be held liable should a fatality occur as a result of an 
omission in managing the Council's properties.

GCC owns a number of properties, however this audit concentrated on Local Authority (LA) 
maintained schools, as they are considered to be the greatest risk. 

Page 362



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

The Headteacher is normally the person delegated to be responsible for ensuring that any 
statutory maintenance or repair of the school premises is carried out on a timely basis and 
that all records are kept up to date.

All LA maintained schools are required to complete an Annual Property Return and forward it 
to GCC’s Property Services.  The return provides assurance that properties are being 
correctly maintained in accordance with the appropriate legislation.

Scope

The objective of the audit was to review controls in place within Asset Management and 
Property Services (AMPS) to ensure that legislation is complied with and that all necessary 
maintenance/precautions are taken to safeguard the Council and its officers.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

A publication called “Compliance Monitoring in Council Buildings” has been available to 
schools via Technology Forge, the Council’s property database, but only to schools that 
purchase the ‘Gold’ Property Care traded service package.  This document gives guidance on 
areas where compliance is required and whether it is statutory, recommended or best 
practice.  This document will be replaced by a new publication, “Essential school 
maintenance: A guide for schools” and the expectation is that this will be made available as 
“read only” to all schools who purchase a traded service package.

There are 231 maintained schools and each year every one of them has to complete a 
property return.  GCC surveyors/engineers visit the schools between September and 
December to go through the return with the responsible officer at the school.

All the returns should have been completed by 18th January 2016, but as at 31st March 
2016, there were still 49 reports (21%) outstanding from surveyors/engineer.

If, following a visit, a school is classed as non-compliant they have 28 days to take remedial 
action and resubmit the return.  All schools were expected to be compliant by 31st March 
2016, but at that date, of the returns that had been received, there were still 43 (24%) non-
compliant schools.  Approximately 14 of these were only waiting for the Headteacher to sign 
the form.  The outstanding forms had been followed up by the surveyors/engineers without 
success.

Where a school failed initially, and then resubmits their return, there is no additional visit by 
the surveyor/engineer to ensure that the outstanding works have been completed.  However, 
there is a declaration on the return which the Headteacher has to sign.

A service level agreement (SLA) would formalise the service and standards expected from 
the surveyors/engineers, as well as incorporating an escalation process for non-compliance, 
should it be required.

Page 363



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Conclusion

The risks are being managed by GCC but there need to be systems and controls in place to 
ensure that:

 Legislation is communicated to all schools;

 Schools confirm compliance with legislation; and

 Non-compliance is followed up.

A new system came into effect from 1st April 2016, and the school visits are to be undertaken 
throughout the whole year, rather than over a short space of time.  In this way, the returns 
should be forwarded on a more regular basis.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
above issues identified.

Service Area: Core Council

Audit Activity: Consolidated Invoices

Background

The Council has contracts in place for a variety of services that can be procured by all service 
areas from a selected number of approved suppliers. These organisations supply the Council 
with consolidated invoices for all services ordered. They are dealt with through the 
procurement, creditor and payments systems to ensure invoices are appropriately paid on a 
timely basis and for all services requisitioned.

The consolidated invoice process is a mechanism used on SAP (the Council’s finance 
system) to post multiple line items of costs to appropriate cost centres without the use of 
manual data entry. The consolidated invoice must be in the required file format to be 
automatically uploaded into SAP by the Business Service Centre.

Scope

The objectives of the audit were to ensure that:

 Managers are able to understand and challenge charges made to their respective cost 
centres;

 Requisitioning systems access is restricted to relevant, authorised personnel, and is 
controlled by adequate password requirements and user permissions;

 There is a separation of duties between the requisitioning of goods and services and 
subsequent payments; 

Page 364



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

 Purchase orders are correctly authorised by budget holders, with amounts coded to 
the relevant cost centre and account code;

 Invoices are matched to official orders and goods received notes where applicable, 
with further authorisation required if the invoice amount is outside of tolerance; and

 Payment runs are subject to review and approval by senior officers.   

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

The consolidated invoices tested were appropriately authorised and matched to supporting 
documentation to validate the transaction.  They were also appropriately posted to SAP by 
cost centre and account and were all paid on a timely basis. However the following 
improvement actions were identified:

 Policies and procedures although in place are not adequately documented which 
would be considered as best practice;

 One supplier’s order documentation is located in a decentralised manner with staff 
responsible for making the orders. These order documents should be located within a 
central filing system to ensure the audit trail is adequate;

 For another supplier a spreadsheet should be created showing the proposed costs to 
be incurred from the finalised signed proposal. This should then be compared with the 
consolidated invoice received to ensure invoice costs are appropriate and any 
anomalies are followed up; and

 For another supplier the standing data on the procurement system for the chargeable 
daily rate was different from that shown within the timesheet data. GCC management 
should liaise with the supplier to ensure the standing data and timesheet data is 
consistent on the system and appropriately approved.

Conclusion

Consolidated invoices for all approved suppliers are appropriately posted on SAP and with 
some exceptions, are on the whole supported by adequate documentation.

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the above 
issues identified.

Page 365



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Service Area: Adults Cluster

Audit Activity: Community Equipment Stock – GIS Healthcare

Background

GIS Healthcare (GIS) provide a Community Equipment service, to support Gloucestershire 
residents living in their community who have been assessed by community social care 
assessors or National Health providers of secondary healthcare, as requiring specialist 
equipment on loan to facilitate day to day living. GIS performance, is measured based on a 
delivery indicator of one day from assessor requisition to delivery to a service user. 

The Integrated Community Equipment Store is operated in 2016/17, under a service level 
agreement by GIS Healthcare operating as the in-house provider of community equipment to 
Gloucestershire County Council. The Council’s Adult Social Care Cluster has council 
responsibility to oversee the operation of the equipment store. The other clinical stakeholders 
to the equipment store are; i) Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, ii) 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and iii) Gloucestershire Care Services NHS 
Trust.

Scope

The objectives of the audit are to provide the Council with assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls, processes and records in place to mitigate key risks in the 
following areas to ensure:

 Up to date procedure notes are in place for operation of the CEquip stock system;

 No unauthorised user access and effective financial authority limits for stock receipts 
and issues;

 Accurate and complete transactional recording of stock receipts and issues; 

 Community Equipment stock quantity prices are not overvalued;

 Obsolete stock is regularly reviewed and considered for appropriate action; 

 Sales to third parties are accounted for through the CEquip stock system; 

 Financial fraud is considered for the risk of theft; 

 Stock issued to the service user is adequately monitored through a tracking process; 
and

 Standard stock is always available to meet customer demand; if not there are sound 
systems for ensuring effective communication both within GIS Healthcare and with the 
customer.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Page 366



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

Key findings

Overall, there is a sound control environment in place for the management/valuation of the 
community stock and this is operating effectively. However, the control environment could be 
strengthened further as detailed below:

 As a result of audit testing, one high priority recommendation has been made to 
reconsider the equipment requisition financial limits for assessors within community 
equipment authorisation groups, particularly as financial budgets will be increasingly 
subject to competing demands for resources;

 Standard stock audit testing identified a gap in updating the CEquip system for 
purchase order fulfilment. One medium priority recommendation has been made for 
details of standard stock delivery progress where out of stock circumstances occur, to 
be fully documented on the CEquip client summary record; and

 Advance data analysis of indicative future equipment needs is not in place. A process 
which captures likely equipment needs would reduce the future risk of standard stock 
not being available when requisitioned. One medium priority recommendation has 
been made.

Conclusion

The CEquip stock system is adequately controlled through secure processes. There is 
adequate segregation of staff duties in place and verifiable audit trails exist.

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the above 
issues identified. 

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

Background

The official definition of Child Sexual exploitation is: “Sexual exploitation of children and 
young people under 18 involves exploitative situations, contexts and relationships where 
young people (or a third person or persons) receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, accommodation, 
drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a result of them performing, and/or 
another or others performing on them, sexual activities. Child sexual exploitation can occur 
through the use of technology without the child’s immediate recognition; for example being 
persuaded to post sexual images on the Internet/mobile phones without immediate payment 
or gain. In all cases, those exploiting the child/young person have power over them by virtue 
of their age, gender, intellect, physical strength and/or economic or other resources. Violence, 
coercion and intimidation are common, involvement in exploitative relationships being 
characterised in the main by the child or young person’s limited availability of choice resulting 
from their social/economic and/or emotional vulnerability.” Working Together to Safeguard 
Children Statutory Guidance.

Page 367



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

This is an important, high profile issue where the Council has extensive duties to lead and 
work in collaboration with other agencies, in particular the police. The Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children Board (GSCB) has responsibility for coordinating activity, 
implementing its agreed strategy and undertaking quality assurance across agencies.

Scope

The objectives of this audit were to:

 Ascertain the details of the governance arrangements established within 
Gloucestershire and the county’s approach to identifying Children at risk of Sexual 
Exploitation; 

 Review what information is received and shared between the key partners and 
ascertain how this is analysed and used; and 

 Obtain details of any third-party assurance activity (within the previous two years) 
which has reviewed any aspect of the governance arrangements, procedures or 
processes relating to CSE. Where remedial action was recommended confirm that the 
management action plans were completed with progress detailing the action required / 
taken and being reported periodically to senior management.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

Governance arrangements

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Board

 The primary governance arrangements for safeguarding in general and CSE in 
particular are discharged through the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Board 
of which GCC is a key member; 

 A number of senior officers (and the Lead Cabinet Member for Children) have been 
tasked to represent GCC at Board, Executive Committee and Sub-Group level, thus 
GCC is fully contributing towards a joined-up Gloucestershire approach. However the 
audit identified a need to improve attendance at the CSE / Missing Sub-Group across 
agencies; and

 The risks relating to CSE and the mitigating controls are documented within the GSCB 
Risk Register.

CSE Team

 A co-located multi-agency CSE Team has been established within the Public 
Protection Bureau, Gloucestershire Constabulary; and

 The effectiveness of this team needs to be evaluated over the next year once the 
delivery “model” has been further developed.

Page 368



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

Multi-agency training

 Training courses are run on behalf of the GSCB which are designed to encourage 
multi-agency participation in their delivery and attendance; and 

 In 2015 this changed from a half-day to a full-day event with the ten courses run to 
January 2016 attended by 158 professionals. However the attendance by a number of 
other agencies is low and the reasons for this need investigation by the GSCB.

Sharing of information

Problem profile

 The need for a county-wide problem profile is well documented within the minutes of 
the GSCB Executive Committee and the CSE Sub-Group and the absence of such 
intelligence has also been highlighted as a weakness within Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC), College of Policing and Peer reviews completed 
during 2015. This had not been resolved by the time that the audit took place, 
however this issue has now been progressed and the police are finalising the problem 
profile. 

CSE Screening Tool

 The new Gloucestershire CSE Screening Tool went live from 8th February 2016; and

 The screening tools are triaged within the CSE Team and then stored allowing 
information to be gathered over time to strengthen or clarify what is known. There is a 
process for sharing and analysing data supported by police analysts in place. 

Third-party assurance activity

In 2015, three reviews have been completed which touch on safeguarding procedures, 
including CSE and Missing Persons. In particular:

1. College of Policing – Peer Challenge on Gloucestershire Constabulary’s 
arrangements to manage CSE (April 2015);

2. Association of Directors of Children Services South West - Peer Challenge for 
Gloucestershire on Missing Children (June 2015); and

3. HMIC – Inspection of Gloucestershire Constabulary (under police effectiveness, 
efficiency and legitimacy (PEEL)) considered how forces respond to and support 
missing and absent children, victims of domestic abuse and how well prepared forces 
are to respond to safeguard children at risk of sexual exploitation (July 2015).

In August 2015 the findings from these reports were reported to the GSCB Executive 
Committee and the CSE/Missing Sub-Group. It was subsequently decided to integrate the 
response to the reviews and disseminate through a CSE conference (held in July 2016).

Page 369



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Conclusion

GCC has directed significant resources to the multi-agency CSE Team as well as providing 
executive support to the wider role of the GSCB. GCC employees continue to actively engage 
with their peers from key agencies endeavouring to improve procedures and processes 
around CSE and the collection of information wherever possible.  

CSE is high on the agenda with many meetings of various in-house and multi-agency groups 
or committees taking place. Internal Audit considers that there is an opportunity for 
GCC/GSCB to review the roles of these groups / committees in order to reaffirm their purpose 
and which officers will attend these on behalf of GCC.

The external reviews have highlighted a number of good practices where some third party 
reliance can be placed that the procedures and processes are working as expected. The 
reviews also indicated a number of priorities for improvement in what is an area of fast 
developing practice nationally. These need further impetus.

Management actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the above 
improvement areas identified in the key findings section above.

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Child Protection Conference Team

Background

The Children Act 1989 (amended in 2004) allocates duties to local authorities, as well as 
courts, parents and other agencies in the United Kingdom, to ensure children are 
safeguarded and their welfare is promoted.  Section 47 of the Act places a duty on local 
authorities to investigate and make inquiries into the circumstances of children considered to 
be at risk of ‘significant harm’ and, where these inquiries indicate the need, to decide what 
action, if any, it may need to take.

A child protection conference brings together family members (and the child where 
appropriate), with the supporters, advocates and professionals most involved with the child 
and family, to make decisions about the child’s future safety, health and development.

GCC’s Child Protection Conference Team (CPCT) was subject to a peer challenge by 
another authority in 2015, which focused on the duty system for Initial Conferences and the 
workload management system for Conference Chairs.  Following the peer challenge, a report 
was produced which included questions for consideration by the CPCT.  The CPCT Manager 
provided a response to this report, which has been reviewed by the Head of Quality.

Page 370



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

Scope

This audit reviewed whether the issues which were raised following the peer challenge, and 
subsequent responses to the report by the Team Manager, had been addressed.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

Good progress has been made to implement the findings from the peer review as well as any 
other areas that have been identified by the CPCT.  However, there are still some issues that 
need to be resolved as detailed below.

 There are still delays within the conference process, some of which can be attributed 
to the following:

 Social Workers not ringing to book a conference after a strategy meeting or 
completing and returning the invite checklist;

 Liquidlogic (Children’s Social Care system) pathways blocked i.e. sequence of 
processes not enacted; and

 Reports not produced within timescale.  During the audit a review conference was 
observed, where one of the professionals attending had not sent her report to the 
Chair within the required timescale.  This meant that the Chair did not have 
sufficient time before the conference to fully review the contents of the report.

The CPCT Manager is reporting the above issues to the appropriate Team Managers but has 
agreed to escalate the matters to the Operations Director if the situation does not improve.

 Within the CPCT there are issues due to:

 Delays in Chairs putting outcomes of conferences on Liquidlogic; and

 Minutes not being issued within the timescale.

These delays are mainly due to the pathways being blocked on Liquidlogic, although 
the high volume of conferences taking place can also have an effect.  These issues 
are being monitored by the CPCT Manager and work is prioritised to ensure that a 
child is not left in a vulnerable position.

A report was produced by the CPCT Manager in October 2015 which provided information on 
the reasons why the number of initial child protection conferences has been increasing.  This 
increase in the number of conferences has led to a locum Chair and temporary Minute 
Secretary being appointed, but only until the end of September 2016.

Page 371



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Conclusion

Since the peer review, the CPCT have made a number of changes to the way the conference 
team operates, although Internal Audit were advised that some improvements had already 
been identified by the team prior to the peer review’s report being published.  

The CPCT staff that were interviewed as part of the audit were committed to ensuring that the 
service provided is as efficient as possible.  However, some processes rely on Liquidlogic 
being up to date and it would seem that this is not always the case.

A locum Chair and temporary Minute Secretary have been appointed but only for a period of 
12 months, from September 2015.  If the number of conferences required continues to 
increase, consideration will need to be given as to how they will be accommodated within the 
current staffing levels.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendation made in respect of the above 
issues identified.

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Recruitment of Social Workers within Children and Families

Background

A position statement by the Deputy Director Safeguarding and Care and a review by a 
Scrutiny Task Group had highlighted the level of vacancies in Children’s Services and the 
difficulty of recruiting and retaining qualified social workers.  In December 2015, Cabinet 
agreed to invest £3.7m over 2016/17 and 2017/18 to recruit more social workers to reduce 
the caseloads for existing ones and also reduce the need for employing agency staff.

It is difficult to recruit and retain qualified, experienced social workers, although this is a 
national problem and not just local to Gloucestershire.  One of the reasons for GCC was that 
the recruitment process was lengthy and potential social workers were gaining employment 
elsewhere during the time it took GCC to process their applications.

In order to try and remedy this situation, a fast track recruitment system was developed, to 
ensure that the necessary social workers can be recruited in the most effective way.

Scope

The objective of the audit was to review a sample of recent recruitments of social workers, to 
provide assurance that the fast track system is operating as intended.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Page 372



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

Key findings

Social worker posts are continuously being advertised and the job adverts reflect this as they 
are not for a specific post but state that there are various permanent and fixed-term contracts 
available.

An administrator was appointed to work in the Business Service Centre (BSC) to process the 
social worker applications.  In addition, a Recruitment and Retention Co-ordinator was 
appointed to oversee the recruitment process and to ensure that a dialogue is maintained 
between the successful applicants and recruiting managers while the relevant checks are 
being undertaken.

A recent recruitment exercise was reviewed and it was established that one of the 
unsuccessful applicants was a qualified social worker.  However, the applicant had not met 
the required assessment criteria.

It is understood that a Service Level Agreement (SLA) is in place to monitor how long the 
recruitment process takes.  However, this does not take into account the fact that pre-
qualified social workers may apply before they have finished studying and they may not start 
with the Authority until September.  Their applications can remain in the recruitment system 
until they have been allocated a particular post, which can lengthen the total time taken to 
complete the recruitment process.  Obtaining Data and Barring Service (DBS) checks and 
medical reports can also cause delays.

Sample testing of four recent applications showed that three had exceeded the SLA target 
times; the delays were caused by outstanding DBS checks, medical reports and waiting for 
references to be approved by the relevant manager.

Conclusion

The appointment of a Recruitment and Retention Co-ordinator, as well as an administrator in 
the BSC to specifically work on children’s social worker recruitment, has ensured that 
applications can be processed and tracked more efficiently.  However, Children’s Services 
are not being advised on whether the SLA target is being met.

The testing undertaken confirmed that qualified social workers are applying for jobs and are 
being interviewed, although showed that in the three months reviewed there were twice as 
many pre-qualified social workers appointed compared with qualified social workers.

It is not the length of time to complete the recruitment process that is preventing social 
workers being appointed to post but rather that they do not meet the assessment criteria 
thresholds at interview stage.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendation made in respect of the above 
issue identified.

Page 373



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Alternative Provision School

Background

Alternative Provision Schools (APS) provide education for children who have been 
permanently excluded from school and they have the same delegated powers and duties as 
maintained schools.  There are three such schools in Gloucestershire, covering the following 
areas: Cheltenham and Tewkesbury; Gloucester and Forest; and Stroud and Cotswold.

Each APS has its own arrangements in place to provide support and advice for schools 
situated in their local area.  Schools can contact the APS directly to discuss what may be 
available to support them with children at risk of exclusion.  In addition, an APS can be 
commissioned by the Local Authority to provide a number of places for pupils who have been 
excluded from mainstream education, or children who do not have a school place.

Scope

The objective of the audit was to review the management and governance processes in place 
at one of the above APSs to provide assurance that the funds are being spent appropriately 
on the pupils and for the purposes intended.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

The audit reviewed the following areas at the school: Budget, Attendance and Purchasing.

The school has capacity for 54 pupils and receives £10,000 for each place commissioned, 
together with a top-up payment of £6,500 for each place if capacity exceeds 70%.

The business manager produces financial reports each month which show the original budget 
and income and expenditure to date, together with a forecast to the end of the year.  At the 
end of the 2015/16 financial year there was a budget surplus of £152,739, however the in-
year figures for some areas, in particular supply staff costs and transport, were far greater 
than the planned budget.

The Management Committee and sub-committees meet on a termly basis, and the Staffing 
and Finance Committee members receive a financial report at each meeting.  The business 
manager also has regular meetings with the Lead Commissioner for Education and Skills to 
discuss the budgets of all three schools.

Attendance is monitored by the school and persistent non-attendance is highlighted to the LA, 
who will, if necessary, prosecute the parents.  Pupils may not spend all their time at the 
school as there is external provision they can attend which might be more appropriate for 
their needs.

Page 374



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

22

The school has a finance policy which details the roles and responsibilities of the staff and the 
Management Committee. 

The procedures relating to purchasing were not always being complied with in respect of: 
Raising purchase orders, obtaining comparison prices/quotes, authorisation of petty cash 
expenditure over £20 and completion of declaration of interest forms by the Headteacher and 
Management Committee.

Conclusion

The budget is being monitored on a regular basis and financial reports are provided to the 
Staffing and Finance Committee at each of their meetings.  The Headteacher has already 
identified areas where spending needs to be reviewed, e.g. catering and use of agency staff.

The monitoring of pupils’ attendance is important, as they may not be attending the school all 
day, every day, but may be at external providers or on part-time timetables.  There are 
processes in place to establish pupils’ attendance.

Management Actions

The Headteacher has responded positively to the recommendations made in relation to the 
issues identified.

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Primary School

Background

Internal Audit was requested by the Chair of Governors at the Primary School visited to 
undertake an audit of the financial processes in place at the school.

Scope

The audit reviewed the systems and controls in place in relation to the following areas at the 
school: Income, Purchasing, Petty Cash and Staff Expense Claims.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

Eleven recommendations were made, covering the following areas: income, purchasing, petty 
cash and staff claims authorisation procedures.

Conclusion

The recording of the income received for the breakfast club needs to be strengthened as the 
sample of income received that was reviewed by Internal Audit did not match the amounts 
written on the attendance sheet and monies banked appeared to be short against that which 
was expected (under £100).

Page 375



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

23

There are written procedures relating to the administration of cash received, for example for 
trips and dinner money, and these are being followed.  The school also has a Finance Policy 
which has been agreed by Governors, however, Internal Audit found that it is not being 
followed with regard to purchasing i.e. in relation to both general purchasing and petty cash.

Management Actions

The Headteacher and Chair of Governors have responded positively to the recommendations 
made in respect of the above issues identified.

Service Area: Communities Cluster

Audit Activity: Household Recycling Centres Contract

Background

On 22nd July 2015, Cabinet authorised officers to exercise the option to extend the current 
contract with Kier Ltd to manage the Household Recycling Centres (HRCs) for a further two 
years and eight months from 7th August 2016. Despite an initial willingness to enter into an 
extension, this offer was subsequently withdrawn as Kier considered the continuing low value 
of recyclable materials is too high a risk for them to carry.  The service is a statutory function 
under Section 51 of the Environment Protection Act 1990 and as such this legislation rules 
out an option to stop providing this service altogether. 

Scope

To review the proposals for minimising the risks facing GCC in the event that the existing 
contract (for the management and operation of the HRCs) is not extended under the existing 
terms and conditions or there is a delay in making alternative service provision. 

In the event that alternative provision has to be obtained, the review is to provide assurance 
that officers have conducted the procurement in accordance with GCC Contract Standing 
Orders and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

 The contract (circa £2.2m per annum) for the management of the Household 
Recycling Centres (HRCs) is due to expire in August 2016. Whilst the conditions of 
the contract allow for the arrangements to be extended, the contractor has advised 
the Council that they would not agree to exercise this option under the existing terms 
and conditions.  Consequently a decision was taken by the service manager (after 
consultation with the Commercial Assurance Board) not to enter into further 
negotiations over an extension, given that this would require a significant increase in 
costs of the contract if this was to be agreed;

Page 376



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

24

 The Council appointed Eunomia Research and Consulting Ltd to undertake a 
Commissioning Options Review in order to undertake an analysis of the options 
available to deliver the service from 6th August 2016.  In their report dated 1st 
February 2016 a number of options were considered with the shortlisted options 
being:

 Forming a new Local Authority Company;

 Joining an existing Local Authority Company; and

 Re-procurement.

 On 20th April 2016, Cabinet considered the options available to deliver the HRC 
service and in line with officer recommendations resolved that the Council would 
become a member of an existing Local Authority Company (LAC) i.e. Ubico Ltd1 and 
that once the formalities had been completed the Director of Communities and 
Infrastructure could award a five year contract (value circa. £11m) to this company;  

 The Public Contract Regulations 2015 (paragraph 12.4) allows a contracting authority 
to award contracts directly to a Local Authority company over which it exercises joint 
control without the opportunity being subject to competition;

 Whilst initially it had been proposed that the Finance Director would represent GCC 
on the Board of Ubico Ltd it was subsequently considered by Legal Services that this 
could present a conflict of interest; 

 Legal services have been instructed to prepare the shareholder agreement and 
contract documentation; and 

 A Project Group was formed to manage the period leading up to the change of 
contractors which comprises of representatives from both GCC and Ubico Ltd. The 
inaugural meeting was held on 17th May with ongoing meetings held on a two weekly 
basis thereafter.

Conclusion

The risks associated with this project were well known to both the service management and 
the preferred provider i.e. Ubico Ltd with risks appropriately documented within the reports 
submitted to Cabinet thus fully informing the decision taken on the preferred way forward.

Internal Audit also concluded that the risks were being proactively managed given the short 
timeframe involved before the incumbent provider was due to withdraw from the contract. 

The transfer to the new provider was completed as planned on 6th August 2016.

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control
1 Ubico Ltd: a not for profit company jointly owned by Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council, Forest of 

Dean District Council, Stroud District Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council and West Oxfordshire district Council). 

Page 377



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

25

Service Area: Core Council

Audit Activity: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Information Security

Background

A review was undertaken of Information Security at the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS) and a report issued in March 2016. This contained a number of findings 
which resulted in a ‘limited’ assurance opinion being provided on control.

It was agreed between the Head of Internal Audit and the Chief Fire and Rescue Officer that 
an early follow up of the findings would be undertaken to ensure there had been a proper and 
timely response and that previously planned works had been brought forward and 
implemented.

Scope

The scope of the original review encompassed:

 Information security policy framework;

 GFRS Active Directory domain; 

 Firewall security;

 External penetration testing;

 Disaster Recovery arrangements; and

 Unsupported operating systems

whereas the follow-up review focused on the key findings of the initial review and the 
management responses.

Initial report Follow- up review
Risk Assurance Satisfactory Substantial
Control Assurance Limited Substantial

Key findings

The initial report had four significant findings which resulted in a ‘limited’ assurance opinion 
for the control environment. 

The findings related to:

 Existence of generic high level (administrator) user accounts;

 Unpatched ‘Watchguard’ firewall devices;

 Lack of external penetration testing; and

Page 378



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

26

 Unsupported Windows 2003 server platforms.

The follow-up review has evidenced the following actions:-

 generic accounts were disabled or deleted and replaced with individual user 
identifiers. Written instructions have also been issued to the IT team regarding this 
new procedure;

 As the Fire Service is a 24/7 service, the purchase of an additional firewall was 
necessary, prior to patching the ‘Watchguard’ firewall devices, to mitigate the risk of a 
firmware upgrade failure. Since the original audit, the additional firewall has been 
purchased and the firmware has been patched up to date;

 Although the Fire Service IT has always tested their own firewalls, they have not 
commissioned a penetration test from a third party. This year a full IT health check for 
connection to the Emergency Services Network (ESN), which is an enhanced Public 
Services Network (PSN) was due to take place. This included a requirement for 
external penetration testing which has now been undertaken with positive results for 
the Fire and Rescue network infrastructure. As part of the continuing ESN 
accreditation this will be scheduled as a recurrent annual test; and 

 At the time of the initial review, there were a total of 14 GFRS servers running on 
Windows 2003. By July 2016 when the follow-up work was undertaken, 9 of the 14 
servers had been replaced. Whilst the remedial work (for all but the email device) is 
extending beyond the original planned completion date of June 2016, it is clear that 
the work is advancing and the risks being addressed, they are also are known and 
understood. A target completion date of December 2016 for all Windows 2003 servers 
is achievable.

Conclusion

All four of the original findings have now been addressed, and the risks have either been 
removed or reduced to an acceptable and managed level. This has resulted in the opinion 
being raised to ‘substantial’ for both risk recognition and control environment.

Management Actions

No further actions required.

Service Area: Core Council

Page 379



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

27

Audit Activity: ICT Change Management

Background

A review was undertaken to assess the adequacy of controls surrounding the ICT Change 
Management process. 

Scope

The scope of this review encompassed:

 Change Management policies and procedures;

 Change Management system;

 Requests For Change;

 Emergency Change requests; 

 User Acceptance Testing (UAT); and

 Change Advisory Board.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key findings

Audit testing confirmed that a documented Change Management Procedure had been 
implemented.  All ‘Request for Changes’ (RFCs) were documented.  A Change Manager had 
been appointed to review and validate all proposed changes.  Furthermore the Steria 
Advanced Remote Services (STARS) application had been deployed to capture, track and 
record all RFCs.  

The STARS system was accessed via a secure web portal.  User access was restricted to 
authorised members of the Change Management team.  The STARS password policy had 
been enabled to enforce password complexity, ageing, minimum length and history.

A Change Advisory Board (CAB) has been established to review all proposed system 
changes.  Membership of the CAB includes key ICT personnel from the Infrastructure, 
Network, Server Support and Security teams.  

Conclusion

The findings from this audit identified one key improvement area which was not considered to 
be critical; the need to regularly review all outstanding Change Management requests to 
ensure they are actioned and the jobs closed.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively explaining that the same issue has subsequently 

Page 380



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

28

been identified as a risk on the internal Sopra Steria audit of the change process. 

Service Area: Core Council

Audit Activity: BACS Payments

Background

The Council makes substantial payments to suppliers and for salary payments through BACS 
(Bank Automated Clearing System). They also make payments through BACS on behalf of 
other third party organisations.  Only payments to suppliers, payroll and pension payments for 
GCC were considered within the scope for this audit. All other BACS payments on behalf of 
third party organisations were considered out of scope.

BACS payments are processed by Strategic Finance upon receipt of electronic files from the 
Business Service Centre (BSC). BACS payments are processed daily and range from very 
small amounts through to full payroll costs amounting to millions of pounds.

Scope

The objectives of the audit were to ensure that:

 Documented policies and procedures were in place to direct the process, and are 
subject to regular review;

 System access is restricted to relevant, authorised personnel, and is controlled by 
adequate password requirements and user permissions;

 There is adequate separation of duties within the BACS payments system; 

 Strategic Finance adheres to required governance arrangements;

 Audit trails for both processing and checking are available; and 

 Payment files are subject to review and approval by senior officers.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key findings

Payments were authorised by approved signatories within the Business Service Centre.

Payments were accurately presented to Strategic Finance through secure means.  The only 
issue found when reviewing the file names on the GCC BACS Transmission Control Log was 
there were gaps in the sequencing of file names. 

These gaps were due to the system creating copy files for BACS (M) payments where email 

Page 381



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

29

remittances are to be issued and using a new sequential file name. 

The BSC Systems Team has concluded that it is not possible to eliminate this copy file being 
created.  As a result, the GCC BACS Transmission Control Log should include missing 
sequential file names for completeness and have an explanation against these that they are 
copy files and ensure these are not processed.

Strategic Finance adheres to the necessary governance arrangements and sufficient audit 
trails exist for payment and checking of BACS payments.

Conclusion

BACS payments are adequately controlled through secure processes. There is also adequate 
segregation of duties and audit trails in place.

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the recommendation made in respect of the above 
issue identified.

Summary of Consulting Activity and/or Support Provided where no Opinions 
Are Provided

Service Area: Core Council

Audit Activity: NHS Information Governance Audit  -  Consultancy Review

Background

This was a consultancy review working with and supporting the Information Management 
Service (IMS) on aspects of information sharing (between GCC, the NHS and other key 
partners), to advise on whether the regime currently in place is sufficient, does not present 
undue risks and that the protocols developed, adequately meet the need.

Information Governance (IG) guidelines have been introduced to enforce minimum security 
settings for all partner organisations handling NHS data.

There is now a direct relationship between NHS and Local Government information 
governance activities, predominantly as a result of the transfer of the public health function to 
the Council from the NHS and with this followed the need to undertake an NHS Information 
Governance Toolkit return i.e. similar to the Council’s Public Service Network (PSN) 
accreditation requirement. 

Scope

The overall objective of the review is to provide advice on the arrangements in place for 
providing information governance support for sharing information with third parties, in 
particular public health, adult social care, other NHS organisations, and other partners where 
data and information is private and/or could be highly sensitive. 

Risk Assurance – N/A

Page 382



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

30

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings

 Key elements of an information security and governance framework are in place 
including:-

 an Information Governance Board; 

 a nominated SIRO (Senior Information Risk Officer); 

 relevant policies; 

 information risk management activities; 

 qualified and experienced staff with recognised roles and responsibilities; and

 recognition of the need to identify all information assets and then appoint suitable 
information asset owners.

 There is also a working relationship with Legal Services which has identified and 
developed suitable data confidentiality / information governance contract clauses, and 
document classification standards. Information governance guidelines have been 
introduced. 

 The Code of Connection IGToolkit returns were seen to have been done on time and 
the evidence appropriate. The required level had been obtained and sample evidence 
supported the claim.

 The Council’s IMS function needs to continue to focus on:-

 The development plans and prioritising activities to mitigate existing and emerging 
risks;

 Rooting out possible contracts (existing or developing) which do not contain 
appropriate data confidentiality clauses;

 Ensuring that those responsible for information sharing with other (third) parties 
are aware that agreements and protocols are necessary; and

 Continuing to promote throughout the Council the source of and need for 
compliance with corporate policies and standards to be adhered to and 
encouraging those responsible for contract management to review the contracts in 
place against those standards.

 As with all areas of the Council, IMS activities are subject to significant pressures and 
risks. Current levels of resourcing means that the service’s focus has to be on 
statutory and high risk reactive activities. 

Page 383



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

31

The ability to embed and support change across the Council is therefore limited and the 
onus is therefore on those in the business with responsibilities for managing activities with 
third parties to engage with IMS and to ensure the contracts held have the appropriate 
data confidentiality clauses and sharing agreements which IMS can advise upon. 

Conclusion

It is recognised that all staff have responsibilities for complying with information security and 
governance.  IMS has a significant role in implementing an appropriate framework for 
information security and governance for the Council. The service is well structured and there 
are properly qualified and experienced staff in post to undertake the roles. 

There is evidence of much good work ongoing including the development of plans for current 
and possible future requirements. However, there are increasing challenges in balancing the 
proactive work with the unplanned issues that require an immediate response.

Recommendations were made to ensure that:-

 lead officers for new contracts confirm they have reviewed the information 
governance/security checklist, completed all tasks relevant to their contract and 
incorporated corporate contract terms into their new contracts;

 information asset owners continue to be identified and their responsibilities made 
clear; 

 IMS and ICT to continue to work more closely together to align information 
governance and the technology function;

 project and commissioning staff should apply existing records management standards 
to electronic information systems; and

 the Data Classification project should be progressed within the Council.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
above issues identified. 

Service Area: Children and Families Cluster

Audit Activity: Pods Trial - Gloucester City  - Consultancy Review

Background

The Pods trial involved a one-off investment to trial new ways of working within children and 
young people’s social work (Circa £1.5 million over 2 years). Gloucester Pods has tested a 
multi-disciplinary approach to children’s social work. It has also tested a different model of 
social work organisation where small patch-based Pods have shared ownership of cases. 

The Pods now pick up all the children and families social work for Gloucester City which 

Page 384



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

32

equates to half of the county’s children’s social work. Significant monitoring and evaluation is 
in place and some significant improvements have been observed but it was not clear whether 
the additional investment would result in sufficient gains.

Scope

Internal Audit was requested to provide independent assurance that the current programme 
management, monitoring and evaluation processes are robust and will enable informed 
decision-making over the future of Pods.

Risk Assurance – N/A

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings

The following documentary evidence was reviewed in relation to the Pods trial:

 A Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for Gloucester Pods;

 Reports setting out evidence in support of the identified Pods aims;

 Expenditure on expert assessments by the Pods and other teams over a three year 
period;

 A monitoring report for data up to and including Quarter 3 2015/16 that was taken to 
the Pods Board meeting in February 2016;

 Pods 2015/16 financial year-end position (budget v actual);

 HR data for Q1 – Q4 of 2015/16; and

 Data on Pods indicators (prepared by Data and Performance Team).

The following meetings were attended by internal audit in relation to the Pods trial:

 Meeting to consider how well the Pods initial objectives have been met (15/04/16); 
and

 Pods Evaluation Group meeting (28/04/16).

Internal Audit’s observations were made from the perspective of whether there was sufficient 
evidence that the Pods way of working had been effective in achieving the following identified 
aims:

 Reduced levels of sickness absence;

 Reduced Agency spend on social workers;

 Increased professional contact time with children; and

 Better solutions for families and a reduced need for emergency solutions.

Page 385



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

33

Additional observations were made in the following areas: governance arrangements, 
monitoring and evaluation, sources of evidence, measurement period, surveys, control group, 
evolution of Pods to business as usual, complex cases and the impact on the Pods ways of 
working, newly qualified Social Workers, financial costs; and working arrangements.

The following positive initiatives were also identified from Pods working:

 A more local approach with the community has led to knowing more about the 
children and their families which in turn as resulted in better relationships;

 Working in smaller teams (Pods) has exposed poor social work practice which has 
been addressed for more effective working;

 A higher proportion of case file audits for Pods were rated Good than for other 
Children and Families teams; and

 Staff sickness absence for the Pods is reducing at a faster rate than other Children 
and Families teams.

Conclusion

The results of this review, in terms of challenge and analysis, have been used to inform a 
report to senior management on the future of Pods.

Management Actions

Management has responded positively to the observations made in respect of any issues 
identified.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Community Capacity

Background

The Department of Health’s Community Capacity programme provides capital funding for 
local authorities with adult social care responsibility.

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) received an allocation of £1,360,488 in 2013/14 and 
£1,387,970 in 2014/15 from the Community Capacity grant under grant determinations No 
31/2219 and No 31/2393 respectively.

Scope

The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department of 
Health a declaration by 30th June 2016 in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the 

Page 386



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

34

conditions attached to the Community Capacity Grant No 31/2219 have 
been and will be complied with”.

And;

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the 
conditions attached to the Community Capacity Grant No 31/2393 have 
been and will be complied with”..”

To provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of the Grant 
Determination have been complied with.

Key findings

 The Council received funding of £1,360,488 in 2013/14 and £1,387,970 in 2014/15; 

 In 2015/16 a sum of £350,000 was vired from the Community Capacity scheme to 
support the adult social care element of the Worksmart ICT transformation 
programme; and

 Internal Audit understand that the grant monies will be allocated to replace the ERIC 
and Controcc systems once national guidance on the specific requirements for Phase 
II of the Care Act are issued.

Conclusion

Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained assurance that the conditions of the grant determination have been 
fulfilled and as such the declaration can be signed and submitted to the DoH.  

The remainder of the Community Capacity grants, £2,328,078, has been carried forward into 
2016/17.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Social Care (Capital) Grant

Background

The Department of Health (DoH) in 2015/16 made £1.409million available to Gloucestershire 
County Council through the Social Care (Capital) grant No 31/2534. This funding is part of the 
Better Care Fund, but has been allocated directly to Councils by the DoH. 

Scope

Page 387



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

35

The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department of 
Health a declaration by 30th June 2016 in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the 
conditions attached to the Social Care Capital Grant No 31/2534 have been 
and will be complied with”.

To provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of the Grant 
Determination have been complied with.

Key findings

 The Council received funding of £1,409,000 in 2015/16 under the Social Care 
(Capital) grant scheme; and 

 In 2015/16 a total of £121,300 was spent against the Social Care (Capital) grant 
scheme. Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions and confirmed that 
expenditure is in accordance with the relevant DoH grant conditions.

Conclusion

Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, we 
have gained assurance that the conditions of the grant determination have been fulfilled and 
as such the declaration can be signed and submitted to the DoH.  

The remainder of the Social Care (Capital) grant, £1,287,700, has been carried forward into 
2016/17. Expenditure in future years is planned to support replacement of IT and systems 
enhancements and replacements along with the project management and implementation 
costs.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Transforming Care

Background

The Department of Health’s Transforming care programme provides capital funding for 
adaptations to housing to support transfer of people from inpatient to community-based 
settings. In this respect the capital allocation received by the Council in 2014/15 was 
£200,000.

Scope

The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to Department of Health 
(DH) a declaration in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 

Page 388



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

36

attached to the Transforming Care Grant Determination 2014/15:No 31/2457 have been 
complied with.”

This audit will provide assurance that the conditions have been complied with.

Key findings

 No expenditure was incurred during 2014/15 or 2015/16; and

 The Department of Health has confirmed in June 2016 that the Council may 
reimburse a Provider for services delivered, and requested an update or end of 
project report once this is completed.

Conclusion

This declaration is made in respect of £NIL of the capital grant allocated to the authority under 
the grant determination. The balance (i.e. £200,000) is currently being held by the Council for 
use in 2016/17 following confirmation from the Department of Health on 01 June 2016 that 
the Council may reimburse expenditure incurred by a Provider.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Fire and Rescue Capital Funding - Grants

Background

The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has historically provided 
funding to local fire authorities to assist in the acquisition of replacement appliances and other 
capital related projects. In this respect, the Council has received the following grants:

 Grant Determination: 2011/12 (No. 31/1992)£1,700,000; and

 Grant Determination: 2014/15 (No. 31/2322)£   822,361.

Scope

This audit reviewed the expenditure incurred in 2015/16. The aim was to provide assurance 
to the Chief Finance Officer that the conditions attached to the specific grant determinations 
had been complied with to enable the annual declaration to be signed and submitted to the 
relevant Government Department.

Key findings

Table 1: Profile of expenditure:

Page 389



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

37

Grant Value Previous 
certifications

Expenditure in 
2015/16

Carry forward 
to 2016/17

(No. 31/1992) £1,700.000 £1,218,509 £278,453 £203,038

(No. 31/2322) £   822,361 £42,333 £80,028 £700,000

The expenditure during 2015/16 is monitored by Strategic Finance and appropriate records 
are maintained. 

From a review of the invoices paid in 2015/16, Internal Audit gained the required level of 
assurance that this was correctly classified as a capital related item.  

Conclusion

The conditions attached to the respective grant determinations have been complied with and 
the declarations could then be signed and returned to the relevant Government Department.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Local Transport Capital Block Funding and Highways 
Maintenance Challenge Fund Certification

Background

On 31st March 2015 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) stating the 
allocation of the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway 
Maintenance) Grant for 2015/16: No 31/2530. The grant allocation for the year was 
£20,694,000 with the split being as follows: 

 £2,861,000 – Integrated Transport; and 

 £17,833,000 – Highways Capital Maintenance. 

In a letter dated 27th November 2015, GCC was notified that it had been successful in its bid 
for funding under the Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund. This additional funding, also 
issued under the Highways Maintenance: Specific Grant Determination 2015/16: No 31/2530 
was for £1,329,870 increasing the total grant allocation for the year to £22,023,870.

The DfT advised Local Authorities that they were content to receive one declaration that 
combined these determinations.

Scope

To provide assurance to the Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor (who are required 

Page 390



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

38

to confirm to the Department for Transport) that the conditions of the Specific Grant 
Determinations 2015/16: No 31/2530 have been complied with.

Key findings

The letter from DfT states that the use of this grant should be in accordance with regulations 
made under Section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003. Internal Audit held discussions 
with the key personnel responsible for monitoring the expenditure of the grant and reviewed 
and tested the processes in place for the recording and monitoring of the grant expenditure. 

Conclusion

Internal Audit concluded that the conditions of the grant determination had been fulfilled and 
as such the declaration attached could be signed and submitted to DfT in accordance with 
their terms.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Local Growth Fund – Capital Grants

Background
Under the Local Growth Fund Payment Determination (April 2015) (2015/16): No 31/2546 
Capital the Council is in receipt of a grant of £13.17m for the period 2015/16. This grant is to 
be used on Capital projects agreed by the Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership 
Board with Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) acting in the capacity of Accountable Body 
for the funding.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to confirm to the government 
department that the conditions attached to the grant have been complied with. This audit will 
review the expenditure to provide assurance to these officers that this is the case, prior to the 
certificate being submitted.

Key findings

 £13.17m qualifying expenditure was incurred for 2015/16. This comprises of:

 £6.60m to actual claims from scheme promoters; and

 £6.57m journal to General Ledger – 95201 “Receipts in Advance Capital 
Government Grant” to be used on agreed Transport Schemes where the 
Scheme Promoter is the Council.

Note: Cities and Local Growth have confirmed that where the delivery body and 
the accountable body are one and the same organisation the policy position is 
that funds count as “spent” if there is any kind of accounting treatment of the LGF 
grant which separates it or earmarks it as designated for a LGF project 

 Appropriate records are maintained by Strategic Finance; and 

Page 391



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

39

 Agreements with scheme promoters require any incurred spend to be eligible.

Conclusion

The conditions attached to the respective grant determinations have been complied with and 
the declarations could be signed and returned to the relevant Government Department.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Current Status

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit (IA) has received 8 new referrals in 2016/17 
to date, and 10 cases referred in 2015/16 and 2014/15 continue to be investigated in 
2016/17. Six of these have now been completed. In addition IA continues to be involved in 
counter fraud work concerning staff travel, following-up irregularities with management as 
they arise. 

Of the six cases closed within 2016/17 relating to the previous years, two involved direct 
payments (adults) which have resulted in arrangements for the Council to recover £13k in 
respect of expenditure incurred, which was not in accordance with the support plans and 
direct payment agreements. Two other closed cases involved allegations in schools which 
although not substantiated resulted in changes to procedures, including the proper recording 
of income and budget commitments to ensure a complete audit trail for the future. The last 
two cases involved GCC staff, one of whom had not followed policy in respect of recruitment 
and salary progression and the other did not follow procedures and policy in respect of 
income collection (not theft). Subsequently one member of staff resigned and the other was 
dismissed, following disciplinary.

New referrals in 2016/17

None of the cases received in 2016/17 have been closed. 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported to 
the Audit and Governance Committee.

The Committee can also take assurance that all special investigations/counter fraud 
activities are reported to the Statutory Officers i.e. the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer 
and Director of Finance, on a monthly basis.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a biennial data 
matching exercise administered by the Cabinet Office. The next data collections will be 
October 2016 and reports will start to be received with matches from January 2017. 
Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, pensions, private supported care home 
patients / residential care homes, transport, personal budgets / direct payments and 
creditors.  Not all matches are investigated but where possible all recommended matches 
are reviewed by either Internal Audit or the appropriate service area.

Counter Fraud Unit (Fraud Hub)

Page 392



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

40

National Context

In 2011, the Cabinet Office Counter Fraud Taskforce issued a report on ‘Illuminating Public 
Sector Fraud’ which outlined four strategic priorities: 

 Collaboration;
 Assessment of Risk;
 Prevention; and 
 Zero Tolerance.

“The scale of fraud against Local Government is extensive and hard to quantify with 
precision.  Fraud costs UK public services an estimated £21 billion per year, of which £2.1 
billion is the estimated cost to Local Government.  A further £14 billion is lost to tax fraud and 
vehicle excise fraud and £1.9 billion to benefit and tax credit fraud.  Reducing this is now a 
major priority across all areas of government.”  Cabinet Office 2016.

The National Fraud Authority and the Audit Commission have closed.  However fraudsters 
are becoming increasingly sophisticated.  All public service organisations are more 
vulnerable than ever to criminal activity.

Although resources remain stretched, the reduction of fraud within the public sector is a 
priority and is reflected by the CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre which was launched in 2014 to 
lead and coordinate the fight against fraud and corruption across local and central 
government.  

Local Context

In 2013/2014, the Government announced that Local Authority responsibility for the 
investigation of benefit fraud was to be transferred, with the counter fraud investigation staff, 
to the Department for Work and Pensions.  In February 2015, Audit Cotswolds successfully 
bid for £403,000 funding from the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) on behalf of the Local Authorities in Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire District 
Council to accelerate the development of a dedicated Counter Fraud Unit (the unit).

The funding is a one off payment to explore the feasibility of a Gloucestershire and West 
Oxfordshire Counter Fraud Unit that is able to use data matching to gather intelligence and 
provide skilled investigators to help counter all forms of fraud against the Councils and 
Social Housing Providers in the region.

The bid set out a phased approach.  The unit’s first objective was to counter fraud through 
better intelligence and enhanced proactive partnership working in Gloucestershire and West 
Oxfordshire District Council with the aspiration to create a ‘Gloucestershire Hub’.  It built on 
the existing three authority partnerships (i.e. Cotswold District Council, West Oxfordshire 
District Council and Cheltenham Borough Council) and introduced other partners namely: 
Gloucestershire County Council, Forest of Dean, Stroud, Tewkesbury and Gloucester City 
Council, plus Cheltenham Borough Homes Ltd and in time, other registered social landlords.

The second phase of the project links the Gloucestershire Hub to other Hubs (Oxfordshire) 
through data sharing activity.

Page 393



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

41

The business case associated with the project explores whether the DCLG funded project 
can be transferred into a permanent service model that is fully self-sufficient whilst 
continuing to manage and utilise the DCLG fund to set up the unit.

Feasibility studies have been undertaken in financial years 2015/16 and 2016/17 to show 
that the unit can expect to generate revenue and provide risk assurance.  In addition, the 
unit has identified further areas of savings and loss avoidance, thereby adding value for all 
partners.  The work included such legal documentation as data sharing and access 
agreements that enabled the feasibility studies to be undertaken and investigations to be 
conducted legally.

The S151 Officers oversee the project in terms of governance, which includes the unit’s 
objectives, rationale and the development of the business case.  Given their responsibility 
regarding counter fraud activity within their own organisations and the need to achieve value 
for money they will also be reviewing the business case from an individual organisation 
perspective.

Proposed Project Outcomes

 Produce real and demonstrable savings for partners from intelligence based counter 
fraud activity;

 Pursue criminals with an effective, self-sufficient and robust fraud investigation team, 
which can operate locally with partners or with third parties and other public bodies;

 Continue to operate and adapt to any reorganisation, restructure or political change;
 Fight local fraud by matching datasets across all demographics; and
 Fight regional fraud by legally exchanging data.

Feasibility Studies

It was agreed by partners that to evidence the financial aspect of the business case, the unit 
would need to complete some pilot work to develop an evidence base of the value of 
investing in the hub.  Initial pilot work was undertaken for Cotswold District Council, West 
Oxfordshire District Council and Cheltenham Borough Council.  More recently, work has also 
been carried out for Cheltenham Borough Homes and Tewkesbury Borough Council with 
proposals for further work with Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council and 
Stroud District Council under way.  In respect of the County Council, progress to date is as 
follows:

Gloucestershire County Council participation - progress to date

Context

The Fraud Hub provides the Council with a real opportunity of effective collaboration with our 
local councils, however one of the key points to raise is that the County Council, as an upper 
tier authority, deals with a different type of counter fraud and irregularity activity and as such, 
has a dedicated fraud investigator (within Internal Audit). 

Therefore Internal Audit are currently investigating how to ‘call off’ specific counter fraud 
activity on a day rate, via a legal framework.

Page 394



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

42

Legal framework for operation

Secondment Agreements (S113 Local Government Act 1972) have now been approved for 
two fraud hub Investigation Officers and operational work can now commence.

Planned Work

Meetings have been held with key fraud hub stakeholders to discuss potential operational 
activity.  The collaboration and work plan proposed, includes the following:

 The provision of assistance with internal investigations being investigated and 
prosecuted by the County Council and the Crown Prosecution Service;

 A generic document pack for criminal investigation, interview under caution and 
internal prosecution;

 Joint referral and joint reporting mechanisms in relation to fraud allegations and 
results; and

 Development and implementation of training and awareness programmes.

Further updates on collaboration will be provided to the Committee, via the Internal Audit 
Activity Progress Reports.

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Core Council National Insurance Contributions High Draft Report Issued
Core Council Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Planned
Core Council Budget Setting High Audit in Progress
Core Council BSC Payroll - Follow up of limited assurance report High Audit in Progress
Core Council Capital: Virements and Delegated Powers Limited Assurance Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Core Council Compliance with Debt Policy High Planned
Core Council Contractor Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works High Planned
Core Council ContrOCC (ICT) High Audit in Progress
Core Council Cyber Security High Audit in Progress
Core Council Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) High Audit in Progress
Core Council Duplicate Payments - Fiscal Technology High Planned
Core Council Dynamic Purchasing System - Asset Management Property  Services 

(AMPS)
High Planned

Core Council Fire and Rescue (Application and Database Security) High Planned
Core Council Follow up audits (TIAA) High Planned
Core Council GCC Websites (to include Libraries Website Payments) High Audit in Progress
Core Council ICT Managed Services Contract - Steria High Draft Report Issued
Core Council Payroll - Payments to Third Parties High Audit in Progress
Core Council Recruitment / Promotion High Audit in Progress
Core Council Review of Contract Monitoring of Schools Catering Contract High Planned
Core Council SAP Access Controls High Planned
Core Council SAP Interfaces High Audit in Progress
Core Council Staff Expense Claims - MtC Support High Planned
Core Council VAT High Planned
Core Council Vendor Master Data High Planned
Core Council BACS payments - Creditors and Payroll Medium Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016
Core Council Consolidated Invoices Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Core Council Freedom of Information Requests (FOI) Medium Audit in Progress
Core Council Retrospective orders Medium Planned
Core Council Staff Expenses Claims High Planned
Core Council Review of Statutory Compliance Arrangements (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Core Council Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Information Security High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 16/09/2016
Core Council Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Information Security follow up 

review High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016

Core Council Data Storage - Structures (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Core Council Change Management (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016
Core Council Joint working GCC & NHS - Information Governance Review (brought 

forward)
High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016 Consultancy

Core Council Cyber Security - SAP (brought forward) High Draft Report Issued
Adults Active Together - Healthy Together - and Children’s Activity Fund Limited 

Assurance Follow Up High Planned

Adults Annual Care Assessment Process (re-assessment-reviews) High Planned
Adults Better Care Fund Grant High Audit in Progress
Adults Community Capacity - Capital grant High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Contract Management Arrangements Adults and Public Health High Audit in Progress
Adults ContrOCC (Adults) High Planned
Adults Deaths and Discharges Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Adults Direct Payments (Adults - Older People (OP)) - Consultancy High Planned
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Learning Disabilities (LD) High Audit in Progress
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Older People (OP) High Planned
Adults Financial Assessment and Benefits Team Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Adults Gloucestershire Care Partnership (Order of St John (OSJ)) Limited High Audit in Progress
Adults Community Equipment Stock - Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) 

Healthcare High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016

Adults Mental Health Services High Planned
Adults Outcome Based Commissioning High Planned
Adults Reshaping of Delivery Function - All Age Disability High Planned
Adults Social Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Transforming Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Workforce Development of Social Workers - Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Adults Gloucestershire Industrial Services - Stock Control Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016

Page 1 of 2

P
age 397



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Adults Spot Purchase of Day Care Medium Planned
Adults Deferred Payments (brought forward) High Planned
Children & Families Alternative Provision School High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Communication and Interaction Centre 1 High Planned
Children & Families Communication and Interaction Centre 2 High Planned
Children & Families ContrOCC (Children's) High Planned
Children & Families Early Years - 2 year olds High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Gloucestershire Music Service Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Children & Families PODS Trial Glos City High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016 Consultancy

Children & Families Referral and Assessment processes High Planned
Children & Families Primary School 1 High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Section 17 - Children's Act Spend (non-Auriga) High Planned
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Planned
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant (Claim 1) High Planned
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant (Claim 2) High Planned
Children & Families Children in Care Project Medium Audit in Progress
Children & Families Recoupment Medium Planned
Children & Families Section 17 Spend (Auriga) Medium Planned
Children & Families Contact Team (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Children & Families Child Sexual Exploitation (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Direct Payments (Childrens) - brought forward High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Children & Families Child Protection Conference Team (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Recruitment of Social Workers within Children and Families - brought forward High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016

Communities Accountable Body - Homes and Communities Agency High Audit in Progress
Communities Fire and Rescue Capital Funding Grants High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016
Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Control Room Refresh Project High Audit in Progress
Communities Highways and Transportation Services contract  High Planned
Communities Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund - Grant High Final Report Issued
Communities Household Recycling Centre Contract High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Communities Local Enterprise Partnership Growth Fund High Audit in Progress
Communities Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highways 

Maintenance) grant High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016

Communities Public Transport Contracts - Decision Making Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Communities Residual Waste Construction Phase High Audit in Progress
Communities Street Lighting - LED Replacement and Term Maintenance Contract High Audit in Progress
Communities Streetworks High Planned
Communities Fleet Management Medium Planned
Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Business Continuity Management Medium Planned
Communities Integrated Transport Unit - Use of a Dynamic Purchasing System Medium Draft Report Issued
Communities Trading Standards - Use of Surveillance Medium Planned
Communities Highways: Environmental Maintenance and Safety Maintenance Medium Planned
Communities Local Growth Fund 2015-16 - grant High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016 New Activity
Communities Risk Management of the Residual Waste New Contract - brought forward High To be included within the 

Residual Waste Construction 
Phase audit

Pensions Pension Payments High Audit in Progress
Pensions Management of LGPS High Final Report Issued Not applicable Not applicable 16/09/2016 Reported within the Annual Governance 

Statement
Pensions Teachers Pensions Scheme High Cancelled Audit to be undertaken by External Audit

Page 2 of 2

P
age 398



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 16th September 2016 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Client Contributions.

Lead Officer: Alison Tingle, FAB Team Manager
                       Sarah Jasper, Service Manager   

Presenting officer Tina Reid – Director of Operations: Adult Services & 
Business Development

Summary of Audit Area 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care relies on people who use 
services making a financial contribution to the cost of providing them, (if they 
are able to afford to do so). 

The Financial Assessments & Benefits (FAB) Team ensure that any financial 
contributions required from service users for residential and non-residential 
Social Care services are calculated fairly and in accordance with the 
Council’s policy and Government guidelines.  

The Team also help to maximise income for individuals, and maximise 
charging revenue for the Council by providing advice and practical 
assistance to all service users, their partners and carers, to ensure that they 
are in receipt of their full welfare benefit entitlement.  

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The focus of this review was to determine whether financial assessments are 
accurately and promptly completed in order that any financial charges can, 
where appropriate, be applied. 

Risks

 Non-compliance with Legislative requirements/Government guidance.
 Inaccurate assessments/client records.
 Budget pressures.
 Debts accruing.
 Potential loss of income.
 Fraud.
 Adults with care and support needs are not properly safeguarded.
 Roles and responsibilities are not clearly defined between provider, 

service areas and agencies.
 Poor communication between service departments and agencies.

Page 399

Agenda Item 11



Key Findings
The review has highlighted that:
Policy/Guidance
 The FAB Policy and Procedural Guide needs to be further refreshed, to reflect 

the requirements of the Care Act 2014 in respect of the provision of 
independent financial information and advice. In addition, further detailed 
guidance/flowcharts should be produced to aid consistency and understanding 
of the FAB processes/application of benefit entitlements.

The information that is held on the FAB Team’s shared drive is cleansed to 
ensure that any obsolete guidance is archived and that the current guidance is 
catalogued into folders for ease of reference.

Financial Assessment Form
 Section six of the Financial Assessment Form should be revised to provide for 

the ability to record the address of the property to be considered as part of the 
financial assessment, should this be different to the address stated within 
section one.

ERIC/ContrOCC
 Consideration is given to either amending ERIC (the Council’s electronic social 

care record) or ensuring that within ContrOCC the address of the property that 
is to be considered as part of the financial assessment, i.e. when a deferred 
payment or property disregard is agreed can be recorded within a dedicated 
area, rather than within a general notes text box.  This amendment should aid 
the retrieval of this information going forward as required for management 
information. 

Paying for Care/Independent Financial Advice
 Further consideration is given to the timing of the promotion of setting up a 

direct debit mandate within the customer journey/pathway in order to ensure, 
where appropriate this method of collection is utilised to the optimum.

 During the financial assessment greater focus should be given to:

o Explaining the billing process to the service user or their representatives 
and how a direct debit mandate form can be set up; and

o Informing all individuals of how they can access independent financial 
advice in line with the requirements of the Care Act.

Recording
 Visiting officers need to be more diligent when completing the Financial 

Assessment Form to ensure that the information recorded is an accurate record 
of the details gathered/examined. 

Quality Assurance Process
 The FAB Team does have a system in place for undertaking quality checks to 

ensure that assessments are completed accurately. A full time visiting officer is 
expected to undertake five visits a day, four days a week, therefore on average 
a visiting officer should conduct approximately 80 visits a month. 

Page 400



Quality checks are limited as these are undertaken on a sample basis, the 
sample size is approximately 6% i.e. five assessments, per visiting officer, per 
month of the proposed target of completed assessments undertaken by each of 
the visiting officers and primarily relate to financial assessments that have been 
undertaken on site visits.  As copies of the prime financial documents are not 
routinely collected/retained to support the financial assessment, the 
effectiveness of these checks are limited further, for it is not possible to validate 
the service user’s capital as part of the quality check. 

Going forward, in order to strengthen the control environment of the quality 
assurance process, management should consider the options available for 
gathering copies of prime financial documents, alongside the cost/benefits in 
order for these to be available for review during the quality assurance process, 
albeit that the retention period may be short in order to comply with the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act. Should the Service decide that they do 
not want to change the quality assurance process, i.e. the Service is willing to 
accept the associated risks this should be formally documented and signed-off 
at an appropriate level.  

Accuracy of Assessments
 From a sample of seven completed financial assessments reviewed during the 

audit, all calculations had been completed accurately with the exception of one 
service user, where Internal Audit identified that there has been a catalogue of 
errors made during the financial assessment process alongside failings in 
respect of the actions taken following an earlier safeguarding alert concerning 
financial abuse. 

In this instance, it is evident that the governance/communications between 
service areas and other organisations/agencies should be reviewed and as 
appropriate strengthened to ensure, going forward, that there are robust 
procedures in place to safeguard adults with needs for care and support who 
have been subject to financial abuse and where appropriate, any other 
residents. 

In addition, should the final calculation of the client contribution have been 
subject to an independent quality check, the outcome of the assessment and 
subsequent actions taken, including the request for authorisation to write-off a 
debt in the name of the service user for a period of non-payment of the service 
user’s client contribution, could have been avoided.

For the period 1st April 2015-1st March 2016, over £2m of deprivation of assets 
has been identified by the team. In light of the financial abuse case the FAB 
Team Manager is now reviewing circa 65 cases, giving due consideration as to 
whether there are any further actions that should be taken in respect of these 
individuals and whether they may have been subject to any financial abuse that 
should have triggered a safeguarding alert.

Page 401



Reviews
 From the information available from ERIC, Internal Audit established that as at 

December 2015, 36% of service users who were in receipt of a chargeable 
service have been assessed as a “nil” or “negative” charge in respect of the 
client contribution that would be due.1 Currently the FAB Team do not 
undertake an annual review for these service users although a global uplift is 
applied to align with the pension/benefit increases as determined by the 
Department for Works and Pensions.

Internal Audit is unable to quantify, should these service users be re-assessed, 
whether there would be a sufficient number of service users who have had a 
material change in their financial circumstances to significantly shift the level of 
the current % of “nil” or “negative” client contribution to a chargeable amount; 
however from a selection of ten cases with a “nil” contribution, it is possible that 
30% of these could have changed to a positive charge.

In light of the above, coupled with changes to the benefits system and the 
continued pressure that is being placed upon the external care budget, 
management should consider the inherent risks, alongside the cost/benefits of 
reviewing these cases on a periodic basis. 

Conclusion
The FAB Team does have a control framework in place to monitor whether 
financial assessments are accurately and promptly completed however this could 
be strengthened further. In particular, it is paramount that detailed guidance is 
available to promote consistency in the application of agreed processes and 
decision making and that the service has an effective quality assurance process in 
place, in order to safeguard against preventing errors/inaccuracies in the 
calculation of the client contribution. 

In the wider context, the service also plays a vital role in respect of fulfilling some 
of the Council’s statutory duties and corporate aims, i.e. compliance with the Care 
Act; income collection/debt management. It is therefore important to ensure that 
focus is being given to these contributory elements where appropriate, during the 
financial assessment process.
  
Internal Audit has made four high and seven medium priority recommendations, 
these are aimed at strengthening the governance and internal control environment, 
highlighting improvement suggestions for consideration by management and if 
implemented, these should also support the drive for further corporate and service 
efficiencies.

1 These figures provide a high level overview and do not exclude services such as CHC 
funding, or Mental Health services which could reduce the figure stated to approximately 
29%.

Page 402



Action taken as at the end of July 2016 and/or proposed

Recommendation 1-Policy and Procedural Guide (High)
 The FAB Policy and Procedural Guide is further refreshed, to reflect the 

requirements of the Care Act in respect of the provision of financial information 
and advice. 

 Further detailed guidance/flowcharts are produced to aid the understanding of 
the FAB processes/application of benefit entitlements.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.  
 Sandra Tate, Policy Officer, has reviewed both the Policy and Procedural Guide 

and the Fairer Contributions Policy to make sure both documents are fully Care 
Act compliant.

  A working group consisting of Visiting Officers and Senior Visiting Officers 
have developed guidance and flowcharts to support the FAB Visiting Officers.   
The working group have now produced new guidelines which after being 
shared and agreed with the FAB team have been implemented from the 20th 
July 2016.  

Recommendation 2-Guidance Shared Drive (High)
The information that is held on the shared drive is cleansed to ensure that any 
obsolete guidance is archived and that the current guidance is catalogued into 
folders for ease of reference.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.  
The shared drive has been reviewed, obsolete documents removed and all current 
guidance is up to date and fit for purpose.  This work was shared with the FAB 
team and implemented from the 20th July 2016. 
Recommendation 10-Quality Assurance Process (High)
 Management to give due consideration to alternative options for strengthening the 
current quality assurance process in order to be able to include the validation of 
capital to prime documents.  
Should management decide that they do not want to change the quality assurance 
process, i.e. management is willing to accept the inherent risks this should be 
formally documented and approved at an appropriate level.  

Action taken: Recommendation under consideration/investigation
Gathering service user’s original financial documentation and storing at GCC until 
financial assessment and quality checks have been completed is not practicable. 
There are storage concerns over the amount of secure storage required, cost of 
recorded delivery postage to return documents and service users concerns around 
having original documentation taken from them. The Operational Director for Adult 
Social Care has discussed with ICT Head of Service the possibility of issuing FAB 
visiting officers with technology that would enable them to either photograph or 
print copies of key documents whilst at the visit.  This would enable us to have 
access to all documents for the purpose of quality checks and destroy after use.  It 
is our intention to explore this option further and source capital funding, with the 
possibility of introducing alongside implementation of the ContrOCC financial 
model which will be before the end of 2016.

Page 403



Recommendation 11-Safeguarding-Multi Agency Audit (High)

PRN 1000144589
A multi agency audit is undertaken with a view to identifying any learning from this 
case and to make recommendations to strengthen the control environment going 
forward.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented. 
 The Multi Agency audit meeting took place on 21st March 2016.  One of the 

outcomes recommended better communications between the Safeguarding 
Team and the FAB Team.  This is now taking place as necessary.

 The learning from the audit was disseminated to GCC’s Integrated Social Care 
Managers and Senior Practitioners at a learning event on July 11th 2016.

Recommendation 3-Accuracy of Recording (Medium)
Visiting officers are reminded of the importance of accuracy/clarity in recording the 
information gathered/examined during the financial assessment as this document 
is the Council’s prime record in respect of the financial assessment.
In addition, this document is further used by management to determine the quality 
of financial assessments during the quality assurance process which in turn 
informs one of the service’s performance metrics FAB 05 - % - charging 
assessments completed accurately.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.
Visiting Officers have been reminded of the standards expected of them through 
the formal supervision sessions and the Senior Visiting Officers have now 
tightened up on their checking regime.
Recommendation 4-Financial Assessment Form (Medium)
Section six of the Financial Assessment form is revised to provide for the ability to 
record the address of the property to be considered as part of the financial 
assessment, should this be different to the address stated within section one.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.
The form was amended when re-printed in January 2016.

Recommendation 5-Property Disregards and Deferred Payments (Medium)
Management to consider the available options within ERIC/ContrOCC for 
identifying/capturing the service user’s property address within a dedicated area 
rather than within a general notes text box in respect of disregarded properties and 
deferred payments/house sales.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented. 
ContrOCC will hold all the required information.  We are expecting to go live with 
this system before the end of 2016.

Page 404



Recommendation 6-Billing Process/Direct Debit (Medium)
 Management to give further consideration to the timing of the promotion of 

setting up a Direct Debit mandate, where appropriate, within the customer 
journey/pathway.

  
 In the interim visiting officers should ensure that the billing process and the 

Direct Debit payment method are explained to the service user or their 
representative during the visit and where appropriate a Direct Debit form should 
be completed.

If this is not done, the financial assessment form should be annotated with an 
explanation as to why this was not discussed.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.
In addition to Direct Debit forms being issued at visits we now send one out with 
every positive charging notification letter.
Recommendation 7-The Care Advice Line (TCAL) (Medium)
Visiting officers should ensure that section 15 of the financial assessment form is 
explained and a TCAL leaflet provided to every service user or their representative 
during the site visit.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.  
A TCAL leaflet is now also posted out with every initial appointment letter.

Recommendation 8-Review of service users with a “nil” or “negative” charge 
(Medium)

Management to give further consideration to undertaking periodic financial 
assessment reviews of cases that currently have a “nil” or “negative” charge.

Should management consider that they wish to accept the associated inherent 
risks of not reviewing these cases on a periodic basis i.e. that this resides within 
the service area’s risk appetite, then this should be formally documented and 
approved at an appropriate level.

Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.
A report has been run of the appropriate cases and the Visiting Officers are 
beginning to work through, re-assessing where appropriate.

Recommendation 9-Learning Events (Medium)

Management to give due consideration to introducing a monitoring sheet to capture 
the type and frequency of errors/omissions identified from reviews in order to help 
inform future learning for members of the team/improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the service going forward. 

 Action taken:  Recommendation has been fully implemented.
This is now included at every supervision session and a spreadsheet has been 
created and added to the ‘S’ Drive.  This was also discussed at the Team Meeting 
on 20th July 2016.

Page 405



This page is intentionally left blank



1

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance  Code of 
Conduct 16 September 2016

Audit and Governance Committee

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW

Date:16 September 2016                                       Agenda No:

Title of Report Member Code of Conduct Review

Purpose of Report To remind the Committee of the statutory arrangements 
governing the conduct of elected members.

Recommendations: To note the report and to indicate any areas for 
development.

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer, jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
01452 328472

Key Risks: Failure in corporate governance, which leads to service, 
financial or reputational damage or failure.

Page 407

Agenda Item 12

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance  Code of 
Conduct 16 September 2016

Introduction

1. The Localism Act 2011 significantly amended the statutory arrangements 
governing the conduct of elected members. The County Council adopted a 
new regime in 2012. This covered:

 Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members;
 A new Register of Interests form;
 A procedure for investigating and determining allegations of member 

misconduct;
 The abolition of the former Standards and Audit Committees and the 

creation of the Audit and Governance Committee;
 The creation of a Hearings Panel;
 The appointment of three Independent Persons to consult on allegations of 

member misconduct.

2. One of the roles of this Committee is to monitor the operation of the Code of 
Conduct and to promote, monitor and assist the achievement of high 
standards of conduct. To assist the Committee, I have undertaken an 
annual review as the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

Findings

3. Following the County Council elections in May 2013, all 53 Members were 
briefed on the new standards regime. All Members completed the Register of 
Interests forms and these are up-dated as and when changes occur. They 
are published on the County Council’s website.

4. There has been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 2015/16.

5. No dispensations have been requested.

6. I have met with the Independent Persons and they remain content with the 
new arrangements and have not raised any issues or concerns.  They 
carry out their role without remuneration.  Their advice and input is 
invaluable.

Dispensations

7. The rules allow councils in certain circumstances to grant dispensations to 
permit a member to take part in the business of the authority even if the 
member has a disclosable pecuniary interest relating to that business. This 
committee has the facility to grant dispensations. To date no requests have 
been made. The Committee is reminded that its terms of reference include:

To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-opted Members 
related to interests specified in the Code of Conduct for Members 
following written requests to the proper officer (Chief Executive) by a 
Member or Co-opted Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, 
when the Council:

Page 408



3

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance  Code of 
Conduct 16 September 2016

a) considers that without the dispensation, the number of persons 
prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any particular 
business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the 
business as to impede the transaction of the business;

b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different 
political groups on the body transacting any particular business would 
be upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the 
business;

c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons 
living in the authority’s area;

d) considers that without the dispensation each member of the 
authority’s executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from 
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the 
authority’s executive, or

e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

8. The Committee’s views are welcomed on whether dispensations would 
be useful.

Request to change the Register of Interests

9. Cllr. Leppington has asked that consideration be given to requiring Members 
to declare an interest regarding membership of the Freemasons or any other 
secret society.

10. Any changes would need to be agreed by the Constitution Committee and full 
Council.

11. The Committee’s views are welcomed on any aspect of the Member 
standards regime.

Page 409



This page is intentionally left blank



1

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 16 September 2016 

Audit and Governance Committee

COMPLAINTS

Date: 16 September 2016 Agenda No:

Title of Report Complaints

Purpose of Report To review the Council’s arrangements for handling 
complaints and investigations by the Local Government 
Ombudsman.

Recommendations: To note the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2015/16.

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer, jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328472

Key Risks: Strategic Risks SR 1.1 and SR 1.2

Failure in corporate governance, which leads to service, 
financial or reputational damage or failure.

Failure to effectively understand, inform, consult or 
engage customers, resulting in dissatisfaction, criticism 
or challenge.

Page 411

Agenda Item 13

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 16 September 2016 

Local Government Ombudsman’s Review of Local Government Complaints 
2015/16 

1. Responding to and learning from complaints is an important element of the 
corporate governance of an organisation and the Local Government 
Ombudsman’s (LGO) annual review letter is an important indicator of the 
quality of the Council’s governance arrangements.  The Audit and 
Governance Committee is responsible for formulating and keeping under 
review the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints and investigations 
by the LGO.

2. The Local Government Ombudsman produces an annual summary of 
statistics on complaints made to them about all councils.  The report for 
Gloucestershire for the year ended 31 March 2016 is attached at Appendix 1.

3. In 2015/16 the LGO received 62 complaints about Gloucestershire County 
Council.  This compares to 75 in 2015.  The overall number of local authority 
complaints and enquiries remained largely static compared to the previous 
year.  In terms of decisions made, there were 66.  Of the 21 detailed 
investigations 16 (76%) were not upheld and 5 (24%) were upheld.

4. The Council’s own data records complaints referred to the Ombudsman. The 
LGO now only provides the number of complaints received and not the 
detailed data which sits behind it so it is impossible to reconcile the two sets 
of data.  The higher number of LGO complaints and enquiries will include 
some which were not pursued.

Local data on complaints

5. The majority of complaints were in relation to education and children’s 
services, adult social care and highways and transport.

Figures:

Service area Up-
held

Not up-
held

Closed after 
initial 

enquires

Incomplete/ 
invalid or 

open

Total

Adults 1 4 2 5 12

Corporate and 
other

0 1 2 3

Education and 
Children 
Services

4 5 3 3 15

Environmental 0 0 1 0 1

Highways and 
Transport

0 1 7 1 9

Total 5 11 15 9 40

Page 412



3

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 16 September 2016 

Where complaints have been up-held, there has been a local resolution.

Review and follow-up

6. The Head of Legal Services is the principal point of contact with the LGO. She 
oversees the complaints and allocates cases to one of the principal lawyers if 
the LGO decides to carry out an investigation; and liaises with the Monitoring 
Officer.

7. Each report received is carefully considered by the relevant service area.  In 
addition, the cases are reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer and the Strategic Finance Director.  They are 
particularly looking at the broader organisational risks and governance issues.

8. Members receive information on complaints, including Ombudsman findings, 
as part of the quarterly strategic reviews of performance.  This is in addition to 
the formal annual report, here today.

9. Any comments or suggestions on how reporting could be improved are 
welcome.

Conclusion

10. The LGO’s Annual Review Letter for 2015/16 gives a summary of statistics on 
the complaints made about Gloucestershire County Council.  Our more 
detailed local data confirms that 40 complaints have been processed to a 
conclusion by the LGO; of which 5 have been up-held.

Page 413



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	June 16

	4 Grant Thornton Audit Findings Gloucestershire County Council Report
	5 Grant Thornton Audit Findings Pension Fund Report
	6 Annual Statement of Accounts
	Final SOA 2015-16  7th Sept 16
	GCC_0175 Statement of Accounts cover 15-16
	Narrative 2015-16 Draft + Foreward S151 19.08.2016
	Statement of Accounting Policies 19 aug clean
	Statement of Responsibilities sept 16
	Consolidated notes 2015 19th Aug clean version
	Pensions Acs 15-16 sent to FA 26.07.2016 clean version
	Fire Pensions 2015-16
	Glossary
	GCC_0175 Statement of Accounts cover 15-16 back page


	7 Annual Governance Statement and The Local Code of Corporate Governance 2015/16
	Annual Governance Statement 2015-16 FINAL
	Local-Code_of_Corporate_Governance_2015-2016 FINAL

	8 Appointment of External Auditors for the Statement of Accounts 2018/19
	9 Treasury Management Update Report
	10 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.1 - GCC
	Spreadsheet v1.1

	11 Internal Audit limited Assurance Reports
	12 Members Code of Conduct Review
	13 Annual Report from the Local Government Ombudsman
	Audit and Governance Committee 16 September 2016  Appendix 1




